
JEA 
FINANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA 

DATE: August 8, 2016 
TIME: 8:00 – 10:00 AM 
PLACE: 21 W. Church Street 

8th Floor Conference Room 

Responsible 
Person 

Action 
(A) 

Info     ( I ) 

Total 
Time 

I. OPENING CONSIDERATIONS Kelly Flanagan 

A. Call to Order 

B. Adoption of Agenda A 

C. Approval of Minutes – May 9, 2016 Melissa Charleroy A 

II. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Approval of Annual Internal Audit Plan Steve Tuten/  
Lee Montanez A 15 mins. 

B. Adoption of Changes to the Finance & Audit Committee 
Operating Policy Steve Tuten A 5 mins. 

C. Annual Approval of Audit Services Charter Steve Tuten A 5 mins. 

D. Audit Services - Quarterly ERM/Audit Update Steve Tuten/  
Frank DiBenedetto I 10 mins. 

E. Coordinated Dispatch Agreement and Pricing Policy 
Revisions 

Ryan 
Wannemacher A 10 mins. 

F. Ethics Officer Quarterly Report Walette Stanford I 5 mins. 

G. External Auditors Mike Pattillo 20 mins. 

1. Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards I 

2. Ernst & Young FY2016 Annual Financial Audit Plan A 

H. Treasury 

1. Electric System and Water and Sewer System Reserve 
Fund Quarterly Report Joe Orfano I 5 mins. 

2. JEA Investment Policy Revisions Joe Orfano A 5 mins. 

I. JEA Energy Market Risk Management Policy Report Steve McInall I 5 mins. 

J. Update on Procurement for External Auditor Janice Nelson A 5 mins. 

K. Announcements 

1. Tentative Special Meeting, September/October 2016 

2. Next Meeting, December 2016, 8:00 – 10:00 AM 
(Date to be determined) 

Committee Members will meet on the 8th Floor  
Other Board Members may join via conference call by dialing: 
904-665-7100 



 L. Committee Discussion Sessions    
  1. Director, Audit Services Steve Tuten I 5 mins. 
  2. Ernst & Young Mike Pattillo I 5 mins. 
  3. Council Auditor’s Office Robert Campbell I 5 mins. 

 M. Adjournment    
 



I. C. 
Approval of Minutes – May 9, 2016 



JEA FINANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE MINUTES 
May 9, 2016 

The Finance & Audit Committee of JEA met on Monday, May 9, 2016, in the 8th Floor Conference 
Room, JEA Plaza Tower, 21 W. Church Street, Jacksonville, Florida. 

Agenda Item I – Opening Considerations 

A. Call to Order – Board Chair Petway called the meeting to order at 8:03 AM with Member Husein 
Cumber in attendance.  Committee Chair Flanagan and Board Vice Chair Ed Burr attended 
telephonically.    Others in attendance were Paul McElroy, Melissa Dykes, Paul Cosgrave, Mike 
Brost, Brian Roche, Ted Hobson, Angie Hiers, Steve Tuten, Janice Nelson, Dan Mishra, Joe 
Orfano, Judi Spann, Steve McInall, Walette Stanford, Ryan Wannemacher, Jane Upton, David 
Jolley, and Gerri Boyce.  Jody Brooks, Office of General Counsel, Chris Edmunds, Ernst & 
Young, and Robert Campbell, Council Auditors Office, were also in attendance.   

Due to a lack of quorum physically present, agenda items were received for information only.  
Action items will be brought before the May 17, 2016 full Board for action. 

B. Adoption of Agenda – Due to a lack of quorum, the agenda was received for information. 

C. Approval of Minutes – Due to a lack of quorum, the March 7, 2016 Minutes were received for 
information. 

Agenda Item II – New Business 

A. FY2017 Budget Presentation – Melissa Dykes, Chief Financial Officer, introduced Ryan 
Wannemacher, Director, Financial Planning and Analysis.  Ms. Dykes and Mr. Wannemacher 
presented and reviewed the FY2017 draft budget and process.  Staff requested Committee 
feedback and direction regarding the key strategic issues and major budget assumptions used in 
preparing the FY2017 operating and capital budgets including:  revenue, O&M expense levels, 
interest rates and debt structure, financial metrics, and regulatory accounting items.  Mr. 
Wannemacher stated Budget assumptions include:  no rate adjustments for Electric or Water and 
Sewer systems and financial metrics that are within Pricing Policy goals.  The proposed budgets 
include considerable internal funding for the capital program in an effort to support the “pay-go” 
philosophy for all recurring capital expenditures.  The budget includes a record high contribution 
to the City of Jacksonville General Fund in the amount of $115.3 million.  In connection with the 
Pricing Policy, the budget was prepared using regulatory accounting and as such, included items 
for Pension, Demand-side Management (DSM)/Conservation, Debt Management, Environmental, 
Purchased Power and Self-Funded Health Plan.  Staff also requested the Finance and Audit 
Committee provide feedback and direction in its report or staff presentation to the Board at the 
May 17, 2016 meeting, for final Board approval at the June 21, 2016 Board Meeting, prior to the 
submission to the City Council by July 1, 2016 . This item was received for information.  

B. Update on Procurement for External Auditor – Janice Nelson, Controller, presented that at the 
March 15, 2016 JEA Board Meeting, Board Members approved the Ernst & Young (E&Y) 
contract extension with the proposed fee schedule expiring June 30, 2017.  Ms. Nelson provided 
the Committee with an update on the external auditor procurement process and information on 
various CPA firms.  Committee Members held discussions regarding external auditor terms and 
potential policies for the future.  Based on feedback received from the Committee, staff will 
prepare the Request for Proposal (RFP), evaluation matrix, and timeline for the RFP and 
evaluation process.  In addition, staff will provide additional research data on audit firm’s rotation 

Return to Agenda
I. C.

F&A 8/8/2016



Finance & Audit Committee May 9, 2016 Page - 2 

policies.  These items will be brought back to the Committee at the August 8, 2016 meeting for 
additional consideration.  

C. Audit Services – Quarterly ERM/Audit Update – Steve Tuten, Director, Audit Services, provided 
the Committee with key FY2016 highlights, FY2016 Internal Audit Plan, Enterprise Risk 
Management (ERM) Trend Report, and the Ethics Hotline Report.  This presentation was 
received for information. 

D. Chief Information Officer Report – Paul Cosgrave, Chief Information Officer (CIO), provided an 
overview of the eight departments that report to the CIO, services provided to JEA, cybersecurity 
protection, Critical Infrastructure Protection (CIP), and the North American Electric Reliability 
Corporation (NERC) Risk Assessment. This presentation was received for information. 

E. Identity Theft Protection Program Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act (FACTA) Annual 
Risk Assessment – Dan Mishra, Director, Critical Infrastructure Protection (CIP) Compliance, 
provided a presentation on JEA’s Identity Theft Protection Program.  Mr. Mishra stated JEA’s 
program complies with Federal and State regulations imposed by the Fair Credit Reporting Act 
(FCRA), Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act (FACTA), and Florida Information 
Protections Act (FIPA).  This presentation was received for information. 

F. Ethics Officer Quarterly Report – Walette Stanford, Ethics Officer and Director, Workforce 
Strategies, presented the Ethics Officer Quarterly Report, which was received for information.   

G. Treasury 

1. Electric System and Water and Sewer System Reserve Fund Quarterly Report – Joe Orfano, 
Treasurer, reviewed the Electric System and Water and Sewer System Reserve Fund 
Quarterly Report, which was received for information.  

H. JEA Energy Market Risk Management Policy Report – Mike Brost, Vice President/General 
Manager, Electric Systems, reviewed the Energy Market Risk Management Policy Report, which 
was received for information.   

I. Announcements  

1. The next Finance and Audit Committee meeting will be held on August 8, 2016, at 8:00 AM. 

J. Committee Discussion Sessions  

1. Director, Audit Services – At 9:45 AM, the Committee held a general conversation with 
Steve Tuten, Director, Audit Services. 

2. Ernst & Young – At 9:50 AM, the Committee held a general conversation with Chris 
Edmunds, Senior Manager, Assurance Services. 

3. Council Auditor’s Office – At 9:51 AM, the Committee held a general conversation with 
Robert Campbell, Council Auditor’s Office.   

Closing Considerations 

With no further business claiming the attention of this Committee, the meeting was declared adjourned at 
9:59 AM.  
 
  
  



Finance & Audit Committee May 9, 2016 Page - 3 

APPROVED BY: 

_________________________________ 
Kelly Flanagan, Committee Chair 
Date:  ________________ 

Submitted by: 

___________________________________ 
Melissa Charleroy 
Executive Assistant 



II. A.
Approval of Annual Internal Audit Plan 



Ver.2.0D  9/21/2013 jer 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

July 27, 2016 

SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 

Purpose:  Information Only  Action Required  Advice/Direction 

Issue: JEA's Audit Services adheres to the Institute of Internal Auditors' (IIA) International Standards for 
the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing (Standards), which require that the Finance & Audit 
Committee formally approves the Annual Internal Audit Plan, as stated in the Finance & Audit Committee 
Operating Policy. 

Significance: High 

Effect: The effect of the formal approval is to demonstrate that the Finance & Audit Committee has 
reviewed and is in agreement with the Annual Internal Audit Plan, and to allow Audit Services to be in 
compliance with the IIA Standards.  

Cost or Benefit: There is no cost.  See Effect above for Benefit. 

Recommended Board action: Staff recommends that the Finance & Audit Committee and the Board 
approve the attached FY 2017 Annual Internal Audit Plan. 

For additional information, contact: Steven V. Tuten, Director, Audit Services 

Submitted by: PEM/TEH/SVT/ 

Commitments to Action 

Return to Agenda
II. A.

F&A 8/8/2016



FY17 Internal Audit Plan 

Steve Tuten - Director, Audit Services 

Lee Montanez – Manager, Audit Services 

II. A
F&A 8/8/2016



FY17 Internal Audit Plan – Planning Guidance 

• A cornerstone of our annual planning process is conducting a risk 
assessment of the identified auditable entities within JEA. 

• We rely on the guidance of the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA), which 
has established the International Professional Practices Framework 
(IPPF), which is the global authoritative guidance for the internal audit 
profession. The IPPF, through its Standards, presents the professional 
requirements for risk assessments conducted by internal auditors. 

 

 

 

2 



FY17 Internal Audit Plan - Risk Assessment & Audit Planning Approach 

• Interviews with the nine Senior Leadership Team members and a 
combination of 98 risk assessment surveys completed by department 
Directors and 40+ follow-up meetings were used to identify perceived 
areas of risk and potential internal audits.  

• This information was combined into an overall audit plan designed to 
address critical risks to achieving JEA’s objectives while being sensitive 
to operational and regulatory requirements.  

• The following approach was taken in creating the Audit Plan: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 

Information Gathering 
and Scoping 

Information Analysis Scoring & Ranking  
Development of 

Internal Audit Plan 



 FY 2017 Internal Audit Plan - Risk Assessment Survey 

• The risk assessment survey consisted of 28 questions (18 multiple choice 
and 10 open questions), designed for management to help identify and 
document risk factors related to their business objectives.  These risk 
factors included: 

o Key COSO objectives of operational, compliance and reporting risk. 

o Qualitative measures (Process complexity, governance matters and degree of change). 

o Potential impact risks (Financial and Reputational) 

• Internal Audit surveyed management about these risks in each of the 98 
areas of JEA’s audit universe. We then combined the scores to determine 
the highest risk areas for JEA.  

• A copy of the survey form is shown at Appendix pages A1-A8. 

 

 
 

4 



 Audit Plan Improvements for FY17 

5 

Integration with ERM and Ethics & Investigations Audit - Internal Audit risk assessment surveys now include 

detailed information on JEA’s Top Corporate Risks, Ethics and Investigations. The Audit Plan now includes 

specific information on Tier 1 and 2 risks applicable to each auditable entity. 

2017 
Audit 
Plan 

ERM Top 
Corporate 

Risks 

Internal Audit 
Risk 

Assessment 
Surveys 

Ethics and 
Investigations 
Case Results 

Reduction of Internal Audit Staff hours in the completion of Director-Level Risk Assessments  - With the 

rollout of the new risk assessment surveys, there was a reduction of 50% in the amount of hours spent on 

capturing data and meeting with Directors. 



FY17 Audit Plan - Description of Scheduled Audits 

• The final plan has twenty-two (22) audits/projects scheduled: 

o Sixteen (16) new audits based on the FY2017 risk assessment process. 

o Five (5) recurring audits and/or projects. 

o One (1) follow-up audit.  

o The proposed timeline for these audits is shown on p. 12. 

o A detailed list of these audits/projects, which includes an entity 
description and mapping to the relevant Top Tier risks, is shown in 
Appendix A9-A13. 

 

 

6 



FY17 Internal Audit Plan - Proposed Timeline 

7 

Audit/Project 
Budgeted 

Hours 
Auditor-in-Charge 

Estimated Draft 

Report Date 

FY 2017 

Oct-

16 

Nov-

16 

Dec-

16 

Jan-

17 

Feb-

17 

Mar-

17 

Apr-

17 

May-

17 

Jun-

17 

Jul-

17 

Aug-

17 

Sep-

17 

2016 Distribution, Development & Joint Projects 60 Troy England (TE) 10/31/16                         

2016 Facilities Management 140 David Arnold (DA) 10/31/16                         

2016 System Protection & Controls 120 Laurie Gaughan (LG) 10/31/16                         

Information Security 500 Rashid Brittain (RB) 12/15/16                         

JEA and SJRPP FY2016 Performance Pay Audit 200 TE 11/30/16                         

TEA Audit 100 LG *Fieldwork only*                         

Emergency Preparedness 350 TE 01/15/17                         

Customer Revenue - Receivables and Collection 300 New Auditor (NA) 01/31/17                         

Security 550 DA / RB 01/31/17                         

Electric Production CT Operations 400 LG 03/15/17                         

Real Estate Services and Revenue Contracts 350 DA 04/30/17                         

Water Meter Services 400 NA 05/15/17                         

Telecommunications and Support 450 RB 05/15/17                         

SJRPP Enviro Engineering and Preventive Maintenance 350 LG 05/31/17                         

W/WW Reuse and Delivery 550 TE 06/15/17                         

W/WW Project Engineering and Construction 500 DA 08/15/17                         

Electric Distribution and Construction Maintenance 400 LG 08/31/17                         

Technology Infrastructure 500 RB 09/15/17                         

Payroll and Compensation 400 NA 09/30/17                         

Permitting and Regulatory Conformance 400 TE 09/30/17                         

P-Card follow-up  300 DA 10/15/17                         

Safety and Health 300 LG 10/31/17                         

New Auditor Training 250 NA N/A                         

FY2017 Action Plan Follow-Up 400 All Staff N/A                         

FY2018 Annual Risk Assessments 300 All Staff N/A                         

  Completed Audit 

  In-Progress Audit 

  Scheduled Audit 

  Pending Audit 

  Administrative 



Appendix 

• The following supplemental documents are included in the Appendix, 
and were cross-referenced in the preceding presentation: 

o A1-A8 – Risk Assessment Survey for FY 2017 Internal Audit Plan (Re p. 4) 

o A9-A13 – Proposed FY 2017 Internal Audit Plan with Details (p. 6) 

 

8 



Audit Services 
Risk Assessment Survey 

FY2017 Planning 
Purpose 
Audit Services uses this survey to generally assess the internal controls the department has in 
place to mitigate risks and help achieve its goals.  The results will assist Audit Services in 
developing our annual risk-based audit plan and allocating the necessary staff resources for 
conducting the selected audits.  

Instructions 
Please read the survey questions carefully, and mark the best answer for each. Under each 
question, there is a section to add additional information, if necessary. Please complete only 
Section I of this assessment; Audit Services will complete Sections II-VI. 

Please let us know if you have any questions. Your cooperation is greatly appreciated. 

Certification 
The information provided is true and objective to the best of my knowledge and ability. 

Completed by: Enter Name 
Title: Enter Title 
Department: Enter Department 
Cost Center: Enter Cost Center 
Date: Enter Date 

Audit Services use only 
Reviewed By: Enter Name Date: Enter Date 
Approved By: Enter Name Date: Enter Date 

II. A.
F&A 8/8/2016



 
2 Audit Services – FY 2017 Risk Assessment Survey 

Section I 

1. Department’s Primary Goals (Please distinguish between short-term and long-term) 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 
2. Key Metrics used to assess progress toward meeting the department's goals (i.e. key 

performance indicators used, internal or external assessments, etc.)? 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 
 
3. Current Number of FTEs employed in the department: Enter Number 

Staff eligible or planning to retire within next 12-24 months: Enter Number 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 
4. Status of Written Policies and Procedures, including any desktop procedures. 
☐ Policies are in place, with no recent significant updates. Written procedures which support 

the policies are in place.                                       
☐ Policies are in place; however, employees are not always familiar with the policies and 

adherence to procedures is not always enforced.                                                
☐ Limited or no written policies and procedures, or substantially outdated. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 
5. Business Continuity - Does the department have contingency procedures to be 

implemented if normal operations are disrupted? 

☐ Plans are developed, documented, and tested to address short and long-term disruptions. 
The plans are up-to-date and comprehensive. 

☐ Contingency plans have been developed and tested where appropriate. Short-term 
disruption plans are current, but long-range plans may be lacking. 

☐ No plans exist for long-term disruptions and only minimal plans exist for handling short-
term disruptions. The ability to operate in the event of abnormal conditions is uncertain. 

Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 
6. Service Level Quality - Impact on JEA if the department’s services were not provided at 

the usual or expected level?    
☐ Nominal, if any.                                                                                                   
☐ Moderate impact, likely short-term.                                                                                                                 
☐ Significant impact creating serious internal problems that could impair JEA's reputation. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 
3 Audit Services – FY 2017 Risk Assessment Survey 

7. Supervisory Oversight personnel with appropriate responsibilities, organizational 
experience, and knowledge of JEA's processes periodically review and document the 
functioning and overall effectiveness of controls. 

☐ Effectiveness of controls reviewed and documented.                                              
☐ Never documented, but supervisory personnel are aware of overall effectiveness.                                                                                                                                        
☐ Overall effectiveness of controls never reviewed or documented. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

8. Control Overrides – In your opinion, to what degree can established controls or policies 
be circumvented in this department?                                                                                                                  

☐ Complete inability to circumvent controls.                                                                    
☐ Ability to override some controls without detection.                                       
☐ Ability to override most controls without detection. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

9. Departmental Training (JEA required training excluded) 
☐ Provided at least regularly; employees consider training is adequate.                                                                                        
☐ Some training provided, but more is needed.                                                                                                              
☐ Little or no training provided, and may not be adequate or effective. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

10. Impact of Federal or State Regulations – Consider both current and pending.  
☐ None, or minimal.                                                                                                                                           
☐ Moderate. 
☐ Significant. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

11. Fines or Reprimands assessed or levied by regulatory agencies in the past year (describe): 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

12. Agencies/Organizations that may review or monitor your department (describe)                

Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 
 
 



 
4 Audit Services – FY 2017 Risk Assessment Survey 

13. Cross-Dependency of other JEA business units supported by this department:                                         
☐ Department is mostly self-contained.         
☐ Department provides limited informational/service needs for several dependent business 

units within JEA.                                                                                                                                 
☐ Department meets full and very complex informational needs of numerous dependent 

business units within JEA. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

14. Degree of Information Confidentiality produced or handled by the department.                                                                                                                                                   
☐ Not confidential, is generally available to the public, and its release would not result in any 

potential loss or embarrassment to JEA.                                                                                                                                     
☐ Information is available to designated employees of JEA in connection with their jobs. 

Release to the public or to an unauthorized department could result in minor financial loss 
or moderate embarrassment or violation of an individual's privacy.                                                                                                                                 

☐ Information produced by this department requires protection against unauthorized or 
premature disclosure. Such disclosure could result in serious loss or embarrassment or 
could adversely affect the department or JEA. 

Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

15. Incorrect or Inaccurate Data – its impact on the department's capability to provide 
service.                                                                                                                              

☐ None or minimal.                                                                                                    
☐ Moderate impact.                                                                                                       
☐ Serious impact. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

16. Significant Changes in staff size, funding, functions, systems, key positions and/or 
responsibilities of the department during the past year (describe changes, if applicable).                                                                                     

☐ No significant changes have occurred.                                                            
☐ Moderate changes.                                                                                                                            
☐ Continuous and large-scale changes have been made to the department. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

17. Management / Employee Turnover over the past 12 months.                                         
☐ None, or minimal.                                                                                                          
☐ Moderate turnover.                                                                                                      
☐ Significant turnover. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 



 
5 Audit Services – FY 2017 Risk Assessment Survey 

 

18. Technology Services (TS) impact on your department over the past 12 months.                                               
☐ No changes; nominal impact.                                                                                                                
☐ Significant changes.                                                                                                         
☐ TS environment has changed or been replaced, affecting most key operations. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

19. 
 

Operations or Transactions managed by your department: inherently complex, require a 
significant amount of time, coordination or extensive training?                                                                                                     

☐ Relatively simple processes and time commitments, with minimal training.                                                                                             
☐ Moderately complex, somewhat time-consuming, requires significant training.                                                                                                                              
☐ Extensive operations that are very time-consuming and require extensive training. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

20. Communication with External Parties, such as legislators, city personnel, and news 
media or citizen groups.                                                                                                                  

☐ None, or minimal.                                                                                            
☐ Occasional.                                                                                                          
☐ Significant and often. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

21. Inventory/Materials                                                                                                                                                                                       
☐ No inventory, or nominally valued. No specialized inventory or materials.                                                                                                                       
☐ Inventories are at relatively moderate dollar amounts and do not include specialized items.                                                                                                                               
☐ Inventories are valued at high dollar amounts or include specialized items. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

22. Reputational Risk impact on JEA if errors or problems within the department receive 
negative publicity?                                                                                                                                              

☐ Minimal impact.                                                                                                          
☐ Moderate impact, but not a pressing concern.                                                           
☐ Significant impact due to the high degree of interest emanating from customers or external 

parties. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 



 
6 Audit Services – FY 2017 Risk Assessment Survey 

23. Potential Fraud, Waste or Loss - What is the worst case, or most likely, scenario for 
possible loss in your department (description of event and estimated financial loss)?                                        
 

Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

24. Total Budget (All Accounts):                                                   Cost Center: Enter Cost Center 

FY Total Budget Operating Budget Capital Budget 
2017 Enter Amount Enter Amount Enter Amount 
2016 Enter Amount Enter Amount Enter Amount 
2015 Enter Amount Enter Amount Enter Amount 

 

25. Within your budget, are there also Revenues?  If so, please provide the approximate yearly 
amount. 

Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 

 

26. External Audits / Consulting Reviews – List any conducted within the department for the 
past three years (not including annual Ernst & Young financial audit). 

FY Audit / Review Description 
Enter Year Enter Description 
Enter Year Enter Description 
Enter Year Enter Description 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

27. Next Internal Audit – If your department was selected for an audit in FY17, are there any 
anticipated obstacles regarding its timing?   

☐ No. 
☐ Maybe, based on possible events.                                                                                                                       
☐ Yes, an audit scheduled next year would not be advisable. 
Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

28. Additional Concerns or Risks – please provide a brief description. 
 

Enter your comments here 
Reserved for comments by Internal Audit 
 

  



 
7 Audit Services – FY 2017 Risk Assessment Survey 

Section II – Internal Audit History   
Please identify any audit reports related to this Department. 

Fiscal Year Audit Report Rating Comments 
Enter Year Enter Report Rating Enter Comments 
Enter Year Enter Report Rating Enter Comments 
Enter Year Enter Report Rating Enter Comments 
 
Section III –ACL Reports 
Please identify any ACL reports related to this Department. 

ACL Report Name Description 
Enter ACL Report Name Enter Report Description 
Enter ACL Report Name Enter Report Description 
 
Section IV - ERM Top Corporate Risks 
Please identify and provide a brief description of Top Corporate Risks that pertain to this 
department. 

Tier Risk Name Description 
Enter Risk 
Tier 

Enter Risk Name Enter Description 

Enter Risk 
Tier 

Enter Risk Name Enter Description 

Enter Risk 
Tier 

Enter Risk Name Enter Description 

 
Section V – EHL 
Please identify any EHL case and outcome for this department. 
Fiscal Year EHC Case Number Outcome / Comments 
Enter Year Enter Case Number Enter Outcome /Comments 
Enter Year Enter Case Number Enter Outcome /Comments 
Enter Year Enter Case Number Enter Outcome /Comments 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
8 Audit Services – FY 2017 Risk Assessment Survey 

Section VI – Risk Scores 
C

O
SO

 OR 1 2 3 4 5 6 Sum Avg. 
        

CR 10 11 12 Sum Avg. 
     

RR 13 14 15 Sum Avg. 
     

 

Q
ua

lit
at

iv
e 

M
ea

su
re

s 

PC 19 20 21 Sum Avg. 
     

GM 26 27  Sum Avg. 
     

DC 16 17 18 Sum Avg. 
     

CCE 7 8 9 Sum Avg. 
     

 

Im
pa

ct
 

R
is

ks
 PFI 23 24 25 Sum Avg. 

     

PRI 22   Sum Avg. 
     

 

 

 

 



JEA AUDIT SERVICES 
PROPOSED FY 2017 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 

WITH ENTITY DESCRIPTION & MAPPING TO TOP CORPORATE RISKS 
(SEE PP. 6-7 IN PRESENTATION) 

Title Entity Description Top Corporate Risks 

Electric Systems 

Electric Production Combustion 
Turbines Operations  

Provides mechanical support and maintenance of JEA's 
combustion turbine generating fleet. 

Tier 1 
Physical Security (Facilities Infrastructure Security 
and Regulatory Compliance) (C02) 
Critical Infrastructure Protection (CIP) Compliance 
(E07) 
Effluent Limit Guidelines for Steam Units (E02) 
Tier 2  
Disaster Recovery / Business Continuity (C07) 
Public and Employee Safety (H03) 
FERC/NERC O&P Reliability & Compliance (E09) 
Infrastructure Destruction Due to Severe Weather 
(E13) 

Electric Distribution & Construction 
Maintenance 

Maintains overhead electric distribution circuits 
throughout JEA's service territory, including predictive 
and preventive maintenance, and supports electric 
troubleshooter's response area to respond to electrical 
service emergencies through the overhead distribution 
and transmission circuits. 

Tier 2 
Long-term Planning/Load Forecasting (E06) 
Infrastructure Maintenance – Electric System Assets 
(E11) 
Public and Employee Safety (H03) 
Disaster Recovery / Business Continuity (C07) 

SJRPP Engineering, Environmental, and 
Predictive Maintenance 

Provides engineering services for SJRPP. Includes 
predictive maintenance and laboratory. 

Tier 1 
Carbon Emission Mitigation (E01) 
Effluent Limit Guidelines for Steam Units (E02) 
Coal Combustion Residual Rule (CCR) (E03) 
Tier 2  
FERC/NERC O&P Reliability & Compliance (E09) 
Infrastructure Maintenance – Electric System Assets 
(E11)    
Public and Employee Safety (H03) 

II. A.
F&A 8/8/2016



JEA AUDIT SERVICES 
PROPOSED FY 2017 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 

WITH ENTITY DESCRIPTION & MAPPING TO TOP CORPORATE RISKS 
(SEE PP. 6-7 IN PRESENTATION) 

 

Title Entity Description Top Corporate Risks 

Water / Wastewater Systems   

Water Wastewater Reuse & Delivery Provides water, wastewater, and reclaimed water 
service to our customers. 

Tier 1 
Water Supply Management / Long Term Planning 
(W01) 
Physical Security (Facilities Infrastructure Security 
and Regulatory Compliance) (C02) 
Tier 2  
Disaster Recovery / Business Continuity (C07) 
Sanitary Sewer Overflow Management (W03) 
Infrastructure Maintenance – Water/Wastewater 
Systems (W04) 
Infrastructure Destruction Due to Severe Weather 
(E13) 

Water Wastewater Project Engineering 
& Construction 

Manages the planning, engineering, and construction 
processes associated with upgrades, repair or new 
construction of water utility infrastructure. 

Tier 1 
Water Supply Management / Long Term Planning 
(W01) 
Physical Security (Facilities Infrastructure Security 
and Regulatory Compliance) (C02) 
Tier 2  
Sanitary Sewer Overflow Management (W03) 
Infrastructure Maintenance – Water/Wastewater 
Systems (W04) 
Public and Employee Safety (H03) 

Financial & Logistical Services   

P-Card Follow-Up Provides a means to meet the purchasing of small 
dollar value goods for the organization and to be used 
during emergency to ensure continuity of service. 

Tier 1  
Revenues and Expenses Management (F01) 
Tier 2  
Fraud Risk Management (C06) 
 
 



JEA AUDIT SERVICES 
PROPOSED FY 2017 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 

WITH ENTITY DESCRIPTION & MAPPING TO TOP CORPORATE RISKS 
(SEE PP. 6-7 IN PRESENTATION) 

 

Title Entity Description Top Corporate Risks 

Real Estate Services and Revenue 
Contracts Administration 

Acquisition, disposition and management of JEA's 
property rights for near and long-term utility needs. 

Tier 1  
Revenues and Expenses Management (F01) 
Tier 2  
Fraud Risk Management (C06) 

Emergency Preparedness Supports JEA's business areas in the development, 
testing and execution of business continuity plans. 

Tier 1  
Revenues and Expenses Management (F01) 
Tier 2  
Disaster Recovery / Business Continuity (C07) 
Technology Services Disaster Recovery / Business 
Continuity (T04) 
Infrastructure Destruction Due to Severe Weather 
(E13) 

Customer Relationships   

Water Meter Services Maintains JEA's residential, commercial and industrial 
water meters and systems to ensure accurate readings 
for billing purposes. 

Tier 1  
Customer Relationship Management (C01) 
Tier 2  
Infrastructure Maintenance – Water/Wastewater 
Systems (W04) 
Disaster Recovery / Business Continuity (C07) 

Customer Revenue - Receivables & 
Collection Services 

Manages credit and collection policies, commercial 
collections, bankruptcies, credit reporting, 
miscellaneous receivables, write-offs, loan payment 
collection, deposit refunds and third party vendor 
payments. 

Tier 1  
Revenues and Expenses Management (F01) 
Tier 2  
Other Regulatory Compliance (C09) 
Cyber Security Business Disruption (T03) 

Information Technology   

Information Security Protects information and information systems from 
unauthorized access, use, disclosure, disruption, 
modification, perusal, inspection, recording or 
destruction. 

Tier 2 
Staffing (H02)  
Cyber Security Information Protection (T02) 
Cyber Security Business Disruption (T03) 
Technology Services Resource Optimization (T05) 



JEA AUDIT SERVICES 
PROPOSED FY 2017 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 

WITH ENTITY DESCRIPTION & MAPPING TO TOP CORPORATE RISKS 
(SEE PP. 6-7 IN PRESENTATION) 

 

Title Entity Description Top Corporate Risks 

Technology Infrastructure Provides infrastructure services associated with 
equipment and software used to support enterprise 
systems. Also provides support for middle-tier code 
deployment, tape backup and restore, Citrix, 
SharePoint, corporate email and Critical Cyber Assets 
associated with CIP. 

Tier 2 
Staffing (H02)  
Technology Infrastructure Reliability (T01) 
Cyber Security Business Disruption (T03) 
Technology Services Resource Optimization (T05) 

Telecommunications & Support Provides communication services such as: radio, fiber, 
network, wireless, business phones. Also responsible 
for leasing fiber and cell towers. 
 

Tier 1  
Revenues and Expenses Management (F01) 
Tier 2 
Staffing (H02)  
Technology Infrastructure Reliability (T01) 
Cyber Security Business Disruption (T03) 
Technology Services Resource Optimization (T05) 

Human Resources   

Payroll and Compensation Services Manages the payroll process for all JEA employees. Tier 1  
Revenues and Expenses Management (F01) 
Pensions (H01) 
Tier 2  
Staffing (H02) 
Cyber Security Business Disruption (T03) 

Safety and Health Promotes and maintains accountability of safety across 
the organization. 

Tier 2  
Public and Employee Safety (H03) 

Compliance   

Security Protects the critical infrastructure that provides utility 
services to our customers. 

Tier 1 
Physical Security (Facilities Infrastructure Security 
and Regulatory Compliance) (C02) 
Tier 2  
Disaster Recovery / Business Continuity (C07) 
Cyber Security Business Disruption (T03) 
 



JEA AUDIT SERVICES 
PROPOSED FY 2017 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 

WITH ENTITY DESCRIPTION & MAPPING TO TOP CORPORATE RISKS 
(SEE PP. 6-7 IN PRESENTATION) 

Title Entity Description Top Corporate Risks 

Public Affairs 

Permitting & Regulatory Conformance Secures permits, ensures regulatory reporting and 
compliance oversight, advocates for JEA on matters of 
environmental compliance and emerging local/state 
environmental rules. 

Tier 1 
Carbon Emission Mitigation (E01) 
Effluent Limit Guidelines for Steam Units (E02) 
Coal Combustion Residual Rule (CCR) (E03) 
Cooling Water Intake Structures 316(b) (E05) 
Tier 2  
Disaster Recovery / Business Continuity (C07) 
Cyber Security Business Disruption (T03) 

Recurring Audits / Projects 

JEA / SJRPP Performance Pay Audits Determine if achieved levels of performance were 
calculated in conformance with the incentive plan 
approved by JEA’s Board of Directors. 

The Energy Authority (TEA) Audit Audit of TEA’s East Coast Operations performed by a 
team of representatives from several member utilities. 

Annual Risk Assessments Identifying and prioritizing risks to the business. The FY 
2018 audit plan will be developed from these 
assessments. 

Action Plan Follow-Up & Reporting Ensure that management’s action plans are being 
implemented and are working effectively to mitigate 
internal control deficiencies reported in internal audit s 
and investigations. 



II. B.
Adoption of Changes to the Finance & Audit 

Committee Operating Policy 



Ver.2.0D  9/21/2013 jer 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

July 27, 2016 

SUBJECT: 
ADOPTION OF CHANGES TO THE FINANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 
OPERATING POLICY 

Purpose:  Information Only  Action Required  Advice/Direction 

Issue: The Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) mandates that an Audit Committee perform certain duties, 
including the annual review and approval of the Committee's governing policy.  For JEA, that governing 
policy is the Finance & Audit Committee (FAC) Operating Policy.  

Significance: High 

Effect: To keep JEA's Finance & Audit Committee in compliance with IIA Standards, and to better define 
the current responsibilities of the Finance & Audit Committee.  The suggested change to the FAC Policy is 
highlighted in yellow on the attached document, and adds the word "investigations" on page 2 to clarify the 
specific information reported. 

Cost or Benefit: There is no cost.  See Effect above for Benefit. 

Recommended Board action: Staff recommends that the Finance & Audit Committee and the Board 
approve the attached revision of the JEA Finance & Audit Committee Operating Policy. 

For additional information, contact: Steven V. Tuten, Director, Audit Services 

Submitted by: PEM/TEH/SVT/ 

Commitments to Action 

Return to Agenda II. B.
F&A 8/8/2016



JEA Finance & Audit Committee Operating Policy 

1 

 

 
Role of the Finance & Audit Committee 

 

The Finance & Audit Committee is appointed by, and is a standing Committee of, the Board of 

JEA.  The Committee’s primary function is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight 

responsibilities by reviewing JEA’s financial information, systems of internal controls, and audit 

process, including a high-level review of the operating and capital budgets. In conjunction with 

its primary function, it is the responsibility of the Committee to provide an open avenue of 

communication between the Board, Management, Audit Services, and the external auditors.  The 

committee will report to the Board on a regular basis to keep the full Board apprised.   

 

The Finance & Audit Committee shall review and approve various agenda items as outlined 

below.  These items shall then be recommended to the full JEA Board for approval.      

 

Membership 

 

The Committee shall consist of at least three Board members, appointed annually by the Board 

Chair.  The Board Chair shall also appoint one of the Committee members as Chairperson.  The 

Director of Audit Services and the external auditors shall have direct and independent access to 

the members of the Finance & Audit Committee. 

 

Meetings: 

 

The Committee will meet at least four times per year.  The Committee may invite members of 

Management, external and internal auditors, and/or others to attend meetings and provide 

pertinent information, as necessary.  A schedule of regular meetings will be established by the 

Committee annually.  Special meetings may be called by any Committee member.  To constitute 

a quorum, a majority of the members must be present at all meetings.   Meetings shall be subject 

to public information laws. 

 

Responsibilities: 

 

The Committee shall: 

 

General 

 

 Report Committee actions and recommendations to the Board.  

 Annually review and approve the Committee’s Operating Policy, updating as needed. 

 Conduct or authorize investigations into any matters within the Committee’s scope of 

responsibilities. The Committee shall have unrestricted access to members of 

Management and relevant information.  The Committee may request Audit Services, 

and/or the City of Jacksonville Council Auditor or Inspector General, to assist it in 

the conduct of any investigation. 

 



JEA Finance & Audit Committee Operating Policy 

2 

 

 

 

Internal Controls and Risk Assessment 

 

 Review and evaluate the effectiveness of JEA’s process for identifying and assessing 

significant risk exposures and the steps Management has taken to monitor and control 

such risks.   

 Review any significant findings and recommendations of the external auditors, 

including Management’s responses and timetable for implementation of 

recommendations to correct any weaknesses in internal controls. 

 Review with the external auditors the adequacy of JEA’s internal controls including 

controls over computerized information, and security controls.   

 

Audit Services 

 

 Review the internal audit function, including the independence and authority of its 

reporting process.  

 Review and formally approve the proposed annual audit plan, and the adequacy of 

resources and organizational structure. 

 Annually review and formally approve the Audit Services Charter. 

 Review and formally approve the appointment, reassignment, or dismissal of the 

Director, Audit Services (the Chief Auditor). 

 The Finance & Audit Committee Chair will annually discuss the Director, Audit 

Services’ performance and compensation with the CEO and/or the Chief Risk & 

Compliance Officer (CRCO).  

 Review the summary results of investigations of ethics violations and frauds reported 

through the Ethics Hotline, and confirm that JEA is maintaining effective controls 

over conflicts of interest and fraud. 

 Receive, prior to each meeting, a progress report on the annual internal audit plan, 

and a summary of completed internal audits including: 

o Any significant findings and Management’s responses, including the timetable 

for implementation to correct weaknesses; & 

o Any difficulties encountered in the course of the audit such as restrictions on 

the scope of the work or access to information. 

 

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM), Compliance with Laws, Regulations 

 

The Board’s responsibilities, as outlined in the Enterprise Compliance and Risk policy are 

delegated, in part, to the Finance & Audit Committee as follows: 

 

 Approve significant changes to the Enterprise Compliance and Risk Policy, and to the 

Electric Compliance Policy. 

 Ensure that JEA maintains a comprehensive and effective ERM program 

 Monitor JEA’s process to identify, assess, and manage those significant risks that 

could prevent JEA from achieving its business objectives by: 

o Reviewing any summary risk reports provided by the Enterprise Compliance 

and Risk Committee (ECRC). 



JEA Finance & Audit Committee Operating Policy 

3 

 

o Reviewing management presentations on the implementation of policies and 

procedures related to risk assessment and risk management, to confirm that 

operational and financial risks are being adequately managed and mitigate 

 Gain reasonable assurance that JEA is in compliance with pertinent laws and 

regulations by reviewing summary reports and management presentations confirming 

that Management is meeting the legislative and regulatory requirements applicable to 

JEA. 

 

Ethics Program 

 

On behalf of the JEA Board, the Finance & Audit Committee of the Board will oversee 

JEA’s Ethics Program as follows: 

 

 Ensure that JEA maintains a comprehensive and effective Ethics program, and is 

conducting its affairs in accordance with JEA’s Core Values, Code of Conduct, and 

Code of Ethics. 

 Review presentations and summary reports from the JEA’s Board-appointed Ethics 

Officer (EO) relating to the ethics training program and ethics questions posed by 

employees. 

 

Budget 

 

On behalf of the JEA Board, the Finance & Audit Committee will oversee the annual budget 

process by: 

 

 Reviewing and approving JEA’s preliminary and final budgets. 

 Reviewing significant changes to the existing budget. 

 Reviewing and approving annual budget resolutions authorizing line item 

reallocations. 

 

Rates  

 

On behalf of the JEA Board, the Finance & Audit Committee will oversee the rates change 

process by reviewing and approving: 

 

 Significant changes to JEA’s rate structure and Pricing Philosophy. 

 Management’s recommendations for rate changes, and rate hearings.   

 

Treasury  

 

On behalf of the JEA Board, the Finance & Audit Committee will oversee JEA’s financing 

processes by: 

 

 Reviewing and discussing with Management and the external auditors:  

o All critical Investments and Debt policies and practices used by JEA, as well 

as any significant changes to those policies and practices, including changes 

resulting from recent professional and/or regulatory pronouncements, or 



JEA Finance & Audit Committee Operating Policy 

4 

 

changes in Management’s assessment of financial market conditions or 

liquidity requirements. 

 Reviewing all management reports relating to investment and debt position and 

results. 

 Reviewing and approving all new debt issuance and/or debt refinancing, in 

accordance to the Board’s delegated authority, as appropriate considering the 

necessary timing of the transaction and the meeting schedule of the Finance & Audit 

Committee.   

 

Financial Reporting  

 

 Review and discuss with Management:  

o All critical accounting policies and practices used by JEA, as well as any 

significant financial reporting issues such as regulatory actions, complex or 

unusual transactions, alternative treatments within generally accepted 

accounting principles, and highly judgmental matters. 

o Significant changes in JEA’s policies for financial reporting, including 

changes resulting from recent professional and/or regulatory pronouncements 

or Management’s evaluation. 

 Review all reports between Management and the external auditors, such as the 

management letter. 

 Review with Management and the external auditors the results of the annual financial 

audit including any difficulties or disputes with Management encountered during the 

audit and matters required to be discussed in accordance with the Statement of 

Auditing Standards No. 61, Communications with Audit Committees. 

 Review with Management JEA’s financial performance on a periodic basis. 

 

External Auditor 

 

 Oversee the selection, compensation, terms of engagement and recommendation to 

the Board for appointment of the external auditors, who in their capacity as 

independent public accountants shall be responsible to the Board and the Committee.  

Per Florida Statute 218.391, compensation shall not be the sole or predominant factor 

used to evaluate and select the external auditors.     

 Review and formally approve the qualifications and independence of the external 

auditors, including quality/ independence controls, such as independent partner 

reviews, peer reviews (including the most recent report) and/or a partner rotation 

policy.  If the Committee is not satisfied with the auditors’ assurances of 

independence, it shall recommend to the Board appropriate action to ensure the 

independence of the external auditors, including discharge, if necessary. 

 Review and formally accept the scope and approach of the annual financial audit with 

the external auditors. 

 Approve all non-audit services provided by the external auditors in accordance with 

Governmental Auditing Standards. 

 Review and approve the hiring of former external auditors for JEA senior-level 

positions. 

 



JEA Finance & Audit Committee Operating Policy 

5 

 

Committee Education, Orientation, and Self-Assessment  

   

 With Management, the Committee shall develop and participate in a process for 

reviewing important topics presenting potential significant financial and reputational 

risk to JEA.   

 Individual Committee members are encouraged to participate in relevant and 

appropriate self-study to assure understanding of the business and the environment in 

which JEA operates 

 The Committee shall review, discuss, and assess its own performance annually as 

well as the Committee’s role and responsibilities, seeking input from Senior 

Management, the full Board, Audit Services and the external auditors. 

 

 

 

March 27, 2008 (07/02/08 jer) 

August 9, 2010 (dac) 

August 8, 2011 (dac) 

August 13, 2012 (dac)  

August 30, 2012 (dac) 

September 17, 2012 (cb) 

August 11, 2014 (dac) 

August 10, 2015 (dac) 

August 8, 2016 (svt) 



II. C.
Annual Approval of Audit Services Charter 



Ver.2.0D  9/21/2013 jer 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

July 27, 2016 

SUBJECT: ANNUAL APPROVAL OF AUDIT SERVICES CHARTER 

Purpose:  Information Only  Action Required  Advice/Direction 

Issue: The Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) requires that the Finance & Audit Committee annually reviews 
and formally approves the JEA Audit Services Charter. 

Significance: Medium 

Effect: The Purpose statement on page 1 of the attached document has been updated to reflect some of 
the key elements described in the Charter's Mission, which was updated in 2015.  Both the old and new 
text, highlighted in yellow, have been included for comparative purposes. In addition, in the Reporting 
section on page 3, the text highlighted in yellow, "Office of the Inspector General" (OIG), has been added 
to reflect JEA's collaboration with the OIG. 

Cost or Benefit: There is no cost.  See Effect above for Benefit. 

Recommended Board action: Staff recommends that the Finance & Audit Committee and the Board 
approve the attached version of the Audit Services Charter. 

For additional information, contact: Steven V. Tuten, Director, Audit Services 

Submitted by: PEM/TEH/SVT/ 

Commitments to Action 

II. C.
F&A 8/8/2016

Return to Agenda



Audit Services Charter 

1 

Purpose 

New Text: The purpose of JEA’s internal audit function is to provide independent and 

objective assurance and consulting services designed to add value and improve JEA’s 

operations. Internal Audit helps JEA to accomplish its objectives by bringing a 

systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of internal 

control, compliance, and governance processes. 

Previous Text: To assist management in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities by 

determining if  internal controls over JEA’s processes, systems, operations, and financial 

reports are in place and operating effectively to achieve management’s business 

objectives, and are in compliance with legal/regulatory requirements (including city 

ordinances and resolutions and Board directives), internal Management Directives, and 

operating procedures.   

Authority 

The Director, Audit Services is the Chief Audit Executive (CAE) and reports 

administratively to the Chief Risk and Compliance Officer, as established by the Chief 

Executive Officer.  On audits involving Compliance Department functions, the Director, 

Audit Services reports directly to the CEO.  The Director, Audit Services also meets 

quarterly with the CEO, and reports to and meets quarterly with the Finance & Audit 

Committee of the Board of Directors.   

 The Director, Audit Services and Internal Audit Staff are authorized: 

 To carry out a program of Internal Audit projects as necessary to fulfill the

purpose and mission of the department, including an annual risk assessment and

development of an annual audit plan.

 To have access to all JEA records, assets, properties, plants, computers, personnel,

etc., with strict and absolute accountability for safekeeping and confidentiality

while conducting their internal audit duties.

To minimize duplication of efforts, Audit Services will not audit JEA’s financial 

statements, which are already audited by JEA’s external auditors.  

Mission 

The Institute of Internal Auditors’ (IIA) definition of internal auditing is:  “an 

independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and 

improve an organization’s operations.  It helps an organization accomplish its objectives 

by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness 

of risk management, control, and governance processes.”   The IIA’s Mission of Internal  

II. C.
F&A 8/8/2016



                                  Audit Services Charter 

2 

 

 

Audit is “To enhance and protect organizational value by providing risk-based and 

objective assurance, advice, and insight.” 

 

The specific mission of JEA’s Internal Audit is to perform comprehensive, objective 

audits (assurance services) and consulting reviews (consulting services) that fulfill the 

purpose outlined above while conforming to the IIA’s Standard Practices, Code of Ethics, 

Definition of Internal Auditing, and Mission of Internal Audit.   

 

Scope and Responsibilities 

 

Internal Audit’s responsibilities include both assurance services and consulting services, 

which are defined by the IIA as follows: 

 

Assurance Services:   “An objective examination of evidence for the purpose of 

providing an independent assessment on governance, risk management, and control 

processes for the organization.  Examples may include financial, performance, 

compliance, system security, and due diligence engagements.” 

 

Consulting Services:   “Advisory and related client service activities, the nature and 

scope of which are agreed with the client, are intended to add value and improve an 

organization’s governance, risk management, and control processes without the internal 

auditor assuming management responsibility.  Examples include counsel, advice, 

facilitation, and training.” 

 

Activities performed by Internal Audit in executing its assurance and consulting services 

responsibilities include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

Assurance/Audit Activities 

 Evaluate the effectiveness of controls over the reliability and integrity of 

management information.  Ascertain the level of compliance with policies, 

procedures, laws and regulations. 

 Review operations to evaluate whether established objectives and goals are being 

achieved. 

 Assist management in identifying operational, financial, regulatory and 

reputational risks, and assess JEA’s ability to adequately mitigate these risks.  

 Conduct objective reviews of company business activities, operations, internal 

controls and performance management systems, and report results to JEA 

management.   

 Proactively consult with internal customers on recommendations and the 

implementation of action plans, and monitor results.    

 Perform engagement level audit planning and risk control assessment.   

 Perform action plan follow-up. 

 

 

 



                                  Audit Services Charter 

3 

 

 

 A detailed description of audit practices is contained in Procedures for 

Conducting Internal Audits ASC0500 113. 

 

Annual Risk Assessment and Audit Plan Activities 

 Perform annual risk assessment activities and develop an annual audit plan.  The 

CAE will present the annual audit plan to the Finance & Audit Committee for 

review and approval.  Annual risk assessment/audit plan development will be 

performed according to Audit Services Procedures ASC0500 1101 Risk 

Assessment/Develop Audit Plan. 

 

 The audit scope will be based on Internal Audit’s assessment of risk. Audit 

coverage will focus on high risk areas as defined in the annual risk assessment 

process.  

 

Consulting Activities 

 Provide consulting services per Audit Services’ Consulting Engagement 

Procedure ASC0500 CE, where the level of risk warrants our involvement.  

However, Audit Services does not act in an operating capacity, and cannot be part 

of the approval process. 

 

Auditors will not be assigned to audits or projects in areas where they previously worked 

within the past 24 months, or where their degree of independence could be questioned in 

any other way. 

 

Quality Assurance  

Adequate supervision and quality assurance will be performed and documented for each 

auditor and each audit assignment as defined in Audit Services’ Quality Assurance 

Improvement Program (QAIP) Procedure ASC0500QA, which includes external peer 

reviews as required by the IIA, at least every five years beginning in 2005.  

Reporting 

 

Detailed written reports will be prepared and issued to management following the 

completion of each audit. The contents will be discussed with auditee management before  

the reports are finalized, except in cases of fraud. Reports will generally be distributed to 

the Chief/Vice President/General Manager and Director/Manager of the area being 

audited, along with the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Risk and Compliance 

Officer.  Final audit reports are also submitted to the Council Auditor’s office and the 

Office of the Inspector General for the City of Jacksonville.  Quarterly summaries of 

audit results are presented to the Finance & Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.     

 

 

 

 



                                  Audit Services Charter 

4 

 

 

JEA Management Responsibilities 

 

Although the role of Internal Audit is to assess internal controls, systems, procedures, 

risks, etc., JEA management retains full responsibility for ensuring that JEA maintains an 

appropriate framework of controls to reduce business risks to an acceptable level. 

 

Management also has the responsibility and accountability for addressing weaknesses and 

inefficiencies identified in both External and Internal Audit Reports and for taking the 

necessary corrective action.   If JEA management decides to accept a level of risk that 

Internal Audit believes is imprudent and improper, and this difference of opinion cannot 

be resolved, the CAE has the option to refer the matter to the Enterprise Compliance & 

Risk Committee (ECRC) for discussion and resolution, as stated in the ECRC Charter.      

 

Management should immediately inform the CAE of any significant internal control 

problems, thefts, frauds, or unauthorized transactions.  

 

Annual Review of Charter 

 

This charter will be reviewed at least annually and revised as needed.  The CAE will 

present the charter at least annually to the Finance & Audit Committee for review and 

approval.   

 

 

 

Presented to the Executive Management Team October 5, 2004 

Presented to JEA Board of Directors November 16, 2004 

Revised January 7, 2009 to include the Finance & Audit Committee (F&AC) 

Revised August 8, 2011 and presented to F&AC 

Presented to the F&AC for review and approval Aug. 13, 2012, with no revisions 

Presented to the F&AC for review and approval Aug. 12, 2013, with revisions 

Presented to the F&AC for review and approval Aug. 11, 2014, with no revisions 

Presented to the F&AC for review and approval Dec. 10, 2014, with revisions 

Presented to the F&AC for review and approval Aug. 10, 2015, with no revisions 

Presented to the F&AC for review and approval Aug. 8, 2016 

 

 



II. D.
Audit Services – Quarterly ERM/Audit Update 



Audit Services 3Q FY16 Update 

Steve Tuten - Director, Audit Services 

Lee Montanez – Manager, Audit Services 

Frank DiBenedetto – Manager, Enterprise Risk Management 

II. D.
F&A 8/8/2016

Return to Agenda



Audit Services 3Q FY16 Update – Table of Contents 

Topic Page #s 

• Internal Audit 3-4 

• Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) 5-9 

• Ethics Investigations & Audit 10-13 

• Appendix 14 & A1-A2 

2 



Internal Audit 3Q16 Highlights 

• We are extending an offer to a candidate for our Internal Audit position, 
the final opening in the department.  

• As of 6/30, there were 27 open audit and investigation report issues 
requiring management’s corrective action plans.  

• The current timeline for the FY16 Internal Audit Plan is shown on p. 14; 
three of the postponed audits have been included in the FY17 Audit 
Plan. 

 

3 



 
FY16 Internal Audit Plan - Timeline 

 

4 

 

 

Oct-15 Nov-15 Dec-15 Jan-16 Feb-16 Mar-16 Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Aug-16 Sep-16

2015 Neighbor to Neighbor Program Review (carryover) 5 Doris Champ 11/23/15

2015 TEA (carryover) 75 Troy England (TE)

Completed (No 

Report)

2015 HIPAA Audit (carryover) 20 Laurie Gaughan (LG) 11/18/15

2016 FY15 Performance Pay Review 150 TE 12/02/15

2016 SJRPP Fuels 400 LG 12/21/15

2015 Investment Recovery Limited Scope (carryover) 230 TE 04/01/16

2016 JEA Fuels 450 LG 04/22/16

2016 P-Card Audit 375 David Arnold (DA) 05/23/16

2015 Fleet Services (carryover) 130 Julie Moore / DA 07/31/16

2016 Disaster Recovery 375 Rashid Brittain (RB) 08/15/16

2016 Emerging Workforce Strategies 200 LG 08/15/16

2016 Distribution, Development & Joint Projects 400 TE 09/30/16

2016 System Protection & Controls 500 LG 10/30/16

2016 Facilities Management 550 DA 10/30/16

2015 Customer Bill ing & Payment Processing (carryover) 295

2016 Technology Infrastructure 400

2016 Information Security 400

2016 Debt Management 500

2016 PMO 550

2016 SJRPP Electric Production, Operations, and Bulk 

Material Handling 350

2016 SJRPP Electric Production Maintenance 350

New Auditor Training 300 DA / RB N/A

2016 Action Plan Follow-Up 800 TE N/A

2017 Annual Risk Assessments 375 DA/ LG / RB / TE N/A

Completed Audit

In-Progress  Audit

Scheduled Audit

Pending Audit

Adminis trative

Budgeted 

Hours

FY 2016 Hours
Audit/Project Auditor-in-Charge

Estimated Draft 

Report Date

Postponed (Included in FY17 Audit Plan)

Postponed (Included in FY17 Audit Plan)

Postponed

Postponed

Postponed

Postponed (Included in FY17 Audit Plan)

Postponed 



Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) – Committee Structure 

• JEA’s ERM program identifies, assesses, measures, monitors and actively manages risk, 

including mitigation strategies and actions. Top corporate risks  are reviewed monthly by the 

Enterprise Compliance & Risk Committee (ECRC) & quarterly with the Board. 

 

• Enterprise Compliance & Risk Committee  

       and Subcommittees 

– Electric Risk  

– FERC/NERC/CIP Electric Compliance 

– Fuel and Purchased Power 

– Debt and Investment 

– Revenue and Expense Management 

– Technology Projects 

– Technology Risk 

– Compliance Oversight 

– Water and Wastewater Regulatory Compliance 

 

5 

Enterprise 
Compliance 

and Risk 
Committee 

Electric Risk 
Committee FERC/NERC/ 

CIP Electric 
Compliance 
Committee 

Fuel and 
Purchased 
Power Risk 
Committee 

Debt and 
Investment 
Committee 

Revenue & 
Expense 

Management 
Committee 

Technology 
Projects 

Committee 

Technology 
Risk 

Committee 

Compliance 
Oversight 

Committee 

Water and 
Wastewater 
Regulatory 
Compliance 
Committee 



Top Corporate Risks   Score 
Total # of 
Risks 

Tier 1 (See p. 7) 10-25  14 Impact x 
Likelihood Tier 2 (See A1)  5-9 27 

Tier 3 (See A2) 1-4 13 Score 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  

Almost 
Certain  

>90% 

5 5 10 15 20 25 15-25 Red 

Likely 
65-90% 

4 4 8 12 16 20 10-12 
Orange 

 

Possible 
35-65% 

3 3 6 9 12 15 8-9 
Yellow 

 

Unlikely 
5-35% 

2 2 4 6 8 10 4-6 
Light 

Green 

Rare 
<5% 

1 1 2 3 4 5 1-3 
Dark 

Green 

    1 2 3 4 5 

    
Minor Moderate Significant Major Severe 

Impact 

ERM Corporate Risk Heat Map 

6 *The risk score is a factor of the risk impact x likelihood. 



ERM – Tier 1 Top Corporate Risk Trends  

7 

E = Electric, W = Water/Wastewater, F = Financial, H = Human Resources, T = Technology, C = Corporate-wide.   Risks are in order by risk score within Business Function 

Risk 
FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 Long Term Risk 

Exposure Trend 
(> 5 Years) Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 

Electric Risks   

E01 - Carbon Emission Mitigation - Clean Power Plan (CPP) 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 ↑ Increasing 

E02 - Effluent Limit Guidelines for Steam Units 8 8 12 12 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 ↔ Stable 

E04 - Adverse Electric Commodity Supply and Pricing  12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 ↔ Stable 

E03 - Coal Combustion Residual Rule (CCR) 10 10 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 10 10 10 10 10 ↔ Stable 

E05 - Cooling Water Intake Structures 316(b)  12 12 12 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 ↔ Stable 

E06 - Long-term Planning/Load Forecast - Electric 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 ↑ Increasing 

E07 - Critical Infrastructure Protection (CIP) Compliance 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 ↑ Increasing 

Water/Wastewater Risks   

W01 - Water Supply Management/Long Term Planning 9 8 12 12 12 12 12 12 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 ↑ Increasing 

Corporate Wide Risks   

H01 - Pension Costs 20 16 16 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 ↑ Increasing 

F01 - Revenue and Expense Management  16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 ↑ Increasing 

C16 - Weather and Climate Change Impact                             15 15 ↑ Increasing 

C01 - Customer Relationship Management 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 ↔ Stable 

C02 - Physical Security (Facilities Infrastructure Security and 
Regulatory Compliance) 

9 9 9 9 9 9 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 ↑ Increasing 

C03 - New Technology               12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 ↑ Increasing 

*These risks possess the greatest potential impacts to JEA. 



 

ERM 3Q16 Highlights 

8 

• Added two new risks during 3Q: 
 

o Weather & Climate Change Impact – The unpredictability of weather patterns and/or short-
term or seasonal extreme weather negatively impacting long-term planning, financial and 
reliability performance. 

o Public Perception of Water Quality - Water quality issues in other municipalities have 
heightened the public’s sensitivity to water quality.   

 

• Commenced ongoing business unit risk assessments to better align business processes with top 
corporate risk mitigations efforts, as well as identify/manage risks that may negatively impact 
business objectives.  

• Implementing required risk management training for all appointed employees to enhance 
understanding of JEA’s risk management infrastructure, improve risk identification, assessment 
and mitigation skills, and enhance the interdepartmental coordination of risk mitigation efforts. 

• Aligned audit entities with top corporate risks to enhance ERM/Audit coordination and focus  
towards business functions with the highest risks and to verify the adequacy of controls and 
mitigation efforts. 

 

 



ERM 3Q16 Highlights (cont.) 

9 

Continuous Auditing/Continuous Monitoring (CACM) - Current Functionality 

 
JEA utilizes ACL software to develop and operate a data analytics function 
aimed at analyzing transactional data from the Oracle system.    

 
The Continuous Audit/Continuous Monitoring (CACM) function provides an 
automated means to identify transactions that are in violation of policy, 
processing errors and/or potential fraudulent activities.  
CACM functionality. 

 

GRC (Governance/Risk/Compliance) Enhancement Discussions 

 
Audit Services is considering enhancing the current ACL application 
functionalities and possible replacement of the current audit management  
application (AutoAudit) and ERM manual spreadsheets with the ACL-GRC 
application. 
 



Ethics Investigations & Audit 3Q16 Highlights 

• Team is now fully staffed, Manager and two Senior Ethics Auditors. 

• As of 6/30/16, 233 cases have been handled through the Ethics 
Hotline (EHL) since its inception in 2006. 

• We have begun our collaboration with the City’s Office of the Inspector 
General (OIG), in compliance with their Ordinance Code requirements 
relating to fraud, waste and abuse cases we receive through the EHL 
and other sources. We are developing a reporting protocol to streamline 
the handling of these cases between JEA and the OIG. 

 

10 



 3Q16 Ethics Hotline (EHL) Cases 

11 

Open Cases - 

4/1/2016 

Cases Opened 

 During FY16 

Cases Closed 

During FY16 

Open Cases - 

6/30/2016 

8 14 8 14 

Categories For Cases Opened During 3Q FY16   

Alleged Misuse of Resources / Fraud / Theft 9 

Alcohol / Substance Abuse 2 

Request for Information 2 

Conflict of Interest / Ethics Matters 1 

 Total 14 



 

Summary of Closed EHL Cases - 3Q16 

 

12 

Reporting Source Allegation Investigation Results 

External JEA-14-12-0003 - A letter was received from an attorney for 
a client who asserted knowledge of a kickback scheme 
between a JEA vendor and two previous JEA employees.  
The information suggested that transactions were set up to 
invoice a higher amount, charge the payment to a JEA P-
Card, and the vendor would then kick back money to the P-
Card holder (the JEA employee).   

We did not find evidence to support the allegation.   
  
During this investigation, we found evidence that the vendor was not in full 
compliance with his JEA contract relating to drug screening of his employees 
working on JEA sites.  Recommendations were made to improve the process for 
monitoring contractor drug screening in compliance with contract requirements.   
  

Hotline JEA-15-03-0001 - An employee allegedly falsified time 
sheets by entering overtime that was not worked and, 
purchased items on a company P-Card to later take the 
items home. The caller also heard rumors that this 
employee and others sabotage things at the plant so they 
will be called in to get paid overtime hours. It was alleged 
the employees think this person is untouchable and does 
not have to follow the rules because an immediate family 
member holds a management position in the organization.  

We were able to conclude there were occasions where the employee in question 
did not work the hours claimed on the applicable time card; however, we were 
unable to find evidence to confirm the allegation that this employee or others 
sabotaged things at the plant to be called in later for overtime. 
  
No evidence was found to support the concern that the employee purchased items 
on a P-Card to later take the items home, although we did find evidence of missing 
items from the facility.  As a result of this investigation and other issues, the 
employee is no longer working for the organization. Also, Management initiated 
procedures related to P-Card usage and inventory accounting/use.   

Hotline JEA-16-01-0001 - The caller indicated that for approximately 

a year, a JEA-appointed employee has falsified his/her 

timesheets. Management approved the employee's 

timecards without verification.  

  

  

A review indicated multiple instances where the employee’s timecard hours did not 
agree with the time the employee was on property.  This was discussed with the 
employee’s Director, Executive Management and Human Resources. With 
management approval, appointed employees are allowed to flex their time and to 
work from home.   The employee’s Director was able to provide information to 
account for some of the employee’s work time from home, and while there were 
anomalies in the work hours, the Director confirmed that the employee’s 
performance meets expectations.   
  
Based on the results of this case, the employee’s Director indicated that the 
employee has subsequently changed his/her routine, made schedule adjustments, 
and is providing more accountability to those he/she works with.  In addition, we 
made recommendations to HR management to clarify the procedure related to 
appointed personnel working from home.   



 

Summary of Closed EHL Cases - 3Q16 (cont.) 

 

13 

Reporting 
Source 

Allegation Investigation Results 

Internal JEA-16-03-0002 - Five pressure transducers were discovered 
missing from SJRPP. 
  
  

Our joint investigation with law enforcement concluded the transducers (valued at 
approximately $8,000) were stolen, and the identification of the person(s) responsible for 
the theft could not be determined.  We made a recommendation to provide better control 
and security over items of value that can easily be concealed and removed. 
  

Hotline JEA-16-04-0005 - The caller alleged a Randstad employee was 
given management approval to attend a JEA electric class which 
might have been intended for employees only. The caller was 
concerned as the budget is tight and was not sure who was 
paying for the class or why a non-employee was allowed to 
attend.   
  

We determined it was management’s discretion as to whether or not a Randstad employee 
was allowed to attend classes that are not required. The Randstad employee did attend the 
“Everything Electric at JEA” class.  Because the class was taught in-house by a JEA employee, 
there was no additional cost to JEA for the Randstad employee taking the class.   

Hotline JEA-16-05-0002 - The caller requested guidance in regards to 
obtaining quotes from contractors and possibly hiring a JEA 
contractor to do work at his/her residence.  The caller is 
responsible for approving invoices for the contractor and wanted 
to know if there will be any issues with hiring them to do the 
work. 
  

Because the caller was asking for advice on an ethics-related matter, the caller’s 
information was provided to JEA’s Ethics Officer, who provided guidance to the caller. 
  

Hotline JEA-16-05-0003 - The anonymous caller requested guidance 
regarding receiving customer property (not JEA property) such as 
copper wire and steel pipes that customers do not want.   The 
employees did not want to get in trouble if they were caught with 
the materials in their possession.    
  

Because the caller was asking for advice on an ethics-related matter, the caller’s 
information was provided to JEA’s Ethics Officer, who provided guidance to the caller. 
  
  

External JEA-16-06-0001 - External letters to JEA alleged an employee has 
been spending significant working hours playing an online game, 
and that the employee’s boss was aware and allows it. 
  

Our investigation did not identify any evidence to support the allegations.  
  



Appendix 

• The following supplemental documents are included in the Appendix, 
and are cross-referenced within the preceding presentation: 

o A1-A2 - ERM Tiers 2 & 3 Top Corporate Risk Trends (p. 6) 

 

14 



1 

 
Enterprise Risk Management  - Tier Two Risk Trends as of Current Quarter (Q3 FY16) 

(See P. 6 in Presentation) 

E = Electric, W = Water/Wastewater, F = Financial, H = Human Resources, T = Technology, C = Corporate-wide.   Risks are in order by risk score within Business Function 

Risk   

E = Electric, W= Water/Wastewater, F = Financial, H = Human Resources, T = Technology, C = 
Corporate-wide.   Risks are in order by risk score within Business Function 

FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 Long Term Risk 
Exposure Trend (> 5 

Years) Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 

Electric Risks   

E08 - SJRPP  9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 ↑ Increasing 

E09 - FERC/NERC (Section 693) O&P Reliability & Compliance 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 ↔ Stable 

E10 - Nuclear Power Portfolio 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 ↑ Increasing 

E21 - Natural Gas Sales - Commercial Customers                       6 6 6 6 6 ↔ Stable 

E11 - Infrastructure Maintenance - Electric Systems Assets 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 ↔ Stable 

E20 - Operations Technology Management - Electric  4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 6 6 6 6 6 6 ↔ Stable 

E12 - By Product Management   6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 ↔ Stable 

E13 - Infrastructure Destruction Due to Severe Weather  6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 ↔ Stable 

Water/Wastewater Risks   

W02 - Operations Technology Management  - Water/Wastewater  Systems  9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 ↔ Stable 

W03 - Sanitary Sewer Overflow Management  6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 ↔ Stable 

W04 - Infrastructure Maintenance - Water/Waste Water Systems 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 ↔ Stable 

Corporate Wide Risks   

C05 - Records Management  9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 ↔ Stable 

C06 - Fraud Risk Management 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 ↑ Increasing 

T02 - Cyber Security Information Protection         9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 ↑ Increasing 

H02 - Staffing    16 16 16 16 12 12 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 ↔ Stable 

H03 - Public and Employee Safety  6 6 6 6 6 6 6 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 ↔ Stable 

T05 - Technology Services Resource Optimization                           9 9 9 ↑ Increasing 

T01 - Technology Infrastructure Reliability 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 4 4 4 4 8 8 8 ↔ Stable 

T03 - Cyber Security Business Disruption                     8 8 8 8 8 8 ↑ Increasing 

T04 - Technology Services Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity                     8 8 8 8 8 8 ↔ Stable 

C04 - External Influence on Policy 9 9 9 9 9 9 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 8 8 ↔ Stable 

C07 - Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity  8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 ↔ Stable 

C08 - Black Swan (High Impact - Low probability event)  8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 ↔ Stable 

F03 - Credit Availability/Cost   9 9 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 ↔ Stable 

C09 - Other Regulatory Compliance  6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 ↔ Stable 

F04 - Counterparty Risk  6 10 10 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 ↔ Stable 

↔ Stable 



2 

 
Enterprise Risk Management  - Tier Three Risk Trends as of Current Quarter (Q3 FY16) 

(See P. 6 in Presentation) 

E = Electric, W = Water/Wastewater, F = Financial, H = Human Resources, T = Technology, C = Corporate-wide.   Risks are in order by risk score within Business Function 

Risk   

E= Electric, W= Water/Wastewater. F= Financial, H= Human Resources, T= Technology, C= 
Corporate -wide.   Risks are in order by risk score within Business Function 

FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016 Long Term Risk 
Exposure Trend 

(> 5 Years) Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 

Electric Risks   

E15 - TEA Activities Risk Management  4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 ↔ Stable 

E16 - Air Emissions Reduction Regulatory Initiatives  12 12 20 20 20 20 20 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 ↔ Stable 

E17 - Mercury and Air Toxics Standards (MATS)       15 15 15 15 15 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 ↔ Stable 

E18 - Renewable Energy Standards 20 20 20 20 20 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 ↔ Stable 

E19 - Plant Scherer Environmental Lawsuit         6 6 6 4 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 ↓ Decreasing 

Water/Wastewater Risks   

W05 - Numeric Nutrient Criteria Mandates   12 12 12 10 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 ↔ Stable 

Corporate Wide Risks   

C10 - Project Risk Assessment and Capital Allocation 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 ↔ Stable 

C12 - Capacity Plan Land Acquisition   4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 ↔ Stable 

C13 - Key Customer Accounts Management   4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 ↔ Stable 

F02 - Financial Regulatory Compliances (e.g. Dodd-Frank Bill)  9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 4 4 4 4 4 ↔ Stable 

F05 - IRS Bond Audit Records Requirements  9 9 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 ↔ Stable 

H04 - Benefits 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 4 4 4 4 4 ↑ Increasing 

C14 - Environmental Compliance Management 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 ↔ Stable 



II. E.
Coordinated Dispatch Agreement and Pricing Policy 

Revisions 



Ver.2.0D  9/21/2013 jer 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

July 26, 2016 

SUBJECT: COORDINATED DISPATCH AGREEMENT AND PRICING POLICY REVISIONS 

Purpose:  Information Only  Action Required  Advice/Direction 

Issue: On March 25, 2016 JEA entered into a coordinated dispatch agreement with Gainesville Regional 
Utilities (GRU) with the intent to optimize asset utilization of both utilities, and to pass on the savings to 
customers.  

Significance: The coordinated dispatch process compensates the seller’s system for its fuel expense and 
generates margins equal to the difference between the JEA and GRU independent systems and the 
coordinated system.  These margins are allocated equally to JEA and GRU. The current Pricing Policy 
does not address the treatment of these margins. 

Effect: Savings allocated to JEA’s base revenue will aid in mitigating current year base expenses, 
assisting in keeping rates as low as possible for customers. 

Cost or Benefit: This agreement has produced $78,631 of savings to JEA year to date, and expects this 
to produce approximately $6.5 million in savings annually.   

Recommended Board action: Staff recommends the Finance and Audit Committee recommend to the full 
Board to approve the proposed edits to the Pricing Policy, including an addition that states “Gains realized 
from coordinated dispatch agreements will be allocated to base revenue, unless otherwise directed by the 
Board”, as well as administrative edits. 

For additional information, contact: Melissa Dykes 

Submitted by: PEM/MHD/RFW/ 

Commitments to Action 

Return to Agenda II. E.
F&A 8/8/2016



Ver 2.2 02/01/2014 

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM 
July 26, 2016 

SUBJECT: COORDINATED DISPATCH AGREEMENT AND PRICING POLICY
REVISIONS 

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO 

TO: JEA Finance and Audit Committee 

Kelly Flanagan, Chair 
Tom Petway 
Ed Burr 
Husein Cumber 

BACKGROUND:  
On March 25, 2016 JEA entered into a coordinated dispatch agreement with Gainesville Regional 
Utilities (GRU) with the intent to optimize asset utilization of both utilities, and to pass on the savings to 
customers.  The coordinated dispatch process compensates the seller’s system for its fuel expense and 
generates margins equal to the difference between the JEA and GRU independent systems and the 
coordinated system.  These margins are allocated equally to JEA and GRU. 

DISCUSSION: 
This agreement has produced $78,631 of savings to JEA year to date, and expects this to produce 
approximately $6.5 million in savings annually.  The current Pricing Policy does not address the 
treatment of these margins.  Savings allocated to JEA’s base revenue will aid in mitigating current year 
base expenses, assisting in keeping rates as low as possible for customers. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Finance and Audit Committee recommend to the full Board to approve the 
proposed edits to the Pricing Policy, including an addition that states “Gains realized from coordinated 
dispatch agreements will be allocated to base revenue, unless otherwise directed by the Board”, as well 
as administrative edits. 

_________________________________ 
Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO 

PEM/MHD/RFW 

II. E.
F&A 8/8/2016



JEA/GRU Coordinated Dispatch 
August 8, 2016 

II. E.
F&A 8/8/2016



COORDINATED DISPATCH SAVINGS 

2 

On March 25, 2016 JEA entered into a coordinated dispatch agreement with Gainesville 
Regional Utilities with the intent to optimize asset utilization of both utilities, and to 
pass on the savings to customers. 

Coordinated 
Dispatch 

Before Agreement After Agreement 

Customers Customers 



COORDINATED DISPATCH SAVINGS 

3 

This agreement has produced $78,631 of savings to JEA year to date, and expects this to 
produce approximately $6.5 million in savings annually.  
 

The current Pricing Policy does not address the treatment of these margins: 

• Savings allocated to JEA’s base will aid in mitigating current year base expenses 

• These savings assist in keeping rates as low as possible for customers. 

 

Staff recommends the Finance and Audit Committee recommend to the full Board to approve the 
proposed edits to the Pricing Policy, including an addition that states “Gains realized from coordinated 
dispatch agreements will be allocated to base revenue, unless otherwise directed by the Board”, as 
well as administrative edits. 
  



August 2016 

1 

Pricing Policy 

I. Scope 
This Pricing Policy is intended to provide broad guidance and to facilitate the 
management, control and oversight of JEA’s pricing structure. Its primary goal is 
to establish revenue requirements to fully recover the costs necessary to operate 
and maintain the utility, consistent with its mission, through fair and equitable 
pricing.  This includes sufficient revenue for required transfers to the City, 
depreciation expense, and balance sheet liquidity.  The total revenue 
requirement of each system must be sufficient to ensure the financial integrity of 
the utility, including recovery of debt service, sufficient revenue to meet renewal 
and replacement fund requirements, and maintenance of key financial metrics. It 
recognizes the operational challenges of managing dynamic businesses with 
major cost drivers such as significant regulatory reform, as well as fuel and debt 
service, which are dependent on global market conditions.  The Pricing Policy 
contains the guiding parameters that JEA utilizes to develop its financial 
reporting, ratemaking, budget, and financial projections. 
The Board is JEA’s independent body responsible for setting rates.  As part of 
this responsibility, the Board acknowledges that the rate setting policy and 
practices utilized will govern JEA’s accounting under current generally accepted 
accounting principles, meaning that rate actions by the Board will impact when 
certain costs and revenues are recognized for financial statement purposes. 
This policy formalizes the rate philosophy utilized in prior years and codifies 
policy changes required for the implementation of regulatory accounting 
beginning with FY2015, including the change in rate setting methodology from 
Cash Basis to Utility Basis. 

II. Goal and Objectives
JEA’s pricing shall be managed with an overall philosophy to provide advantages
of a community-owned utility by delivering high quality, reliable and exceptional
service at fair and competitive rates.  JEA will exhaust all other net revenue
improvement opportunities before recommending any price increases.  JEA will
develop a price structure that is based on cost of service and allocates costs to
appropriate customer classes based on the cost to serve each class.  Pricing
shall be sufficient, predictable, consistent, understandable, fair, equitable, non-
discriminatory and relatively easy to administer.  A comprehensive cost of service
study will be performed at a minimum of every five years to support that the rates
charged by class are based on cost.

III. Responsibility for Pricing Policy
The overall Pricing Policy is approved by the JEA Board of Directors and
implemented by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and staff.
Annually, during the development of the Five Year Financial Projection that is
provided to the credit rating agencies, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief
Financial Officer (CFO), Chief Customer Officer (CCO), Vice President/General

II. E.
F&A 8/8/2016



August 2016 

2 
 

Manager Water Wastewater Systems, and Vice President/General Manager 
Electric Systems will meet to develop strategy and review pricing and financial 
performance.  JEA’s Financial Planning and Rates department will develop and 
manage processes to implement and administer this Policy.  Based on this 
review, any changes to pricing such that JEA continues to have rates based on 
cost of service and sufficient to maintain each System’s financial integrity will be 
recommended to the Board for approval.    

IV. Authorization 
The JEA Board of Directors is independent from JEA management and has the 
power to fix, pledge to establish or establish, levy, regulate, impose and collect 
rates, assessments, fees and charges for the use or benefit of the utilities system 
and to alter and amend the same from time to time. 
Although JEA is a non-jurisdictional entity, Tariffs approved by the Board of 
Directors are filed with the Public Service Commission for information and 
review.  The Florida Public Service Commission (FPSC) does not regulate the 
revenue requirement of municipal utilities, yet pursuant to Section 366.04 (2), 
Florida Statues, the FPSC has jurisdiction to review a rate structure for municipal 
utilities. 

V. Electric System  
Revenue requirements and rate design for the Electric System shall be 
constructed in three major categories:  Base Rate, Fuel Charge, and 
Environmental Charge. 

Base Rate 
Structure 
The Base Rate will be structured with two major components:  a fixed monthly 
charge and consumption charges.  The fixed charge is billed as a “Basic Monthly 
Charge” and the consumption charges are billed as “Energy Charge,” 
“Residential Conservation Charge,” “Demand Charge,” and “Excess kVar 
Charge.”  (Italicized charges apply to commercial or industrial customers only, 
and do not appear on residential bills.) Revenue requirements and rates will be 
set using depreciation expense as the capital recovery estimate but must also 
ensure the financial integrity of the Electric System by achieving the following 
objectives:   

• A minimum annual total debt service coverage ratio of 2.2x, (with a long-
term goal of consistently achieving a minimum annual total debt service 
coverage ratio of 2.5x) 

• A minimum of 150 to 250 days of liquidity 
• Continue to move towards a maximum debt to asset ratio of 60% 
• Maintain stabilization funds as detailed in the “Stabilization Funds” section 

Staff plans to phase in higher fixed components of base rates over time, utilizing 
widely accepted principles and practices to better reflect the fixed components of 
JEA’s electric system cost structure.   
 



August 2016 

3 
 

Pricing 

The Base Rate will recover expenditures necessary to operate and maintain the 
system, depreciation expense, capital required to maintain the system, the 
necessary contribution to the City, any special charges for programs adopted by 
JEA and approved by the Board, and additional revenues required to maintain 
the financial integrity of the System.   
Staff will review with the Board of Directors the Base revenue and capital funding 
plans during both the annual budget cycle and the discussion of the Five Year 
Projection (as outlined in the “Five Year Projection” section).  Recurring capital 
will be recovered from revenues each year.  Non-recurring or unanticipated (i.e., 
storm damage or major equipment failure) costs will be evaluated by 
management to determine the best source of capital funding. This can include 
absorbing the cost in the current year budget or the inclusion of cost in future 
rates over a period of time with funding of the cost from debt or reserves. 
Authorization from the Board to recover non-recurring capital over a future period 
of time may constitute an asset on JEA’s balance sheet.  
The Base Rate will additionally include a policy-directed allocation of current year 
base electric revenues to Customer Benefit programs to be collected in addition 
to the Residential Conservation Charge. Staff will develop specific programs 
such as electrification, direct load control, demand side management, residential 
low income efficiency programs, and customer utility optimization education 
programs, set program objectives and periodically report the status of the 
programs. Each year, the Customer Benefit budget will include an allocation for 
customer education initiatives at least equal to revenues generated from the 
Residential Conservation Charge (initially set at $0.01 per kWh for monthly 
residential consumption in excess of 2,750 kWh) collected from customers in the 
prior year. The budgeted carve-out from the Base Rate will be set each year 
based on funding required to meet the targets determined by staff, at least equal 
to the Residential Conservation Charge and not to exceed $0.50 per 1,000 kWh.  
Any amounts collected in excess of current and future anticipated need will be 
used for future costs or refunded to customers.  The Customer Benefit programs 
do not function as special charge, but are a component of JEA’s cost of service 
in determination of the Base Rate each year.  
Gains realized from coordinated dispatch agreements will be allocated to base 
revenue, unless otherwise directed by the Board. 

Fuel Charge 
Structure 
The Fuel Charge is designed to recover fuel and energy costs and will be 
structured with three potential components, the Variable Fuel Rate, the Fuel 
Stabilization Charge and the Fuel Recovery Charge.   
The Variable Fuel Rate will be structured for full recovery of actual energy 
expenditures including direct fuel expenses, fuel procurement, fuel handling, 
residual disposal expense, less any proceeds from the sale of residuals, 
byproduct expenses directly utilized in managing the facilities used to prepare the 
byproduct for its final disposition, fuel hedging activities including gains and 



August 2016 

4 
 

losses on settlement of fuel hedges, purchase power energy charges such as 
fuel, and renewable energy that is not considered generation available for JEA’s 
current capacity plans.  This charge can be adjusted up or down based upon 
energy costs. The Fuel Charge structure shall also include a charge for Fuel 
Stabilization to fund potential negative variances between projected and actual 
energy costs, when projections at the time of the rate setting indicate this fund 
balance will be below the target balance during the rate period.  A Fuel Recovery 
Charge may also be included as part of the Fuel Charge if needed to recover a 
cumulative fuel fund deficit over a set number of years. 
Pricing 
The Fuel Charge will be set annually during the budget process to be effective 
October 1 of the upcoming fiscal year.  The Charge is based on the forward 
twelve-month energy cost projection and will be structured to fully recover all 
expected fuel-related costs and any amounts for Fuel Stabilization Fund, 
discussed below, over the coming fiscal year. Provided the actual plus forecasted 
energy costs remain within 10% of projected energy cost, any variance will be 
“trued-up” annually and recovered in the subsequent twelve month period.  
Should actual plus forecasted energy costs exceed the 10% range of projected 
energy costs during the twelve month period, rates may be adjusted to reflect 
current market conditions.  For example, a Variable Fuel Rate charge of 
$50.00/1,000 kWh may be adjusted when the twelve month projection for total 
energy cost is less than $45.00/1,000 kWh or greater than $55.00/1,000 kWh.  
Absent a rate change, Fuel Charges collected in excess of fuel expenses are 
deposited in the Fuel Stabilization Fund, and under collected amounts are funded 
through Fuel Stabilization Fund withdrawals until rates can be adjusted. 
The Fuel Charge may include an amount for a Fuel Stabilization Charge to fund 
potential short-term negative variances between projected and actual energy 
costs.  The target balance in the Fuel Stabilization Fund is equal to 15% of the 
greater of (i) the maximum 12-month historical fuel cost or (ii) the projected 12-
month fuel cost.  Should the Fuel Stabilization Fund balance reach the 15% level 
at any point during the twelve month variable fuel rate cycle, the CEO, CFO, 
CCO, and staff will evaluate the Fuel Stabilization Fund balance, projection 
through year-end, and current market prices and volatility, and will recommend to 
the Board to either continue funding with no change, credit customers with the 
overfunded amount, or modify the Fuel Charge.  Absent any specific change, the 
Fuel Charge will continue to be collected until the end of the cycle. An objective 
of the Fuel Stabilization Charge is to establish the most transparent mechanism 
to communicate the amount of the Fuel Charge which is being collected to fund 
the Fuel Stabilization Fund, and thus should be utilized in the communication 
with stakeholders. Allowable uses of the Fuel Stabilization Fund shall include 
cash deposits supporting any fuel fund deficits, energy risk management 
activities, and inter-fund loans.  
The Fuel Charge may also include a Fuel Recovery Charge to recover any 
cumulative fuel fund deficit.  Allowable uses shall include debt reduction, 
repayment of inter-fund loans, new inter-fund loans, and fund activities employed 
during the time the fuel deficit accumulated that were used to fund the deficit. 



August 2016 

5 
 

Each month management shall report the total fuel revenues, expenses and the 
resulting surplus or deficit. All authorized fuel related costs shall be recovered 
through the Fuel Charge, and funds collected in excess of authorized fuel related 
expenses (including Fuel Stabilization Fund deposits, when required) shall be 
used to fund future expenses or be refunded to customers.  

Environmental Charge 
Structure 
The Environmental Charge is applied to all kWh consumption and structured to 
provide funding for major specific environmental and regulatory program needs.   
Pricing 
The Environmental Charge is designed to recover from customers all costs of 
environmental remediation and compliance with new and existing environmental 
regulations, excluding the amount already collected in the Environmental Liability 
Reserve. Applicable use of funds is described in the “Stabilization Funds” 
section.  

VI. Water and Sewer System  
Revenue requirements and rate design for the Water and Sewer System shall be 
constructed in two major categories:  Base Rate and Environmental Charge. 

Base Rate 
Structure 
Revenue and rate design for the Water and Sewer System shall be constructed 
in two major categories: monthly charges and initial charges, including capacity 
and main extension fees.  Standard monthly charges will include two primary 
components: A fixed monthly charge and volume charges based on customer 
usage.  The fixed charge is billed as a “Basic Monthly Charge” and the volume 
charges are billed as “Water Consumption Charges” and “Sewer Usage 
Charges”.   
Revenue requirements and rates will be set using depreciation expense as the 
capital recovery estimate but must also ensure the financial integrity of the Water 
and Sewer System by achieving the following objectives:  

• A minimum annual total debt service coverage ratio of 1.8x, with a long-
term goal of consistently achieving a minimum annual total debt service 
coverage ratio of 2.0x 

• A minimum of 100 days of liquidity 
• A long-term objective of a maximum debt to asset ratio of 50% 
• Maintain stabilization funds in the “Stabilization Funds” section 

Pricing 
The Base Rate will recover expenditures necessary to operate and maintain the 
system, depreciation expense, capital required to maintain the system, the 
necessary contribution to the City, any special charges for programs adopted by 
JEA and approved by the Board, and additional revenues required to maintain 
the financial integrity of the System. 



August 2016 

6 
 

Staff will review with the Board of Directors the Base revenue and capital funding 
plans during both the annual budget cycle and the discussion of the Five Year 
Projection (as outlined in the “Five Year Projection” section).  Recurring capital 
not recovered via the Environmental Charge will be recovered from revenues 
each year.  Non-recurring or unanticipated (i.e., storm damage or major 
equipment failure) costs will be evaluated by management to determine the best 
source of capital funding. This can include absorbing the cost in the current year 
budget or the inclusion of cost in future rates over a period of time with funding of 
the cost from debt or reserves.  Authorization from the Board to recover non-
recurring capital over a future period of time may constitute an asset on JEA’s 
balance sheet.  The annual principal repayment requirements and contributions 
to the Renewal and Replacement Fund will be added to the non-capacity capital 
expenditure amount with the amount in excess of the annual depreciation 
expense included as an additional cost in setting rates. Capacity fee revenue will 
be used as an additional source of revenue in determining annual revenue 
requirements.  
Capacity fees to recover water, sewer and reclaimed water treatment facilities 
investment are established to recover 100% of the cost, including materials, of 
performing these services.  These fees will be reviewed and if necessary, 
adjusted at least every three years. Capacity fees to recover the cost of off-site 
water and sewer line extensions shall be established to recover: 

• 75% master plan main extension attributed to general system growth, 
assessed on a per connection basis; and 

• 100% main extension attributed to specific development, assessed to the 
developer in accordance with JEA’s development policy. 

On-site line extensions have been and will remain the financial responsibility of 
the developer, builder, homeowner or business and shall be contributed to JEA 
at no charge to own, operate and maintain. 
Tap and meter fees will be established to recover 100% of the cost, including 
materials, of performing tap and meter services.  These fees will be reviewed 
and, if necessary, adjusted at least every three years. 
Staff will review with the Board of Directors the revenue and capital funding plans 
during both the annual budget cycle and the Five Year Projection/Rating Agency 
cycle.   

Environmental Charge 
Structure 
The Environmental Charge is applied to all kgal sales and structured to provide 
funding for major specific environmental and regulatory program needs.   
Pricing 
The Environmental Charge is designed to recover from customers all costs of 
environmental remediation and compliance with new and existing environmental 
regulations. Applicable use of funds is described in the “Stabilization Funds” 
section. 



August 2016 

7 
 

Annually the Board will review and approve the operating, maintenance and 
capital costs of projects to be included in determining the Environmental Charge 
for that year. For capital projects funded from sources other than the 
environmental charge revenues, the Board will determine an appropriate method 
including recovery period for including these costs in the determination of the 
Environmental Charge. The revenues collected will be used to reimburse the 
fund that provided the original funding. Methods used for recovery can include 
amortization over a relatively short period of time, depreciation expense and 
related carrying charge of the related asset or other reasonable methods.  
Any revenues collected in excess of costs in any period will be used to fund 
operating and capital costs of approved projects in the future. 
The amounts collected from the Environmental Charge will be accounted for in 
the Water and Sewer System Environmental Stabilization Fund.  Amounts 
collected for future environmental capital projects are transferred from the Water 
and Sewer System Environmental Rate Stabilization Fund to the Environmental 
Capital Fund.  

VII. Five Year Projection 
Staff will prepare a Five Year Projection annually that will be presented to Board 
of Directors and Rating Agencies.  The Five Year Projection will address the 
status of the current pricing and forecasted cost-based revenue requirements. 
The annual budgeting process will be used to project the cost-based revenue 
requirements and suggested pricing for the next fiscal year.  Thereafter, factors 
to be considered in the projections include: 

• Required revenue and resulting rates 
• The forecast of unit sales  
• Projected fuel and purchased power costs 
• Projected non-fuel purchased power costs 
• Projected operating and maintenance costs 
• Contribution to the City General Fund 
• Renewal and Replacement Deposit 
• Amortization of regulatory assets and liabilities including gains and losses 

on debt refinancing, debt issue costs and other items approved by the 
Board  

• Desired level of operating capital outlay 
• Projected depreciation expense  
• Desired debt service coverage, liquidity, and debt to asset levels 

consistent with a highly rated electric and water and sewer utilities 
• Analysis of costs and revenue of any special charges for programs 

adopted by JEA and approved by the Board 

VIII. Stabilization Funds 
The Board authorizes the funding and utilization of certain Stabilization Funds 
within each of the Electric and Water and Sewer Systems. Deposits and 
withdrawals will be made into each of the funds as specifically described below, 
and are governed by both this Pricing Policy and JEA’s Bond Resolutions. The 



August 2016 

8 
 

Stabilization Funds described below have a specific funding source which is 
approved by the Board, and uses of funds which are also approved by the Board. 
Any excess amounts remaining after the funding target is met and expenses are 
paid are refunded back to customers.  

Fuel Stabilization Fund 
Target Balance 
The target balance in the Fuel Stabilization Fund is equal to 15% of the greater of 
(i) the maximum 12-month historical fuel cost or (ii) the projected 12-month fuel 
cost. 
Funding and Authorization 
The Fuel Charge for each Fiscal Year is established to include the projected fuel-
related expenditures for the upcoming fiscal year as well as deposits required 
into the Fuel Stabilization Fund to maintain the target balance in the Fund. These 
projections, including any Fuel Stabilization Fund projected deposit amounts, are 
approved by the Board in connection with the approval of the annual Budget. 
Deposits to the Fuel Stabilization Fund during the fiscal year are made for 
amounts representing the excess of the variable rate fuel revenues (not including 
the fuel stabilization revenues) recorded for the fiscal year over the amount of 
actual fuel and purchased power expense for the fiscal year. 
Allowable Uses 
Withdrawals from the Fuel Stabilization Fund for fuel stabilization are limited to 
the following purposes:  

a) to reduce the variable fuel rate charge to the customers for a 
determined period of time 

b) to reduce the excess of the actual fuel and purchased power expense 
for the fiscal year over the variable fuel rate revenues 

c) to pay for the costs associated with any energy risk management 
activities and/or 

d) to be rebated back to the customers as a credit against the electric bill  
The balance in the Fuel Stabilization Fund may also be borrowed by the Electric 
System operating fund through an interfund loan, which requires the approval of 
the CFO and the CEO with the amounts required to be repaid within a 
reasonable period of time. 
Excess Funds 
Funds collected in excess of authorized fuel related expenses (including Fuel 
Stabilization Fund deposits, when required) shall be used to fund future 
expenses or be refunded to customers.  

Customer Benefit Stabilization Fund 
Funding and Authorization 
Deposits to the Customer Benefit Stabilization Fund are made for amounts 
representing the Residential Conservation Charge to the customer ($0.01 per 
kWh over 2,750 kWh) and the Customer Benefit Revenue Allocation (up to $0.50 
per 1,000 kWh) during the course of the fiscal year. The Residential 



August 2016 

9 
 

Conservation Charge revenues are direct collections from customers based on 
sales. The Customer Benefit Revenue Allocation is approved by the Board in 
connection with the annual Budget process.  
Allowable Uses 
Withdrawals from the Customer Benefit Stabilization Fund are limited to amounts 
representing charges to the applicable “Customer Benefit” expense types, which 
represent Customer Benefit programs approved annually by the Board.  Amounts 
withdrawn from the Customer Benefit Stabilization Fund will first be funded by the 
Residential Conservation Charge ($0.01 per kWh over 2,750 kWh) and the 
remaining funded by the Customer Benefit Revenue Allocation (up to $0.50 per 
1,000 kWh).  Any costs not recovered in the current year will be collected in 
future years through the Residential Conservation Charge and the Customer 
Benefit Revenue Allocation.  
Excess Funds 
Funds collected in excess of the approved Customer Benefit programs shall be 
used to fund future program expenses or be refunded to customers. 

Electric System Environmental Stabilization Fund 
Funding and Authorization 
Deposits to the Electric System Environmental Stabilization Fund are made for 
amounts collected from the Environmental Charge to the customer.  The 
Environmental Charge will be set each year to recover the costs of approved 
projects.  Any shortfalls will be included as a cost in determining the 
Environmental Charge. 
Allowable Uses 
Withdrawals from the Electric System Environmental Stabilization Fund are 
limited to potential environmental expenditures approved by the Board, and may 
include regulatory initiatives such as the cost of acquisition of renewable energy 
capacity. 
Excess Funds 
Funds collected in excess shall be used to fund future environmental expenses 
or be refunded to customers. 

Water and Sewer System Environmental Stabilization Fund 
Funding and Authorization 
Deposits to the Water and Sewer System Environmental Stabilization Fund are 
made for amounts collected from the Environmental Charge to the customer.  
The Environmental Charge will be set each year to recover the costs of approved 
projects. Any shortfalls will be included as a cost in determining the 
Environmental Charge. 
Allowable Uses 
Withdrawals from the Water and Sewer System Environmental Stabilization Fund 
are limited to major environmental and regulatory program needs.  Capital costs 
include those costs associated with specific environmental or regulatory 



August 2016 

10 
 

requirements.  Costs directly required to operate and maintain the 
environmentally driven or regulatory required assets can also be funded from this 
revenue source. The Environmental Charge revenue may also be used for JEA’s 
cost participation with the City of Jacksonville septic tank phase-out program, 
including a waiver of sewer and main extension fees, or for well mitigation.  
Additionally, the Environmental Charge revenue may be used for Customer 
Benefit programs supporting the Consumptive Use Permit objective to reduce 
JEA’s demand on the Florida Aquifer.  
Excess Funds 
Funds collected in excess shall be used to fund future environmental expenses 
or be refunded to customers. 

Debt Management Strategy Stabilization Fund 
Funding and Authorization 
The Board will approve a Debt Management Policy and use of related 
stabilization funds. Deposits to the Debt Management Strategy Stabilization Fund 
will be for amounts associated with any debt management strategy objectives. 
The Board as part of the budget review process will determine and approve the 
amounts included in rates that are to be deposited into the Debt Management 
Strategy Stabilization Fund for the year. The Board may, periodically throughout 
the year, determine and approve changes to these amounts. The amounts 
included in rates and deposited into the stabilization fund are intended to offset 
future costs.  
Allowable Uses 
Withdrawals from the Debt Management Strategy Stabilization Fund for debt 
management strategy can be made for expenses related to market disruption in 
the capital markets, disruption in availability of credit or unanticipated credit 
expenses, or to fund variable interest costs in excess of budget. Any amounts 
withdrawn for these costs will subsequently be presented for approval by the 
Board.  
Excess Funds 
Amounts deposited into the Debt Management Strategy Stabilization Fund for 
debt management strategy in excess of the target amount set forth in the Debt 
Management Policy in both the Electric and Water and Sewer Systems may be 
authorized by the Board to be used to (1) maintain the financial integrity of the 
Systems, (2) fund future debt-related expenses including early debt retirement or 
defeasance, or (3) be refunded to customers. 

Non-Fuel Purchased Power (NFPP) Stabilization Fund 
Target Balance 
Initially, the total projected principal payments incurred by MEAG for the Vogtle 
Units 3 and 4 Purchased Power Agreement prior to the operating date of each 
unit. 
 



August 2016 

11 
 

Funding and Authorization 
Deposits to the NFPP Stabilization Fund are for amounts associated with any 
non-fuel purchased power.  The Board will determine as part of the Budget 
approval process or periodically throughout the year the amount to include in 
rates that will be deposited into the NFPP Stabilization Fund. 
Allowable Uses 
Withdrawals from the NFPP Stabilization Fund are to reimburse non-fuel 
purchased power expenses associated with Plant. 
Excess Funds 
Funds collected in excess shall be used to fund future non-fuel purchased power 
expenses or be refunded to customers. 

Health Self-Insurance Reserve 
Target Balance 
The target size of this reserve is based on regulatory requirements, market 
conditions and risk management experience, along with input from the 
Department of Insurance, the regulatory body responsible for oversight of all self-
insurance health and medical plans.     
The objective is to maintain appropriate reserves and to ensure the long-term 
viability of the organization and the sustainability of the self-insurance health 
programs. Rule 69O-149.053, Florida Administrative Code requires that JEA 
maintain a minimum surplus reserve of 60 days over and above the amount 
needed for the Plan’s claim liability to cover costs associated with unexpected 
claims.    
Funding and Authorization 
JEA has established, from operating revenues, an internally designated “Health 
Self-Insurance Fund” to cover reserve requirements for its self-insurance health 
program.  Reserve requirements will be reviewed and approved by the Board 
annually.  The Board, as part of the Budget approval process, will approve 
amounts to be collected in rates that include both the current anticipated cost 
less amounts approved to be contributed by employees as well as amounts to 
maintain an adequate reserve for future costs.  
Allowable Uses: 
The amounts approved for recovery from the employees will be used to reduce 
the annual cost.  Any costs in excess of revenues collected will be included in 
rates at the direction of the Board in a future period. 
Excess Funds 
Any amount over the required reserve requirement will be used to reduce future 
costs included in rates or will be refunded to the employee through premium 
holidays as approved by the Board.  
 
 



August 2016 

12 
 

IX. Policy Exceptions 
Any pricing activity determined to be in conflict with this Policy will be brought to 
the Board of Directors for review and approval prior to adoption, and resulting 
metrics will be reported on an annual basis within the Five Year Projection. 

X. Effective Date 
This Pricing Policy became effective October 1, 2005 (originally called “Pricing 
Philosophy”). This revision will become effective on the date on which it is 
adopted by the full Board effective October 1, 2014.  

 
 



II. F.
Ethics Officer Quarterly Report 



Creating an Ethical Culture 
JEA will conduct its business fairly, impartially, in an 

ethical and proper manner, and in full compliance with 
all applicable laws and regulations 

JEA 
Ethics Officer Report 

August 8, 2016 

Return to Agenda II. F.
F&A 8/8/2016



FY15/16 Comparison 

2 

8 

10 

4 

8 

4 

23 

0 

19 

0 5 10 15 20 25

Conference

Gift

Secondary Employment

Misc.

Conference Gift Secondary Employment Misc.
FY16 4 23 0 19
FY15 8 10 4 8

Ethics Inquiries Comparison FY15/FY16  
3rd Quarter Results  

Total Inquiries 
FY15 - 30  
FY16 - 46  



FY16 Gift Registry 

3 

E
X
A
M
P
L
E
S
 

Food Items: lunch or dinners 
during meetings or trainings, 
jar of mints, assorted candies 
and cookies 

Promotional items: ball caps, 
t-shirts, pens 
 

Misc. : golf, door prizes, 
televisions 

Registration fees 

FY15 FY16
Q3 $1,964.40 $1,026.00
Q2 $2,091.00 $1,081.31
Q1 $4,574.71 $4,772.44

$4,574.71 $4,772.44 

$2,091.00 
$1,081.31 

$1,964.40 
$1,026.00 

$0.00

$1,000.00

$2,000.00

$3,000.00

$4,000.00

$5,000.00

$6,000.00

$7,000.00

$8,000.00

$9,000.00

$10,000.00

Es
tim

at
ed

 A
m

ou
nt

s 

FY15/16 Gift Registry Estimates Comparison 
Per Quarter 



 
Ethics Representatives  

 
• Ethics Representatives are appointed by the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) to 

promote and maintain a strong ethical environment at JEA. The representative 
acts as liaisons between the Ethics Officer and their respective management 
teams. The representatives shall consist of appointed employees who 
represent the different functional areas of the JEA organization 
 
 

 
 

 

 

4 

First Name Last Name Department Chief 

Berdell Knowles Legislative Affairs Advocate Mike Hightower 
Michael Eaton Director, Enterprise Architecture Paul Cosgrave 
Deborah Beaver Dir Commercial Customer 

Relationships 
Monica Whiting 

Ed Dendor Director, Emergency Preparedness Melissa Dykes 
Frank DiBenedetto Mgr Enterprise Risk Mgmt Ted Hobson 
Gary  Vondrasek Contract Administration Specialist Melissa Dykes 
Kevin Holbrooks Director, Laboratory & Water 

Services 
Mike Hightower 

Ruth Remsen Water Wastewater Specialist Brian Roche 
Andy  Motsinger Director, Electric Systems Asset 

Mgmt 
Mike Brost 



 
Business Ethics Update and What’s Next   

 
 

• Updated the JEA/SJRPP Ethical Conduct Guidelines in July  
– The Code of Conduct, our Value, examples of ethical questions you might face, information 

about business compliance issues, and resources you can use when you need ethical advice or 
help.  

 

• Attend the NE FL Compliance & Ethics group and City Ethics Coordination 
Council meetings quarterly  
 

• Automated the Secondary Employment form approval process via Sharepoint 
 
• Evaluating a Business Ethics database for case tracking 

 
• Attending the Compliance & Ethics Institute Conference in Sept 

 
 

 

 

 
5 



II. G. 1.
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 



Ver.2.0D  9/21/2013 jer 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

July 22, 2016 

SUBJECT: SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

Purpose:  Information Only  Action Required  Advice/Direction 

Issue: Ernst & Young, LLP (E&Y) issued their Independent Auditors' Report on the Schedule of 
Expenditures of Federal Awards for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015. 

Significance: Entities that expend $500,000 or more yearly in Federal Awards are required to have an 
audit conducted in accordance with requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget 
(OMB) Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement. 

Effect: The audit is required to be performed annually within 9 months after the end of the fiscal year. 

Cost or Benefit: Auditing standards require the auditors to communicate certain matters to the governing 
board that may assist the JEA Board in its oversight responsibilites. 

Recommended Board action: No action is required. This item is submitted for information. 

For additional information, contact: Janice Nelson 

Submitted by: PEM/MHD/JRN 

Commitments to Action 

Return to Agenda II. G. 1.
F&A 8/8/2016



Ver 2.2 02/01/2014 

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM 
July 22, 2016 

SUBJECT: SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO 

TO: JEA Finance and Audit Committee 

Kelly Flanagan, Chair 
Tom Petway 
Ed Burr 
Husein Cumber 

BACKGROUND: 

Entities that expend $500,000 or more yearly in Federal Awards are required to have an audit conducted 
in accordance with requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular 
A-133 Compliance Supplement. Ernst & Young, LLP (E&Y), issued their Independent Auditors’ Report on 
JEA’s Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015.  The 
purpose of the audit is to express an opinion on JEA’s compliance with the requirements applicable to its 
federal program. 

DISCUSSION: 

Attached is a copy of the Independent Auditors’ Report on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal 
Awards.  JEA had one federal program during fiscal year 2015 which is identified in the schedule below: 

RECOMMENDATION: 

No action is required.  This item is submitted for information, only. 

_________________________________ 
Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO 

PEM/MHD/JRN 

FEDERAL AWARDS Total Grant Total Expenditures Expenditures Total Expenditures Grant funding Remaining Grant

Grantor/Federal Program Title/Pass-Through Grantor/ Award through 9/30/2014 for 9/30/15 through 9/30/2015 Not used Funding

Direct Program

Electric Delivery and Energy Reliability, Research,

  Development and Analysis - ARRA 13,031,547     12,110,571                 765,286          12,875,857                 155,690            - 

II. G. 1.
F&A 8/8/2016



Ernst & Young LLP

S C H E D U L E  O F  E X P E N D I T U R E S  O F
F E D E R A L  A W A R D S  

JEA 
Year Ended September 30, 2015 
With Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants 

II. G. 1.
F&A 8/8/2016



  
1604-1924545  

JEA 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Year Ended September 30, 2015 

Contents 

Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants on Compliance for Each Major 
Federal Program; Report on Internal Control Over Compliance and Report on 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by OMB Circular A-133 ......................1 

Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of 
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government  
Auditing Standards .......................................................................................................................4 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ..................................................................................6 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ...................................................................7 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ....................................................................................8 
 



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 
Ernst & Young LLP 
Suite 1701 
One Independent Drive 
Jacksonville, FL  32202 

 Tel: +1 904 358 2000 
Fax: +1 904 358 4598 
ey.com 

 

 

  
1604-1924545 1 

Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants on Compliance for Each 
Major Federal Program; Report on Internal Control Over Compliance and Report 

on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards  Required by OMB Circular A-133 

The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and the Governing Board of JEA 
Jacksonville, Florida 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited JEA’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the 
US Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that 
could have a direct and material effect on JEA’s major federal program for the year ended 
September 30, 2015. JEA’s major federal program is identified in the summary of auditor’s 
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

Management's Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts 
and grants applicable to its federal programs.  

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for JEA’s major federal program based 
on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB 
Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those 
standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program 
occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about JEA’s compliance with 
those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. 

  



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 

 

   
 

 

 

  
1604-1924545 2 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each 
major federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of JEA’s 
compliance. 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

In our opinion, JEA complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the 
year ended September 30, 2015. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Management of JEA is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control 
over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and 
performing our audit of compliance, we considered JEA’s internal control over compliance with 
the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal 
program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of JEA’s internal control over 
compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on 
a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control 
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in 
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

 



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 

 

   
 

 

 

  
1604-1924545 3 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the 
requirements of OMB Circular A-133. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by OMB Circular A-133 

We have audited the financial statements of JEA as of and for the year ended September 30, 
2015, and have issued our report thereon dated December 9, 2015, which contained an 
unmodified opinion on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of 
forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by 
OMB Circular A-133 and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is 
the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditure of 
federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a 
whole.  

 
June 15, 2016 

 



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 
Ernst & Young LLP 
Suite 1701 
One Independent Drive 
Jacksonville, FL  32202 

 Tel: +1 904 358 2000 
Fax: +1 904 358 4598 
ey.com 

 

 

  
1604-1924545 4 

 

Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants on Internal Control  
Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an 

Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government  
Auditing Standards 

The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and the Governing Board of JEA 
Jacksonville, Florida 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the basic financial statements of JEA, 
which comprise the statement of net position as of September 30, 2015, and the related 
statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated 
December 9, 2015. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered JEA’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of JEA’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of JEA’s 
internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 

 

   
 

 

 

  
1604-1924545 5 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether JEA’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, 
we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
December 9, 2015 

 



   1504-1442827       6

FEDERAL AWARDS Identification CFDA Federal 
Grantor/Federal Program Title/Pass-Through Grantor/ Number Number Expenditures
    
U. S. Department of Energy    
Direct Program    
Electricity Delivery and Energy Reliability, Research, Development and  

Analysis – ARRA    DE-OE0000269 81.122 765,286$         
TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS    765,286$         
    
See accompanying notes.    

JEA

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Year Ended September 30, 2015



  
1604-1924545 7 

JEA 

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Year Ended September 30, 2015 

1. Presentation and Basis of Accounting 

The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule) is prepared on the accrual basis 
of accounting. The information in the Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements 
of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of State, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. 

2. Contingency 

The grant revenue amounts received are subject to audit and adjustment. If any expenditures or 
expenses are disallowed by the grantor agencies as a result of such an audit, any claim for 
reimbursement to the grantor agencies would become a liability of JEA. In the opinion of 
management, all grant and grant matching expenditures are in compliance with the terms of the 
grant agreements and applicable federal laws and regulations. 

 



  
1604-1924545 8 

JEA 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

Part I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 

Financial Statements Section 

Type of auditor’s report issued (unmodified, 
qualified, adverse or disclaimer): Unmodified 
 
Internal control over financial reporting:     

Material weakness(es) identified?  yes X no 
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  yes X none reported 
Noncompliance material to financial statements 
noted?  yes X no 

Federal Awards Section 

Internal control over major programs:     
Material weakness(es) identified?  yes X no 
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  yes X none reported 

 
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for 
major programs (unmodified, qualified, adverse or 
disclaimer): Unmodified 
 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be 
reported in accordance with section .510(a) of OMB 
Circular A-133?  yes X no 
  



JEA 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (continued) 

 

  
1604-1924545 9 

Part I – Summary of Auditor’s Results (continued) 

Identification of major programs: 

CFDA number(s)  Name of federal program or cluster  
  
81.122 – ARRA Electricity Delivery and Energy Reliability, 

Research, Development and Analysis 
 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
Type A and Type B programs: $300,000 
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X yes  no 
 



JEA 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (continued) 

 

  
1604-1924545 10 

Part II – Financial Statement Findings Section 

This section identifies the significant deficiencies, material weaknesses, fraud, noncompliance 
with provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and abuse related to the 
financial statements for which Government Auditing Standards require reporting in a Circular 
A-133 audit. 

No matters were reported. 

Part III – Federal award findings and questioned costs section 

This section identifies the audit findings required to be reported by Circular A-133 
section .510(a) (for example, material weaknesses, significant deficiencies and material instances 
of noncompliance, including questioned costs), as well as any abuse findings involving federal 
awards that are material to a major program. 

No matters were reported. 



EY  |  Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory services. 
The insights and quality services we deliver help build trust and confidence in 
the capital markets and in economies the world over. We develop outstanding 
leaders who team to deliver on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so 
doing, we play a critical role in building a better working world for our people, 
for our clients and for our communities. 

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or more, of the 
member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of which is a separate 
legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, 
does not provide services to clients. For more information about our 
organization, please visit ey.com. 

© 2016 Ernst & Young LLP. 
All Rights Reserved.

ey.com



II. G. 2.
Ernst & Young FY2016 Annual Financial Audit Plan 



Ver.2.0D  9/21/2013 jer 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

July 22, 2016 

SUBJECT: ERNST & YOUNG FY2016 ANNUAL FINANCIAL AUDIT PLAN 

Purpose:  Information Only  Action Required  Advice/Direction 

Issue:  Ernst & Young (E&Y) has been invited to attend the August 8, 2016 Finance & Audit Committee 
(FAC) meeting to review the FY2016 annual financial audit scope and approach.  At that meeting, E&Y will 
outline the scope of their services, identify the team that will perform the audit and present the key 
considerations that will affect the FY2016 audit. 

Significance: Auditing standards require the auditors to communicate certain matters to the governing 
board, which may assist the Board in overseeing management’s financial reporting process.  

Effect: To keep in compliance with the Finance and Audit Committee Operating Policy, a formal approval 
of the annual audit plan is required.  The effect of the formal approval is to demonstrate that the governing 
board has reviewed and is in agreement with the plan.  In addition, meeting with auditors to discuss the 
audit plan assists the Board in overseeing management’s financial reporting process. 

Cost or Benefit: There is no cost. See effect above for benefits. 

Recommended Board action: Staff recommends that the Finance and Audit Committee recommend to 
the full Board to approve the attached FY2016 Annual Audit Plan. 

For additional information, contact: Janice Nelson 

Submitted by: PEM/MHD/JRN 

Commitments to Action 

Return to Agenda
II. G. 2.

F&A 8/8/2016



JEA

2016 audit plan

August 8, 2016

II. G. 2.
F&A 8/8/2016



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

The Audit and Finance Committee July 25, 2016
JEA

Dear Members of the Audit and Finance Committee,

We look forward to discussing the current year audit plan for JEA on August 8, 2016. At that 
meeting, we will outline the scope of our services, identify the EY team that will perform the 
audit and present the key considerations that will affect the 2016 audit. We are providing the 
enclosed materials so you can familiarize yourselves with them prior to our meeting.

The audit is designed to express an opinion on the 2016 financial statements. We are currently 
completing the planning phase of our audit, and have aligned our procedures to consider JEA’s 
current and emerging business risks and evaluate those risks that could materially affect the 
financial statements.

We appreciate that JEA selected EY to perform its 2016 audit and are committed to executing 
a quality audit that embraces the responsibility of serving the Audit and Finance Committee.

Very truly yours, 

Mike Pattillo
Coordinating Partner

John DiSanto
Executive Director

Ernst & Young LLP
Suite 1701
One Independent Drive
Jacksonville, FL 32202

Tel:  +1 904 358 2000
Fax: +1 904 358 4598
ey.com



JEA 2016 audit plan | 2Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Ta
bl

e 
of

 c
on

te
nt

s 03 2016 EY services

04 Executive summary 

05 EY critical insights

05 • Audit analytics

06 Our audit plan

06 • Audit timetable

08 • Areas of audit emphasis

12 • Involvement of council auditors and others

13 Inquiries relating to matters relevant to the audit

14 Client service team

15 Summary of required communications

16 Appendix A — System review report



JEA 2016 audit plan | 3Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Services and deliverables

Audit and audit-related 
services

• Express an opinion on, and report to the Audit and Finance Committee the results of our 
audit of:

− The financial statements of JEA – the audit will meet the requirements of Florida
Statutes and Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida and will be conducted in
accordance with auditing standards related to financial statement audits as set forth in
the US Government Accountability Office s Government Auditing Standards.

• JEA s Electric System, Water and Sewer System, Bulk Power Supply, and St. John’s River 
Power Park System of debt service coverage

• Other reports:

− Issue a report on internal control over financial reporting compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants and other matters.

− Issue a report on compliance with requirements applicable to each major federal awards
program and internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, 
if required

− Issue a management letter including recommendations for improvements of internal
controls and other opportunities based on observations made during the course of the 
audit

− Report on other matters as required by Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General,
which govern the conduct of local government entity audits in Florida

Other services • Prepare a schedule of findings and questioned costs pursuant to the Uniform Guidance, 
if required

• Issue reports on compliance with debt covenants as required by JEA credit agreements

• Issue a summary results report to the Audit Committee

• Provide comfort and consent letters for bond offerings, if applicable

2016 EY services



JEA 2016 audit plan | 4Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Topics to be discussed at the 
meeting with the Audit and 
Finance Committee:

EY critical insights
• Data analytics (page 5)

Significant 2016 considerations 
(page 8)

• Revenue recognition

• Allowance for doubtful accounts

• Regulatory accounts

• Legal reserves

• Derivative instruments and 
hedging activities

• Pollution remediation obligations

• OPEB liabilities

• Pension plan accounting and 
reporting

• Investments

• Capital assets

• Asset impairments

Our audit plan (pages 6–12)

Inquiries relating to matters 
relevant to the audit (page 13)

Executive summary

Audit timeline

• We will perform our interim 
procedures during the months of 
August and September and our 
year end procedures during the 
months of October through 
November. Refer to the audit 
timetable on page 6.

Audit scope and strategy 

• Our audit scope and strategy, 
including significant risks identified, 
for the 2016 audit is outlined in the 
“Areas of audit emphasis” section 
on pages 8–11.

Accounting developments 
affecting JEA

• GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value 
Measurement and Application –
Effective FY16

• GASB Statement No. 73, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting 
for Pensions and Related Assets 
That Are Not within the Scope of 
GASB Statement 68, and 
Amendments to Certain Provisions 
of GASB Statements 67 and 68 –
Effective FY16

• GASB Statement No. 74, Financial 
Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefit Plans Other Than Pension 
Plans – Effective FY16 

• GASB Statement No. 75, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting 
for Postemployment Benefits Other
Than Pensions – Effective FY17

• GASB Statement No. 76, The 
Hierarchy of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles for State and
Local Governments – Effective FY16

• GASB Statement No. 77, Tax 
Abatement Disclosures – Effective 
FY17 

• GASB Statement No. 78, Pensions 
Provided Through Certain Multiple-
Employer Defined Benefit Pension 
Plans – Effective FY17

• GASB Statement No. 79, Certain 
External Investment Pools and Pool 
Participants – Effective FY16

• GASB Statement No. 80, Blending 
Requirements For Certain 
Component Units – An Amendment 
of GASB Statement No. 14 –
Effective FY16

• GASB Statement No. 81, 
Irrevocable Split-Interest 
Agreements – Effective FY17 

• GASB Statement No. 82, an 
amendment of GASB Statement 
No. 67, No. 68 and No. 73. –
Effective FY17



JEA 2016 audit plan | 5Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Topic summary

Companies are investing heavily in people, processes and technology to analyze “big data” — including vast amounts 
of financial data. Audit committees and others charged with governance are expecting auditors to leverage their 
investment in analytics by challenging traditional audit procedures and providing more relevant business insights. 
The effective use of analytics can bring confidence, transparency and perspective for a higher quality audit.

Impact of analytics on the audit Keys to a successful integration of analytics

EY Helix, our suite of analytics, enables us to deliver a 
high quality audit by:

• Allowing us a deeper understanding of your business by 
analyzing larger populations of audit relevant data, to 
present a fuller picture of what happened and identify 
relevant risks.

• Identifying trends and anomalies in your processes to 
help direct our audit efforts in the right areas.

• Using complete data populations to obtain higher 
quality audit evidence within areas of higher risk.

• Delivering relevant feedback and insights during the 
audit, so you can optimize your business processes and 
controls.

• Saving JEA valuable time and effort through our 
repeatable data capture process using globally-
integrated data extraction tools and processes.

• Commitment from management to support the planned 
data capture and analysis strategy

• Confirmation that the right people from finance and IT 
are available to provide approval and access rights for 
data extraction

• Support in creating an efficient, repeatable data 
capture process as quickly as possible to allow for the 
use of analytics throughout the audit

Comments from the team

• Current or prior use of analytics in the audit — in past periods the EY team has leveraged JEA’s general ledger 
journal entry data to make journal entry selections based on pre-determined parameters. Sub-ledger data has not 
been previously used by the audit team. 

• Preliminary plan for the use of analytics going forward — establishing a repeatable data capture process for the 
general ledger journal entry data, and possible use of sub-ledger data from CC&B. 

Relevant materials are available on the Center for Board Matters (www.ey.com/boardmatters)

Big data and analytics in the audit process: mitigating risk and unlocking value — In just the last few years, the terms 
“big data” and “analytics” have become hot topics in company boardrooms around the world. This article helps board 
members and others charged with governance understand the complexities and have a grasp of the issues surrounding 
these technology trends.

EY critical insights
Audit analytics



JEA 2016 audit plan | 6Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Planning and risk identification

Understand service requirements and audit scope and 
coordinate with management and internal audit

Update our understanding of the business

Establish the team including determining the need for 
specialized skills or knowledge

Audit planning including identification of significant risks 
and budgeting

Strategy and risk assessment

Update our understanding of the Company’s systems and 
related IT applications and develop overall audit strategy 
and audit program

Evaluate entity level internal controls

Update our understanding of significant classes of 
transactions and perform walkthroughs

Make combined (inherent and control) risk assessments 
and develop audit approach

Execution of audit procedures

Design and perform interim tests of controls

Perform interim substantive procedures

Update tests of controls

Perform year end substantive procedures

Perform general audit procedures

Our audit plan
Audit timetable



JEA 2016 audit plan | 7Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Our audit plan
Audit timetable

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Conclusion and reporting

Issue audit opinion on the financial statements

Communicate audit results to management and the 
Audit and Finance Committee

Issue reports to management and the Audit and Finance 
Committee on any significant deficiencies or material 
weaknesses

Issue a management letter including recommendations 
for improvements in controls and procedures

Uniform Guidance procedures – to be completed in 2017, if applicable

Perform planning and fieldwork for major 2016 
Programs

Issue audit opinion on 2016 SEFA, if applicable 

Issue reports to management and those charged with 
governance on any significant deficiencies or material 
weaknesses regarding major programs



JEA 2016 audit plan | 8Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

**Shaded/asterisked areas indicate accounts or transactions identified as having significant risks, which are risks with both a higher likelihood of occurrence and a 
higher magnitude of effect that require special audit considerations.

Our audit plan
Areas of audit emphasis

Our audit procedures emphasize 
testing those accounts, contracts, 
or transactions where we believe 
there is the greatest risk of material 
misstatement to the financial 
statements, whether due to error 
or fraud. We consider the effects 
of current market risk factors on 
JEA, and also place emphasis 
on those areas requiring subjective 
determinations by management. 
We will reassess our risk assessment 
and other internal and external 
factors influencing JEA throughout 
our audit, and communicate to you 
any changes to our initial plan, as 
necessary. Our areas of audit 
emphasis, including areas with 
identified significant risks, are as 
follows. Our proposed audit plan is 
detailed on pages following:

• Revenue recognition

• Allowance for doubtful accounts

• Regulatory accounts

• Legal reserves

• Derivative instruments and 
hedging activities

• Pollution remediation obligations

• Other postretirement benefits 
liabilities

• Pension plan accounting and 
reporting

• Investments

• Capital assets

• Asset impairments



JEA 2016 audit plan | 9Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Area of emphasis Summary of planned audit procedures

Revenue recognition

JEA recognizes revenues for estimated services provided on its 
electric and water and sewer infrastructure. Unbilled revenue 
relates to services that have not yet been billed to the end 
customer at fiscal period-end. The calculation is based upon 
approved rates and historical consumption trends. 

JEA is a member of The Energy Authority (TEA), a municipal 
power marketing and risk management joint venture. In addition 
to providing its members with wholesale power marketing and 
resource management services, TEA also assists JEA with 
natural gas procurement and related gas hedging activities. 
JEA records energy marketing activity in the period when the 
energy is delivered. 

Intergovernmental revenues are recognized when the applicable 
eligibility requirements, including time requirements, are met. 
Resources remitted before the eligibility requirements are met 
should, under most circumstances, be reported as deferred 
revenue. JEA receives revenue from various federal and state-
assisted grant programs. Programs are generally reimbursement-
based, and JEA records revenue once expenditures for allowable 
purposes are made or upon compliance with the terms and 
conditions of grant agreements and applicable regulations. 

• Review calculation of unbilled revenue

• Test contractual arrangements, including unique terms and 
conditions, to obtain reasonable assurance of compliance with 
the applicable accounting standards

• Test timing of revenue recognition based on the terms of the 
arrangement

• Confirm terms and conditions with both customers and 
management as considered necessary

• Test account reconciliations to determine timely completion 
and review

• Perform detailed analytical review procedures, by system, 
including predictive analytics based on verifiable consumption 
and production data

• Perform detailed tests over a sample of revenue transactions 
to assess the appropriateness and accuracy of recorded 
amounts

Allowance for doubtful accounts

An allowance for doubtful accounts is established based on JEA’s 
best estimate of billed amounts that will not be collected from its 
customers.

• Test allowance for doubtful accounts calculation, including the 
aging of receivables

• Validate assumptions based on retrospective review of prior 
estimates

• Evaluate the appropriateness of the financial statement 
presentation and disclosure

Regulatory accounts

Regulatory accounts are recorded when either future revenues 
are expected to recover incurred expenses or when amounts 
have been collected through rates in advance. JEA’s regulatory 
accounts are associated with the Electric, Waster & Sewer, SJRPP 
and Bulk power systems pursuant to 3rd party agreements, and 
generally relate to the timing differences between recognition of 
capital asset costs (depreciation) and amounts collected in rates 
to cover debt service requirements.

• Test approval of any new regulatory assets/liabilities

• Verify that amortization and expense recognition are 
consistent with rate recovery

• Vouch significant activity

• Test account reconciliations

• Perform projection tests to determine that regulatory accounts 
will be recovered/amortized over the remaining 
maturities/useful lives of related debt and capital assets

Our audit plan
Areas of audit emphasis



JEA 2016 audit plan | 10Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Area of emphasis Summary of planned audit procedures

Legal reserves

Accruals are recorded for regulatory and legal proceedings that 
arise in the ordinary course of business when probable and 
subject to reasonable estimation. 

Many factors are considered in making an assessment of a 
contingency, including history and stage of litigation. Estimates 
are based upon consultation with legal counsel (in-house and/or 
external). Legal fees are generally expensed as incurred.

• Interview management and in-house legal counsel regarding all 
litigation

• Obtain external letters from counsel

• Review legal accruals and expenses for appropriateness based 
on management inquiry and responses from outside counsel

Derivative instruments and hedging activities

JEA uses derivative contracts to manage its exposure to changes 
in energy commodity prices and interest rates. Derivative 
contracts are accounted for in accordance with GASB 53. The 
gains and losses from the change in fair market value of JEA’s 
derivative instruments are deferred if hedge effectiveness is 
maintained.

• Test assessment of hedge effectiveness documentation, 
including re-performance where quantitative methods are used

• Confirm instruments with counterparties

• Test recorded market values using independently developed 
estimates

• Test fuel hedge contract settlements

• Evaluate disclosures

• Reconsider normal purchase/normal sales assumptions for 
commodity contracts

Pollution remediation obligations

JEA records accruals for costs for future and ongoing 
remediation, litigation and administrative expenses when these 
amounts are estimable. As required by GASB 49, management 
applies probability assessments to expected future cash outflows 
for remediation activities to determine the amounts accrued.

• Inquire of management and internal or external engineers 
regarding remediation plans and efforts

• Obtain evidence of the remediation plans and review and 
test management’s probability assumptions for remediation 
activities

• Review estimated recoveries and obtain evidence that amounts 
recorded are considered probably of occurring

Other postretirement benefits liabilities

JEA engages an actuary to calculate the liability related to the 
other post-employment benefit liability.

JEA’s benefit obligations recognizable under these standards are 
significantly affected by certain assumptions, among which are 
the discount rate, long-term rate of return on plan assets, life 
expectancies and the assumed health care cost trend rate 
assumption. 

• Review key assumptions for reasonableness

• Test census data provided to the actuaries

• Develop independent estimates for corroboration

Our audit plan
Areas of audit emphasis



JEA 2016 audit plan | 11Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Area of emphasis Summary of planned audit procedures

Pension plan accounting and reporting – COJ Plan

In accordance with GASB 68 JEA is required to record a liability 
for it’s unfunded pension obligations for the City of Jacksonville 
(COJ) cost-sharing multi employer pension plan.

• Review actuary reports for reasonableness of assumptions 
and methodology

• For cost sharing plan (City Plan) obtain allocation schedule to 
determine the City’s liabilities, expenses, deferred inflows 
and outflows

• In accordance with AU-C 805, obtain a report on elements 
from CRI

• Census data testing for JEA plan participants

• Assess reasonableness of require disclosures

Pension plan accounting and reporting – SJRPP Plan

In accordance with GASB 68 JEA is required to record a liability 
for it’s unfunded pension obligations for the SJRPP single 
employer pension plan. 

• Review actuary reports for reasonableness of assumptions 
and methodology

• For single employer plan, obtain actuary’s reports and 
procedures performed by plan auditors

• In accordance with AU-C 805, obtain a report on elements 
from KBLD

• Assess reasonableness of require disclosures

Investments

All investments are stated at fair value based on quoted market 
prices or other observable market inputs (e.g., matrix pricing for 
fixed income securities).

• Assess estimation uncertainty for significant classes of 
securities in JEA’s portfolio

• Confirm investments with custodial institutions and managers

• Test valuation for selected securities using alternative 
pricing sources

• Test selected transactions

• Evaluate GASB 40 risk disclosures

Capital assets

Property and equipment is carried at historical cost. Depreciation 
is determined using the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives of the related assets ranging from 5 to 50 years.

• Review expenses to determine expenses should be capitalized 
versus expensed

• Test selection of assets added during fiscal year 2015

• Review depreciation for reasonableness

Asset impairments

JEA assesses recoverability of long-lived assets as indicators of 
impairment become known, as required by GASB Statement 
No. 42. If an impairment indicator or change in circumstance 
affecting the value of the asset has occurred, JEA would evaluate 
the need for an impairment charge by determining whether the 
carrying value is recoverable based on expected future cash flows 
of the asset. The assets are reduced to reflect their fair value if 
they are determined to be unrecoverable.

• Review and evaluate impairment indicators through inquiries 
and review of other records and meeting minutes

• Discuss and understand management’s assessment if a change 
in circumstance potentially effects the value of an asset

• If applicable, test impairment computations and disclosures

Our audit plan
Areas of audit emphasis



JEA 2016 audit plan | 12Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Our audit plan
Involvement of council auditors and others

Areas where EY is using the work of council auditors and subcontractor staff for direct assistance:

− Test of controls/transactions

− Substantive procedures for certain audit areas (including cash and investments, accounts receivable, capital assets, 
accounts payable, long-term debt)

Direct assistance model:

• EY will work closely with council auditors and subcontractor staff, who provide us direct assistance:

− On-site direction and supervision

− Detailed review of working papers



JEA 2016 audit plan | 13Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Inquiries relating to matters relevant 
to the audit

We perform inquiries related to fraud 
and other matters to help inform our 
audit strategy and execution of our 
audit procedures. As a part of our 
upcoming meeting, we would like to 
discuss the following topics with you 
in order to understand any matters of 
which you believe we should be aware, 
including, but not limited to:

• Your views about the risks of 
material misstatements due to 
fraud, including the risks of 
management override of controls

• Your knowledge of any actual, 
alleged or suspected fraud

• How you exercise oversight over 
JEA’s assessment of fraud risks and 
the establishment of controls to 
address these risks

• Your awareness of other matters, 
you believe, are relevant to the audit 
including, but not limited to, 
violations or possible violations of 
laws or regulations

• Your understanding of JEA’s 
relationships and transactions with 
related parties that are significant 
to JEA

• Whether you have any concerns 
regarding relationships or 
transactions with related parties 
and, if so, the substance of those 
concerns

When we identify a fraud risk, 
including a fraud risk that arises 
through or is associated with the risk 
of management override of controls, 
we perform audit procedures to 
address those risks. In addition to any 
specific responses related to the fraud 
risk, we also examine journal entries, 
review accounting estimates for 
management bias and evaluate the 
business rationale of significant 
unusual transactions as required by 
our professional standards.



JEA 2016 audit plan | 14Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Client service team

JEA

Mike Pattillo
Coordinating Partner

Assurance

Johan Flostrand 
Audit Senior

Paige Ernst 
Audit Senior

Other Auditors

KBLD LLC

Linda Dufresne 
Partner

KBLD Staff

Council Auditors Staff

Lou Roberts
Engagement Quality 

Reviewer

IT Integrated Audit

Shazad Muneer 
Senior Manager

Heather Lohbeck
Manager

John DiSanto
Executive Director

Chris Edmunds
Senior Manager

Russ Jeans
Senior Manager



JEA 2016 audit plan | 15Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

Services and deliverables

Communicate 
when event 
occurs

Communicate on 
a timely basis, at 
least annually

Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit X

Auditor’s responsibility under generally accepted auditing standards, including discussion 
of the type of auditor’s report we are issuing and if there are any events or conditions 
that cause us to conclude that there is substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern

X

Our views about the qualitative aspects of the entity’s significant accounting practices, 
including:

• Accounting policies X

• Additional views X

Uncorrected misstatements, related to accounts and disclosures, considered by 
management to be immaterial

X

Material corrected misstatements, related to accounts and disclosures X

Significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control X X

Our responsibility, any procedures performed and the results relating to other 
information in documents containing audited financial statements

X

Fraud and illegal acts X

Independence matters X

Representations we are requesting from management X

Changes to the terms of the audit with no reasonable justification for the change X

Significant findings and issues arising during the audit relating to related parties X

Significant findings or issues, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed, or the 
subject of correspondence, with management

X

Significant difficulties encountered during the audit X

Disagreements with management X

Management’s consultations with other accountants X

Findings regarding external confirmations X

AICPA ethics ruling regarding third-party service providers X

Other findings or issues regarding the oversight of the financial reporting process X

Summary of required communications

Provided below is a summary of required communications between the audit team and those charged with governance.



JEA 2016 audit plan | 16Confidential — Ernst & Young LLP

A
pp

en
di

x
Appendix A
System review report



System Review Report

To the Partners of Ernst & Young LLP
and the National Peer Review Committee of the AICPA Peer Review Board:

We have reviewed the system of quality control for the accounting and auditing practice of Ernst & Young LLP (the
firm) applicable to non-SEC issuers, in effect for the year ended June 30, 2013. Our peer review was conducted in
accordance with the Standards for Performing and Reporting on Peer Reviews established by the Peer Review Board
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. As a part of our peer review, we considered reviews by
regulatory entities, if applicable, in determining the nature and extent of our procedures.  The firm is responsible for
designing a system of quality control and complying with it to provide the firm with reasonable assurance of
performing and reporting in conformity with applicable professional standards in all material respects.  Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the design of the system of quality control and the firm’s compliance
therewith based on our review. The nature, objectives, scope, limitations of, and the procedures performed in a
System Review are described in the standards at www.aicpa.org/prsummary.

As required by the standards, engagements selected for review included engagements performed under Government
Auditing Standards; audits of employee benefit plans, audits performed under FDICIA, audits of carrying broker-
dealers, and examinations of service organizations [Service Organizations Control (SOC) I and 2 engagements].

In our opinion, the system of quality control for the accounting and auditing practice of Ernst & Young LLP,
applicable to non-SEC issuers, in effect for the year ended June 30, 2013, has been suitably designed and complied
with to provide the firm with reasonable assurance of performing and reporting in conformity with applicable
professional standards in all material respects. Firms can receive a rating of pass, pass with deficiency(ies) or fail.
Ernst & Young LLP has received a peer review rating of pass.

December 6, 2013

KPMG LLP
345 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10154-0102

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership,
the U.S. member firm of KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory 
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build 
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the 
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver 
on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a 
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for 
our clients and for our communities.

EY refers to the global organization and may refer to one or 
more of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each 
of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, 
a UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services 
to clients. For more information about our organization, please 
visit ey.com.

Ernst & Young LLP is a client-serving member firm of 
Ernst & Young Global Limited operating in the US.

About EY‘s Assurance Services
Our assurance services help our clients meet their reporting 
requirements by providing an objective and independent 
examination of the financial statements that are provided to 
investors and other stakeholders. Throughout the audit process, 
our teams provide timely and constructive challenge to 
management on accounting and reporting matters and a robust 
and clear perspective to audit committees charged with oversight.

The quality of our audit starts with our 60,000 assurance 
professionals, who have the breadth of experience and on-going 
professional development that comes from auditing many of the 
world’s leading companies.

For every client, we assemble the right multidisciplinary team with 
the sector knowledge and subject-matter expertise to address 
your specific issues. All teams use our Global Audit Methodology 
and latest audit tools to deliver consistent audits worldwide.

© 2016 Ernst & Young LLP. 
All Rights Reserved.

1607-1980991



II. H. 1.
Electric System and Water and Sewer System 

Reserve Fund Quarterly Report 



Ver.2.0D  9/21/2013 jer 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

July 25, 2016 

SUBJECT: 
ELECTRIC SYSTEM AND WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM RESERVE FUND 
QUARTERLY REPORT 

Purpose:  Information Only  Action Required  Advice/Direction 

Issue: Electric System and Water and Sewer System Reserve Fund Quarterly Report as of June 30, 2016.  
This report is provided for transparency into JEA’s reserve fund accounts and various cash balances.  Staff 
is continuing to analyze JEA’s cash and reserve positions, balancing the cost of carrying cash against the 
importance of liquidity to meet JEA’s day-to-day operations, bond resolution requirements and credit 
ratings.  Staff plans to report on this analysis at a future Finance and Audit Committee meeting.   

Significance: Low.  JEA’s liquidity position is an important balance between operating security and 
flexibility, financial metrics, and carrying cost of cash. 

Effect: JEA operational needs, bond resolution requirements, and credit ratings. 

Cost or Benefit: JEA’s reserves are an important component of operating security and flexibility, a critical 
credit ratings factor. 

Recommended Board action: No action required; provided for information only. 

For additional information, contact: Joe Orfano, Treasurer, 665-4541 

Submitted by: PEM/MHD/JEO/BHG 

Commitments to Action 

Return to Agenda II. H. 1.
F&A 8/8/2016



Ver 2.2 02/01/2014 

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM 
July 25, 2016 

SUBJECT: 
ELECTRIC SYSTEM AND WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM RESERVE 
FUND QUARTERLY REPORT 

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO 

TO: JEA Finance and Audit Committee 

Kelly Flanagan, Chair 
Tom Petway 
Ed Burr 
Husein Cumber 

BACKGROUND: 

At the May 7, 2012 Finance and Audit Committee meeting, JEA staff presented schedules reflecting 
historical and projected activity in JEA’s Electric System and Water and Sewer System unrestricted and 
restricted fund balances.  Many of these reserves are required under the respective System’s bond 
resolutions or under Board approved policies such as Pricing Policy or Debt Management Policy.  JEA 
staff also stated that these schedules would be provided to the JEA Board on a quarterly basis beginning 
in August 2012. 

DISCUSSION: 

Attached are the reserve fund schedules referenced above for the period ending June 30, 2016. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

No action required; provided for information only. 

_________________________________ 
Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO 

PEM/MHD/JEO/BHG 

II. H. 1.
F&A 8/8/2016



Electric System and Water & Sewer System Reserve and Fund Balances (1)

For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

(In Thousands of Dollars)

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Detail

Electric System  FY 2013  FY 2014  FY 2015  FY 2016 Page #

Unrestricted

Operations/Revenue Fund 46,588$    43,178$    46,624$    51,534$    

Debt Management Strategy Reserve - - - - 3

Self Insurance Reserve Fund

 Property 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 4

 Employee health insurance 15,914 10,749 10,937 9,827 5

Rate Stabilization

 Fuel 108,289            105,457            150,742            180,303            6

 DSM/conservation 3,891 3,570 2,886 3,159 7

 Environmental 10,023 16,639 23,430 29,909 8

 Debt Management 42,126 42,126 42,126 42,126 9

 Non-Fuel Purchased Power - 12,000 38,000 34,401 10

Environmental 18,662 18,662 18,662 18,556 11

Customer Deposits 44,882 42,688 42,389 41,757 12

Total Unrestricted 300,375            305,069            385,796            421,572            

Unrestricted Days of Cash on Hand 129 123 182 204 

Restricted

Debt Service Funds (Sinking Funds) 101,305            120,458            134,927            137,332            13

Debt Service Reserve Funds 64,841 64,841 64,595 60,582 14

Renewal and Replacement Funds/OCO (2) 140,486            146,910            145,711            135,800            15

Construction Funds 5,184 42 - - 16

Total Restricted 311,816            332,251            345,233            333,714            

Total Electric System 612,191$    637,320$    731,029$    755,286$    

Water and Sewer System

Unrestricted

Operations/Revenue Fund 5,886$     9,227$     22,588$    21,587$    

Debt Management Strategy Reserve 304 304 - - 17

Rate Stabilization

 Debt Management 20,290 20,291 20,290 20,290 18

 Environmental 1,456 19

Customer Deposit 13,860 12,787 13,255 13,785 20

Total Unrestricted 40,340 42,609 56,133 57,118 

Unrestricted Days of Cash on Hand 110 118 149 147 

Restricted

Debt Service Funds (Sinking Funds) 80,317 75,019 67,720 66,209 21

Debt Service Reserve Funds 119,915            116,829            108,849            108,086            22

Renewal and Replacement Funds

 R&R/OCO (3) 78,689 59,295 37,337 66,169 23

 Capacity Fees/State Revolving Loans 60,360 76,887 90,912 97,808 24

 Environmental (9,857) 5,299 19,245 - 25

Construction Funds 2,305 326 664 - 26

Total Restricted 331,729            333,655            324,727            338,272            

Total Water & Sewer System 372,069$    376,264$    380,860$    395,390$    

(1) This report does not include Scherer, SJRPP, DES or funds held on behalf of the City of Jacksonville.

(2) Balance includes $47,000 of Electric System Renewal and Replacement Reserve for MADS calculation.

(3) Balance includes $20,000 of Water & Sewer System Renewal and Replacement Reserve for MADS calculation.

Page 1

II. H. 1.
F&A 8/8/2016



Funds Established Per the Bond Resolutions 

Fund/Account Description Electric System Water and Sewer System

Revenue Fund Net Revenues (i.e. Revenues minus Cost of 

Operation and Maintenance), pledged to 

bondholders, balance available for any 

lawful purpose after other required 

payments under the bond resolution have 

been made.             

Pledged to bondholders; balance available 

for any lawful purpose after other required 

payments under the bond resolution have 

been made, however, revenues 

representing impact fees  may only be used 

to finance costs of expanding the system or 

on the debt service on bonds issued for 

such expansion  purposes.

Rate Stabilization Fund Not pledged to bondholders; available for 

any lawful purpose.

Pledged to bondholders; able to transfer to 

any other fund or account established 

under the resolution or use to redeem 

Bonds.

Subordinated Rate Stabilization Fund Pledged to bondholders; available for any 

lawful purpose.

Pledged to bondholders; available for any 

lawful purpose.

Debt Service Account Pledged to bondholders; used to pay debt 

service on bonds.

Pledged to bondholders; used to pay debt 

service on bonds.

Debt Service Reserve Account Pledged to bondholders; used to pay debt 

service on bonds in the event revenues 

were insufficient to make such payments.

Pledged to bondholders; used to pay debt 

service on bonds in the event revenues 

were insufficient to make such payments.

Renewal and Replacement Fund Not pledged to bondholders but  required 

amounts deposited into this Fund pursuant 

to the bond resolution are  limited as to 

what they can be spent on (e.g. capital 

expenditures and, bond redemptions) .

Pledged to bondholders; but  required 

amounts deposited into this Fund pursuant 

to the bond resolution are  limited as to 

what they can be spent on (e.g. capital 

expenditures and, bond redemptions).

         Fuel

Construction Fund Pledged to bondholders; applied to the 

payment of costs of the system.

Pledged to bondholders; applied to the 

payment of costs of the system.

Subordinated Construction Fund Pledged to bondholders; applied to the 

payment of costs of the system

Pledged to bondholders; applied to the 

payment of costs of the system

Construction Fund  - Construction 

Reserve Account

Pledged to bondholders; applied to fund 

downgraded reserve fund sureties.

Pledged to bondholders; applied to fund 

downgraded debt service reserve fund 

sureties.

General Reserve Fund Not pledged to bondholders; available for 

any lawful purpose.

n/a

Page 2

Regardless of whether the Funds/Accounts are designated as pledged, in the event that monies in the Debt Service Account are 

insufficient to pay debt service on the bonds, pursuant to the respective bond resolutions, amounts in the various Funds/Accounts are 

required to be transferred to the respective Debt Service Accounts and used to pay debt service.



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Debt Management Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance -$                        -$                        -$                        N/A -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Additions:

Contributions N/A -                          

   Sub-total -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

         Fuel

Withdrawals -                          N/A -                          

   Sub-total -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Ending Balance -$                        -$                        -$                        N/A -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 12,257$                   12,257$             12,257$             -$                        -$                        -$                        12,257$             7,354$               12,257$             

Additions: - 

Contributions -                                -                          -                          -                          -                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     -                     

   Sub-total -$                              -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Withdrawals -                                -                          12,257               -                     -                     4,086                 12,257               

-                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     -                     

   Sub-total -$                              -$                        12,257$             -$                        -$                        

Ending balance 12,257$                   12,257$             -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        4,903$               12,257$             

Observations:

● This reserve fund discontinued contributions in FY 2009 due to adoption of new policy.  Reserve activity reflected in RSF - Debt Management for that year.

● A portion of this reserve was used to pay on interest rate swap terminations in connection with a refunding of variable rate debt in February 2013, and the remainder was used

   in Sept 2013 for a defeasance.

Page 3

Historical Statistical

Electric System Debt Management Reserve

Metric:  One-half percent of the par amount of outstanding variable debt (adjusted for variable to fixed rate long term swaps). Capped at 3% of the par amount of outstanding variable debt

Definitions and Goals:  For the period FY 04 through FY 09, an annual budgeted reserve contribution for variable rate debt was made.  The calculation was based upon one half percent of the par amount of 

outstanding variable rate debt (adjusted for variable rate to fixed rate long term swaps).   The budget reserve was capped at three percent of the par amount of the outstanding variable rate debt.  The reserve 

can be used for any lawful purpose including debt service, debt repayment, and capital outlay and must be approved in writing by the CEO. 

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Budget Appropriation

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             N/A 10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             

Additions:

Reserve Contribution N/A -                          

   Sub-total -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

         Fuel

Reserve Withdrawal

N/A

   Sub-total -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Ending Balance 10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             N/A 10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 3,500$                      10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             3,500$               10,000$             8,700$               10,000$             

Additions:

Reserve Contribution 6,500                        6,500                  6,500                  6,500                  6,500                  

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 6,500$                      -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Reserve Withdrawal -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total -$                               -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Ending balance 10,000$                    10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             10,000$             

Page 4

Historical Statistical

Electric System Self Insurance - Property

Metric:  Budgeted Deposit = $10 million

Definitions and Goals:  JEA’s self-insurance fund is for catastrophic damage to JEA’s electric lines (transmission and distribution) caused by the perils of hurricanes, tornadoes, and ice storms. This fund was 

established in October, 1992, as an alternative to JEA’s procurement of commercial property insurance.

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Florida Statute for self insured government plans

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 12,526$            10,937$            10,937$            N/A 10,749$            9,827$               9,597$               9,349$                  

Additions:

Employee Contributions 1,382                 4,084                 8,168                 N/A 5,447                 9,021                 9,743                 10,522                  

Retiree &  Other Contributions 1,691                 4,228                 8,456                 5,141                 10,732               11,591               12,518                  

Employer Contributions 4,968                 19,296               17,717               22,220               16,688               18,023               19,465                  

         Fuel 8,041$               27,608$            34,341$            -$                       32,808$            36,441$            39,356$            42,505$                

Deductions:

Payments for Claims 7,942                 24,819               28,851               N/A 30,408               29,543               31,906               34,459                  

Actuary & Other Payments 549                    1,650                 6,600                 2,212                 7,128                 7,698                 8,314                     

   Sub-total 8,491$               26,469$            35,451$            -$                       32,620$            36,671$            39,605$            42,773$                

Ending Balance 12,076$            12,076$            9,827$               N/A 10,937$            9,597$               9,349$               9,080$                  

(In Thousands) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 8,227$                     12,505$            15,440$            15,914$            10,749$            8,227$               12,505$            12,567$            15,914$                

Additions:

Employee Contributions 5,926                       6,147                 5,893                 4,573                 5,447                 4,573                 5,893                 5,597                 6,147                     

Retiree &  Other Contributions 4,725                       6,910                 5,701                 5,188                 5,141                 4,725                 5,188                 5,533                 6,910                     

Employer Contributions 20,484                     21,155               20,629               14,252               22,220               14,252               20,629               19,748               22,220                  

   Sub-total 31,135$                   34,212$            32,223$            24,013$            32,808$            

Deductions:

Payments for Claims 24,699                     29,220               29,354               27,157               30,408               24,699               29,220               28,168               30,408                  

Actuary & Other Payments 2,158                       2,057                 2,395                 2,021                 2,212                 2,021                 2,158                 2,169                 2,395                     

   Sub-total 26,857$                   31,277$            31,749$            29,178$            32,620$            

Ending balance 12,505$                   15,440$            15,914$            10,749$            10,937$            10,749$            12,505$            13,109$            15,914$                

Observations:

● Self Insurance for Employee Health Insurance began in July 2009.

Page 5

   Calendar year data is presented above in fiscal year format.

Historical Statistical

● Projections are using the 8% rate of increase based on information obtained from the Actuarial Memorandum and Report.

Electric System Self Insurance - Employee Health Insurance

Metric:  An actuary calculates amount annually

Definitions and Goals:  This reserve fund is a requirement under Florida Statute 112.08 that requires self insured government plans to have enough money in a reserve fund to cover the Incurred But Not Reimbursed (IBNR) 

claims and a 60 day surplus of claims.  The IBNR claims are claims that would still need to be paid if the company went back to a fully insured plan or dropped coverage all together.  An actuary calculates this amount 

annually.

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution and Pricing Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 149,726$          150,742$          150,742$          N/A 105,457$          180,303$          218,008$          218,008$          

Additions:

Contributions 19,100               74,690               86,167               25,255               95,224               37,705               

   Sub-total 19,100$             74,690$             86,167$             25,255$             95,224$             37,705$             -$                        -$                        

         Fuel

Withdrawals -                          

Customer Fuel Rebate Credit 56,606               56,606               -                          49,939               

   Sub-total -$                        56,606$             56,606$             -$                        49,939$             -$                        -$                        -$                        

Ending Balance 168,826$          168,826$          180,303$          N/A 150,742$          218,008$          218,008$          218,008$          

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 55,935$                   24,990$             92,362$             108,289$          105,457$          24,990$             92,362$             77,407$             108,289$          

Additions: - 

Contributions 53,465                     76,763               52,523               22,496               95,224               22,496               53,465               60,094               95,224               

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 53,465$                   76,763$             52,523$             22,496$             95,224$             

Deductions:

Withdrawals 84,410                     9,391                 9,391                 46,901               46,901               84,410               

Customer Fuel Rebate Credit 36,596               25,328               49,939               25,328               36,596               37,288               49,939               

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 84,410$                   9,391$               36,596$             25,328$             49,939$             

Ending balance 24,990$                   92,362$             108,289$          105,457$          150,742$          24,990$             105,457$          96,368$             150,742$          

Observations:

● Actual and historical numbers reflect fuel recovery contributions and withdrawls on a gross basis.  Forecast and projected numbers reflected on a net basis. The fuel recovery charge ended 12/31/11.

Page 6

Historical Statistical

Electric System Rate Stabilization - Fuel Management

Metric:  Targeted 15% of total annual projected energy costs

Definitions and Goals:  The Electric System Bond Resolution authorizes the establishment of a Rate Stabilization Fund in which contributions or withdrawals shall be made as set forth in the current annual budget 

or an amount otherwise determined by an authorized officer of JEA.  The Rate Stabilization Fund provides a means to minimize the year-to-year impact to customer charges and support financial metrics by 

providing consistent revenue collection for expenditures impacted by external factors such as fuel, debt management and regulatory requirements or initiatives. Established pursuant to the section VII and Section 

IX of the Pricing Policy, the Fuel Reserve target is 15% of the greater of (a) the maximum 12-month historical fuel cost or (b) the projected 12-month fuel cost.  Withdrawals from the Rate Stabilization Fund for fuel 

stabilization are limited to the following purposes: (a) to reduce the variable fuel rate charge to the customers for a determined period of time; (b) to reduce the excess of the actual fuel and purchased power 

expense for the fiscal year over the variable fuel rate revenues; (c) to be rebated back to the customers as a credit against the electric bill; and/or (d) to reimburse the costs associated with any energy risk 

management activities.

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution and Pricing Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 2,943$               2,886$               2,886$               N/A 3,570$               3,159$               8,648$               8,648$               

Additions:

Contributions 1,668                 4,835                 6,856                 6,942                 7,059                 7,564                 6,844                 6,844                 

Other

   Sub-total 1,668$               4,835$               6,856$               6,942$               7,059$               7,564$               6,844$               6,844$               

         Fuel

Withdrawals 1,536                 4,646                 6,583                 7,674                 7,743                 2,075                 6,844                 6,844                 

   Sub-total 1,536$               4,646$               6,583$               7,674$               7,743$               2,075$               6,844$               6,844$               

Ending Balance 3,075$               3,075$               3,159$               N/A 2,886$               8,648$               8,648$               8,648$               

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 10,813$                 10,703$             6,912$               3,891$               3,570$               3,570$               6,912$               7,178$               10,813$             

Additions:

Contributions 7,978                     6,657                 6,683                 6,929                 7,059                 6,657                 6,929                 7,061                 7,978                 

Transfer from Rev Fd -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 7,978$                   6,657$               6,683$               6,929$               7,059$               

Deductions:

Withdrawals 8,088                     10,448               9,704                 7,250                 7,743                 7,250                 8,088                 8,647                 10,448               

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 8,088$                   10,448$             9,704$               7,250$               7,743$               

Ending balance 10,703$                 6,912$               3,891$               3,570$               2,886$               2,886$               3,891$               5,592$               10,703$             

Observations:

● Rate Stabilization Fund for Demand Side Management began in April 2009.

Page 7

Historical Statistical

Electric System Rate Stabilization - Demand Side Management (DSM)

Metric:  $0.50 per 1,000 kWh plus $0.01 per kWh residential conservation charge for consumption greater than 2,750 KWh monthly

Definitions and Goals:  The Electric System Bond Resolution authorizes the establishment of a Rate Stabilization Fund in which contributions or withdrawals shall be made as set forth in the current annual 

budget or an amount otherwise determined by an authorized officer of JEA.  The Rate Stabilization Fund provides a means to minimize the year-to-year impact to customer charges and support financial metrics 

by providing consistent revenue collection for expenditures impacted by external factors such as fuel, debt management and regulatory requirements or initiatives. Pursuant to section VII of the Pricing Policy, 

$0.50 per 1,000 kWh plus $0.01 per kWh residential conservation charge for consumption greater than 2,750 kWh monthly.  These revenue sources are to fund demand side management and conservation 

programs.  

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution and Pricing Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 26,752$             23,430$             23,430$             N/A 16,639$             29,909$             35,774$             40,654$             

Additions:

Contributions 1,975                 5,429                 7,562                 7,320                 7,586                 7,942                 4,880                 3,660                 

   Sub-total 1,975$               5,429$               7,562$               7,320$               7,586$               7,942$               4,880$               3,660$               

         Fuel

Withdrawals 340                     472                     1,083                 2,442                 795                     2,077                 

   Sub-total 340$                   472$                   1,083$               2,442$               795$                   2,077$               -$                        -$                        

Ending Balance 28,387$             28,387$             29,909$             N/A 23,430$             35,774$             40,654$             44,314$             

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 2,467$                     4,232$               5,343$               10,023$             16,639$             2,467$               5,343$               7,741$               16,639$             

Additions: - 

Contributions 6,583                        2,436                 5,650                 7,395                 7,586                 2,436                 6,583                 5,930                 7,586                 

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 6,583$                     2,436$               5,650$               7,395$               7,586$               

Deductions:

Withdrawals 4,818                        1,325                 970                     779                     795                     779                     970                     1,737                 4,818                 

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 4,818$                     1,325$               970$                   779$                   795$                   

Ending balance 4,232$                     5,343$               10,023$             16,639$             23,430$             4,232$               10,023$             11,933$             23,430$             

Observations:

● Rate Stabilization Fund for Environmental began in June 2010.

Page 8

Historical Statistical

Electric System Rate Stabilization - Environmental

Metric:  $0.62 per 1,000 kWh

Definitions and Goals:  The Electric System Bond Resolution authorizes the establishment of a Rate Stabilization Fund in which contributions or withdrawals shall be made as set forth in the current annual budget or 

an amount otherwise determined by an authorized officer of JEA.  The Rate Stabilization Fund provides a means to minimize the year-to-year impact to customer charges and support financial metrics by providing 

consistent revenue collection for expenditures impacted by external factors such as fuel, debt management and regulatory requirements or initiatives.   Deposits to this fund began in fiscal year 2010 for amounts 

representing the Electric System Environmental Charge ($0.62 per 1000 kWh).  Withdrawals from this reserve will represent payments for regulatory initiatives such as the premium cost of renewable energy 

generation which is considered available for JEA's capacity plans.

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution and Pricing Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 42,126$             42,126$             42,126$             N/A 42,126$             42,126$             42,126$             42,126$             

Additions:

Contributions N/A -                          

   Sub-total -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

         Fuel

Withdrawals -                          

-                          

   Sub-total -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Ending Balance 42,126$             42,126$             42,126$             N/A 42,126$             42,126$             42,126$             42,126$             

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 19,213$                   35,930$             41,611$             42,126$             42,126$             19,213$             41,611$             36,201$             42,126$             

Additions:

Contributions 16,717                      5,681                 6,581                 5,681                 6,581                 9,660                 16,717               

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 16,717$                   5,681$               6,581$               -$                        -$                        

Deductions:

Withdrawals -                                 -                          6,066                 -                      -                      2,022                 6,066                 

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total -$                               -$                        6,066$               -$                        -$                        

Ending balance 35,930$                   41,611$             42,126$             42,126$             42,126$             35,930$             42,126$             40,784$             42,126$             

Observations:

● Rate Stabilization Fund for Debt Management began in May 2009.

Page 9

Historical Statistical

Electric System Rate Stabilization - Debt Management 

Definitions and Goals:  The Electric System Bond Resolution authorizes the establishment of a Rate Stabilization Fund in which deposits or withdrawals shall be made as set forth in the current annual budget or an 

amount otherwise determined by an authorized officer of JEA.  The Rate Stabilization Funds provide a means to minimize the year-to-year impact to customer charges and support financial metrics by providing 

consistent revenue collection for expenditures impacted by external factors such as fuel, debt management and regulatory requirements or initiatives.  Deposits are made to this Rate Stabilization Fund for the 

purpose of managing JEA’s debt portfolio.  Deposits to this reserve reflect the difference in the actual interest rates for interest expense on the unhedged variable rate debt as compared to the budgeted assumptions 

for interest expense on the unhedged variable rate debt.  Additionally, deposits can be made from excess debt service budget over the actual debt service expense for any fiscal year.  However, the total amounts 

deposited (in addition to actual debt service costs for the fiscal year) cannot exceed the total amount of the budgeted debt service for any fiscal year.  At a minimum, 50% of the calculated reserve contribution, if 

any, will be recorded and deposited each fiscal year. Debt and Investment Committee will review and record at their option an additional contribution amount, up to the full value of the calculated reserve 

contribution (the remaining 50%). The reserve contributions will be calculated on a system by system basis; however, based on the calculation, any mandatory deposit will exclude the District Energy System. The 

reserve contributions shall cease in the event the reserve balance exceeds the cap of five percent of the par amount of the total outstanding variable rate debt of all systems.  Withdrawals from the Rate Stabilization 

Fund for Debt Management Strategy can be made for expenses related to market disruption in the capital markets, disruption in availability of credit or unanticipated credit expenses, or to fund variable interest 

costs in excess of budget.

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection

Metric:  Difference in actual interest rates for interest expense on the unhedged variable rate debt as compared to the budgeted assumptions for interest expense on unhedged variable rate debt



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution and Pricing Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 37,486$              38,000$              38,000$              N/A 12,000$              34,401$              25,169$              13,424$              

Additions:

Contributions -                           26,000                

   Sub-total -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         26,000$              -$                         -$                         -$                         

         Fuel

Withdrawals 1,543                  2,057                  3,599                  -                           -                           9,232                  11,745                13,422                

   Sub-total 1,543$                2,057$                3,599$                -$                         -$                         9,232$                11,745$              13,422$              

Ending Balance 35,943$              35,943$              34,401$              N/A 38,000$              25,169$              13,424$              2$                        

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance -$                               -$                         -$                         -$                         12,000$              -$                         -$                         2,400$                12,000$              

Additions: - -                      -                      -                      -                      

Contributions 12,000                26,000                12,000                19,000                19,000                26,000                

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total -$                               -$                         -$                         12,000$              26,000$              

Deductions:

Withdrawals -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total -$                               -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         

Ending balance -$                               -$                         -$                         12,000$              38,000$              -$                         -$                         10,000$              38,000$              

Observations:

● The Non-Fuel Purchased Power Rate Stabiliation Fund began in FY 2014.

Page 10

Historical Statistical

Electric System Rate Stabilization - Non-Fuel Purchased Power

Metric:  Difference in actual interest rates for interest expense on the unhedged variable rate debt as compared to the budgeted assumptions for interest expense on unhedged variable rate debt

Definitions and Goals:  The Electric System Bond Resolution authorizes the establishment of a Rate Stabilization Fund in which deposits or withdrawals shall be made as set forth in the current annual budget or an 

amount otherwise determined by an authorized officer of JEA.  The Rate Stabilization Funds provide a means to minimize the year-to-year impact to customer charges and support financial metrics by providing 

consistent revenue collection for expenditures impacted by external factors such as fuel, debt management and regulatory requirements or initiatives.  Deposits to the Rate Stabilization Fund for Non-Fuel Purchased 

Power Stabilization during the fiscal year are made with the approval of the CEO or CFO, provided such deposits are not in excess of JEA’s total operating budget for the current fiscal year.  Withdrawals from the Rate 

Stabilization Fund for Non-Fuel Purchased Power are to reimburse the costs associated with any non-fuel purchased power activities.  Withdrawals can be made as necessary during the fiscal year and requires the 

approval of the CEO or the CFO.

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Pricing Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 18,662$             18,662$             18,662$             N/A 18,662$             18,556$             18,556$             18,556$             

Additions:

Contributions -                          N/A -                          

   Sub-total -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

         Fuel

Withdrawals 106                     106                     106                     N/A -                          

   Sub-total 106$                   106$                   106$                   -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Ending Balance 18,556$             18,556$             18,556$             N/A 18,662$             18,556$             18,556$             18,556$             

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 16,946$                   20,899$             18,359$             18,662$             18,662$             16,946$             18,662$             18,706$             20,899$             

Additions: - 

Contributions 3,953                        970                     970                     2,462                 2,462                 3,953                 

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 3,953$                     -$                        970$                   -$                        -$                        

Deductions:

Withdrawals 2,540                 667                     667                     1,604                 1,604                 2,540                 

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total -$                              2,540$               667$                   -$                        -$                        

Ending balance 20,899$                   18,359$             18,662$             18,662$             18,662$             18,359$             18,662$             19,049$             20,899$             

Observations:

● The Environmental Reserve began in FY 2008.

Page 11

Historical Statistical

Electric System Environmental Reserve

Metric:  Target equals the balance in the environmental liability account

Definitions and Goals:  This reserve represents the initial amounts collected from the Electric System Environmental Charge and will be deposited until the balance in this reserve equals the balance in the 

environmental liability account.  Withdrawals from this account will represent payments for these liabilities.  

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Management Directive 302 Credit and Collections and Internal Procedure CR40400 MBC302

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 41,393$              42,389$              42,389$              N/A 42,688$              41,757$              41,757$              41,757$              

Additions:

Net Customer Activity 364                      -                           N/A -                           

Loan Repayment to ES Revenue Fund -                           

   Sub-total 364$                   -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         

         Fuel

Net Customer Activity 632                      632                      299                      

Loan to ES Revenue Fund N/A -                           

   Sub-total -$                         632$                   632$                   -$                         299$                   -$                         -$                         -$                         

Ending Balance 41,757$              41,757$              41,757$              N/A 42,389$              41,757$              41,757$              41,757$              

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 38,801$                    42,767$              43,454$              44,882$              42,688$              38,801$              42,767$              42,518$              44,882$              

Additions: - 

Net Customer Activity 5,011                         905                      1,430                  905                      1,430                  2,449                  5,011                  

Loan Repayment to ES Revenue Fund 16,000                      16,000                16,000                16,000                16,000                

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 21,011$                    905$                   1,430$                -$                         -$                         

Deductions:

Net Customer Activity 1,045                         218                      2                          2,194                  299                      2                          299                      752                      2,194                  

Loan to ES Revenue Fund 16,000                      16,000                16,000                16,000                16,000                

   Sub-total 17,045$                    218$                   2$                        2,194$                299$                   

Ending balance 42,767$                    43,454$              44,882$              42,688$              42,389$              42,389$              42,767$              43,236$              44,882$              

Observations:

● JEA is in the process of implementing a prepaid meter program which could reduce customer deposits starting in Fiscal Year 2014.

Page 12

Historical Statistical

Electric System Customer Deposits

Metric:  Internal procedure CR40400 MBC302 Credit and Collections

Definitions and Goals: Pursuant to internal procedure CR40400 MBC302 Credit and Collections, JEA accesses customers a deposit that may be used to offset any future unpaid amounts during the course of providing utility 

service to a customer.   

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 87,864$             134,927$           134,927$           N/A 120,458$           137,332$           129,641$           132,022$           

Additions:

Revenue Fund Deposits 44,676               132,958             178,297             181,006             183,251             189,153             186,306             

Bond funded interest -                          

   Sub-total 44,676$             132,958$           178,297$           -$                        181,006$           183,251$           189,153$           186,306$           

         Fuel

Principal and Int Payments 40,334               175,679             175,892             N/A 166,537             190,942             186,772             186,908             

   Sub-total 40,334$             175,679$           175,892$           -$                        166,537$           190,942$           186,772$           186,908$           

Ending Balance 92,206$             92,206$             137,332$           N/A 134,927$           129,641$           132,022$           131,420$           

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 86,769$                   125,988$           107,754$           101,305$           120,458$           86,769$             107,754$           108,455$           125,988$           

Additions: - 

Revenue Fund Deposits 187,629                   159,724             159,072             167,340             181,006             159,072             167,340             170,954             187,629             

Bond funded interest 1,726                        1,726                 1,726                 1,726                 1,726                 

-                          -                          -                          -                          

   Sub-total 189,355$                 159,724$           159,072$           167,340$           181,006$           

Deductions:

Principal and Int Payments 150,136                   177,958             165,521             148,187             166,537             148,187             165,521             161,668             177,958             

-                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          

   Sub-total 150,136$                 177,958$           165,521$           148,187$           166,537$           

Ending balance 125,988$                 107,754$           101,305$           120,458$           134,927$           101,305$           120,458$           118,086$           134,927$           

Observations:

● September 30th ending balances are used to pay the October 1st interest and principal payments.

● This report does not include any Scherer debt service sinking funds.

● Timing differences occur due to the accrual of debt service during one fiscal year and the payment in the following fiscal year (primarily fixed rate principal and interest on October 1st of the following fiscal year).

Page 13

Historical Statistical

Electric System Debt Service Sinking Fund

Metric:  Accrued interest and principal currently payable on fixed and variable rate bonds pursuant to the Bond Resolutions

Definitions and Goals:  JEA is required monthly to fund from revenues an amount equal to the aggregate of the Debt Service Requirement for senior and subordinated bonds for such month into this account.  On or 

before such interest payment date, JEA shall pay out of this account to the paying agents the amount required for the interest and principal due on such date.  

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 60,582$            64,595$            64,595$            N/A 64,841$            60,582$            60,582$                  60,582$               

Additions:

   Sub-total -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                            -$                         

         Fuel

Release to Revenue Fund 4,013                 4,013                 N/A 246                    

   Sub-total -$                       4,013$               4,013$               -$                       246$                  -$                       -$                            -$                         

Ending Balance 60,582$            60,582$            60,582$            N/A 64,595$            60,582$            60,582$                  60,582$               

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 72,226$                   72,226$            72,226$            64,841$            64,841$            64,841$            72,226$            69,272$                  72,226$               

Additions:

Proceeds from Bonds -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                               -                            

-                         -                         -                               -                            

-                         -                         -                               -                            

   Sub-total -$                             -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       

Deductions:

Defeasance 7,385                 246                    246                    3,816                 3,816                      7,385                   

-                         -                         -                               -                            

-                         -                         -                               -                            

   Sub-total -$                             -$                       7,385$               -$                       246$                  

Ending balance 72,226$                   72,226$            64,841$            64,841$            64,595$            64,595               64,841               67,746                    72,226                 

Observations:

● This report does not include any Scherer debt service reserves.

● In FY 2007, the debt service reserve requirement was satisfied 100% by the use of debt service reserve surety policies.   In accordance with the bond resolution, beginning in FY 2008, cash/investments replaced the 

● The debt service reserve account balance is currently in excess of the the debt service reserve requirement under the bond resolution by $3.0 million.  The excess will be used, if needed, to (1) fund an

    increase in the reserve requirement caused by a future issuance of new money bonds and/or variable to fixed refunding bonds, (2) help satisfy cash reserve targets instituted by the rating agencies, and/or

    (3) redeem bonds, in accordance with applicable tax laws.

Page 14

   downgraded sureties due to their downgrade by the rating agencies. Sureties of $67.6 million are still outstanding but are not eligible to be utilized as debt service reserve deposits per the Bond Resolutions.

Historical Actuals Statistical

Electric System Debt Service Reserve Account

Metric:   Maximum interest payable on outstanding senior Electric System bonds as required by the Bond Resolutions

Definitions and Goals:  This reserve will be funded, maintained and held for the benefit of bondholders as specified in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing the sale of the bonds to pay principal and/or interest on 

the bonds should revenues from operations not be sufficient for such purpose in accordance with the appropriate bond resolution.  It is JEA’s current practice to fund this reserve account with cash from the sale of 

bonds; however, revenues may be utilized to fund this reserve if necessary.  

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Budget Amounts Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution, Article 21 of the City of Jacksonville Charter and Pricing Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 164,792$          145,711$          145,711$          N/A 146,910$          135,800$          170,757$          167,414$          

Additions:

R&R/OCO Contribution 40,791              115,063            146,712            110,351            179,093            170,461            153,116            

Loans betw Capital Fds -                         -                         

Other 480                    3,198                 4,198                 -                         970                    18,590              

   Sub-total 41,271$            118,261$          150,910$          -$                       111,321$          197,683$          170,461$          153,116$          

         Fuel

Capital Expenditures 53,665              111,572            160,819            112,483            162,726            173,804            141,906            

Transfers betw Capital Fds 2                        2                        -                         37                      

 R&R/OCO Contribution

Transfer to Scherer -                         -                         

   Sub-total 53,665$            111,574$          160,821$          -$                       112,520$          162,726$          173,804$          141,906$          

Ending Balance 152,398$          152,398$          135,800$          N/A 145,711$          170,757$          167,414$          178,624$          

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 48,626$                  73,727$            105,235$          140,486$          146,910$          48,626$            105,235$          102,997$          146,910$          

Additions: - 

R&R/OCO Contribution 156,406                  142,822            124,630            85,639              110,351            85,639              124,630            123,970            156,406            

Loans betw Capital Fds -                               -                         -                         -                         -                     -                     -                     -                     

Other 2,876                       943                    2,423                 4,014                 970                    943                    2,423                 2,245                 4,014                 

   Sub-total 159,282$                143,765$          127,053$          89,653$            111,321$          

Deductions:

Capital Expenditures 115,181                  112,257            91,802              82,889              112,483            82,889              112,257            102,922            115,181            

Bond Buy Back -                               -                         -                     -                     -                     -                     

Transfer to Scherer 19,000                     

Loans betw Capital Fds 340                    37                      

Other -                         -                         -                     -                     -                     -                     

   Sub-total 134,181$                112,257$          91,802$            83,229$            112,520$          

Ending balance 73,727$                  105,235$          140,486$          146,910$          145,711$          73,727$            140,486$          122,414$          146,910$          

Observations:

● Other includes the Oracle Financing and Sale of Property.

● Includes $47 million for Maximum Annual Debt Service calculation.

Page 15

Historical Statistical

Electric Renewal and Replacement (R&R) / Operating Capital Outlay (OCO)

Metric:  Renewal and Replacement required to deposit from the revenue fund annually an amount equal to the greater of 10% of the prior year defined annual net revenues or 5% of the prior year defined 

gross revenues per JEA's Electric System bond resolutions.  Operating Capital Outlay - by 2013 the goal is to fund all non-capacity capital expenditures.

Definitions and Goals:  Pursuant to the Electric System bond resolution and Article 21 of the City of Jacksonville Charter, JEA is required to deposit from the revenue fund annually an amount for Renewal and 

Replacement of system assets.  According to the bond resolutions the amount is equal to the greater of 10% of the prior year defined annual net revenues or 5% of the prior year defined gross revenues.   The 

funds shall be used for the purposes of paying the cost of extensions, enlargements or additions to, or the replacement of capital assets of the Electric System.  In addition, as a portion of the base rate, JEA will 

recover from current revenue a formula driven amount for capital expenditures which is referred to as Operating Capital Outlay.  This amount is calculated separately from the R&R deposit and may be 

allocated for use between capacity or non-capacity related expenditures  based on the most beneficial economic and tax related financing structure incorporating the use of internal and bond funding.  

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance -$                       4$                       4$                       N/A 42$                    -$                       -$                       -$                       

Additions:

Bond Proceeds -                          -                          

Line of Credit -                          -                          

Transfers b/w Capital Fds -                          -                          -                          

Other 2                         2                         -                          37                       

         Fuel -$                       2$                       2$                       -$                       37$                    -$                       -$                       -$                       

Deductions:

Capital Expenditures 6                         6                         4                         75                       -                          -                          -                          

Bond Funded Interest -                          -                          

Transfers b/w Capital Fds -                          

Other -                          -                          -                          

   Sub-total -$                       6$                       6$                       4$                       75$                    -$                       -$                       -$                       

Ending Balance -$                       -$                       -$                       N/A 4$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       

(In Thousands) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 36,981$                   63,915$             40,034$             5,184$               42$                    -$                       21,083$             24,359$             63,915$             

Additions:

Bond Proceeds 91,545                     1,550                 1,550                 46,548               46,548               91,545               

Line of Credit -                     -                     -                     -                     

Transfers b/w Capital Fds 3,091                 3,091                 3,091                 3,091                 3,091                 

Other 562                           34                       340                    37                       34                       189                    243                    562                    

   Sub-total 92,107$                   -$                       1,584$               3,431$               37$                    

Deductions:

Capital Expenditures 63,371                     23,385               35,253               4,821                 75                       75                       23,385               25,381               63,371               

Bond Funded Interest 1,802                       1,802                 1,802                 1,802                 1,802                 

Line of Credit

Transfers b/w Capital Fds 35                       3,091                 35                       1,563                 1,563                 3,091                 

Other 496                    1,146                 661                    496                    661                    768                    1,146                 

   Sub-total 65,173$                   23,881$             36,434$             8,573$               75$                    

Ending balance 63,915$                   40,034$             5,184$               42$                    4$                       4$                       5,184$               21,836$             63,915$             

Observations:

● JEA's philosophy has been to borrow bond funds on a "just-in-time" basis.  Staff has used line of credit borrowings and loans between capital funds to decrease borrowing costs.

● No new debt issues for the FY 2017 - 2019 projection period.

Page 16

Historical Statistical

Electric Construction / Bond Fund

Metric:  Target = Capital expenditures per year minus internal funding available

Definitions and Goals:  JEA maintains a senior and subordinated construction fund of which bonds proceeds are deposited and used for the payment of the costs of additions, extensions and improvements to the 

Electric System.  The senior construction fund is limited to the costs of additions, extension and improvements relating to non-generation capital expenditures.   The subordinated construction fund is used for capital 

projects relating to all categories of capital expenditures but primarily targeted to fund generation capital expenditures.  

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Debt Management Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance -$                        -$                        -$                        N/A 304$                  -$                        -$                        -$                        

Additions:

Contributions -                          

   Sub-total -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

         Fuel

Withdrawals 304                     

   Sub-total -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        304$                  -$                        -$                        -$                        

Ending Balance -$                        -$                        -$                        N/A -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 6,458$                     6,458$               6,458$               304$                  304$                  304$                  6,458$               3,996$               6,458$               

Additions: - 

Contributions -                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     -                     

   Sub-total -$                              -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Deductions:

Withdrawals 6,154                 304                     304                     3,229                 3,229                 6,154                 

-                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     -                     

   Sub-total -$                              -$                        6,154$               -$                        304$                  

Ending balance 6,458$                     6,458$               304$                  304$                  -$                        -$                        304$                  2,705$               6,458$               

Observations:

● This reserve fund discontinued contributions in FY 2009 due to adoption of new policy.  Reserve activity reflected in RSF - Debt Management for that year.

● $6 million was used in Sept 2013 for a defeasance.

Page 17

Historical Statistical

Water and Sewer Debt Management Reserve

Metric:  One-half percent of the par amount of outstanding variable debt (adjusted for variable to fixed rate long term swaps). Capped at 3% of the par amount of outstanding variable debt.

Definitions and Goals: For the period FY 04 through FY 09, an annual budgeted reserve contribution for variable rate debt was made.  The calculation was based upon one half percent of the par amount of 

outstanding variable rate debt (adjusted for variable rate to fixed rate long term swaps).   The budget reserve was capped at three percent of the par amount of the outstanding variable rate debt.  The reserve can 

be used for any lawful purpose including debt service, debt repayment, and capital outlay and must be approved in writing by the CEO.

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution and Pricing Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 20,290$            20,290$            20,290$            N/A 20,290$            20,290$            20,290$            20,290$            

Additions:

Contributions -                          -                          -                          N/A -                          

Financial Statement Rounding

   Sub-total -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       

         Fuel

Withdrawals

   Sub-total -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       

Ending Balance 20,290$            20,290$            20,290$            N/A 20,290$            20,290$            20,290$            20,290$            

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 9,514$                     17,560$            20,290$            20,290$            20,290$            9,514$               20,290$            17,589$            20,290$            

Additions:

Contributions 8,046                       2,730                 -                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     -                     

   Sub-total 8,046$                     2,730$               -$                       -$                       -$                       

Deductions:

Withdrawals -                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     -                     

   Sub-total -$                              -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       

Ending balance 17,560$                   20,290$            20,290$            20,290$            20,290$            17,560$            20,290$            19,744$            20,290$            

Observations:

● Contributions began in June 2009.

Page 18

Historical Statistical

Water and Sewer Rate Stabilization Debt Management 

Metric:  Difference in actual interest rates for interest expense on the unhedged variable rate debt as compared to the budgeted assumptions for interest expense on unhedged variable rate debt.

Definitions and Goals:  TheWater & Sewer System Bond Resolution authorizes the establishment of a Rate Stabilization Fund in which deposits or withdrawals shall be made as set forth in the current annual budget 

or an amount otherwise determined by an authorized officer of JEA.  The Rate Stabilization Funds provide a means to minimize the year-to-year impact to customer charges and support financial metrics by 

providing consistent revenue collection for expenditures impacted by external factors such as fuel, debt management and regulatory requirements or initiatives.  Deposits are made to this Rate Stabilization Fund 

for the purpose of managing JEA’s debt portfolio.  Deposits to this reserve reflect the difference in the actual interest rates for interest expense on the unhedged variable rate debt as compared to the budgeted 

assumptions for interest expense on the unhedged variable rate debt.  Additionally, deposits can be made from excess debt service budget over the actual debt service expense for any fiscal year.  However, the 

total amounts deposited (in addition to actual debt service costs for the fiscal year) cannot exceed the total amount of the budgeted debt service for any fiscal year.  At a minimum, 50% of the calculated reserve 

contribution, if any, will be recorded and deposited each fiscal year. Debt and Investment Committee will review and record at their option an additional contribution amount, up to the full value of the calculated 

reserve contribution (the remaining 50%). The reserve contributions will be calculated on a system by system basis; however, based on the calculation, any mandatory deposit will exclude the District Energy 

System. The reserve contributions shall cease in the event the reserve balance exceeds the cap of five percent of the par amount of the total outstanding variable rate debt of all systems.  Withdrawals from the 

Rate Stabilization Fund for Debt Management Strategy can be made for expenses related to market disruption in the capital markets, disruption in availability of credit or unanticipated credit expenses, or to fund 

variable interest costs in excess of budget. 

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution and Pricing Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 4,104$               -$                        -$                        N/A -$                        1,456$               (3,650)$              500$                   

Additions:

Contributions 3,871                  10,056               13,619               -                          12,155               12,253               12,362               

   Sub-total 3,871$               10,056$             13,619$             -$                        -$                        12,155$             12,253$             12,362$             

         Fuel

Withdrawals 3,470                  5,551                  12,163               -                          17,261               8,103                  11,681               

   Sub-total 3,470$               5,551$               12,163$             -$                        -$                        17,261$             8,103$               11,681$             

Ending Balance 4,505$               4,505$               1,456$               N/A -$                        (3,650)$              500$                   1,181$               

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance -$                               -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Additions:

Contributions -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total -$                               -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Deductions:

Withdrawals -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total -$                               -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Ending balance -$                               -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Observations:

● Rate Stabilization Fund for Environmental began in June 2010.

Page 19

Historical Statistical

Water & Sewer System Rate Stabilization - Environmental

Definitions and Goals:  The Water & Sewer System Bond Resolution authorizes the establishment of a Rate Stabilization Fund in which contributions or withdrawals shall be made as set forth in the current annual 

budget or an amount otherwise determined by an authorized officer of JEA.  The Rate Stabilization Fund provides a means to minimize the year-to-year impact to customer charges and support financial metrics 

by providing consistent revenue collection for expenditures impacted by external factors such as debt management and regulatory requirements or initiatives.  

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Management Directive 302 Credit and Collections and Internal Procedure CR40400 MBC302

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 13,979$             13,255$             13,255$             N/A 12,787$             13,785$             13,785$             13,785$             

Additions:

Allocated from Electric 530                     530                     N/A 468                     

Loan Repayment -                          

   Sub-total -$                        530$                   530$                   -$                        468$                   -$                        -$                        -$                        

         Fuel

Allocated from Electric 194                     -                          -                          

Loan to W&S Operations -                          N/A

   Sub-total 194$                   -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

Ending Balance 13,785$             13,785$             13,785$             N/A 13,255$             13,785$             13,785$             13,785$             

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 8,517$                     9,727$               12,627$             13,860$             12,787$             8,517$               12,627$             11,504$             13,860$             

Additions: - 

Allocated from Electric 1,210                        2,900                 1,233                 468                     468                     851                     851                     1,233                 

Loan Repayment 1,000                 -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 1,210$                     3,900$               1,233$               -$                        468$                   

Deductions:

Allocated from Electric 1,073                 1,073                 1,073                 1,073                 1,073                 

Loan to W&S Operations 1,000                 -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total -$                              1,000$               -$                        1,073$               -$                        

Ending balance 9,727$                     12,627$             13,860$             12,787$             13,255$             9,727$               12,787$             12,451$             13,860$             

Observations:

● JEA is in the process of implementing a prepaid meter program which could reduce customer deposits at some future date.

Page 20

Historical Statistical

Water and Sewer System Customer Deposits

Metric:  Internal procedure CR40400 MBC302 Credit and Collections

Definitions and Goals: Pursuant to internal procedure CR40400 MBC302 Credit and Collections, JEA accesses customers a deposit that may be used to offset any future unpaid amounts during the course of providing 

utility service to a customer.   

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 48,130$              67,720$              67,720$              N/A 75,019$              66,209$              83,076$              82,930$                 

Additions:

Revenue fund deposits 24,419                72,572                99,481                102,789              120,883              121,878              122,454                 

   Sub-total 24,419$              72,572$              99,481$              -$                         102,789$           120,883$           121,878$           122,454$               

         Fuel

Principal and interest payments 31,362                99,105                100,992              N/A 110,088              104,016              122,024              120,638                 

   Sub-total 31,362$              99,105$              100,992$           -$                         110,088$           104,016$           122,024$           120,638$               

Ending Balance 41,187$              41,187$              66,209$              N/A 67,720$              83,076$              82,930$              84,746$                 

(In Thousands) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 71,496$                    80,936$              81,675$              80,317$              75,019$              -$                         77,668$              64,907$              81,675$                 

Additions:

Revenue fund deposits 120,846                    125,160              119,535              117,444              102,789              102,789              119,535              117,155              125,160                 

Bond funded interest -                      -                      -                      -                          

-                      -                      -                      -                          

   Sub-total 120,846$                  125,160$           119,535$           117,444$           102,789$           

Deductions:

Principal and interest payments 111,406                    124,421              120,893              122,742              110,088              110,088              120,893              117,910              124,421                 

-                      -                      -                      -                          

-                      -                      -                      -                          

   Sub-total 111,406$                  124,421$           120,893$           122,742$           110,088$           

Ending balance 80,936$                    81,675$              80,317$              75,019$              67,720$              67,720$              80,317$              77,133$              81,675$                 

Observations:

● September 30th ending balances are used to pay Oct 1st interest and principal payments.

● Timing differences occur due to the accrual of debt service during one fiscal year and the payment in the following fiscal year (primarily fixed rate principal and interest on Oct 1st of the following fiscal year).

Page 21

Historical Statistical

Water and Sewer Debt Service Sinking Fund

Metric:  Accrued interest and principal currently payable on fixed and variable rate bonds pursuant to the Bond Resolutions

Definitions and Goals: JEA is required monthly to fund from revenues an amount equal to the aggregate of the Debt Service Requirement for senior and subordinated bonds for such month into this account.  On or before such 

interest payment date, JEA shall pay out of this account to the paying agents the amount required for the interest and principal due on such date.

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 108,086$           108,849$           108,849$           N/A 116,829$           108,086$           108,086$           108,086$           

Additions:

Construction reserve fund/bond issues -                           N/A -                           

Revenue fund -                           N/A -                           

Rounding -                           

   Sub-total -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

         Fuel

Revenue fund 763                     763                     7,980                  

   Sub-total -$                        763$                   763$                   -$                        7,980$               -$                        -$                        -$                        

Ending Balance 108,086$           108,086$           108,086$           N/A 108,849$           108,086$           108,086$           108,086$           

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 91,239$                    102,214$           119,131$           119,915$           116,829$           91,239$             116,829$           109,866$           119,915$           

Additions: - 

Construction reserve fund/bond issues 10,975                      10,917               784                     784                     10,917               7,559                  10,975               

Revenue fund -                                 6,000                  3,821                  -                      3,821                  3,274                  6,000                  

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 10,975$                    16,917$             4,605$               -$                        -$                        

Deductions:

Revenue fund 3,821                  3,086                  7,980                  3,086                  3,821                  4,962                  7,980                  

-                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total -$                               -$                        3,821$               3,086$               7,980$               

Ending balance 102,214$                 119,131$           119,915$           116,829$           108,849$           102,214$           116,829$           113,388$           119,915$           

Observations:

● In 2008, debt service reserve sureties downgraded and JEA began replacing those downgraded sureties with cash/investments as required by the bond resolutions. Sureties of $149.8 million are still outstanding

   but are not eligible to be utilized as debt service reserve deposits per the Bond Resolutions.

Page 22

Historical Statistical

Water and Sewer Debt Service Reserve Account

Metric:  125% of average annual debt service on outstanding senior fixed and variable rate bonds plus subordinated fixed rate bonds as required by the Bond Resolutions

Definitions and Goals:  This reserve will be funded, maintained and held for the benefit of bondholders as specified in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing the sale of the bonds to pay principal and/or interest on the bonds 

should revenues from operations not be sufficient for such purpose in accordance with the appropriate bond resolution.  It is JEA’s current practice to fund this reserve account with cash from the sale of bonds; however, revenues 

may be utilized to fund this reserve if necessary. 

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution, Article 21 of the City of Jacksonville Charter and Pricing Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 72,037$             37,337$             37,337$             N/A 59,295$             66,169$             20,908$             (1,961)$              

Additions:

R&R/OCO Contribution 41,930               103,765             133,604             -                          62,793               110,668             112,989             115,131             

Loans betw Capital Fds -                          22                       

Other 3,338                 27,730               29,237               -                          653                     8,600                 8,600                 8,600                 

   Sub-total 45,268$             131,495$          162,841$          -$                        63,468$             119,268$          121,589$          123,731$          

         Fuel

Capital Expenditures 35,224               86,688               133,910             -                          85,426               164,529             144,458             143,908             

Transfer to Capacity Fund 35                       98                       99                       -                          -                          

Transfer to Construction Fund

R&R/OCO Contribution -                          -                          -                          

   Sub-total 35,259$             86,786$             134,009$          -$                        85,426$             164,529$          144,458$          143,908$          

Ending Balance 82,046$             82,046$             66,169$             N/A 37,337$             20,908$             (1,961)$              (22,138)$           

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 11,539$                   28,840$             64,260$             78,689$             59,295$             11,539$             59,295$             48,525$             78,689$             

Additions:

R&R/OCO Contribution 49,946                      76,157               91,245               48,373               62,793               48,373               62,793               65,703               91,245               

Loans betw Capital Fds -                                 -                          -                          22                       -                      -                      6                         22                       

Other (incl septic tank) 1,067                        5,771                 1,539                 1,614                 653                     653                     1,539                 2,129                 5,771                 

   Sub-total 51,013$                   81,928$             92,784$             49,987$             63,468$             

Deductions:

Capital Expenditures 33,712                      46,508               68,355               67,488               85,426               33,712               67,488               60,298               85,426               

Loan Repayment -                                 -                          -                          -                          -                      -                      -                      -                      

Transfer to Constr. Fund -                                 -                          10,000               1,893                 -                      947                     2,973                 10,000               

Other (incl septic tank) -                                 -                          -                          -                          -                          -                      -                      -                      -                      

   Sub-total 33,712$                   46,508$             78,355$             69,381$             85,426$             

Ending balance 28,840$                   64,260$             78,689$             59,295$             37,337$             28,840$             59,295$             53,684$             78,689$             

Observations:

● Other includes the Septic Tank Phase-out project, Sale of Property, and the transfer of RSF - Environmental in FY 2016 - 2019

● Includes $20 million for Maximum Annual Debt Service calculation.

● $57 million is projected to be withdrawn from this capital balance in FY 2016-2017 to support the capital program with lower Net Revenues as planned with the June 2012 approved 

    reduction in the October 1, 2012 rate increase.

Page 23

Historical Statistical

Water and Sewer Renewal and Replacement (R&R) / Operating Capital Outlay (OCO)

Metric:  Renewal and Replacement required to deposit from the revenue fund annually an amount equal to the greater of 10% of the prior year defined annual net revenues or 5% of the prior year defined gross 

revenues per JEA's Water and Sewer System bond resolutions.  Operating Capital Outlay - by 2013 the goal is to fund all non-capacity capital expenditures.

Definitions and Goals:  Pursuant to the Water and Sewer System bond resolutions and Article 21 of the City of Jacksonville Charter, JEA is required to deposit from the revenue fund annually an amount for 

Renewal and Replacement of system assets.  According to the bond resolutions the amount is equal to the greater of 10% of the prior year defined annual net revenues or 5% of the prior year defined gross 

revenues.   The funds shall be used for the purposes of paying the cost of extensions, enlargements or additions to, or the replacement of capital assets of the Electric System.  In addition, as a portion of the base 

rate, JEA will recover from current revenue a formula driven amount for capital expenditures which is referred to as Operating Capital Outlay.  This amount is calculated separately from the R&R deposit.    In 

accordance with the Pricing Policy, by 2013, the objective is to fund an amount equal to all non-capacity capital expenditures with current year internally generated funds.  

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Florida Statute and Rate Tariff

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 98,777$             90,912$             90,912$             N/A 76,887$             97,808$             64,272$             44,348$             

Additions:

Capacity Fees 6,174                 16,286               20,182               -                          19,579               19,036               19,226               19,418               

State Revolving Fd Loan -                          -                          

Transfer from R&R/OCO Fund 35                       98                       248                    -                          246                    650                    650                    650                    

Other -                          -                          

         Fuel 6,209$               16,384$             20,430$             -$                       19,825$             19,686$             19,876$             20,068$             

Deductions:

Capital Expenditures 1,799                 4,109                 13,534               -                          5,805                 53,222               39,800               30,034               

Other -                          -                          

-                          -                          

   Sub-total 1,799$               4,109$               13,534$             -$                       5,805$               53,222$             39,800$             30,034$             

Ending Balance 103,187$          103,187$          97,808$             N/A 90,907$             64,272$             44,348$             34,382$             

(In Thousands) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 21,463$                   41,025$             45,454$             60,360$             76,887$             21,463$             45,454$             49,038$             76,887$             

Additions:

Capacity Fees 10,311                     10,820               17,394               18,298               19,579               10,311               17,394               15,280               19,579               

State Revolving Fd Loan 14,667                     3,798                 -                          -                          -                     1,899                 4,616                 14,667               

Loan Repayments -                                -                          -                          -                          246                    -                     -                     49                       246                    

Other -                                -                          12                       -                          5                         -                     -                     3                         12                       

   Sub-total 24,978$                   14,618$             17,406$             18,298$             19,830$             

Deductions:

Capital Expenditures 5,268                       7,096                 2,270                 1,758                 5,805                 1,758                 5,268                 4,439                 7,096                 

Loans betw Capital Fds -                                -                          -                     -                     -                     -                     

Other 148                           3,093                 230                    13                       13                       189                    871                    3,093                 

-                                -                          -                          -                          

   Sub-total 5,416$                     10,189$             2,500$               1,771$               5,805$               

Ending balance 41,025$                   45,454$             60,360$             76,887$             90,912$             41,025$             60,360$             62,928$             90,912$             

Observations:

Page 24

Historical Statistical

Water and Sewer Capacity Fees / State Revolving Fund Loans 

Metric:  Tariff rate

Definitions and Goals:  Capacity fees are charged to customers as a one- time fee for a new connection to the Water System and a one- time fee for a new connection to the Sewer System.  Capacity charges may be 

used and applied for the purpose of paying costs of expansion of the Water and Sewer System or paying or providing for the payment of debt that was issued for the same purpose.  In addition, the Water and 

Sewer System has received funds from the State Revolving Fund (SRF) program for the construction of water and wastewater treatment facilities.  SRF loans are subordinated to all Water and Sewer System 

Revenue Bonds and Water and Sewer System Subordinated Revenue Bonds.  

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Pricing Policy

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 246$                  19,245$             19,245$             N/A 5,299$               -$                        -$                        -$                        

Additions:

Environmental Contributions 3,471                 5,547                 11,056               -                          22,056               18,458               8,753                 12,331               

Loans betw Capital Fds -                          -                          

Other -                          -                          

   Sub-total 3,471$               5,547$               11,056$             -$                        22,056$             18,458$             8,753$               12,331$             

         Fuel

Capital Expenditures 2,742                 4,508                 10,693               -                          7,318                 17,808               8,103                 11,681               

Septic Tank Phase Out 64                       363                     -                          203                     650                     650                     650                     

Other -                          19,245               19,245               -                          589                     

   Sub-total 2,742$               23,817$             30,301$             -$                        8,110$               18,458$             8,753$               12,331$             

Ending Balance 975$                  975$                  -$                        N/A 19,245$             -$                        -$                        -$                        

(In Thousands) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 5,920$                     9,795$               (8,158)$              (9,857)$              5,299$               (9,857)$              5,299$               600$                  9,795$               

Additions:

Environmental Contributions 14,577                     21,747               21,193               21,018               22,056               14,577               21,193               20,118               22,056               

Loans betw Capital Fds -                                -                          -                          -                     -                     -                     -                     

Other -                     -                     -                     -                     

   Sub-total 14,577$                   21,747$             21,193$             21,018$             22,056$             

Deductions:

Capital Expenditures 10,702                     39,700               22,892               5,862                 7,318                 5,862                 10,702               17,295               39,700               

Septic Tank Phase Out 203                     203                     203                     203                     203                     

Other 589                     589                     589                     589                     589                     

   Sub-total 10,702$                   39,700$             22,892$             5,862$               8,110$               

Ending balance 9,795$                     (8,158)$              (9,857)$              5,299$               19,245$             (9,857)$              5,299$               3,265$               19,245$             

Observations:

Page 25

Historical Statistical

Water and Sewer Environmental

Metric:  Unit tariff rates times consumption

Definitions and Goals:  The Environmental Charge will be applied to all water, sewer, irrigation and non bulk user reclaimed consumption.  The environmental charge revenue will be collected from customers to partially 

offset current and future environmental and regulatory needs as specified in the Pricing Policy for specific environmental and regulatory programs.

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



For the Fiscal Quarter Ending June 30, 2016

Reserve/Fund Authorization:  Bond Resolution

(In Thousands)

Current

Quarter Year -to-Date

2016

Forecast

2016

Budget

Prior Year 

Actual 2017 2018 2019

Opening Balance 681$                  664$                  664$                  N/A 326$                  -$                       -$                       -$                       

Additions:

Bond Proceeds -                          -                          -                          

Line of Credit -                          -                          -                          

Transfer from R&R/OCO Fund -                          -                          

Other 17                       17                       -                          344                    

         Fuel -$                       17$                    17$                    -$                       344$                  -$                       -$                       -$                       

Deductions:

Capital Expenditures -                          6                         

Bond Proceeds -                          -                          

Other 681                    -                          -                          

   Sub-total -$                       -$                       681$                  -$                       6$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       

Ending Balance 681$                  681$                  -$                       N/A 664$                  -$                       -$                       -$                       

(In Thousands) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Low Median Mean High

Opening Balance 18,708$                   29,622$             7,419$               2,305$               326$                  326$                  7,419$               11,676$             29,622$             

Additions:

Bond Proceeds 45,662                     -                          486                    -                          -                     243                    11,537               45,662               

Line of Credit -                                -                          -                          -                          -                     -                     -                     -                     

Loans/trnsf btw CapFds -                                -                          10,000               1,893                 -                     947                    2,973                 10,000               

Other -                                -                          3                         476                    344                    -                     3                         165                    476                    

   Sub-total 45,662$                   -$                       10,489$             2,369$               344$                  

Deductions:

Capital Expenditures 34,172                     20,243               14,855               3,784                 6                         6                         14,855               14,612               34,172               

Bond Proceeds -                                -                          411                    48                       -                     24                       115                    411                    

Line of Credit -                                -                          -                          -                          -                     -                     -                     -                     

Loans/trnsf btw CapFds -                                -                          337                    516                    -                     169                    213                    516                    

Other 576                           1,960                 -                          -                          -                     288                    634                    1,960                 

   Sub-total 34,748$                   22,203$             15,603$             4,348$               6$                       

Ending balance 29,622$                   7,419$               2,305$               326$                  664$                  326$                  2,305$               8,067$               29,622$             

Observations:

● JEA's philosophy has been to borrow bond funds on a "just-in-time" basis.  Staff has used line of credit borrowings and loans between capital funds to decrease borrowing costs.

● No new debt issues for the FY 2017-2019 projection.

Page 26

Historical Statistical

Water and Sewer Construction / Bond Fund

Metric:  Capital expenditures per year minus internal funding available

Definitions and Goals:  JEA maintains a senior and subordinated construction fund of which bonds proceeds are deposited and used for the payment of the costs of additions, extensions and improvements to the 

Water and Sewer System.

Actual as of 06/30/2016 Full Year Projection



II. H. 2.
JEA Investment Policy Revisions 



Ver.2.0D  9/21/2013 jer 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

July 12, 2016 

SUBJECT: JEA INVESTMENT POLICY REVISIONS 

Purpose:  Information Only  Action Required  Advice/Direction 

Issue: JEA staff reviews the Investment Policy on a periodic basis in order to maintain consistency with 
Florida Statutes and to consider current industry practices and the JEA operating environment. The goal of 
the Policy is to ensure the overall investment objectives of safety of capital, sufficient liquidity, and 
maximization of portfolio yield. Based on its most recent review, staff is proposing several changes to the 
Policy. 

Significance: Revisions are being made to change the lists of Authorized Investments for the Electric 
System and the District Energy System so that the language in the Investment Policy is consistent with 
updates to the Florida Statutes. In addition, the Policy will include new language to formally state that the 
authority to approve, amend or revise the Policy rests with the JEA Board. Also, U.S. dollar-denominated 
commercial paper issued by the Canadian government or Canadian provinces would be included as 
eligible commercial paper investments.  

Effect: The revisions would affect investment income and the composition of the investment portfolio. 

Cost or Benefit: Improved portfolio diversification and day-to-day operations, providing for the opportunity 
to improve the investment portfolio yield. 

Recommended Board action: Staff recommends that the Finance and Audit Committee and the Board 
approve the attached revisions of the Investment Policy. 

For additional information, contact: Joe Orfano, 665-4541 

Submitted by: PEM/ MHD/JEO/ TPD

Commitments to Action 

Return to Agenda II. H. 2.
F&A 8/8/2016



Ver 2.2 02/01/2014 

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM 
July 12, 2016 

SUBJECT: JEA INVESTMENT POLICY REVISIONS 

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO 

TO: JEA Finance and Audit Committee 

Kelly Flanagan, Chair 
Tom Petway 
Ed Burr 
Husein Cumber 

BACKGROUND: 

Section 218.415 of the Florida Statutes requires that investment activity by a unit of local government be 
consistent with a written policy adopted by the governing body of such unit of local government. In 
September 1995, the JEA Board approved an Investment Policy that satisfied this statutory requirement. 
Since that time, the Florida legislature has amended various sections of Section 218.415. In September 
2000, October 2004 and August 2008, the JEA Investment Policy was amended to take into account 
revisions to the statute, as well as to incorporate current industry practices. The most recent revisions to 
the Policy were approved by the JEA Board at the December 20, 2011 Board meeting. 

DISCUSSION: 

JEA staff reviews the Investment Policy on a periodic basis in order to maintain consistency with Florida 
Statutes and to consider current industry practices and the JEA operating environment. The goal of the 
Policy is to ensure the overall investment objectives of safety of capital, sufficient liquidity, and 
maximization of portfolio yield. Based on its most recent review, staff is proposing several changes to the 
Policy. 

Staff is requesting revisions to the lists of Authorized Investments in the Electric System and the District 
Energy System (DES) so that the language in the lists is consistent with updated language in Florida 
Statute 218.415 (16)(a). The revisions would allow the Electric System and DES to invest in 
intergovernmental pools such as the money market fund managed by Public Financial Management, Inc. 
(PFM). The JEA Board has the authority to revise the Authorized Investments for the Electric System and 
DES. In contrast, the Authorized Investments for the Water & Sewer System, the Bulk Power Supply 
System and St. Johns River Power Park (SJRPP) (1st and 2nd Resolutions) are specifically listed in the 
Bond Resolutions of those systems and can only be changed with bondholder approval. Therefore, staff 
is not requesting similar changes to the Policy for those Systems. The revised Policy would continue to 

meet or exceed all of the requirements set forth in Section 218.415 of the Florida Statutes.  In addition, 

staff is requesting that U.S. dollar-denominated commercial paper issued by the Government of Canada, 
or the governments of Canadian provinces, be included as eligible commercial paper investments. A new 
section 20.0, Investment Policy Approval, is being added to formally state that the authority to approve, 
amend, or revise the Investment Policy rests with the JEA Board. Table 1, Investment Limitations, would 
be updated to include the changes in the Policy, to set the limit for investments in intergovernmental 
pools at 5% of the total investment portfolio, and to increase the percentage limitation for bank deposits 

II. H. 2.
F&A 8/8/2016



  Page 2 

to 30% from 25% on March 31st and September 30th. This increase in the limit for bank deposits will 
facilitate the payment of debt service on April 1st and October 1st each year. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the Finance and Audit Committee and the Board approve the attached revisions 
of the Investment Policy. 

 
 _________________________________  
 Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO 
 
PEM/MHD/JEO/TPD 



1 

 

JEA 

TREASURY SERVICES 

INVESTMENT POLICY 

AS OF AUGUST 16, 2016 

 

 

1.0 SCOPE 
 

 The statement of investment policy and guidelines applies to funds under control of JEA 

in excess of those required to meet short-term expenses. 

 

 This investment policy applies to financial assets including funds related to the issuance 

of debt by JEA, including the Electric System, the Water and Sewer System, St. Johns 

River Power Park (SJRPP), the Bulk Power Supply System, the District Energy System 

(DES), and any other entity created and approved by JEA’s Board.  Furthermore, this 

investment policy applies to customer deposit monies held by JEA.  This policy shall not 

apply to investments of the SJRPP Employees’ Retirement Plan or investments of the 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Trust, which are covered by separate 

investment policies or authorizing resolutions. 

 

2.0 INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES 
 

 JEA’s investment portfolio shall be managed with the primary objective of safety of 

capital.  The investment strategy will provide sufficient liquidity to meet anticipated cash 

flow requirements. 

 

 JEA will strive to obtain the highest possible yields consistent with safety of capital, 

liquidity of the portfolio and prudent investment principles. 

 

 Investments are made with the intention of holding the securities to maturity.  However, 

investments may be sold from time to time to meet cash flow requirements, for the 

purpose of restructuring the average duration of the portfolio and taking advantage of 

market opportunities to record capital gains. 

 

3.0 PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 
 

 JEA seeks to optimize the return on investment within the constraints of safety and 

liquidity.  The investment portfolio shall be designed to attain a market yield consistent 

with the investment risk, maturity and liquidity constraints as discussed in this policy. A 

benchmark index will be used to evaluate the performance of the portfolio and the index 

will be periodically reviewed by the Chief Financial Officer to determine its 

appropriateness and to recommend changes as needed. 

  



2 

 

4.0 PRUDENCE AND ETHICAL STANDARDS 
 

 The standard of prudence to be applied by JEA shall be the “Prudent Person” rule, which 

states:  “Investments shall be made with judgment and care under circumstances then 

prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the 

management of their own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering the 

probable safety of their capital as well as the probable income to be derived from the 

investment.”  The “Prudent Person” rule shall be applied in the context of managing the 

overall portfolio. 

 

 Employees of JEA involved in the investment process shall not transact personal business 

activity that could or could appear to conflict with State Statutes, City Ordinances, JEA 

Management Directives, proper execution of the investment program or which could 

impair their ability to make impartial investment decisions. 

 

5.0 AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 
 

 Refer to Exhibits I through VI for a complete listing of the “Authorized Investments”.  

Exhibit I includes the Authorized Investments for the Electric System and Exhibit VI lists 

the Authorized Investments for DES. The bond resolutions for the Electric System and 

for DES allow any investment that is permitted by Florida law. Further, the Florida 

statutes provide that authorized investments include those that have been authorized by a 

resolution of the entity, e.g. a Board resolution. Thus, the JEA Board can amend the list 

of Authorized Investments for the Electric System and for DES. The Authorized 

Investments for the other JEA systems or entities are specifically listed in their respective 

bond resolutions and thus can only be changed by a change in the resolution. 

 

 Money market funds are specifically included in the list of Authorized Investments for 

the Electric System and DES.  However, the term “money market funds” is not 

specifically noted in the list of Authorized Investments for the SJRPP Second Bond 

Resolution, the Bulk Power Supply System or the Water and Sewer System. The listings 

for those systems include as Authorized Investments the shares of an investment 

company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. Money 

market funds which are organized and registered under the Investment Company Act of 

1940, as amended, fall under this definition and are thus included as eligible investments.  

 

In the case of the SJRPP First Bond Resolution, the list of Investment Securities includes 

investments in direct obligations of or obligations guaranteed by the United States of 

America. Section 660.415 of the  Florida Statutes states that in the absence of an express 

provision to the contrary, when a governing instrument (e.g. a bond resolution) permits 

investments in United States Government obligations, trust companies, trust departments, 

trustees and fiduciaries may invest in shares of an investment company registered under 

the Investment Company Act of 1940 if the portfolio of such investment company is 

limited to United States Government obligations and repurchase agreements fully 

collateralized by United States Government obligations. Thus the funds held by the 

SJRPP Trustee in the Debt Service Account and the Debt Service Reserve Account in the 



3 

 

Debt Service Fund may be invested in money market mutual funds which invest solely in 

United States Government obligations or repurchase agreements fully collateralized by 

United States Government obligations.  

 

For all JEA systems, only money market funds that are rated AAA by Standard and 

Poor’s or Aaa by Moody’s Investors Service are permitted. 

 

 JEA does not speculate on the future movement of interest rates and is not permitted to 

utilize reverse repurchase agreements or other forms of debt leverage in the management 

of its investment portfolio.  Floating rate notes, inflation-indexed notes, and other 

adjustable rate securities are permitted types of securities. Inverse floaters, however, are 

prohibited. 

 

 JEA is permitted to use interest rate swap agreements for asset/liability management.  For 

its assets, JEA utilizes interest rate swaps in a 100% asset matched strategy with JEA’s 

revolving fund balances.  JEA is also permitted to engage in the practice of securities 

lending, whereby a fee is paid to JEA in exchange for lending securities that are fully 

collateralized by securities listed as “Authorized Investments”.  JEA’s investment 

professionals have developed sufficient understanding of the investment vehicles listed 

above and have the expertise to manage them.    

 

6.0 MATURITY AND LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS 
 

 The investment portfolio shall be structured in such manner as to provide sufficient 

liquidity to pay obligations as they come due.  To the extent possible, investment 

maturities will be matched with known cash needs and anticipated cash flow 

requirements. 

 

 Additionally, maturity limitations for funds related to the issuance of debt are outlined in 

the Bond Resolution relating to those bond issues. 

 

7.0 PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION 
 

 The investment portfolio may be structured to have limits on certain types of securities, 

issuers, and maturities.  Refer to Table 1 for specific limitations.  

 

 Investments in commercial paper, certificates of deposit or bankers acceptances shall 

have the following restrictions:  Nine months maximum maturity, $12,500,000 limit per 

issuer, and limited to 25% of the entire portfolio (including money market and repurchase 

agreements). Exceeding the 25% limit is permitted when including investments for the 

debt service sinking funds and escrows relating to the economic defeasance of debt.  In 

addition, commercial paper must be rated in the highest whole rating category (i.e. A-1 

by Standard and Poor’s, P-1 by Moody’s Investors Service or F1 by Fitch) by at least 2 

nationally recognized rating agencies and be issued by a Fortune 500 company, a Fortune 

Global 500 company with significant operations in the U.S., or the governments of 



4 

 

Canada or Canadian provinces (in U.S. dollar-denominated securities). The ratings 

outlook for the commercial paper must be positive or stable at the time of the investment.  

 

8.0 RISK AND DIVERSIFICATION 
 

 Assets held shall be diversified to control the risk of loss resulting from over 

concentration of assets in a specific maturity, issuer, instrument, dealer, or bank through 

which these instruments are bought and sold.  Diversification strategies shall be reviewed 

and revised periodically as necessary by the appropriate management staff.  A diversity 

of treasury and agency issues shall be maintained to avoid a concentration in any one 

issue or maturity.    Refer to Table 1 for detailed investment limitations. Such limitations 

will be periodically reviewed by the Chief Financial Officer to determine their 

appropriateness and to recommend changes as needed. 

 

9.0 AUTHORIZED INVESTMENT INSTITUTIONS AND DEALERS 
 

 JEA shall only execute US Treasury and Agency investment transactions and repurchase 

agreements with primary securities dealers as designated by the Federal Reserve Bank of 

New York and commercial banks within JEA’s geographical service area who are 

member banks of the Federal Reserve System and have capital stock, surplus and 

undivided earnings aggregating at least $25,000,000 and have a rating on short-term bank 

deposits of at least P-1 by Moody’s Investors Service.  Commercial paper transactions, 

CD’s and BA’s can be executed with primary securities dealers and firms considered to 

be “Direct Issuers”.  Municipal securities transactions can be executed with primary 

securities dealers or municipal securities firms having a significant presence in Florida or 

firms owning a specific JEA bond issue and only on a delivery versus payment basis.  

Investment Agreements can be purchased directly from the issuing insurance company or 

financial institution. Money market mutual funds can be purchased from commercial 

banks meeting the requirements discussed above, from primary dealers, through JEA 

Trustees as discussed in Section 5.0, or directly from the money market mutual fund. All 

other investments can only be purchased from primary dealers. 

 

10.0 THIRD-PARTY CUSTODIAL AGREEMENTS 

 

 All securities purchased by, and all collateral obtained by, JEA under this section shall be 

properly designated as an asset of JEA and held in safekeeping by a third party custodial 

bank or other third party custodial institution, except as noted below. 

 

 All securities purchased and sold by JEA under this section shall be executed using the 

“delivery versus payment procedure.”  Collateral requirements for Repurchase 

Agreements and Securities Lending Agreements will be contained in the Master 

Repurchase Agreement/Custodial Undertaking and Securities Lending Agreement, 

respectively, executed between JEA and the broker/dealer or bank. 

 

 The safekeeping institution shall issue a safekeeping receipt to JEA listing the specific 

instrument, par value, rate, maturity and any other pertinent information.  In the case of 



5 

 

securities purchased or sold, the “confirmation” received from the dealer or safekeeping 

institution should be attached to the internally generated trade ticket.  In the case of 

repurchase agreements, collateral safekeeping receipts should be compared on a daily 

basis to ensure compliance with collateral requirements and investment limitations. 

 

 No withdrawal of securities, in whole or in part, shall be made from safekeeping, except 

by an authorized staff member of JEA. 

 

 An exception to third party custody of assets would be the safekeeping of collateral for 

repurchase agreements entered into between JEA and its primary bank for the purpose of 

conducting day to day cash management functions.  Collateral will be held by that bank 

but not in JEA’s name.  The bank will issue a safekeeping receipt indicating the collateral 

pledged to JEA. 

 

11.0 MASTER REPURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 

 JEA shall require all institutions and dealers transacting repurchase agreements to 

execute and perform as stated in the Master Repurchase Agreement that is signed by both 

parties.  All repurchase agreement transactions shall adhere to the requirements of the 

Master Repurchase Agreement. 

 

 Repurchase Agreements can only be entered into with authorized investment institutions 

and dealers as defined in Section 9.0 of this policy.  In addition, all repurchase 

agreements must adhere to the provisions as defined in Section 5.0 of this policy relating 

to authorized investments and Section 10.0 of this policy regarding third-party custodial 

agreements.  Collateral requirements must adhere to those outlined in the appropriate 

bond resolution.       Tri Party Repurchase Agreements are preferred to “conventional” 

(delivery of collateral versus wire transfer of the amount invested) Repurchase 

Agreements due to significant cost savings derived from safekeeping the collateral at the 

same custodian utilized by the dealer.  Due to the costs associated with transferring 

Repurchase Agreements on a daily basis, the interest rate paid to JEA will be compared 

on a daily basis to the market (using Bloomberg or a similar source) and when 

appropriate, the Repurchase Agreement will be re-executed with a different institution 

based on the rate comparison. 

 

12.0 BID REQUIREMENT 

 

             Staff shall determine the approximate maturity date based on cash flow needs and market 

conditions, analyze and select one or more optimal types of investment, and 

competitively bid the security in question when feasible and appropriate. 

 

 Competitive bids or offerings shall be obtained from at least three dealers on all sales or 

purchases except in situations where: 

 

a. the security involved is a “new issue” and/or can be purchased “at the auction”; 

 



6 

 

b. the security involved has a fixed, “posted scale” rate; 

 

c. the security involved is available through direct issue, private placement (e.g., 

General Electric Commercial Paper, Chevron  Commercial Paper, , etc.); 

 

d. the security involved is of particular special interest to JEA (e.g. Florida General 

Obligation bonds or other municipal bonds) and dealer competition could have an 

adverse impact with respect to the price and/or availability of the security to JEA; 

 

e. a dealer or institution brings to JEA an unsolicited swap proposal deemed 

advantageous to JEA. 

 

Although direct investments in equity securities are not authorized investments, such 

securities are received by JEA from time to time as payment for customer liabilities in 

lieu of the receipt of cash. Competitive bids are not required on the sale of such securities 

in order that the sale may take place in an expeditious manner. 

 

The requirement for competitive bids does not apply to JEA purchases of JEA bonds in 

the secondary market, or to investments in money market mutual funds, the State of 

Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (the “State Pool”), or 

intergovernmental investment pools. Money market funds shall be rated AAA by 

Standard and Poor’s or Aaa by Moody’s Investors Service and will be selected on the 

basis of a fund’s yield, ranking versus peers, expenses, portfolio composition, assets 

under management, etc. Investments in money market mutual funds or in the State Pool 

or an intergovernmental pool will be reviewed on a periodic basis for appropriateness.  

 

13.0 INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 

 The Chief Financial Officer and/or the Treasurer will maintain a system of internal 

controls, which will be documented in writing and made part of operational procedures in 

Treasury Services.  The internal controls will be reviewed by independent auditors as part 

of any financial audit periodically required of JEA. 

 

 The internal controls should be designed to prevent losses of funds which might arise 

from fraud, employee error, misrepresentation by third parties, or imprudent actions by 

employees of JEA. 

 

14.0 REPORTING 
 

 Treasury Services shall generate monthly reports for management purposes.  The reports 

shall include securities in the portfolio by class or type, book value, and yield earned 

during the period.  Market values are reported quarterly in JEA’s financial statements.  

Treasury Services shall provide other such reports and information as deemed reasonable, 

upon request, from other internal and external sources. 

  



7 

 

 

 
15.0 CONTINUING EDUCATION 
 

JEA staff responsible for making investment decisions must annually complete 8 hours of 

continuing education in subjects of study related to investment practices and products.  

This requirement can be met through a variety of methods including, but not limited to, 

seminars, conferences, college courses, and CPA continuing education. 
 

16.0 AUDITS 
 
Certified public accountants conducting audits of JEA pursuant to section 218.39, Florida 

Statutes, shall report, as part of the audit, whether or not JEA has complied with this 

section 218.415, Florida Statutes. 

 

17.0 SALE OF SECURITIES 

 

When the invested funds are needed in whole or in part for the purposes originally 

intended or for more optimal investments, JEA may sell such investments at the “market” 

and place the proceeds in the proper account or fund. 
 

18.0 AUTHORIZATIONS 
 

 JEA investment accounts may be opened or continued at registered broker/dealers or 

banks. The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (CEO), or his designee, is 

authorized to open such accounts and to 1) purchase and sell authorized investments and 

to 2) sell securities received as payment for customer liabilities in lieu of the receipt of 

cash. A detailed listing of individuals in authorized positions and their specific authorities 

and signatures will be maintained in an “Authorization for the Opening and Continuing 

of Certain Investment Accounts and Signatories Therefor.” 

 

19.0 PRIORITY OF DOCUMENTS 
 
 This JEA Investment Policy shall be the governing document when conflicting or 

otherwise inconsistent with the JEA Procurement Code.  
 
20.0 INVESTMENT POLICY APPROVAL 
 

The authority to approve, modify, or amend this Investment Policy rests with the JEA 
Finance and Audit Committee and the JEA Board. The JEA Chief Financial Officer or 
Treasurer may submit recommendations for changes to the Investment Policy as deemed 
necessary. 



8 

 

    EXHIBIT 1 
JEA ELECTRIC SYSTEM AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 

 
"Authorized Investments" shall mean and include any of the following securities, if and to the 
extent the same are at the time legal for investment of JEA's funds: 
 
(i) any bonds or other obligations which constitute direct obligations of, or as to principal 

and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including 
obligations of any of the Federal agencies set forth in clause (iii) below to the extent 
unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America; 

 
(ii) any bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any 

agency, instrumentality or local governmental unit of any such state (a) which are not 
callable prior to maturity, or which have been duly called for redemption by the obligor 
on a date or dates specified and as to which irrevocable instructions have been given to a 
trustee in respect of such bonds or other obligations by the obligor to give due notice of 
such redemption on such date or dates, which date or dates shall be also specified in such 
instructions, (b) which are secured as to principal and interest and redemption premium, 
if any, by a fund consisting only of cash or bonds or other obligations of the character 
described in clause (i) above which fund may be applied only to the payment of such 
principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other 
obligations on the maturity date or dates thereof or the redemption date or dates specified 
in the irrevocable instructions referred to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as 
appropriate,  (c) as to which the principal of and interest on the bonds and obligations of 
the character described in clause (i) above on deposit in such fund along with any cash on 
deposit in such fund are sufficient to pay principal of and interest and redemption 
premium, if any, on the bonds or other obligations described in this clause (ii) on the 
maturity date or dates thereof or on the redemption date or dates specified in the 
irrevocable instructions referred  to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as appropriate and 
(d) which at the time of their purchase hereunder are rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s  
and if rated by Moody’s Investors Service, are rated Aaa by such agency; 

 
(iii) bonds, debentures, or other evidences of long-term indebtedness issued or guaranteed by 

an agency or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act 
of Congress as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America;  

 
(iv) discount notes or other short-term debt issued or guaranteed by an agency or corporation 

which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of Congress as an agency 
or instrumentality of the United States of America which at the time of their purchase are 
rated in the highest rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies; 

 
(v) New Housing Authority Bonds issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully 

secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual 
contributions under an annual contributions contract or contracts with the United States 
of America, or project notes issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully secured 
as to the payment of both principal and interest by a requisition or payment agreement 
with the United States of America; 

 
(vi) obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision 

thereof or an agency or instrumentality of any state or political subdivision, provided at 
the time of their purchase hereunder such obligations are rated in either of the two highest 
rating categories by two nationally recognized rating agencies; 



9 

 

 
(vii)   any agreements or contracts with insurance companies or other financial institutions,           

which agreements or contracts (a) shall be rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, or (b) are issued and entered into by (i) an insurance company whose 
claim paying ability shall be rated at the date of investment in such agreements or 
contracts in the highest whole rating category by  two nationally recognized rating 
agencies or (ii) an insurance company or other financial institution that has issued and 
outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, and whereby under each such agreement or contract the insurance 
company or other financial institution shall be absolutely and unconditionally obligated 
to repay the moneys invested by JEA and interest thereon, without any right of 
recoupment, counterclaim or set off.   Right of assignment is permitted, if approved by 
JEA; 

 
(viii) direct and general obligations of the State of Florida for the payment of the principal of 

and  interest on which the full faith and credit or said State are pledged, or any bonds or 
other obligations which as to principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the 
State of Florida; 

 
(ix) certificates that evidence ownership of the right to payments of principal and/or interest 

on obligations described in clause (i) and (iii) of this definition, provided that such 
obligations shall be held in trust by a bank or trust company or a national banking 
association authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject to supervision or 
examination by federal, state, territorial or District of Columbia authority and having a 
combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $50,000,000; 

 
(x) certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or non-negotiable, and  banker's acceptances 

issued by any  bank, trust company or national banking association, in each case, having 
a combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $100,000,000, provided 
at the time of their purchase hereunder such instruments are  (a) rated not lower than the 
second highest rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies, (b) issued 
by a bank, trust company or national banking association (1) which bank, trust company 
or national banking association’s deposit obligations have been issued the highest 
possible rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings by a numerical 
modifier or otherwise) by (x) Moody’s Investors Service or (y) two nationally recognized 
rating agencies or (2) which bank, trust company or national  banking association has 
issued and outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated not lower than the second 
highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies; provided 
that, if after the purchase of any such certificates of deposit, the ratings thereon or with 
respect to the issuer thereof, as the case may be, shall fall below the requirement set forth 
in clause (a) or (b) hereof, JEA shall sell such certificates of deposit, or (c) fully insured 
by the FDIC or secured, to the extent not insured by the FDIC, by such securities as 
described in clause (i) of this definition which securities shall at all times have a market 
value at least equal to the principal amount of such certificates of deposit or banker’s 
acceptances; 

 
(xi) commercial paper that, at the date of investment, is rated “P-1” by Moody's Investors 

Service and “A-1” by Standard & Poor's Rating Group or their respective successors or if 
not so rated by both such rating agencies, then rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service 
or “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group or “F-1” by Fitch Investors Service and 
rated with the highest possible rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of 



10 

 

ratings with a numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) by one other nationally 
recognized rating agency; 

 
(xii) any repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the laws of 

any state of the United States of America or any national banking association or 
government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by 
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which agreement relates to the sale and 
repurchase of any of the securities described in clauses (i) and (iii) above and  which, in 
the judgement of JEA, conforms as to terms and conditions with the then prevailing 
prudent standards in the financial markets; 

 
(xiii) shares of an investment company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended, including money market mutual funds, which invests its assets exclusively 
in obligations of the type described in the other clauses of this definition which shares 
shall be rated AAA if rated by Standard & Poor’s Rating Group and or Aaa if rated by 
Moody’s Investors Service; and 

 
(xiv)  the State of Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or any 

intergovernmental investment pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal 
Cooperation Act of 1969, as provided in s. 163.01.  

 
 



11 

 

 EXHIBIT II 
SJRPP AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS – FIRST BOND RESOLUTION 

 
"Authorized Investments" shall mean and include any of the following securities, if and to the 
extent the same are at the time legal for investment of JEA's funds: 
 
(i) direct obligations of or obligations guaranteed by the United States of America; 
 
(ii) obligations issued by any of the following agencies or their successors:  Banks for 

Cooperatives; Federal Intermediate Credit Banks; Federal Home Loan Banks; Federal 
Land Banks; Export-Import Bank of the United States; Tennessee Valley Authority; 
Government National Mortgage Association; Federal Farm Credit Banks; Farmers Home 
Administration; Federal National Mortgage Association; a Federal agency to the extent 
that such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of 
America (other than as provided in clause (i) hereof); 

 
(iii) public housing bonds issued by public housing authorities and fully secured as to the 

payment of both principal and interest by a pledge or annual contribution under an annual 
contributions contract or contracts with the United States of America; or project notes 
issued by public agencies or municipalities, in each case, fully secured as to the payment 
of both principal and interest by a requisition or payment agreement with the United 
States of America; 

 
(iv) direct and general obligations of or obligations guaranteed by the State of Florida, to the 

payment of the principal of and interest on which the full faith and credit of the State is 
pledged; 

 
(v) deposits in interest bearing time deposits or certificates of deposit fully secured by 

obligations described in clause (i) through (iv) hereof to the extent not insured by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance 
Corporation; 

 
(vi) debt obligations having a maximum maturity of one year of any corporation or bank 

which are rated by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and Standard & Poor's Corporation or 
their successors in the highest rating category used by one such rating agency and in one 
of the two highest rating categories used by the other rating agency for comparable types 
of debt obligations; and 

 
(vii) investment agreements with any government bond dealer reporting to the Federal 

Reserve Bank of New York, or any Member bank of the Federal Reserve System having 
capital stock, surplus and undivided earnings aggregating at least $25,000,000 which 
agreements are secured by obligations described in sub-paragraphs (i) through (vi) of this 
paragraph having a market value of at least 103 percent of the amount of such agreement. 

 
 
 
 



12 

 

EXHIBIT III 
SJRPP AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS – SECOND BOND RESOLUTION 

 
 

“Authorized Investments” shall mean and include each of the following securities, obligations 

and investments if and to the extent that at the time the same shall be legal for investment of 

JEA’s funds: 

 

(i) any bonds or other obligations which constitute direct obligations of, or as to principal 

and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including 

obligations of any of the federal agencies set forth in clause (ii) below to the extent 

unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America; 

 

(ii)  bonds, debentures, or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by any 

agency or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of 

Congress as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America which at the 

time of their purchase hereunder are rated “AAA” by Standard & Poor’s and “Aaa” by 

Moody’s Investors Service, if rated by both rating agencies, and, if rated by one such 

rating agency, shall have a rating of “AAA” or “Aaa” by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s 

Investors Service, as the case may be; 

 

(iii)  obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision 

thereof or any agency or instrumentality of any state or political subdivision, provided 

that at the time of their purchase hereunder such obligations are rated in either of the two 

highest whole rating categories by two nationally recognized rating agencies; 

 

(iv)  direct and general obligations of the State of Florida for the payment of the principal of 

and interest on which the full faith and credit of said State is pledged, or any bonds or 

other obligations which as to principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the 

State of Florida; 

 

(v)  certificates that evidence ownership of the right to payments of principal and/or interest 

on obligations described in clauses (i) and (ii) of this definition, provided that such 

obligations shall be held in trust by a bank or trust company or a national banking 

association authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject to supervision or 

examination of federal, state, territorial or District of Columbia authority and having a 

combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $50,000,000; 

 

(vi)  certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or non-negotiable, and banker’s acceptances 

issued by any bank, trust company or national banking association, in each case, having a 

combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $100,000,000; provided, 

that at the time of their purchase hereunder such instruments are (a) rated not lower than 

the second highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies, 

(b) issued by a bank, trust company or nationally recognized association (1) which bank, 

trust company or national banking association’s deposit obligations have been issued the 

highest possible rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings by a 

numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) by (X) Moody’s Investors Service or 



13 

 

Standard & Poor’s or (Y) two nationally recognized rating agencies or (2) which bank, 

trust company or national banking association has issued and outstanding senior 

unsecured indebtedness rated not lower than the second highest whole rating category by 

two nationally recognized rating agencies; provided that, if after the purchase of any such 

certificates of deposit, the ratings thereon or with respect to the issuer thereof, as the case 

may be, shall fall below the requirements set forth in clause (a) or (b) hereof, JEA shall 

sell such certificates of deposit, or (c) fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation or secured, to the extent not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation, by such securities as are described in clause (i) of this definition which 

securities shall at all times have a market value at least equal to the principal amount of 

such certificates of deposit or banker’s acceptances; 

 

(vii)  commercial paper that, at the date of investment, is rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors 

Service and “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s, or if not so rated by both such rating agencies, 

then rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service or “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s or “F-1” 

by Fitch Ratings and rated with the highest possible rating (giving effect to any 

refinement or graduation of ratings with a numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) 

by one other nationally recognized rating agency; 

 

(viii) any repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the laws of 

any state of the United States of America or any national banking association or 

government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by 

the Federal Reserve bank of New York, which agreement relates to the sale and 

repurchase of any one or more of the securities described in clauses (i) and (ii) above and 

which, in the judgment of JEA, conforms as to terms and conditions with then prevailing 

prudent standards in the financial markets; 

 

(ix)  shares of an investment company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended (or successor provision of law), which invests in assets exclusively in 

obligations of the type described in the other clauses of this definition which shares shall 

be rated “AA” or above if rated by Standard & Poor’s and “Aa2” or above if rated by 

Moody’s Investors Service; 

 

(x)  interests in the State of Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or other 

similar common trust fund for which such state, or a constitutional or statutory officer or 

agency thereof, shall be the custodian; and 

 

(xi)  any agreements or contracts with insurance companies or other financial institutions, 

which agreements or contracts (a) shall be rated at the date of investment of such 

agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 

rating agencies, or (b) are issued or entered into by (i) an insurance company whose 

claims paying ability shall be rated at the date of investment in such agreements or 

contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating 

agencies or (ii) an insurance company or other financial institution that has issued and 

outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated at the date of investment in such 

agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 



14 

 

rating agencies, and whereby under each such agreement or contract the insurance 

company or other financial institution shall be absolutely and unconditionally obligated 

to repay the moneys invested by JEA and interest thereon, without any right of 

recoupment, counterclaim or set off. 

  



15 

 

 

 
 

EXHIBIT IV 
RESTATED AND AMENDED BULK POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM  

AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 
 

 

 
"Authorized Investments" shall mean and include each of the following securities, obligations 
and investments if and to the extent that at the time the same shall be legal for investment of 
JEA's funds: 
 
(i) any bonds or other obligations which constitute direct obligations of, or as to principal 

and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including 

obligations of any of the federal agencies set forth in clause (ii) below to the extent 

unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America; 

(ii) bonds, debentures, or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by any 

agency or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of 

Congress as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America which at the 

time of their purchase hereunder are rated “AAA” by Standard & Poor’s and “Aaa” by 

Moody’s Investors Service, if rated by both rating agencies, and, if rated by one such 

rating agency, shall have a rating of “AAA” or “Aaa” by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s 

Investors Service, as the case may be; 

(iii) obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision 

thereof or any agency or instrumentality of any state or political subdivision, provided 

that at the time of their purchase hereunder such obligations are rated in either of the two 

highest whole rating categories by two nationally recognized rating agencies; 

(iv) direct and general obligations of the State of Florida for the payment of the principal of 

and interest on which the full faith and credit of said State is pledged, or any bonds or 

other obligations which as to principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the 

State of Florida; 

(v) certificates that evidence ownership of the right to payments of principal and/or interest 

on obligations described in clauses (i) and (ii) of this definition, provided that such 

obligations shall be held in trust by a bank or trust company or a national banking 

association authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject to supervision or 

examination of federal, state, territorial or District of Columbia authority and having a 

combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $50,000,000; 

(vi) certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or non-negotiable, and banker’s acceptances 

issued by any bank, trust company or national banking association, in each case, having a 

combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $100,000,000; provided, 

that at the time of their purchase hereunder such instruments are (a) rated not lower than 

the second highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies, 



16 

 

(b) issued by a bank, trust company or nationally recognized association (1) which bank, 

trust company or national banking association’s deposit obligations have been issued the 

highest possible rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings by a 

numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) by (X) Moody’s Investors Service or 

Standard & Poor’s or (Y) two nationally recognized rating agencies or (2) which bank, 

trust company or national banking association has issued and outstanding senior 

unsecured indebtedness rated not lower than the second highest whole rating category by 

two nationally recognized rating agencies; provided that, if after the purchase of any such 

certificates of deposit, the ratings thereon or with respect to the issuer thereof, as the case 

may be, shall fall below the requirements set forth in clause (a) or (b) hereof, JEA shall 

sell such certificates of deposit, or (c) fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation or secured, to the extent not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation, by such securities as are described in clause (i) of this definition which 

securities shall at all times have a market value at least equal to the principal amount of 

such certificates of deposit or banker’s acceptances; 

(vii) commercial paper that, at the date of investment, is rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors 

Service and “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s, or if not so rated by both such rating agencies, 

then rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service or “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s or “F-1” 

by Fitch Ratings and rated with the highest possible rating (giving effect to any 

refinement or graduation of ratings with a numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) 

by one other nationally recognized rating agency; 

(viii) any repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the laws of 

any state of the United States of America or any national banking association or 

government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by 

the Federal Reserve bank of New York, which agreement relates to the sale and 

repurchase of any one or more of the securities described in clauses (i) and (ii) above and 

which, in the judgment of JEA, conforms as to terms and conditions with then prevailing 

prudent standards in the financial markets; 

(ix) shares of an investment company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended (or successor provision of law), which invests in assets exclusively in 

obligations of the type described in the other clauses of this definition which shares shall 

be rated “AA” or above if rated by Standard & Poor’s and “Aa” or above if rated by 

Moody’s Investors Service; 

(x) interests in the State of Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or other 

similar common trust fund for which such state, or a constitutional or statutory officer or 

agency thereof, shall be the custodian; and 

(xi) any agreements or contracts with insurance companies or other financial institutions, 

which agreements or contracts (a) shall be rated at the date of investment of such 

agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 

rating agencies, or (b) are issued or entered into by (i) an insurance company whose 

claims paying ability shall be rated at the date of investment in such agreements or 

contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating 



17 

 

agencies or (ii) an insurance company or other financial institution that has issued and 

outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated at the date of investment in such 

agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 

rating agencies, and whereby under each such agreement or contract the insurance 

company or other financial institution shall be absolutely and unconditionally obligated 

to repay the moneys invested by JEA and interest thereon, without any right of 

recoupment, counterclaim or set off.  Any such agreement or contract may provide that, 

with the approval of JEA, the insurance company or other financial institution may have 

the right to assign its obligations under any such agreement or contract to any other 

insurance company or other financial institution. 

 
  
 

  



18 

 

 
 

EXHIBIT V 
JEA WATER AND SEWER AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 

 
"Authorized Investments" shall mean and include any of the following securities, if and to the 
extent the same are at the time legal for investment of JEA's funds: 
 
(i) any bonds or other obligations which constitute direct obligations of, or as to principal 

and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including 
obligations of any of the Federal agencies set forth in clause (iii) below to the extent 
unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America; 

 
(ii) any bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any 

agency, instrumentality or local governmental unit of any such state (a) which are not 
callable prior to maturity, or which have been duly called for redemption by the obligor 
on a date or dates specified and as to which irrevocable instructions have been given to a 
trustee in respect of such bonds or other obligations by the obligor to give due notice of 
such redemption on such date or dates, which date or dates shall be also specified in such 
instructions, (b) which are secured as to principal and interest and redemption premium, 
if any, by a fund consisting only of cash or bonds or other obligations of the character 
described in clause (i) above which fund may be applied only to the payment of such 
principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other 
obligations on the maturity date or dates thereof or the redemption date or dates specified 
in the irrevocable instructions referred to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as 
appropriate,  (c) as to which the principal of and interest on the bonds and obligations of 
the character described in clause (i) above on deposit in such fund along with any cash on 
deposit in such fund are sufficient to pay principal of and interest and redemption 
premium, if any, on the bonds or other obligations described in this clause (ii) on the 
maturity date or dates thereof or on the redemption date or dates specified in the 
irrevocable instructions referred  to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as appropriate and 
(d) which at the time of their purchase hereunder are rated AAA by Standard & Poors 
Ratings Group and if rated by Moody’s Investors Service, are rated Aaa by such agency; 

 
(iii) bonds, debentures, or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by an agency 

or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of Congress 
as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America which at the time of their 
purchase hereunder are rated AAA and Aaa by Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s 
Investors Service, respectively, or if only rated by one, then shall have a rating of AAA 
or Aaa, as the case may be; 

 
(iv) New Housing Authority Bonds issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully 

secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual 
contributions under an annual contributions contract or contracts with the United States 
of America, or project notes issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully secured 
as to the payment of both principal and interest by a requisition or payment agreement 
with the United States of America; 

 
(v) obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision 

thereof or an agency or instrumentality of any state or political subdivision, provided at 
the time of their purchase hereunder such obligations are rated in either of the two highest 
rating categories by  two nationally recognized rating agencies; 



19 

 

 
(vi)   any agreements or contracts with insurance companies or other financial institutions,           

which agreements or contracts (a) shall be rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, or (b) are issued and entered into by (i) an insurance company whose 
claim paying ability shall be rated at the date of investment in such agreements or 
contracts in the highest whole rating category by  two nationally recognized rating 
agencies or (ii) an insurance company or other financial institution that has issued and 
outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, and whereby under each such agreement or contract the insurance 
company or other financial institution shall be absolutely and unconditionally obligated 
to repay the moneys invested by JEA and interest thereon, without any right of 
recoupment, counterclaim or set off.   Right of assignment is permitted, if approved by 
JEA 

 
(vii) direct and general obligations of the State of Florida for the payment of the principal of 

and   interest on which the full faith and credit of said State are pledged, or any bonds or 
other obligations which as to principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the 
State of Florida; 

 

 
(viii) certificates that evidence ownership of the right to payments of principal and/or interest 

on obligations described in clause (i) and (iii) of this definition, provided that such 
obligations shall be held in trust by a bank or trust company or a national banking 
association authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject to supervision or 
examination by federal, state, territorial or District of Columbia authority and having a 
combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $50,000,000; 

 
(ix) certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or non-negotiable, and  banker's acceptances 

issued by any  bank, trust company or national banking association, in each case, having 
a combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $100,000,000, provide 
at the time of their purchase hereunder such instruments are  (a) rated not lower than the 
second highest rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies, (b) issued 
by a bank, trust company or national banking association (1) which bank, trust company 
or national banking association’s deposit obligations have been issued the highest 
possible rating(giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings by a numerical 
modifier or otherwise) by (x) Moody’s Investors Service or (y) two nationally recognized 
rating agencies or (2) which bank, trust company or national  banking association has 
issued and outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated not lower than the second 
highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies; provided 
that, if after the purchase of any such certificates of deposit, the ratings thereon or with 
respect to the issuer thereof, as the case may be, shall fall below the requirement set forth 
in clause (a) or (b) hereof, JEA shall sell such certificates of deposit, or (c) fully insured 
by the FDIC or secured, to the extent not insured by the FDIC, by such securities as 
described in clause (i) of this definition which securities shall at all times have a market 
value at least equal to the principal amount of such certificates of deposit or banker’s 
acceptances; 
  



20 

 

(x) commercial paper that, at the date of investment, is rated “P-1” by Moody's Investors 
Service and “A-1” by Standard & Poor's Rating Group or their respective successors or if 
not so rated by both such rating agencies, then rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service 
or “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group or “F-1” by Fitch Investors Service and 
rated with the highest possible rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of 
ratings with a numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) by one other nationally 
recognized rating agency; 

 
(xi) any repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the laws of 

any state of the United States of America or any national banking association or 
government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by 
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which agreement relates to the sale and 
repurchase of any of the securities described in clauses (i) and (iii) above and  which, in 
the judgement of JEA, conforms as to terms and conditions with the then prevailing 
prudent standards in the financial markets; 

 
(xii) shares of an investment company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended, which invests its assets exclusively in obligations of the type described in 
the other clauses of this definition which shares shall be rated AA or above if rated by 
Standard & Poor’s Rating Group and Aa2 or above if rated by Moody’s Investors 
Service; and 

 
(xiii) interests in the State of Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or other 

similar common trust fund for which such state, or a constitutional or statutory officer or 
agency thereof, shall be the custodian. 



21 

 

EXHIBIT VI 
JEA DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 

 
"Authorized Investments" shall mean and include any of the following securities, if and to the 
extent the same are at the time legal for investment of JEA's funds: 
 
(i) any bonds or other obligations which constitute direct obligations of, or as to principal 

and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including 
obligations of any of the Federal agencies set forth in clause (iii) below to the extent 
unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America; 

 
(ii) any bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any 

agency, instrumentality or local governmental unit of any such state (a) which are not 
callable prior to maturity, or which have been duly called for redemption by the obligor 
on a date or dates specified and as to which irrevocable instructions have been given to a 
trustee in respect of such bonds or other obligations by the obligor to give due notice of 
such redemption on such date or dates, which date or dates shall be also specified in such 
instructions, (b) which are secured as to principal and interest and redemption premium, 
if any, by a fund consisting only of cash or bonds or other obligations of the character 
described in clause (i) above which fund may be applied only to the payment of such 
principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other 
obligations on the maturity date or dates thereof or the redemption date or dates specified 
in the irrevocable instructions referred to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as 
appropriate,  (c) as to which the principal of and interest on the bonds and obligations of 
the character described in clause (i) above on deposit in such fund along with any cash on 
deposit in such fund are sufficient to pay principal of and interest and redemption 
premium, if any, on the bonds or other obligations described in this clause (ii) on the 
maturity date or dates thereof or on the redemption date or dates specified in the 
irrevocable instructions referred  to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as appropriate and 
(d) which at the time of their purchase hereunder are rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s 
Ratings Group and if rated by Moody’s Investors Service, are rated Aaa by such agency; 

 
(iii) bonds, debentures, or other evidences of long-term indebtedness issued or guaranteed by 

an agency or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act 
of Congress as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America;  

 
(iv) discount notes or other short-term debt issued or guaranteed by an agency or corporation 

which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of Congress as an agency 
or instrumentality of the United States of America which at the time of their purchase are 
rated in the highest rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies; 

 
(v) New Housing Authority Bonds issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully 

secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual 
contributions under an annual contributions contract or contracts with the United States 
of America, or project notes issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully secured 
as to the payment of both principal and interest by a requisition or payment agreement 
with the United States of America; 

 
(vi) obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision 

thereof or an agency or instrumentality of any state or political subdivision, provided at 
the time of their purchase hereunder such obligations are rated in either of the two highest 
rating categories by  two nationally recognized rating agencies; 

 



22 

 

(vii)   any agreements or contracts with insurance companies or other financial institutions,           
which agreements or contracts (a) shall be rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, or (b) are issued and entered into by (i) an insurance company whose 
claim paying ability shall be rated at the date of investment in such agreements or 
contracts in the highest whole rating category by  two nationally recognized rating 
agencies or (ii) an insurance company or other financial institution that has issued and 
outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, and whereby under each such agreement or contract the insurance 
company or other financial institution shall be absolutely and unconditionally obligated 
to repay the moneys invested by JEA and interest thereon, without any right of 
recoupment, counterclaim or set off.   Right of assignment is permitted, if approved by 
JEA; 

 
(viii) direct and general obligations of the State of Florida for the payment of the principal of 

and   interest on which the full faith and credit of said State are pledged, or any bonds or 
other obligations which as to principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the 
State of Florida; 

 
(ix) certificates that evidence ownership of the right to payments of principal and/or interest 

on obligations described in clause (i) and (iii) of this definition, provided that such 
obligations shall be held in trust by a bank or trust company or a national banking 
association authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject to supervision or 
examination by federal, state, territorial or District of Columbia authority and having a 
combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $50,000,000; 

 
(x) certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or non-negotiable, and  banker's acceptances 

issued by any  bank, trust company or national banking association, in each case, having 
a combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $100,000,000, provide 
at the time of their purchase hereunder such instruments are  (a) rated not lower than the 
second highest rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies, (b) issued 
by a bank, trust company or national banking association (1) which bank, trust company 
or national banking association’s deposit obligations have been issued the highest 
possible rating(giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings by a numerical 
modifier or otherwise) by (x) Moody’s Investors Service or (y) two nationally recognized 
rating agencies or (2) which bank, trust company or national  banking association has 
issued and outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated not lower than the second 
highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies; provided 
that, if after the purchase of any such certificates of deposit, the ratings thereon or with 
respect to the issuer thereof, as the case may be, shall fall below the requirement set forth 
in clause (a) or (b) hereof, JEA shall sell such certificates of deposit, or (c) fully insured 
by the FDIC or secured, to the extent not insured by the FDIC, by such securities as 
described in clause (i) of this definition which securities shall at all times have a market 
value at least equal to the principal amount of such certificates of deposit or banker’s 
acceptances; 
  



23 

 

(xi) commercial paper that, at the date of investment, is rated “P-1” by Moody's Investors 
Service and “A-1” by Standard & Poor's or their respective successors or if not so rated 
by both such rating agencies, then rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service or “A-1” by 
Standard & Poor’s or “F-1” by Fitch Investors Service and rated with the highest possible 
rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings with a numerical or 
symbolic modifier or otherwise) by one other nationally recognized rating agency; 

 
(xii) any repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the laws of 

any state of the United States of America or any national banking association or 
government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by 
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which agreement relates to the sale and 
repurchase of any of the securities described in clauses (i) and (iii) above and  which, in 
the judgement of JEA, conforms as to terms and conditions with the then prevailing 
prudent standards in the financial markets; 

 
(xiii) shares of an investment company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended, including money market mutual funds, which invests its assets exclusively 
in obligations of the type described in the other clauses of this definition which shares 
shall be rated AAA  if rated by Standard & Poor’s and Aaa if rated by Moody’s Investors 
Service; and 

 
(xiv)  the State of Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or any 

intergovernmental investment pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal 
Cooperation Act of 1969, as provided in s. 163.01. 

 
 

 



24 

 

Table 1 – JEA Investment Limitations  

 

Option 
Allowable Range (% of total 

investments and/or $ amount) 
Comments 

Bank NOW Account 

Up to 25%, except for 3/31 

and 9/30 at which time the 

limit is 30% 

Federal or state insured 

financial institutions 

designated as Qualified Public 

Depositories by the State of 

Florida 

Triparty Repo 
Up to 15% with any one 

dealer; up to 25% in aggregate 

102% collateral for Elec., 

Water, SJRPP 2
nd

 Resolution; 

103% for SJRPP 1
st
 

Resolution. Collateral can 

include Treasuries and/or 

Agencies and is held by a 3
rd

 

party custodian. Dealers rated 

AA by two rating agencies. 

U.S. Treasuries or Treasury-

only Money Market Funds 
Up to 100% 

Fund must be rated AAA or 

Aaa and registered with SEC. 

U.S. Agencies (Fannie Mae, 

Federal Home Loan Bank, 

Freddie Mac, etc.) 

Less than 35% in any one 

issuer and up to 75% in 

aggregate, including repo 

collateral 

Electric/DES: No ratings 

requirement for long-term 

debt; A-1/P-1 or better for 

short-term debt; 

SJRPP 1
st
 Resolution: no 

ratings requirements; 

Other Systems: AAA rated  

All Systems: Not backed by 

mortgage loans. 

Commercial Paper 

Up to 25% of portfolio; 

maximum of $12.5 million in 

any one issuer 

Must be in Fortune 500/Global 

500, or governments of 

Canada or Canadian provinces 

(U.S. dollar-denominated); 

rated at least A-1/P-1 with 

stable or positive outlook 

Municipal Bonds 
Up to 30% non-JEA debt; 

50% including JEA debt 

Non-JEA debt must be rated 

AA by two rating agencies for 

Elec., Water, and 2
nd

 Power 

Park Resolution; Fla. GOs for 

original Power Park 

Resolution 

Government Agency Money 

Market Mutual Funds 

Up to 10% in any one fund; up 

to 25% in aggregate 

AAA or Aaa rating required. 

Registered with SEC. 

   

Intergovernmental Investment 

Pool 
Up to 5% Authorized by Florida statutes 

 



JEA 

TREASURY SERVICES 

INVESTMENT POLICY 

AS OF  DECEMBER 20AUGUST 16,  2011 2016 

 

 

1.0 SCOPE 
 

 The statement of investment policy and guidelines applies to funds under control of JEA 

in excess of those required to meet short-term expenses. 

 

 This investment policy applies to financial assets including funds related to the issuance 

of debt by JEA, including the Electric System, the Water and Sewer System, St. Johns 

River Power Park (SJRPP), the Bulk Power Supply System, the District Energy System 

(DES), and any other entity created and approved by JEA’s Board.  Furthermore, this 

investment policy applies to customer deposit monies held by JEA.  This policy shall not 

apply to investments of the SJRPP Employees’ Retirement Plan or investments of the 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Trust, which are covered by separate 

investment policies or authorizing resolutions. 

 

2.0 INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES 
 

 JEA’s investment portfolio shall be managed with the primary objective of safety of 

capital.  The investment strategy will provide sufficient liquidity to meet anticipated cash 

flow requirements. 

 

 JEA will strive to obtain the highest possible yields consistent with safety of capital, 

liquidity of the portfolio and prudent investment principles. 

 

 Investments are made with the intention of holding the securities to maturity.  However, 

investments may be sold from time to time to meet cash flow requirements, for the 

purpose of restructuring the average duration of the portfolio and taking advantage of 

market opportunities to record capital gains. 

 

3.0 PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 
 

 JEA seeks to optimize the return on investment within the constraints of safety and 

liquidity.  The investment portfolio shall be designed to attain a market yield consistent 

with the investment risk, maturity and liquidity constraints as discussed in this policy. A 

benchmark index will be used to evaluate the performance of the portfolio and the index 

will be periodically reviewed by the Chief Financial Officer to determine its 

appropriateness and to recommend changes as needed. 

  



4.0 PRUDENCE AND ETHICAL STANDARDS 
 

 The standard of prudence to be applied by JEA shall be the “Prudent Person” rule, which 

states:  “Investments shall be made with judgment and care under circumstances then 

prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the 

management of their own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering the 

probable safety of their capital as well as the probable income  to be derived from the 

investment.”  The “Prudent Person” rule shall be applied in the context of managing the 

overall portfolio. 

 

 Employees of JEA involved in the investment process shall not transact personal business 

activity that could or could appear to conflict with State Statutes, City Ordinances, JEA 

Management Directives, proper execution of the investment program or which could 

impair their ability to make impartial investment decisions. 

 

5.0 AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 
 

 Refer to Exhibits I through VI for a complete listing of the “Authorized Investments”.  

Exhibit I includes the Authorized Investments for the Electric System and Exhibit VI lists 

the Authorized Investments for DES. The bond resolutions for the Electric System and 

for DES allow any investment that is permitted by Florida law. Further, the Florida 

statutes provide that authorized investments include those that have been authorized by a 

resolution of the entity, e.g. a Board resolution. Thus, the JEA Board can amend the list 

of Authorized Investments for the Electric System and for DES. The Authorized 

Investments for the other JEA systems or entities are specifically listed in their respective 

bond resolutions and thus can only be changed by a change in the resolution. 

 

 Money market funds are specifically included in the list of Authorized Investments for 

the Electric System and DES.  However, the term “money market funds” is not 

specifically noted in the list of Authorized Investments for the SJRPP Second Bond 

Resolution, the Bulk Power Supply System or the Water and Sewer System. The listings 

for those systems include as Authorized Investments the shares of an investment 

company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. Money 

market funds which are organized and registered under the Investment Company Act of 

1940, as amended, fall under this definition and are thus included as eligible investments.  

 

In the case of the SJRPP First Bond Resolution, the list of Investment Securities includes 

investments in direct obligations of or obligations guaranteed by the United States of 

America. Section 660.415 of the  Florida Statutes states that in the absence of an express 

provision to the contrary, when a governing instrument (e.g. a bond resolution) permits 

investments in United States Government obligations, trust companies, trust departments, 

trustees and fiduciaries may invest in shares of an investment company registered under 

the Investment Company Act of 1940 if the portfolio of such investment company is 

limited to United States Government obligations and repurchase agreements fully 

collateralized by United States Government obligations. Thus the funds held by the 

SJRPP Trustee in the Debt Service Account and the Debt Service Reserve Account in the 



Debt Service Fund may be invested in money market mutual funds which invest solely in 

United States Government obligations or repurchase agreements fully collateralized by 

United States Government obligations.  

 

For all JEA systems, only money market funds that are rated AAA by Standard and 

Poor’s or Aaa by Moody’s Investors Service are permitted. 

 

 JEA does not speculate on the future movement of interest rates and is not permitted to 

utilize reverse repurchase agreements or other forms of debt leverage in the management 

of its investment portfolio.  Floating rate notes, inflation-indexed notes, and other 

adjustable rate securities are permitted types of securities. Inverse floaters, however, are 

prohibited. 

 

 JEA is permitted to use interest rate swap agreements for asset/liability management.  For 

its assets, JEA utilizes interest rate swaps in a 100% asset matched strategy with JEA’s 

revolving fund balances.  JEA is also permitted to engage in the practice of securities 

lending, whereby a fee is paid to JEA in exchange for lending securities that are fully 

collateralized by securities listed as “Authorized Investments”.  JEA’s investment 

professionals have developed sufficient understanding of the investment vehicles listed 

above and have the expertise to manage them.    

 

6.0 MATURITY AND LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS 
 

 The investment portfolio shall be structured in such manner as to provide sufficient 

liquidity to pay obligations as they come due.  To the extent possible, investment 

maturities will be matched with known cash needs and anticipated cash flow 

requirements. 

 

 Additionally, maturity limitations for funds related to the issuance of debt are outlined in 

the Bond Resolution relating to those bond issues. 

 

7.0 PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION 
 

 The investment portfolio may be structured to have limits on certain types of securities, 

issuers, and maturities.  Refer to Table 1 for specific limitations.  

 

 Investments in commercial paper, certificates of deposit or bankers acceptances shall 

have the following restrictions:  Nine months maximum maturity, $12,500,000 limit per 

issuer, and limited to 25% of the entire portfolio (including money market and repurchase 

agreements). Exceeding the 25% limit is permitted when including investments for the 

debt service sinking funds and escrows relating to the economic defeasance of debt.  In 

addition, commercial paper must be rated in the highest whole rating category (i.e. A-1 

by Standard and Poor’s, P-1 by Moody’s Investors Service or F1 by Fitch) by at least 2 

nationally recognized rating agencies and be issued by a Fortune 500 company, ora 

Fortune Global 500 company with significant operations in the U.S., (e.g. Nestle,  Royal 

Dutch Shell, etc.) or the governments of Canada or Canadian provinces (in U.S. dollar-



denominated securities). The ratings outlook for the commercial paper must be positive 

or stable at the time of the investment.  

 

8.0 RISK AND DIVERSIFICATION 
 

 Assets held shall be diversified to control the risk of loss resulting from over 

concentration of assets in a specific maturity, issuer, instrument, dealer, or bank through 

which these instruments are bought and sold.  Diversification strategies shall be reviewed 

and revised periodically as necessary by the appropriate management staff.  A diversity 

of treasury and agency issues shall be maintained to avoid a concentration in any one 

issue or maturity.    Refer to Table 1 for detailed investment limitations. Such limitations 

will be periodically reviewed by the Chief Financial Officer to determine their 

appropriateness and to recommend changes as needed. 

 

9.0 AUTHORIZED INVESTMENT INSTITUTIONS AND DEALERS 
 

 JEA shall only execute US Treasury and Agency investment transactions and repurchase 

agreements with primary securities dealers as designated by the Federal Reserve Bank of 

New York and commercial banks within JEA’s geographical service area who are 

member banks of the Federal Reserve System and have capital stock, surplus and 

undivided earnings aggregating at least $25,000,000 and have a rating on short-term bank 

deposits of at least P-1 by Moody’s Investors Service.  Commercial paper transactions, 

CD’s and BA’s can be executed with primary securities dealers and firms considered to 

be “Direct Issuers”.  Municipal securities transactions can be executed with primary 

securities dealers or municipal securities firms having a significant presence in Florida or 

firms owning a specific JEA bond issue and only on a delivery versus payment basis.  

Investment Agreements can be purchased directly from the issuing insurance company or 

financial institution. Money market mutual funds can be purchased from commercial 

banks meeting the requirements discussed above, from primary dealers, through JEA 

Trustees as discussed in Section 5.0, or directly from the money market mutual fund. All 

other investments can only be purchased from primary dealers. 

 

10.0 THIRD-PARTY CUSTODIAL AGREEMENTS 

 

 All securities purchased by, and all collateral obtained by, JEA under this section shall be 

properly designated as an asset of JEA and held in safekeeping by a third party custodial 

bank or other third party custodial institution, except as noted below. 

 

 All securities purchased and sold by JEA under this section shall be executed using the 

“delivery versus payment procedure.”  Collateral requirements for Repurchase 

Agreements and Securities Lending Agreements will be contained in the Master 

Repurchase Agreement/Custodial Undertaking and Securities Lending Agreement, 

respectively, executed between JEA and the broker/dealer or bank. 

 

 The safekeeping institution shall issue a safekeeping receipt to JEA listing the specific 

instrument, par value, rate, maturity and any other pertinent information.  In the case of 



securities purchased or sold, the “confirmation” received from the dealer or safekeeping 

institution should be attached to the internally generated trade ticket.  In the case of 

repurchase agreements, collateral safekeeping receipts should be compared on a daily 

basis to ensure compliance with collateral requirements and investment limitations. 

 

 No withdrawal of securities, in whole or in part, shall be made from safekeeping, except 

by an authorized staff member of JEA. 

 

 An exception to third party custody of assets would be the safekeeping of collateral for 

repurchase agreements entered into between JEA and its primary bank for the purpose of 

conducting day to day cash management functions.  Collateral will be held by that bank 

but not in JEA’s name.  The bank will issue a safekeeping receipt indicating the collateral 

pledged to JEA. 

 

11.0 MASTER REPURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 

 JEA shall require all institutions and dealers transacting repurchase agreements to 

execute and perform as stated in the Master Repurchase Agreement that is signed by both 

parties.  All repurchase agreement transactions shall adhere to the requirements of the 

Master Repurchase Agreement. 

 

 Repurchase Agreements can only be entered into with authorized investment institutions 

and dealers as defined in Section 9.0 of this policy.  In addition, all repurchase 

agreements must adhere to the provisions as defined in Section 5.0 of this policy relating 

to authorized investments and Section 10.0 of this policy regarding third-party custodial 

agreements.  Collateral requirements must adhere to those outlined in the appropriate 

bond resolution.       Tri Party Repurchase Agreements are preferred to “conventional” 

(delivery of collateral versus wire transfer of the amount invested) Repurchase 

Agreements due to significant cost savings derived from safekeeping the collateral at the 

same custodian utilized by the dealer.  Due to the costs associated with transferring 

Repurchase Agreements on a daily basis, the interest rate paid to JEA will be compared 

on a daily basis to the market (using Bloomberg or a similar source) and when 

appropriate, the Repurchase Agreement will be re-executed with a different institution 

based on the rate comparison. 

 

12.0 BID REQUIREMENT 

 

             Staff shall determine the approximate maturity date based on cash flow needs and market 

conditions, analyze and select one or more optimal types of investment, and 

competitively bid the security in question when feasible and appropriate. 

 

 Competitive bids or offerings shall be obtained from at least three dealers on all sales or 

purchases except in situations where: 

 

a. the security involved is a “new issue” and/or can be purchased “at the auction”; 

 



b. the security involved has a fixed, “posted scale” rate; 

 

c. the security involved is available through direct issue, private placement (e.g., 

General Electric Commercial Paper, Chevron  Commercial Paper, , etc.); 

 

d. the security involved is of particular special interest to JEA (e.g. Florida General 

Obligation bonds or other municipal bonds) and dealer competition could have an 

adverse impact with respect to the price and/or availability of the security to JEA; 

 

e. a dealer or institution brings to JEA an unsolicited swap proposal deemed 

advantageous to JEA. 

 

Although direct investments in equity securities are not authorized investments, such 

securities are received by JEA from time to time as payment for customer liabilities in 

lieu of the receipt of cash. Competitive bids are not required on the sale of such securities 

in order that the sale may take place in an expeditious manner. 

 

The requirement for competitive bids does not apply to JEA purchases of JEA bonds in 

the secondary market, or to investments in money market mutual funds, or the State of 

Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (the “State Pool”), or 

intergovernmental investment pools. Money market funds shall be rated AAA by 

Standard and Poor’s or Aaa by Moody’s Investors Service and will be selected on the 

basis of a fund’s yield, ranking versus peers, expenses, portfolio composition, assets 

under management, etc. Investments in money market mutual funds or in the State Pool 

or an intergovernmental pool will be reviewed on a periodic basis for appropriateness.  

 

13.0 INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 

 The Chief Financial Officer and/or the Director of Treasury ServicesTreasurer will 

maintain a system of internal controls, which will be documented in writing and made 

part of operational procedures in Treasury Services.  The internal controls will be 

reviewed by independent auditors as part of any financial audit periodically required of 

JEA. 

 

 The internal controls should be designed to prevent losses of funds which might arise 

from fraud, employee error, misrepresentation by third parties, or imprudent actions by 

employees of JEA. 

 

14.0 REPORTING 
 

 Treasury Services shall generate monthly reports for management purposes.  The reports 

shall include securities in the portfolio by class or type, book value, and yield earned 

during the period.  Market values are reported quarterly in JEA’s financial statements.  

Treasury Services shall provide other such reports and information as deemed reasonable, 

upon request, from other internal and external sources. 

  



 

 
15.0 CONTINUING EDUCATION 
 

JEA staff responsible for making investment decisions must annually complete 8 hours of 

continuing education in subjects of study related to investment practices and products.  

This requirement can be met through a variety of methods including, but not limited to, 

seminars, conferences, college courses, and CPA continuing education. 
 

16.0 AUDITS 
 
Certified public accountants conducting audits of JEA pursuant to section 218.39, Florida 

Statutes, shall report, as part of the audit, whether or not JEA has complied with this 

section 218.415, Florida Statutes. 

 

17.0 SALE OF SECURITIES 

 

When the invested funds are needed in whole or in part for the purposes originally 

intended or for more optimal investments, JEA may sell such investments at the “market” 

and place the proceeds in the proper account or fund. 
 

18.0 AUTHORIZATIONS 
 

 JEA investment accounts may be opened or continued at registered broker/dealers or 

banks. The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (CEO), or his designee, is 

authorized to open such accounts and to 1) purchase and sell authorized investments and 

to 2) sell securities received as payment for customer liabilities in lieu of the receipt of 

cash. A detailed listing of individuals in authorized positions and their specific authorities 

and signatures will be maintained in an “Authorization for the Opening and Continuing 

of Certain Investment Accounts and Signatories Therefor.” 

 

19.0 PRIORITY OF DOCUMENTS 
 
 This JEA Investment Policy shall be the governing document when conflicting or 

otherwise inconsistent with the JEA Purchasing Procurement Code.  
 
20.0 INVESTMENT POLICY APPROVAL 
 

The authority to approve, modify, or amend this Investment Policy rests with the JEA 
Finance and Audit Committee and the JEA Board. The JEA Chief Financial Officer or 
Treasurer may submit recommendations for changes to the Investment Policy as deemed 
necessary. 



    EXHIBIT 1 
JEA ELECTRIC SYSTEM AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 

 
"Authorized Investments" shall mean and include any of the following securities, if and to the 
extent the same are at the time legal for investment of JEA's funds: 
 
(i) any bonds or other obligations which constitute direct obligations of, or as to principal 

and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including 
obligations of any of the Federal agencies set forth in clause (iii) below to the extent 
unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America; 

 
(ii) any bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any 

agency, instrumentality or local governmental unit of any such state (a) which are not 
callable prior to maturity, or which have been duly called for redemption by the obligor 
on a date or dates specified and as to which irrevocable instructions have been given to a 
trustee in respect of such bonds or other obligations by the obligor to give due notice of 
such redemption on such date or dates, which date or dates shall be also specified in such 
instructions, (b) which are secured as to principal and interest and redemption premium, 
if any, by a fund consisting only of cash or bonds or other obligations of the character 
described in clause (i) above which fund may be applied only to the payment of such 
principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other 
obligations on the maturity date or dates thereof or the redemption date or dates specified 
in the irrevocable instructions referred to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as 
appropriate,  (c) as to which the principal of and interest on the bonds and obligations of 
the character described in clause (i) above on deposit in such fund along with any cash on 
deposit in such fund are sufficient to pay principal of and interest and redemption 
premium, if any, on the bonds or other obligations described in this clause (ii) on the 
maturity date or dates thereof or on the redemption date or dates specified in the 
irrevocable instructions referred  to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as appropriate and 
(d) which at the time of their purchase hereunder are rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s  
and if rated by Moody’s Investors Service, are rated Aaa by such agency; 

 
(iii) bonds, debentures, or other evidences of long-term indebtedness issued or guaranteed by 

an agency or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act 
of Congress as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America;  

 
(iv) discount notes or other short-term debt issued or guaranteed by an agency or corporation 

which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of Congress as an agency 
or instrumentality of the United States of America which at the time of their purchase are 
rated in the highest rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies; 

 
(v) New Housing Authority Bonds issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully 

secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual 
contributions under an annual contributions contract or contracts with the United States 
of America, or project notes issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully secured 
as to the payment of both principal and interest by a requisition or payment agreement 
with the United States of America; 

 
(vi) obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision 

thereof or an agency or instrumentality of any state or political subdivision, provided at 
the time of their purchase hereunder such obligations are rated in either of the two highest 
rating categories by two nationally recognized rating agencies; 



 
(vii)   any agreements or contracts with insurance companies or other financial institutions,           

which agreements or contracts (a) shall be rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, or (b) are issued and entered into by (i) an insurance company whose 
claim paying ability shall be rated at the date of investment in such agreements or 
contracts in the highest whole rating category by  two nationally recognized rating 
agencies or (ii) an insurance company or other financial institution that has issued and 
outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, and whereby under each such agreement or contract the insurance 
company or other financial institution shall be absolutely and unconditionally obligated 
to repay the moneys invested by JEA and interest thereon, without any right of 
recoupment, counterclaim or set off.   Right of assignment is permitted, if approved by 
JEA; 

 
(viii) direct and general obligations of the State of Florida for the payment of the principal of 

and  interest on which the full faith and credit or said State are pledged, or any bonds or 
other obligations which as to principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the 
State of Florida; 

 
(ix) certificates that evidence ownership of the right to payments of principal and/or interest 

on obligations described in clause (i) and (iii) of this definition, provided that such 
obligations shall be held in trust by a bank or trust company or a national banking 
association authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject to supervision or 
examination by federal, state, territorial or District of Columbia authority and having a 
combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $50,000,000; 

 
(x) certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or non-negotiable, and  banker's acceptances 

issued by any  bank, trust company or national banking association, in each case, having 
a combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $100,000,000, provided 
at the time of their purchase hereunder such instruments are  (a) rated not lower than the 
second highest rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies, (b) issued 
by a bank, trust company or national banking association (1) which bank, trust company 
or national banking association’s deposit obligations have been issued the highest 
possible rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings by a numerical 
modifier or otherwise) by (x) Moody’s Investors Service or (y) two nationally recognized 
rating agencies or (2) which bank, trust company or national  banking association has 
issued and outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated not lower than the second 
highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies; provided 
that, if after the purchase of any such certificates of deposit, the ratings thereon or with 
respect to the issuer thereof, as the case may be, shall fall below the requirement set forth 
in clause (a) or (b) hereof, JEA shall sell such certificates of deposit, or (c) fully insured 
by the FDIC or secured, to the extent not insured by the FDIC, by such securities as 
described in clause (i) of this definition which securities shall at all times have a market 
value at least equal to the principal amount of such certificates of deposit or banker’s 
acceptances; 

 
(xi) commercial paper that, at the date of investment, is rated “P-1” by Moody's Investors 

Service and “A-1” by Standard & Poor's Rating Group or their respective successors or if 
not so rated by both such rating agencies, then rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service 
or “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group or “F-1” by Fitch Investors Service and 
rated with the highest possible rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of 



ratings with a numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) by one other nationally 
recognized rating agency; 

 
(xii) any repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the laws of 

any state of the United States of America or any national banking association or 
government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by 
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which agreement relates to the sale and 
repurchase of any of the securities described in clauses (i) and (iii) above and  which, in 
the judgement of JEA, conforms as to terms and conditions with the then prevailing 
prudent standards in the financial markets; 

 
(xiii) shares of an investment company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended, including money market mutual funds, which invests its assets exclusively 
in obligations of the type described in the other clauses of this definition which shares 
shall be rated AAA if rated by Standard & Poor’s Rating Group and or Aaa if rated by 
Moody’s Investors Service; and 

 
(xiv) interests in the State of Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or any 

intergovernmental investment pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal 
Cooperation Act of 1969, as provided in s. 163.01.other similar common trust fund for 
which such state, or a constitutional or statutory officer or agency thereof, shall be the 
custodian.  

 
 



 EXHIBIT II 
SJRPP AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS – FIRST BOND RESOLUTION 

 
"Authorized Investments" shall mean and include any of the following securities, if and to the 
extent the same are at the time legal for investment of JEA's funds: 
 
(i) direct obligations of or obligations guaranteed by the United States of America; 
 
(ii) obligations issued by any of the following agencies or their successors:  Banks for 

Cooperatives; Federal Intermediate Credit Banks; Federal Home Loan Banks; Federal 
Land Banks; Export-Import Bank of the United States; Tennessee Valley Authority; 
Government National Mortgage Association; Federal Farm Credit Banks; Farmers Home 
Administration; Federal National Mortgage Association; a Federal agency to the extent 
that such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of 
America (other than as provided in clause (i) hereof); 

 
(iii) public housing bonds issued by public housing authorities and fully secured as to the 

payment of both principal and interest by a pledge or annual contribution under an annual 
contributions contract or contracts with the United States of America; or project notes 
issued by public agencies or municipalities, in each case, fully secured as to the payment 
of both principal and interest by a requisition or payment agreement with the United 
States of America; 

 
(iv) direct and general obligations of or obligations guaranteed by the State of Florida, to the 

payment of the principal of and interest on which the full faith and credit of the State is 
pledged; 

 
(v) deposits in interest bearing time deposits or certificates of deposit fully secured by 

obligations described in clause (i) through (iv) hereof to the extent not insured by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance 
Corporation; 

 
(vi) debt obligations having a maximum maturity of one year of any corporation or bank 

which are rated by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and Standard & Poor's Corporation or 
their successors in the highest rating category used by one such rating agency and in one 
of the two highest rating categories used by the other rating agency for comparable types 
of debt obligations; and 

 
(vii) investment agreements with any government bond dealer reporting to the Federal 

Reserve Bank of New York, or any Member bank of the Federal Reserve System having 
capital stock, surplus and undivided earnings aggregating at least $25,000,000 which 
agreements are secured by obligations described in sub-paragraphs (i) through (vi) of this 
paragraph having a market value of at least 103 percent of the amount of such agreement. 

 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT III 
SJRPP AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS – SECOND BOND RESOLUTION 

 
 

“Authorized Investments” shall mean and include each of the following securities, obligations 

and investments if and to the extent that at the time the same shall be legal for investment of 

JEA’s funds: 

 

(i) any bonds or other obligations which constitute direct obligations of, or as to principal 

and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including 

obligations of any of the federal agencies set forth in clause (ii) below to the extent 

unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America; 

 

(ii)  bonds, debentures, or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by any 

agency or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of 

Congress as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America which at the 

time of their purchase hereunder are rated “AAA” by Standard & Poor’s and “Aaa” by 

Moody’s Investors Service, if rated by both rating agencies, and, if rated by one such 

rating agency, shall have a rating of “AAA” or “Aaa” by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s 

Investors Service, as the case may be; 

 

(iii)  obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision 

thereof or any agency or instrumentality of any state or political subdivision, provided 

that at the time of their purchase hereunder such obligations are rated in either of the two 

highest whole rating categories by two nationally recognized rating agencies; 

 

(iv)  direct and general obligations of the State of Florida for the payment of the principal of 

and interest on which the full faith and credit of said State is pledged, or any bonds or 

other obligations which as to principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the 

State of Florida; 

 

(v)  certificates that evidence ownership of the right to payments of principal and/or interest 

on obligations described in clauses (i) and (ii) of this definition, provided that such 

obligations shall be held in trust by a bank or trust company or a national banking 

association authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject to supervision or 

examination of federal, state, territorial or District of Columbia authority and having a 

combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $50,000,000; 

 

(vi)  certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or non-negotiable, and banker’s acceptances 

issued by any bank, trust company or national banking association, in each case, having a 

combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $100,000,000; provided, 

that at the time of their purchase hereunder such instruments are (a) rated not lower than 

the second highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies, 

(b) issued by a bank, trust company or nationally recognized association (1) which bank, 

trust company or national banking association’s deposit obligations have been issued the 

highest possible rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings by a 

numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) by (X) Moody’s Investors Service or 



Standard & Poor’s or (Y) two nationally recognized rating agencies or (2) which bank, 

trust company or national banking association has issued and outstanding senior 

unsecured indebtedness rated not lower than the second highest whole rating category by 

two nationally recognized rating agencies; provided that, if after the purchase of any such 

certificates of deposit, the ratings thereon or with respect to the issuer thereof, as the case 

may be, shall fall below the requirements set forth in clause (a) or (b) hereof, JEA shall 

sell such certificates of deposit, or (c) fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation or secured, to the extent not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation, by such securities as are described in clause (i) of this definition which 

securities shall at all times have a market value at least equal to the principal amount of 

such certificates of deposit or banker’s acceptances; 

 

(vii)  commercial paper that, at the date of investment, is rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors 

Service and “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s, or if not so rated by both such rating agencies, 

then rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service or “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s or “F-1” 

by Fitch Ratings and rated with the highest possible rating (giving effect to any 

refinement or graduation of ratings with a numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) 

by one other nationally recognized rating agency; 

 

(viii) any repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the laws of 

any state of the United States of America or any national banking association or 

government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by 

the Federal Reserve bank of New York, which agreement relates to the sale and 

repurchase of any one or more of the securities described in clauses (i) and (ii) above and 

which, in the judgment of JEA, conforms as to terms and conditions with then prevailing 

prudent standards in the financial markets; 

 

(ix)  shares of an investment company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended (or successor provision of law), which invests in assets exclusively in 

obligations of the type described in the other clauses of this definition which shares shall 

be rated “AA” or above if rated by Standard & Poor’s and “Aa2” or above if rated by 

Moody’s Investors Service; 

 

(x)  interests in the State of Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or other 

similar common trust fund for which such state, or a constitutional or statutory officer or 

agency thereof, shall be the custodian; and 

 

(xi)  any agreements or contracts with insurance companies or other financial institutions, 

which agreements or contracts (a) shall be rated at the date of investment of such 

agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 

rating agencies, or (b) are issued or entered into by (i) an insurance company whose 

claims paying ability shall be rated at the date of investment in such agreements or 

contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating 

agencies or (ii) an insurance company or other financial institution that has issued and 

outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated at the date of investment in such 

agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 



rating agencies, and whereby under each such agreement or contract the insurance 

company or other financial institution shall be absolutely and unconditionally obligated 

to repay the moneys invested by JEA and interest thereon, without any right of 

recoupment, counterclaim or set off. 

  



 

 
 

EXHIBIT IV 
RESTATED AND AMENDED BULK POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM  

AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 
 

 

 
"Authorized Investments" shall mean and include each of the following securities, obligations 
and investments if and to the extent that at the time the same shall be legal for investment of 
JEA's funds: 
 
(i) any bonds or other obligations which constitute direct obligations of, or as to principal 

and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including 

obligations of any of the federal agencies set forth in clause (ii) below to the extent 

unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America; 

(ii) bonds, debentures, or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by any 

agency or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of 

Congress as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America which at the 

time of their purchase hereunder are rated “AAA” by Standard & Poor’s and “Aaa” by 

Moody’s Investors Service, if rated by both rating agencies, and, if rated by one such 

rating agency, shall have a rating of “AAA” or “Aaa” by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s 

Investors Service, as the case may be; 

(iii) obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision 

thereof or any agency or instrumentality of any state or political subdivision, provided 

that at the time of their purchase hereunder such obligations are rated in either of the two 

highest whole rating categories by two nationally recognized rating agencies; 

(iv) direct and general obligations of the State of Florida for the payment of the principal of 

and interest on which the full faith and credit of said State is pledged, or any bonds or 

other obligations which as to principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the 

State of Florida; 

(v) certificates that evidence ownership of the right to payments of principal and/or interest 

on obligations described in clauses (i) and (ii) of this definition, provided that such 

obligations shall be held in trust by a bank or trust company or a national banking 

association authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject to supervision or 

examination of federal, state, territorial or District of Columbia authority and having a 

combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $50,000,000; 

(vi) certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or non-negotiable, and banker’s acceptances 

issued by any bank, trust company or national banking association, in each case, having a 

combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $100,000,000; provided, 

that at the time of their purchase hereunder such instruments are (a) rated not lower than 

the second highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies, 



(b) issued by a bank, trust company or nationally recognized association (1) which bank, 

trust company or national banking association’s deposit obligations have been issued the 

highest possible rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings by a 

numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) by (X) Moody’s Investors Service or 

Standard & Poor’s or (Y) two nationally recognized rating agencies or (2) which bank, 

trust company or national banking association has issued and outstanding senior 

unsecured indebtedness rated not lower than the second highest whole rating category by 

two nationally recognized rating agencies; provided that, if after the purchase of any such 

certificates of deposit, the ratings thereon or with respect to the issuer thereof, as the case 

may be, shall fall below the requirements set forth in clause (a) or (b) hereof, JEA shall 

sell such certificates of deposit, or (c) fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation or secured, to the extent not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation, by such securities as are described in clause (i) of this definition which 

securities shall at all times have a market value at least equal to the principal amount of 

such certificates of deposit or banker’s acceptances; 

(vii) commercial paper that, at the date of investment, is rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors 

Service and “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s, or if not so rated by both such rating agencies, 

then rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service or “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s or “F-1” 

by Fitch Ratings and rated with the highest possible rating (giving effect to any 

refinement or graduation of ratings with a numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) 

by one other nationally recognized rating agency; 

(viii) any repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the laws of 

any state of the United States of America or any national banking association or 

government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by 

the Federal Reserve bank of New York, which agreement relates to the sale and 

repurchase of any one or more of the securities described in clauses (i) and (ii) above and 

which, in the judgment of JEA, conforms as to terms and conditions with then prevailing 

prudent standards in the financial markets; 

(ix) shares of an investment company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended (or successor provision of law), which invests in assets exclusively in 

obligations of the type described in the other clauses of this definition which shares shall 

be rated “AA” or above if rated by Standard & Poor’s and “Aa” or above if rated by 

Moody’s Investors Service; 

(x) interests in the State of Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or other 

similar common trust fund for which such state, or a constitutional or statutory officer or 

agency thereof, shall be the custodian; and 

(xi) any agreements or contracts with insurance companies or other financial institutions, 

which agreements or contracts (a) shall be rated at the date of investment of such 

agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 

rating agencies, or (b) are issued or entered into by (i) an insurance company whose 

claims paying ability shall be rated at the date of investment in such agreements or 

contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating 



agencies or (ii) an insurance company or other financial institution that has issued and 

outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated at the date of investment in such 

agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 

rating agencies, and whereby under each such agreement or contract the insurance 

company or other financial institution shall be absolutely and unconditionally obligated 

to repay the moneys invested by JEA and interest thereon, without any right of 

recoupment, counterclaim or set off.  Any such agreement or contract may provide that, 

with the approval of JEA, the insurance company or other financial institution may have 

the right to assign its obligations under any such agreement or contract to any other 

insurance company or other financial institution. 

 
  
 

  



 
 

EXHIBIT V 
JEA WATER AND SEWER AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 

 
"Authorized Investments" shall mean and include any of the following securities, if and to the 
extent the same are at the time legal for investment of JEA's funds: 
 
(i) any bonds or other obligations which constitute direct obligations of, or as to principal 

and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including 
obligations of any of the Federal agencies set forth in clause (iii) below to the extent 
unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America; 

 
(ii) any bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any 

agency, instrumentality or local governmental unit of any such state (a) which are not 
callable prior to maturity, or which have been duly called for redemption by the obligor 
on a date or dates specified and as to which irrevocable instructions have been given to a 
trustee in respect of such bonds or other obligations by the obligor to give due notice of 
such redemption on such date or dates, which date or dates shall be also specified in such 
instructions, (b) which are secured as to principal and interest and redemption premium, 
if any, by a fund consisting only of cash or bonds or other obligations of the character 
described in clause (i) above which fund may be applied only to the payment of such 
principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other 
obligations on the maturity date or dates thereof or the redemption date or dates specified 
in the irrevocable instructions referred to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as 
appropriate,  (c) as to which the principal of and interest on the bonds and obligations of 
the character described in clause (i) above on deposit in such fund along with any cash on 
deposit in such fund are sufficient to pay principal of and interest and redemption 
premium, if any, on the bonds or other obligations described in this clause (ii) on the 
maturity date or dates thereof or on the redemption date or dates specified in the 
irrevocable instructions referred  to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as appropriate and 
(d) which at the time of their purchase hereunder are rated AAA by Standard & Poors 
Ratings Group and if rated by Moody’s Investors Service, are rated Aaa by such agency; 

 
(iii) bonds, debentures, or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by an agency 

or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of Congress 
as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America which at the time of their 
purchase hereunder are rated AAA and Aaa by Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s 
Investors Service, respectively, or if only rated by one, then shall have a rating of AAA 
or Aaa, as the case may be; 

 
(iv) New Housing Authority Bonds issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully 

secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual 
contributions under an annual contributions contract or contracts with the United States 
of America, or project notes issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully secured 
as to the payment of both principal and interest by a requisition or payment agreement 
with the United States of America; 

 
(v) obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision 

thereof or an agency or instrumentality of any state or political subdivision, provided at 
the time of their purchase hereunder such obligations are rated in either of the two highest 
rating categories by  two nationally recognized rating agencies; 



 
(vi)   any agreements or contracts with insurance companies or other financial institutions,           

which agreements or contracts (a) shall be rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, or (b) are issued and entered into by (i) an insurance company whose 
claim paying ability shall be rated at the date of investment in such agreements or 
contracts in the highest whole rating category by  two nationally recognized rating 
agencies or (ii) an insurance company or other financial institution that has issued and 
outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, and whereby under each such agreement or contract the insurance 
company or other financial institution shall be absolutely and unconditionally obligated 
to repay the moneys invested by JEA and interest thereon, without any right of 
recoupment, counterclaim or set off.   Right of assignment is permitted, if approved by 
JEA 

 
(vii) direct and general obligations of the State of Florida for the payment of the principal of 

and   interest on which the full faith and credit of said State are pledged, or any bonds or 
other obligations which as to principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the 
State of Florida; 

 

 
(viii) certificates that evidence ownership of the right to payments of principal and/or interest 

on obligations described in clause (i) and (iii) of this definition, provided that such 
obligations shall be held in trust by a bank or trust company or a national banking 
association authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject to supervision or 
examination by federal, state, territorial or District of Columbia authority and having a 
combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $50,000,000; 

 
(ix) certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or non-negotiable, and  banker's acceptances 

issued by any  bank, trust company or national banking association, in each case, having 
a combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $100,000,000, provide 
at the time of their purchase hereunder such instruments are  (a) rated not lower than the 
second highest rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies, (b) issued 
by a bank, trust company or national banking association (1) which bank, trust company 
or national banking association’s deposit obligations have been issued the highest 
possible rating(giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings by a numerical 
modifier or otherwise) by (x) Moody’s Investors Service or (y) two nationally recognized 
rating agencies or (2) which bank, trust company or national  banking association has 
issued and outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated not lower than the second 
highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies; provided 
that, if after the purchase of any such certificates of deposit, the ratings thereon or with 
respect to the issuer thereof, as the case may be, shall fall below the requirement set forth 
in clause (a) or (b) hereof, JEA shall sell such certificates of deposit, or (c) fully insured 
by the FDIC or secured, to the extent not insured by the FDIC, by such securities as 
described in clause (i) of this definition which securities shall at all times have a market 
value at least equal to the principal amount of such certificates of deposit or banker’s 
acceptances; 
  



(x) commercial paper that, at the date of investment, is rated “P-1” by Moody's Investors 
Service and “A-1” by Standard & Poor's Rating Group or their respective successors or if 
not so rated by both such rating agencies, then rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service 
or “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group or “F-1” by Fitch Investors Service and 
rated with the highest possible rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of 
ratings with a numerical or symbolic modifier or otherwise) by one other nationally 
recognized rating agency; 

 
(xi) any repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the laws of 

any state of the United States of America or any national banking association or 
government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by 
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which agreement relates to the sale and 
repurchase of any of the securities described in clauses (i) and (iii) above and  which, in 
the judgement of JEA, conforms as to terms and conditions with the then prevailing 
prudent standards in the financial markets; 

 
(xii) shares of an investment company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended, which invests its assets exclusively in obligations of the type described in 
the other clauses of this definition which shares shall be rated AA or above if rated by 
Standard & Poor’s Rating Group and Aa2 or above if rated by Moody’s Investors 
Service; and 

 
(xiii) interests in the State of Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or other 

similar common trust fund for which such state, or a constitutional or statutory officer or 
agency thereof, shall be the custodian. 



EXHIBIT VI 
JEA DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 

 
"Authorized Investments" shall mean and include any of the following securities, if and to the 
extent the same are at the time legal for investment of JEA's funds: 
 
(i) any bonds or other obligations which constitute direct obligations of, or as to principal 

and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including 
obligations of any of the Federal agencies set forth in clause (iii) below to the extent 
unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America; 

 
(ii) any bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any 

agency, instrumentality or local governmental unit of any such state (a) which are not 
callable prior to maturity, or which have been duly called for redemption by the obligor 
on a date or dates specified and as to which irrevocable instructions have been given to a 
trustee in respect of such bonds or other obligations by the obligor to give due notice of 
such redemption on such date or dates, which date or dates shall be also specified in such 
instructions, (b) which are secured as to principal and interest and redemption premium, 
if any, by a fund consisting only of cash or bonds or other obligations of the character 
described in clause (i) above which fund may be applied only to the payment of such 
principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other 
obligations on the maturity date or dates thereof or the redemption date or dates specified 
in the irrevocable instructions referred to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as 
appropriate,  (c) as to which the principal of and interest on the bonds and obligations of 
the character described in clause (i) above on deposit in such fund along with any cash on 
deposit in such fund are sufficient to pay principal of and interest and redemption 
premium, if any, on the bonds or other obligations described in this clause (ii) on the 
maturity date or dates thereof or on the redemption date or dates specified in the 
irrevocable instructions referred  to in subclause (a) of this clause (ii), as appropriate and 
(d) which at the time of their purchase hereunder are rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s 
Ratings Group and if rated by Moody’s Investors Service, are rated Aaa by such agency; 

 
(iii) bonds, debentures, or other evidences of long-term indebtedness issued or guaranteed by 

an agency or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act 
of Congress as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America; 

  
(iv) discount notes or other short-term debt issued or guaranteed by an agency or corporation 

which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of Congress as an agency 
or instrumentality of the United States of America which at the time of their purchase are 
rated in the highest rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies; 

 
(v) New Housing Authority Bonds issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully 

secured as to the payment of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual 
contributions under an annual contributions contract or contracts with the United States 
of America, or project notes issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully secured 
as to the payment of both principal and interest by a requisition or payment agreement 
with the United States of America; 

 
(vi) obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision 

thereof or an agency or instrumentality of any state or political subdivision, provided at 
the time of their purchase hereunder such obligations are rated in either of the two highest 
rating categories by  two nationally recognized rating agencies; 

 



(vii)   any agreements or contracts with insurance companies or other financial institutions,           
which agreements or contracts (a) shall be rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, or (b) are issued and entered into by (i) an insurance company whose 
claim paying ability shall be rated at the date of investment in such agreements or 
contracts in the highest whole rating category by  two nationally recognized rating 
agencies or (ii) an insurance company or other financial institution that has issued and 
outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated at the date of investment in such 
agreements or contracts in the highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies, and whereby under each such agreement or contract the insurance 
company or other financial institution shall be absolutely and unconditionally obligated 
to repay the moneys invested by JEA and interest thereon, without any right of 
recoupment, counterclaim or set off.   Right of assignment is permitted, if approved by 
JEA; 

 
(viii) direct and general obligations of the State of Florida for the payment of the principal of 

and   interest on which the full faith and credit of said State are pledged, or any bonds or 
other obligations which as to principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by the 
State of Florida; 

 
(ix) certificates that evidence ownership of the right to payments of principal and/or interest 

on obligations described in clause (i) and (iii) of this definition, provided that such 
obligations shall be held in trust by a bank or trust company or a national banking 
association authorized to exercise corporate trust powers and subject to supervision or 
examination by federal, state, territorial or District of Columbia authority and having a 
combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $50,000,000; 

 
(x) certificates of deposit, whether negotiable or non-negotiable, and  banker's acceptances 

issued by any  bank, trust company or national banking association, in each case, having 
a combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $100,000,000, provide 
at the time of their purchase hereunder such instruments are  (a) rated not lower than the 
second highest rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies, (b) issued 
by a bank, trust company or national banking association (1) which bank, trust company 
or national banking association’s deposit obligations have been issued the highest 
possible rating(giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings by a numerical 
modifier or otherwise) by (x) Moody’s Investors Service or (y) two nationally recognized 
rating agencies or (2) which bank, trust company or national  banking association has 
issued and outstanding senior unsecured indebtedness rated not lower than the second 
highest whole rating category by two nationally recognized rating agencies; provided 
that, if after the purchase of any such certificates of deposit, the ratings thereon or with 
respect to the issuer thereof, as the case may be, shall fall below the requirement set forth 
in clause (a) or (b) hereof, JEA shall sell such certificates of deposit, or (c) fully insured 
by the FDIC or secured, to the extent not insured by the FDIC, by such securities as 
described in clause (i) of this definition which securities shall at all times have a market 
value at least equal to the principal amount of such certificates of deposit or banker’s 
acceptances; 
  



(xi) commercial paper that, at the date of investment, is rated “P-1” by Moody's Investors 
Service and “A-1” by Standard & Poor's or their respective successors or if not so rated 
by both such rating agencies, then rated “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service or “A-1” by 
Standard & Poor’s or “F-1” by Fitch Investors Service and rated with the highest possible 
rating (giving effect to any refinement or graduation of ratings with a numerical or 
symbolic modifier or otherwise) by one other nationally recognized rating agency; 

 
(xii) any repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the laws of 

any state of the United States of America or any national banking association or 
government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by 
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which agreement relates to the sale and 
repurchase of any of the securities described in clauses (i) and (iii) above and  which, in 
the judgement of JEA, conforms as to terms and conditions with the then prevailing 
prudent standards in the financial markets; 

 
(xiii) shares of an investment company organized under the Investment Company Act of 1940, 

as amended, including money market mutual funds, which invests its assets exclusively 
in obligations of the type described in the other clauses of this definition which shares 
shall be rated AAA  if rated by Standard & Poor’s and Aaa if rated by Moody’s Investors 
Service; and 

 
(xiv) interests in the State of Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund or any 

intergovernmental investment pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal 
Cooperation Act of 1969, as provided in s. 163.01.other similar common trust fund for 
which such state, or a constitutional or statutory officer or agency thereof, shall be the 
custodian. 

 
 

 



Table 1 – JEA Investment Limitations 

Option 
Allowable Range (% of total 

investments and/or $ amount) 
Comments 

Bank NOW Account 

Up to 25%, except for 3/31 

and 9/30 at which time the 

limit is 30% 

Federal or state insured 

financial institutions 

designated as Qualified Public 

Depositories by the State of 

Florida 

Triparty Repo 
Up to 15% with any one 

dealer; up to 25% in aggregate 

102% collateral for Elec., 

Water, SJRPP 2
nd

 Resolution;

103% for SJRPP 1
st

Resolution. Collateral can 

include Treasuries and/or 

Agencies and is held by a 3
rd

party custodian. Dealers rated 

AA by two rating agencies. 

U.S. Treasuries or Treasury-

only Money Market Funds 
Up to 100% 

Fund must be rated AAA or 

Aaa and registered with SEC. 

U.S. Agencies (Fannie Mae, 

Federal Home Loan Bank, 

Freddie Mac, etc.) 

Less than 35% in any one 

issuer and up to 75% in 

aggregate, including repo 

collateral 

Electric/DES: No ratings 

requirement for long-term 

debt; A-1/P-1 or better for 

short-term debt; 

SJRPP 1
st
 Resolution: no

ratings requirements; 

Other Systems: AAA rated  

All Systems: Not backed by 

mortgage loans. 

Commercial Paper 

Up to 25% of portfolio; 

maximum of $12.5 million in 

any one issuer 

Must be in Fortune 500/Global 

500, or governments of 

Canada or Canadian provinces 

(U.S. dollar-denominated); 

rated at least A-1/P-1 with 

stable or positive outlook 

Municipal Bonds 
Up to 30% non-JEA debt; 

50% including JEA debt 

Non-JEA debt must be rated 

AA by two rating agencies for 

Elec., Water, and 2
nd

 Power

Park Resolution; Fla. GOs for 

original Power Park 

Resolution 

Government Agency Money 

Market Mutual Funds 

Up to 10% in any one fund; up 

to 25% in aggregate 

AAA or Aaa rating required. 

Registered with SEC. 

Intergovernmental Investment 

Pool 
Up to 5% Authorized by Florida statutes 



II. I.
JEA Energy Market Risk Management Policy Report 



AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

August 8, 2016 

SUBJECT: JEA ENERGY MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY REPORT 

Purpose:  Information Only  Action Required  Advice/Direction 

Issue:  The JEA Board approved the Energy Market Risk Management (EMRM) Policy in March 2014.  
The Policy was developed to codify the risk, governance, limits, and criteria associated with managing 
energy market exposure, and to comply with requirements of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 
Consumer Protection Act.  The reporting section of the Policy requires that the Electric VP & GM report 
quarterly on JEA’s financial and physical fuel and power transactions.  The report includes physical 
transactions greater than one year and all financial transactions. The report also includes graphs showing 
JEA's historical dispatch costs, along with historical and forward power and natural gas market prices. 

Significance:  High.  The Policy governs JEA's wholesale energy market risk management and allows 
JEA to execute certain physical and financial transactions.  The attached report is provided to the Board 
Finance and Audit Committee and satisfies the requirements of the reporting section of the EMRM Policy. 

Effect:  Financial and physical transactions allow the JEA Fuels group to manage the risks inherent in the 
wholesale fuel and energy markets.  The attached Finance and Audit Committee report summarizes JEA's 
current positions. 

Cost or Benefit:  The costs of financial transactions are reflected in comparison to market indices.  The 
benefits include establishment of a stable fuel price for the future. 

Recommended Board action:  None required.  The report is required by the EMRM Policy and is 
provided as information. 

For additional information, contact:  Steve McInall, 665-4309 

Submitted by: PEM/ MJB/ SGM 

Commitments to Action 

Return to Agenda II. I.
F&A 8/8/2016



1 Finance and Audit Committee Report  8/8/2016

Plant 

Energy Fixed 

Price (MWH)

Energy Fixed 

Price (%)

Expense Fixed 

Price ($)

Expense Fixed 

Price (%)

Northside CFB

 FY16 513,700 47% 9,197,785 47%

FY17 - 0% - 0%

FY18 - 0% - 0%

SJRPP

 FY16 707,700 100% 24,204,400           100%

FY17 2,563,935 100% 90,647,600           100%

FY18 713,187 21% 25,358,991           26%

Scherer 4

 FY16 301,100 100% 8,239,000 100%

FY17 977,135 81% 31,358,349           94%

FY18 217,458 29% 16,920,087           76%

Renewable Purchase Power

 FY16 33,107 100% 2,450,454 100%

FY17 147,376 100% 11,119,839           100%

FY18 155,154 100% 13,037,612           100%

Other Purchase Power

 FY16 70,400 100% 2,323,200 100%

FY17 - 0% - 0%

FY18 - 0% - 0%

Fuel Type

Generating 

Unit

Original 

Contract 

Volume

Remaining 

Contract Volume Units

Original Contract 

Term

Remaining 

Contract Term

Coal SJRPP 1,500,000         455,000 Tons 1/1/14 - 12/31/16 7/1/16 - 12/31/16

Coal SJRPP 250,000 80,700 Tons 1/1/15 - 12/31/16 7/1/16 - 12/31/16

Coal SJRPP 2,000,000         1,300,000 Tons 1/1/15 - 12/31/17 7/1/16 - 12/31/17

Coal Scherer 4 452,300 77,196 Tons 1/1/14 - 12/31/16 7/1/16 - 12/31/16

Coal Scherer 4 940,900 532,005 Tons 1/1/15 - 12/31/17 7/1/16 - 12/31/17

Coal Scherer 4 7,217 3,653 Tons 1/1/16 -12/31/16 7/1/16 - 12/31/16

Coal Scherer 4 250,000 227,441 Tons 1/1/16 - 12/31/17 7/1/16 - 12/31/17

Natural Gas NG Fleet 445.6 109.6 
Bcf  

(Billion Cubic Feet)
6/1/01 - 5/31/21 7/1/16 - 5/31/21

Physical Fuel and Purchase Power Positions as of 7/1/16

Fixed PriceSunrise Coal

Index w/ Collar

BG

Supplier/ Counterparty

Coal Marketing Company

Arch Coal Sales Company, Inc Fixed Price

 Table 2: Physical Positions

Fixed Price

Index w/Fixed Price Option

Table 3: Physical Counterparties (Contracts One Year or Greater)

Fixed Price

Contract Type

Coal Sales, LLC

Fixed Price

Alpha- Eagle Butte

Coal Sales, LLC Fixed Price

Coal Marketing Company

Units

Northside 1 and 2

Northside 3

SJRPP 1 and 2

Scherer 4

Brandy Branch

Kennedy CT7 and 8

Greenland CT1 and 2

Natural Gas, Diesel

Natural Gas, Diesel

Market and Hedged /As Needed

Market and Hedged /As Needed

Coal

Market and Hedged; Stored Residual Oil

Quarterly; 1 Quarter in Advance

Contract Through 2017 and Partial 2018

Petcoke, Coal

Natural Gas, Residual Oil

Table 1: JEA Generation Fleet Summary

Primary Fuel Type

Natural Gas

Contract through 2017  

Market and Hedged

Contract Schedule

Coal

II. I.
F&A 8/8/2016



2 Finance and Audit Committee Report  8/8/2016

Figure 3: SOCO Power Market Review 
Historical & Forward SOCO 7x24 Prices, ($/MWh) 

Figure 4: Natural Gas Market Review 

Historical & Forward Henry Hub Prices, ($/MMBtu) 



3 Finance and Audit Committee Report  8/8/2016

Month

Physical 

Volume

Hedged 

Volume

Percent 

Hedged

Unhedged 

Cost Hedge Type Hedge Price

Forecast at 

Time of Hedge

Mark-to-Market 

Value
Aug-16 3,847,000    600,000         15.6% $2.99 Collar $2.80 / $4.00 $3.86 $41,580
Sep-16 4,016,600    600,000         14.9% $2.98 Collar $2.80 / $4.00 $3.84 $73,020

FY16 Total 7,863,600    1,200,000      15.3% $2.98 $3.85 $114,600

Oct-16 3,803,600    600,000         15.8% $3.01 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $3.87 $123,960
Nov-16 3,209,600    600,000         18.7% $3.14 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $3.98 $98,130
Dec-16 3,365,100    600,000         17.8% $3.37 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $4.20 $43,320
Jan-17 3,298,300    600,000         18.2% $3.49 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $4.39 $10,770
Feb-17 2,807,400    600,000         21.4% $3.48 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $4.38 $7,920
Mar-17 2,779,400    600,000         21.6% $3.42 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $4.32 $23,400
Apr-17 1,984,600    600,000         30.2% $3.11 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $4.11 $120,060
May-17 2,508,600    600,000         23.9% $3.07 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $4.11 $132,180
Jun-17 2,733,700    600,000         21.9% $3.10 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $4.15 $126,570
Jul-17 3,076,900    600,000         19.5% $3.12 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $4.19 $120,780
Aug-17 3,056,900    600,000         19.6% $3.13 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $4.20 $121,530
Sep-17 2,624,200    600,000         22.9% $3.11 Collar $2.93 / $4.50 $4.19 $130,290

FY17 Total 35,248,300  7,200,000      20.4% $3.21 $4.17 $1,058,910

Oct-17 2,841,200    -                 0.0% $3.14 N/A N/A $4.22 -                     
Nov-17 3,396,900    -                 0.0% $3.18 N/A N/A $4.32 -                     
Dec-17 2,742,700    -                 0.0% $3.32 N/A N/A $4.52 -                     
Jan-18 2,703,100    -                 0.0% $3.42 N/A N/A $4.70 -                     
Feb-18 2,398,800    -                 0.0% $3.38 N/A N/A $4.68 -                     
Mar-18 2,890,000    -                 0.0% $3.31 N/A N/A $4.61 -                     
Apr-18 1,997,200    -                 0.0% $2.90 N/A N/A $4.33 -                     
May-18 2,546,400    -                 0.0% $2.86 N/A N/A $4.33 -                     
Jun-18 2,749,600    -                 0.0% $2.89 N/A N/A $4.37 -                     
Jul-18 3,190,400    -                 0.0% $2.92 N/A N/A $4.41 -                     
Aug-18 3,104,100    -                 0.0% $2.93 N/A N/A $4.42 -                     
Sep-18 2,525,200    -                 0.0% $2.91 N/A N/A $4.42 -                     

FY18 Total 33,085,600  -                 0.0% $3.10 $4.44 -                     

Supplier/ 

Counterparty Fuel Type

Hedged 

Volume

Mark-to-Market 

Value

FY16 Natural Gas 1,200,000      $114,600
FY17 Natural Gas 7,200,000      $1,058,910
FY18 Natural Gas --- ---

FY16 Natural Gas --- ---
FY17 Natural Gas --- ---
FY18 Natural Gas --- ---

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

Royal Bank of Canada

Figure 5: Natural Gas Positions FY2016-FY2018
Swaps, Puts, Calls

Swaps, Puts, Calls
Swaps, Puts, Calls

Table 4A: Financial Natural Gas Positions as of 7/1/2016

Table 4B: Counterparty Exposure

Contract Type

Puts and Calls
Puts and Calls
Puts and Calls

$1.75

$2.25

$2.75

$3.25

$3.75

$4.25

$4.75

Aug-16 Sep-16

Fiscal Year 2016 

Unhedged Cost Hedge Max Hedge Min Budget (April '15)

$1.75

$2.25

$2.75

$3.25

$3.75

$4.25

$4.75

Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17 Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17

Fiscal Year 2017 

Unhedged Cost Hedge Max Hedge Min Budget (April '16)

$1.75

$2.25

$2.75

$3.25

$3.75

$4.25

$4.75

Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18

Fiscal Year 2018 

Unhedged Cost Budget (April '16)

Volume - mmBtu 
Cost - $/mmBtu 



II. J.
Update on Procurement for External Auditor 



Ver.2.0D  9/21/2013 jer 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

July 26, 2016 

SUBJECT: UPDATE ON PROCUREMENT FOR EXTERNAL AUDITOR 

Purpose:  Information Only  Action Required  Advice/Direction 

Issue: At its meeting on January 19, 2016, the Board approved a one-year extension of the contract with 
Ernst & Young (E&Y) for the period from July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2017.  As part of the 
recommendation for approval of the contract extension, the Finance and Audit Committee stated that staff 
will evaluate and issue a Request for Proposal (RFP) for independent audit services the next fiscal year. At 
its meeting on May 17, 2016, the Board approved the recommendation of the Finance and Audit 
Committee for staff to prepare a RFP, evaluation matrix and timeline for its review and approval at the next 
scheduled committee meeting on August 8, 2016.  Staff intends to use the Invitation of Negotiate 
solicitation process for the procurement. 

Significance: The fiduciary responsibilities of JEA and the Board include the engagement of an external 
auditor.   

Effect: Not having a nationally qualified firm in place could leave room for exposure in such a highly 
regulated environment.  JEA is required under its bond resolutions to provide financial statements audited 
by a "nationally recognized" firm.  In addition, JEA's large debt balances place particular importance on 
producing high-quality audits from a firm with which investors are comfortable. 

Cost or Benefit: An update is provided to assist the Finance and Audit Committee in the selection of an 
audit firm that has the expertise and knowledge to provide the services to meet JEA's needs.   

Recommended Board action: Staff requests the Finance and Audit Committee recommend to the full 
Board to: 1) approve the Invitation to Negotiate Document and timeline for procuring independent audit 
services beginning for fiscal year ending September 30, 2017; and 2) provide feedback and direction on 
adopting a partner’s rotation policy related to independent audit services for JEA.  

For additional information, contact: Janice Nelson 

Submitted by: PEM/MHD/JRN 

Commitments to Action 

Return to Agenda II. J.
F&A 8/8/2016



Ver 2.2 02/01/2014 

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM 
July 26, 2016 

SUBJECT: UPDATE ON PROCUREMENT FOR EXTERNAL AUDITOR 

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO 

TO: JEA Finance and Audit Committee 

Kelly Flanagan, Chair 
Tom Petway 
Ed Burr 
Husein Cumber 

BACKGROUND:  
At its meeting on January 19, 2016, the Board approved a one-year extension of the contract with Ernst 
& Young (E&Y). The duration of the contract extension will be from July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2017.  
As part of the recommendation for approval of the contract extension, the Finance and Audit Committee 
stated that staff will evaluate and issue a Request for Proposal (RFP) for independent audit services the 
next fiscal year. At its meeting on May 17, 2016, the Board approved the recommendation of the Finance 
and Audit Committee for staff to prepare a RFP, evaluation matrix and timeline for its review and 
approval at the next scheduled committee meeting on August 8, 2016. 

DISCUSSION: 

JEA intends to use the “Invitation to Negotiate” process as outlined in the Procurement Code to procure 
independent audit services.  As a part of this process, the selection committee will select up to three (3) 
Respondents (the Short-list) with which to commence negotiations.   The selection team may request 
that the Short-list provide additional information to clarify their response.  After written clarifications, oral 
presentations, and any other negotiations deemed to be in JEA’s best interest, the Short-list will be given 
a deadline to submit their best and final offer (BAFO).  The selection team will adjust and calculate the 
final rankings of the Short-list based on the BAFO submissions. The draft “Invitation to Negotiate” 
document, which includes the evaluation matrix and the timeline for procurement of independent audit 
services are included as Attachments I and II.  

As a proxy for measuring acceptance for JEA’s investors, staff researched information about the audit 
firms used by other Large Public Power Council (LPPC) members.  This information was used to gain 
familiarity with the current market of CPA firms that could meet the minimum qualifications in the 
solicitation process for independent audit services, and to determine interest of the firms, functioning as 
an initial pre-screening. Based on the results of the research, staff reached out to the Big Four firms, 
Baker Tilly and McGladrey (RSM). All of the firms expressed an interest in receiving the RFP.  As a 
result, staff is recommending sending an RFP to the following firms: 

Baker Tilly 
Deloitte 
Ernst & Young 
KPMG 
McGladrey (RSM) 
PwC 

The “Invitation to Negotiate” solicitation will be posted on JEA’s website and all qualified and interested 
firms may submit a proposal. 

II. J.
F&A 8/8/2016



  Page 2 

 
 
Below are follow-up items from the May 9, 2016 Finance & Audit Committee Meeting: 
 

1. In addition to reaching out to four of JEA’s investor analysts and four bank liquidity providers to 

obtain their views on the audit firms, staff spoke with three of JEA’s rating agency analysts to 

obtain their views on the audit firms. The general feedback received was that they were 

comfortable with the middle-tier Top 25 firms with the understanding that the firms have 

experience in auditing municipal utilities.  

 

2. Partner Rotation Policy - The “Partner Rotation Policy”, mandated by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 

does not apply to non-public companies.  Additionally, the American Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (AICPA) and Government Auditing Standards (GAS) professional standards do not 

provide any guidance or requirements related to partner rotation for non-public companies. 

While partner rotation policies can assist Boards with ensuring independence of an auditor, 

there is a balance against audit quality when there is not continuity of knowledge from year to 

year. Staff polled the six audit firms to determine their firm’s Partners Rotation Policy and 

included this information in Attachment III.  Staff also polled LPPC members to determine their 

companies’ Partner Rotation Policies and added this information to Attachment IV. Based on 

this additional information, staff recommends that the Finance & Audit Committee and the Board 

consider a partner rotation policy requiring either the Lead Partner or Concurring Review Partner 

to rotate at least every five years.  This balances the benefits of continuity against the need to 

ensure auditor independence. 

 

3. Staff polled LPPC members to determine fees paid for their year-end audit.  The responses 

received are also included in Attachment IV.  Given the significant differences in complexity of 

audits between LPPC members (number of utility systems, independent projects, regulatory 

accounting, etc.) it is difficult to compare fees between LPPC members. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff requests the Finance and Audit Committee recommend to the full Board to: 

 Approve the Invitation to Negotiate document and timeline for procuring independent audit 

services beginning for fiscal year ending September 30, 2017. 

 Provide feedback and direction on adopting a partner’s rotation policy related to independent 

audit services for JEA, such as the one suggested above.  

 

 

 _________________________________  
 Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO 
PEM/MHD/JRN 



 Page 1 of 35  

Invitation to Negotiate (ITN) to Acquire 

Independent Audit Services 

for 

Jacksonville, FL 

ITN Number 110-16 

Responses are due on Tuesday, October 4
th

 2016 by 12:00 pm 

Direct delivery or mail to JEA Bid Office, Customer Center 1
st
 Floor, Room 002 

21 W. Church Street, Jacksonville, FL 32202 

JEA will publicly open all Responses received from qualified Respondents on Tuesday, October 4th 2016, at 

2:00 p.m. in the JEA Bid Office, Customer Center 1
st
 Floor, Room 002,  

21 W. Church Street, Jacksonville, FL 32202 

II. J.
F&A 8/8/2016



 
      

 
    Page 2 of 35   

Table of Contents 

1. INVITATION TO NEGOTIATE .......................................................................................................................... 5 
1.1. INVITATION .............................................................................................................................................. 5 

1.1.1. SCOPE OF WORK .................................................................................................................................. 5 
1.1.2. OPENING OF RESPONSES ................................................................................................................... 6 
1.1.3. INVITATION .......................................................................................................................................... 6 
You are invited to submit a Response to the ITN noted below: ............................................................................ 6 

1.2. SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS ........................................................................................................................ 6 
1.2.1. MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS FOR SUBMISSION OF A RESPONSE ............................................ 6 

1.3. EVALUATION METHODOLOGY ............................................................................................................ 7 
EVALUATION AND NEGOTIATION PROCESS (ITN) ................................................................................... 7 
1.3.1. SELECTION CRITERIA ........................................................................................................................ 9 
1.3.2. NUMBER OF CONTRACTS TO BE AWARDED .............................................................................. 11 
1.3.3 REQUIRED FORMS TO SUBMIT WITH RESPONSE ...................................................................... 11 

1.4 GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS ................................................................................................................... 11 
1.4.1 SUBMITTING THE RESPONSE ............................................................................................................. 11 

1.4.2 ALTERNATE PROVISIONS AND CONDITIONS ..................................................................................... 11 
1.3.3. ADDENDA............................................................................................................................................ 12 
1.7.3. CONTRACT EXECUTION AND START OF WORK ........................................................................ 12 
1.7.4. DEFINED TERMS ................................................................................................................................ 12 
1.7.5. EX PARTE COMMUNICATION ......................................................................................................... 12 
1.7.6. SUNSHINE LAW ................................................................................................................................. 12 
1.7.7. JEA PUBLICATIONS ........................................................................................................................... 13 
1.7.8. PROHIBITION AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES ............................................................................... 13 
1.7.9. RESERVATIONS OF RIGHTS TO JEA .............................................................................................. 14 
1.7.10. MODIFICATION OR WITHDRAWAL OF RESPONSES .................................................................. 14 
1.7.11. AVAILABILITY OF RESPONSES AFTER RESPONSE OPENING ................................................. 14 
1.7.12. PROTEST OF AWARD PROCESS ...................................................................................................... 14 
1.7.13. CERTIFICATION AND REPRESENTATIONS OF THE RESPONDENT ........................................ 15 
1.7.14. ETHICS (ITN) ....................................................................................................................................... 15 

2. CONTRACT TERMS AND CONDITIONS ....................................................................................................... 16 
2.1. CONTRACT DOCUMENT AND TERMS AND CONDITIONS ............................................................ 16 
2.2. DEFINITIONS ........................................................................................................................................... 16 

2.2.1. DEFINITIONS ...................................................................................................................................... 16 
2.2.3. ADDENDUM/ADDENDA ................................................................................................................... 16 
2.2.4. AWARD ................................................................................................................................................ 17 
2.2.5. COMPANY ........................................................................................................................................... 17 
2.2.6. COMPANY REPRESENTATIVE ........................................................................................................ 17 
2.2.7. CONTRACT .......................................................................................................................................... 17 
2.2.8. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATOR ........................................................................................................ 17 
2.2.9. CONTRACT AMENDMENT ............................................................................................................... 17 
2.2.10. CONTRACT AMENDMENT ............................................................................................................... 17 
2.2.11. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS ................................................................................................................ 17 
2.2.12. CONTRACT PRICE.............................................................................................................................. 17 
2.2.13. HOLIDAYS ........................................................................................................................................... 18 
2.2.14. INVITATION TO NEGOTIATE .......................................................................................................... 18 
2.2.15. INVOICE ............................................................................................................................................... 18 
2.2.16. JEA ........................................................................................................................................................ 18 
2.2.17. JEA REPRESENTATIVES ................................................................................................................... 18 



 
      

 
    Page 3 of 35   

2.2.18. PERFORMANCE - ACCEPTABLE PERFORMANCE/PERFORMER .............................................. 18 
2.2.19. PERFORMANCE - TOP PERFORMANCE/PERFORMER ................................................................ 18 
2.2.20. PERFORMANCE - UNACCEPTABLE PERFORMANCE/PERFORMER ........................................ 18 
2.2.21. RESPONSE ........................................................................................................................................... 18 
2.2.22. RESPONDENT ..................................................................................................................................... 18 
2.2.23. PURCHASE ORDER (PO) ................................................................................................................... 19 
2.2.24. SOLICITATION .................................................................................................................................... 19 
2.2.25. SUBCONTRACTOR............................................................................................................................. 19 
2.2.26. TASK/WORK ORDER ......................................................................................................................... 19 
2.2.27. TERM .................................................................................................................................................... 19 
2.2.28. UNIT PRICES ....................................................................................................................................... 19 
2.2.29. WORK OR SCOPE OF SERVICES ..................................................................................................... 19 

2.3. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS .................................................................................................................... 19 
2.3.1. ORDER OF PRECEDENCE ................................................................................................................. 19 

2.4. PRICE AND PAYMENTS ........................................................................................................................ 20 
2.4.1. PAYMENTS .......................................................................................................................................... 20 
2.4.2. DISCOUNT PRICING .......................................................................................................................... 20 
2.4.3. INVOICING AND PAYMENT TERMS .............................................................................................. 20 
2.4.4. PRICE ADJUSTMENT ......................................................................................................................... 21 
2.4.5. OFFSETS ............................................................................................................................................... 21 
2.4.6. JSEB - INVOICING AND PAYMENT ................................................................................................ 21 
2.4.7. COST SAVINGS PLAN ....................................................................................................................... 21 
2.4.8. TAXES .................................................................................................................................................. 22 

2.5. WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS .......................................................................................... 22 
2.5.1. WARRANTY (PROFESSIONAL SERVICES) .................................................................................... 22 

2.6. INSURANCE, INDEMNITY AND RISK OF LOSS ................................................................................ 22 
2.6.1. INSURANCE ........................................................................................................................................ 22 
2.6.2. INDEMNIFICATION FOR RELEASE OF JEA EMPLOYEE/CUSTOMER INFORMATION ......... 23 
2.6.3. INDEMNIFICATION ........................................................................................................................... 23 
2.6.4. RISKS AND PROPERTY ..................................................................................................................... 24 

2.7. TERM AND TERMINATION .................................................................................................................. 24 
2.7.1. TERM .................................................................................................................................................... 24 
2.7.2. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE .............................................................................................. 24 
2.7.3. TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT ........................................................................................................ 24 

2.8. CONFIDENTIALITY AND OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTATION .................................................... 25 
2.8.1. PUBLIC RECORDS LAWS ................................................................................................................. 25 
2.8.2. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION ....................................................................................................... 26 
2.8.3. PUBLICITY AND ADVERTISING ..................................................................................................... 27 
2.8.4. OBLIGATIONS OF OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS AND EQUIPMENT ..................................... 27 

2.9. LABOR ...................................................................................................................................................... 27 
2.9.1. NONDISCRIMINATION ..................................................................................................................... 27 
2.9.2. JEA ACCESS BADGES ....................................................................................................................... 28 
2.9.3. LEGAL WORKFORCE ........................................................................................................................ 28 
2.9.4. PROHIBITED FUTURE EMPLOYMENT ........................................................................................... 28 
2.9.5. PERSONNEL AND CHANGES IN COMPANY'S PROFESSIONAL PERSONNEL ........................ 28 
2.9.6. COMPANY'S LABOR RELATIONS ................................................................................................... 29 

2.10. COMPANY'S RESPONSIBILITIES AND PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTRACT ............................ 29 
2.10.1. COMPANY REPRESENTATIVES ...................................................................................................... 29 
2.10.2. LICENSES ............................................................................................................................................. 29 

2.11. AUDIT & VENDOR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION ........................................................................ 29 



 
      

 
    Page 4 of 35   

2.11.1. RIGHT TO AUDIT AND FINANCIAL REPORTING ........................................................................ 29 
2.11.2. VENDOR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION ..................................................................................... 29 

2.12. JEA RESPONSIBILITIES ......................................................................................................................... 31 
2.12.1. COORDINATION OF SERVICES PROVIDED BY JEA.................................................................... 31 

2.13. CHANGES IN THE WORK, CONTRACT TIME OR PRICE ................................................................. 31 
2.13.1. SUSPENSION OF SERVICES ............................................................................................................. 31 
2.13.1. FORCE MAJEURE ............................................................................................................................... 31 
2.13.2. CHANGE IN SCOPE OF SERVICES .................................................................................................. 32 

2.14. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS .......................................................................................................... 32 
2.14.1. AMBIGUOUS CONTRACT PROVISIONS ........................................................................................ 32 
2.14.2. AMENDMENTS ................................................................................................................................... 32 
2.14.3. APPLICABLE STATE LAW; VENUE; SEVERABILITY .................................................................. 32 
2.14.4. CUMULATIVE REMEDIES ................................................................................................................ 32 
2.14.5. ENTIRE AGREEMENT ........................................................................................................................ 32 
2.14.6. EXPANDED DEFINITIONS ................................................................................................................ 32 
2.14.7. HEADINGS ........................................................................................................................................... 33 
2.14.8. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR ........................................................................................................ 33 
2.14.9. LANGUAGE AND MEASUREMENTS .............................................................................................. 33 
2.14.10. MEETINGS AND PUBLIC HEARINGS ............................................................................................. 33 
2.14.11. NEGOTIATED CONTRACT ............................................................................................................... 33 
2.14.12. NONEXCLUSIVE ................................................................................................................................ 33 
2.14.13. REFERENCES ...................................................................................................................................... 33 
2.14.14. SEVERABILITY ................................................................................................................................... 33 
2.14.15. SUBCONTRACTING OR ASSIGNING OF CONTRACT .................................................................. 34 
2.14.16. SURVIVAL ........................................................................................................................................... 34 
2.14.17. TIME AND DATE ................................................................................................................................ 34 
2.14.18. TIME OF ESSENCE ............................................................................................................................. 34 
2.14.19. USE OF JEA CONTRACTS BY THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE ................................................... 34 
2.14.20. WAIVER OF CLAIMS ......................................................................................................................... 34 

3. TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS/DETAILED SCOPE OF WORK ................................................................. 35 
3.1. TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS/DETAILED SCOPE OF SERVICES (APPENDIX A) ..................... 35 

4. FORMS................................................................................................................................................................ 35 
4.1. FORMS (APPENDIX B) ........................................................................................................................... 35 

 



 
      

 
    Page 5 of 35   

Solicitation 

1. INVITATION TO NEGOTIATE 

1.1.  INVITATION 

1.1.1. SCOPE OF WORK 

JEA is seeking to procure independent audit services beginning for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2017. 

JEA is currently organized into three enterprise funds:  

 The Electric Enterprise Fund 

 The Water and Sewer System 

 District Energy System   

 

The Electric Enterprise Fund is comprised of the JEA Electric System, the Bulk Power System, which consists of 

Scherer Unit 4, a coal fired, 846 megawatt generating Unit operated by Georgia Power Company and owned by JEA 

(23.64% ownership interest) and Florida Power & Light (FPL) (76.36% ownership interest) St. Johns River Power 

Park System (SJRPP), which has two coal-fired generating units (638 megawatts each) and jointly owned by JEA 

(80% ownership Interest) and FPL (20% ownership interest).  JEA is Florida's largest municipally owned electric 

utility and the eighth largest in the United States.  JEA is also the 113th largest municipal water and sewer provider 

in the country.  JEA currently serves over 450,000 electric customers; 334,000 water customers and 259,000 sewer 

customers in Jacksonville and parts of three adjacent counties.  As of September 30, 2015, total operating revenues 

were approximately $1.7 billion, total assets were $8.3 billion and total long-term debt outstanding was $5.0 billion. 

 

The governing body of JEA consists of seven members appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the City Council.  

JEA is not subject to regulation by the Florida Public Service Commission except for certain environmental, energy 

conservation, power plant and transmission line siting, territorial, and rate structure matters. 

 

SJRPP Pension Plan (The “Plan”) is a single employer contributory defined benefit plan covering employees of the 

St. Johns River Power Park System. The Plan provides for pension, death and disability benefits. Employees who 

are working for SJRPP, except temporary and contract employees, are eligible to participate. The Plan is subject to 

provisions of Chapter 112, Florida Statutes and the oversight of the Florida Division of Retirement. 

 

The Plan is governed by a five-member pension board. As of September 30, 2015 the Plan reported net position of 

$138,901,756 and had approximately 550 active and inactive members covered by the Plan. The Plan issue stand-

alone audited financial statements.   

 

These services are described in more detail in the enclosed “Appendix A – Technical Specifications”. 

 

1.1.2  QUESTIONS 
All questions must be submitted in writing to the JEA Buyer listed below at least five (5) business days prior to the 

opening date.  Questions received within five (5) business days prior to the opening date will not be answered.  

 

For Procurement Related Questions: 

Buyer:  Nickolas Dambrose   

E-mail: dambnc@jea.com 

 

For Technical Questions: 

 

mailto:dambnc@jea.com


 
      

 
    Page 6 of 35   

Contact: Janice Nelson 

E-mail:  NelsJR@jea.com 

 

1.1.2. OPENING OF RESPONSES 

All Responses shall be publicly opened, read aloud and recorded at 2:00 PM on Tuesday, October 4
th

 2016, at the 

JEA Bid Office, 21 W. Church Street, Customer Center 1
st
 Floor, Room 002, Jacksonville, FL 32202. 

 

At the opening of Responses, a JEA Representative will publicly open and announce each Response that was 

received on time.  Responses that have been properly withdrawn will not be opened.   JEA has the right to waive any 

irregularities or informalities in the Responses. 

 

1.1.3. INVITATION  

You are invited to submit a Response to the ITN noted below:  

JEA ITN Title: Independent Audit Services 

 

JEA ITN Number: 110-16 

 

To obtain more information about this ITN: 

 

Download a copy of the ITN and any required forms at jea.com. 

 

Response Due Time: 12:00 P.M. - ALL LATE RESPONSES WILL BE RETURNED UNOPENED  

Response Due Date:  Tuesday, October 4th 2016 

 

All Responses must reference the JEA ITN title and number noted above.  All Responses must be made on the 

appropriate forms as specified within this ITN, and placed in an envelope marked to identify this ITN and delivered 

or mailed to:  

 

JEA Bid Office, Customer Center 1
st
 Floor, Room 002, Jacksonville, FL 32202 

 

The Respondent shall be solely responsible for delivery of its Response to the JEA Bid Office.   Please note, 

JEA employs a third party courier service to deliver its mail from the local U.S. Postal Service (USPS) which 

could cause a delay of Response delivery if mailed through the USPS.   Therefore, JEA recommends hand 

delivery directly to the JEA Bid Office.  Reliance upon the USPS, the courier service employed by JEA, or 

public/private carriers is at the Respondent's risk.  

 

Responses are due by the time and on the date listed above. ALL LATE RESPONSES FOR WHATEVER 

REASON WILL BE RETURNED UNOPENED. 

1.2. SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS 

1.2.1. MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS FOR SUBMISSION OF A RESPONSE 

Respondent shall have the following Minimum Qualifications to be considered eligible to submit a Response to this 

ITN.   A Respondent not the following criterion stated below will have their Responses rejected:  

 



 
      

 
    Page 7 of 35   

1. Respondent must be a nationally recognized CPA Firm as required by Bond Resolutions and Standby 

Bond Purchasing Agreements. 

 

2. Respondent must be a CPA Firm currently licensed to practice Public Accounting in the State of 

Florida and in good standing to practice before the Securities and Exchange Commission.   

 

3. The firms shall provide an affirmative statement that it is independent of the JEA as defined by 

generally accepted auditing standards. 

Please note, any Respondent whose contract with JEA was terminated for default within the last two (2) years 

shall have their Response rejected.  

1.3. EVALUATION METHODOLOGY 

EVALUATION AND NEGOTIATION PROCESS (ITN) 

JEA will make an Award of a Contract to the Respondent that is able to demonstrate that it can successfully meet the 

requirements of this ITN, and can provide the best value to JEA.   

 

JEA intends to select up to two (2) to three (3) Respondents (the "Short-list") with which to commence negotiations.  

A selection committee (hereinafter referred to as the "Selection Committee"), will be appointed by the Chief 

Procurement Officer (the “CPO”), or his designee, to review and evaluate each Response submitted.  The CPO's 

office will distribute a copy of each Response to each member of the Selection Committee, and the members of the 

Selection Committee will separately and independently evaluate and rank the Responses using the “Selection 

Criteria” as stated below in this ITN.  JEA will use this ranking to develop the Short-list of companies in which to 

proceed with contract negotiations. 

 

Prior to developing the Short-list, JEA may request that the Respondents provide additional information to clarify 

their Response.  JEA will NOT allow Respondents to submit additional reference projects or change said reference 

projects that were initially submitted for the purposes of meeting the Minimum Qualifications stated in this 

ITN.  However, JEA may request clarification of submitted documentation so that JEA may make an accurate 

assessment in developing the Short-list. JEA must be satisfied that the successful Respondent has the necessary 

technical expertise, experience, and resource capabilities to satisfactorily perform the Services described in this ITN. 

 

JEA reserves the right to Award a Contract based on the Selection Committee's initial evaluation of the Responses if 

JEA deems the Responses demonstrate adequate competition, compliance, and responsiveness to this ITN.  If JEA 

determines the previously stated criteria have not been met, JEA will finalize the Short-list and proceed with 

contract negotiations.   

 

Respondents are cautioned to present the best possible pricing offer in their initial Responses.  Failing to do 

so may result in a Respondent not making the Short-list, and will not be allowed to proceed with contract 

negotiations.  Additionally, the prices submitted with the initial Response cannot be increased during the ITN 

process.  

 

Once a Short-list is developed, the CPO, or his designee, will appoint a negotiating team (the "Negotiating 

Team").   The Negotiating Team may be compromised of the same individuals as were members of the Selection 

Committee. JEA reserves the right to negotiate concurrently or separately with the Short-list Respondents. JEA 

reserves the right to seek clarifications, to request Response revisions, and to request any additional information 

deemed necessary for proper evaluation of the Responses. JEA reserves the right to incorporate value added services 

or industry standard innovations recommended by a Respondent into the Contract’s scope of work. 



 
      

 
    Page 8 of 35   

 

A Respondent that is included on the Short-list may be required, at the sole option of JEA, to make an oral 

presentation, provide additional written clarifications to its Response, or JEA may require site visits to Respondent's 

facilities. Oral presentations hand-outs and written clarifications will be attached to the Respondent's Response and 

will become a part of the Response as if originally submitted. The CPO or his designee will initiate and schedule a 

time and location for any presentations which may be required. 

 

As a part of the negotiation process, JEA may contact the references provided by the Respondent for the purpose of 

independently verifying the information provided in the Response, and to assess the extent of success of the projects 

associated with those references. JEA also reserves the right to contact references not provided by Respondents. 

Respondents may be requested to provide additional references. The results of the reference checking may influence 

the final negotiation, ranking, and Award recommendation. 

 

After written clarifications, oral presentations, site visits, and any other negotiations deemed by JEA to be in its best 

interest, the Short-list Respondents will be given a deadline to submit their best and final offer (the "Best and Final 

Offer" or "BAFO"). The negotiation process will stop upon submission of the BAFO.  Respondents will not be 

allowed to make further adjustments to their BAFO or communicate further with JEA, except to respond to requests 

for clarification from the Negotiating Team.  

 

The JEA Negotiating Team will adjust and calculate the final rankings of the Short-list based on the BAFO 

submissions. A description of which Selection Criteria will be re-evaluated based upon the BAFO will be explained 

in JEA’s written request for the BAFOs.  JEA does not anticipate reopening negotiations after receiving the BAFOs, 

but reserves the right to do so if it believes doing so will be in the best interests of JEA.  In the event that JEA 

reopens negotiations, any final rankings will be revised accordingly. 

 

Negotiations will not be open to the public, but will be recorded. All recordings of negotiations and any records, 

documents, and other materials presented at negotiation sessions are public records and can be released pursuant to a 

public records request after a notice of intended decision for this ITN is posted, or thirty (30) days after the opening 

of the Responses, whichever occurs earlier. 

 

The Award recommendation of the Negotiating Team will be based upon the scoring of the BAFOs. The 

Respondent with the highest score will be submitted to the Finance & Audit Committee for approval.  Once 

approved, the Finance & Audit Committee will then present an Award to the JEA Board for final approval.  

 

In its sole discretion, JEA reserves the right to withdraw this ITN either before or after receiving Responses, to reject 

any and all Responses either in whole or in part, with or without cause, or to waive any ITN requirement 

informalities, minor irregularities, and deficiencies in any Response, and to determine such action is in the best 

interest of JEA. Issuance of this ITN in no way constitutes a commitment by JEA to make an Award or enter into a 

Contract. 

 

All Responses submitted to JEA are subject to the JEA's terms and conditions contained in this ITN and JEA's 

Procurement Code. Any and all additional terms and conditions submitted by Respondents are rejected and shall 

have no force. 

 

ITN Schedule of Events  

 

Action Date 

Issue ITN August 17
th

 , 2016  

Response Due Date October 4
th

 , 2016 



 
      

 
    Page 9 of 35   

Action Date 

Review Minimum Qualifications – Disqualify companies that do not 

meet minimum qualifications 

October 5
th

 2016 – October 31
st
 2016 

Evaluate all Responses- develop Short-list. October 5
th

 2016 – October 31
st
 2016 (to 

run parallel to the minimum qualifications 

reference check) 

Announce -  Short-list  November 1
st
, 2016 

Negotiation phase November 1
st
, 2016 – November 15

th
 , 2016 

Issue to Short-list a list of observations and concerns to address in 

the Best and Final Offer 

November 2
nd

 2016 – November 4
th

 2016 

Short-listed Respondents prepare and submit Best and Final Offer  November 7
th

 2016 – November 18
th

 2016 

Receive Best and Final Offers November 22
nd

, 2016 

Evaluate and determine final ranking November 29th, 2016 

** Note the timeframes and dates listed above are subject to change ** 

 

1.3.1. SELECTION CRITERIA 

The following criteria will be used by JEA to evaluate and rank the qualified Responses to determine which 

Respondents are selected for the Short-list and to participate in the negotiation phase of the ITN process. Details on 

how each selection criterion is calculated can be found in the Evaluation Matrix.  

1.3.1.1. QUOTATION OF RATES 

 

Maximum score for criterion is:  35 Points 
Respondent shall provide pricing for the Contract by completing the enclosed Appendix B - Quotation of Rates.  

The rates provided shall be all-inclusive and shall include all profit, taxes, benefits, travel, and all other overhead 

items. 

 

Please note, the rates or lump sums quoted by Respondent on the Response Form must be firm prices, not 

estimates.  ANY MODIFICATIONS, EXCEPTIONS, OR OBJECTIONS CONTAINED WITHIN THE 

RESPONSE FORM SHALL SUBJECT THE RESPONSE TO DISQUALIFICATION.             

1.3.1.2. PROFESSIONAL STAFF EXPERIENCE  

Maximum points for this criterion: 15 points 

 

The firm shall identify the Partners (Engagement Lead Partner and Engagement Quality Review Partner) and Audit 

Manager to be assigned to this engagement.   Resumes are limited to two (2) pages, 8 ½” by 11” single sided.  

Resumes provided greater than two (2) pages will not be evaluated.  

 

The resumes should clearly indicate the qualifications and experience of the Partners and Audit Manager to be 

assigned to this engagement including: 

1. The number of years of government audit experience, and  

2. The number of years of municipal utility experience. 

 

Also, identify all government and utility clients for which you will be engaged as auditor for the fiscal year ending 

September 30, 2016.  More points will be awarded to firms who demonstrate greater experience with Municipal 

Utilities. 



 
      

 
    Page 10 of 35   

1.3.1.3. PAST PERFORMANCE/COMPANY EXPERIENCE 

Maximum points for this criterion: 20 Points 

 

Please provide the following information described below: 

 

General Information: 

The Response should state: 

1. The firm’s annual revenue, number of partners, and  number of professional staff2. The number of 

the firm’s governmental audit staff including partners and professional staff 3. The address of the office location 

from which the work on this engagement is to be performed, 

4. The job titles of the professional staff to be employed in this engagement on a full-time basis, and 

5.  The job titles of the staff to be employed on a part-time basis. 

External Quality Control Review: 

The firm is required to submit a copy of the report on its most recent external quality control review.  The review 

should include a letter of comments, and a statement as to whether the quality control review included a review of 

specific government engagements. 

Disciplinary Action: 

The firm shall provide information on the circumstances and status of any disciplinary action taken or pending 

against the firm during the past three years with state, local, or federal regulatory bodies or professional 

organizations. 

Project Similarity: 

The Response should list the five most significant engagements performed in the last five years ending December 

31, 2015 that are similar to the engagement described in this Invitation to Negotiate.  This section should also 

describe reviews performed of official statements of debt offerings within the past two years ending December 31, 

2015. 

 

Respondent may provide this information in its own format.   

1.3.1.4. DESIGN APPROACH AND WORKPLAN 

Maximum points for this criterion:  30 Points 

The Response should describe a work plan, including an explanation of the audit methodology, the financial 

requirements, and all compliance aspects of the engagement.  Identify the tasks to be performed to complete the 

annual audit and prepare a schedule showing the dates each task would be started and completed to meet the 

deadline for delivering the annual audit. The proposed overall schedule should include an on-site work schedule. 

The Respondent should identify and describe any anticipated potential audit problems, the firm’s approach to 

resolving these problems and any special assistance that will be requested from JEA.  Delivery dates for milestones 

associated with the Design Approach and Workplan are detailed within Appendix A – Technical Specifications. 

Respondent may provide this information in its own format.   

1.3.1.5. TIE 

Evaluation scores that ties shall be handled pursuant to JEA’s Procurement Code.  



 
      

 
    Page 11 of 35   

1.3.2. NUMBER OF CONTRACTS TO BE AWARDED 

JEA intends to Award One (1) Contract for the Work.  JEA reserves the right to Award more than one Contract 

based on certain groupings of the Services, or JEA may exclude certain Services, if JEA determines that it is in 

its best interest to do so.  

1.3.3 REQUIRED FORMS TO SUBMIT WITH RESPONSE 

The forms listed below must be completed and submitted to JEA at the times indicated below  The Respondent can 

obtain the forms, other than the Response Form, the Response Workbook, and the Technical Specifications, by 

downloading them from JEA.com.  

The following forms are required to be submitted at the Response Due Date and Time: 

 

o Company’s Response 

o “Appendix B - Response Form” (including  acknowledgements of all addenda)  

o “Appendix B – Quotation of Rates”  

o “Appendix B – Minimum Qualification Form” 

o List of Subcontractors  (if any) 

 

If the above listed forms are not submitted with the Response by the Response Due Time on the Response 

Due Date, JEA may reject the Response. 

The following documents are to be submitted prior to execution of Contract. A Response will not be rejected 

if these forms are not submitted at the Response Due Time and Date. However, failure to submit these 

documents at the time of Contract execution could result in Response rejection. 

 

o Conflict of Interest Certificate Form 

o Insurance Certificate 

o W-9 

o Evidence of active registration with the State of Florida Division of Corporations 

(www.sunbiz.org) 

o Any additional technical submittals as required by the Technical Specifications. 

1.4 GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS 

1.4.1 SUBMITTING THE RESPONSE 

The Respondent shall submit one (1) original hard copy of the Response, two (2) duplicate hard copies of the 

Response, and one (1) electronic copy of the Response submitted on a CD or a thumb drive. The Response 

Workbook must be saved in an Excel format.   

JEA will not accept Responses via email.  

1.4.2 ALTERNATE PROVISIONS AND CONDITIONS 

Responses that contain provisions that are contrary to requirements found ion this ITN, including, but not limited to, 

the Contract terms contained in Section 2 of this ITN, and any requirements found in the Technical Specifications 

attached as Appendix A to this ITN, are not permitted. If a Respondent has any questions or requests for changes to 

the requirements or terms and conditions of this ITN, such questions and requests shall be in writing and received by 

JEA at least five (5) business days prior before to the date set by JEA for the Opening of the Responses. 

 



 
      

 
    Page 12 of 35   

Including alternate provisions and conditions in a Response may result in the Response being deemed 

non-responsive to the ITN and disqualification of the Response will be disqualified (even if the highest evaluated). 

However, as this is an ITN, JEA reserves the right to negotiate the best terms and conditions if determined to be in 

the best interests of JEA. 

 

In submitting a Response, a Respondent agrees to be bound by the Contract terms contained in Section 2 of this 

ITN.  Respondents should assume that those terms will apply to the Contract, but JEA reserves the right to negotiate 

different terms and related price adjustments if JEA determines that it provides the Best Value to JEA. 

1.3.3. ADDENDA 

JEA may issue Addenda prior to the Response opening date to revise, in whole or in part, or clarify the intent or 

requirements of the ITN.  The Respondent shall be responsible for ensuring it has received all Addenda prior to 

submitting its Response and shall acknowledge receipt of all Addenda by indicating where requested on the 

Response Form.  JEA will post all Addenda when issued online at jea.com. The Respondent must obtain Addenda 

from the JEA website.  All Addenda will become part of the ITN and any resulting Contract Documents. It is the 

responsibility of each Respondent to ensure it has received and incorporated all Addenda into its Response. Failure 

to acknowledge receipt of Addenda may be grounds for rejection of a Response. 

1.7.3. CONTRACT EXECUTION AND START OF WORK 

Within thirty (30) days from the date of Award, JEA will present the successful Respondent with the Contract 

Documents. Unless expressly waived by JEA, the successful Respondent shall execute a Contract for the Work or 

Services within ten (10) days after receiving the Contract from JEA. If the Respondent fails to execute the Contract 

or associated documents as required, or if it fails to act on a JEA-issued Purchase Order (PO), JEA may cancel the 

Award with no further liability to the Respondent, retain the bid security or bond (if applicable), and Award to the 

next-ranked company. 

1.7.4. DEFINED TERMS 

Words and terms defined in the Section entitled "Definitions" of this document are hereby incorporated by reference 

into the entire document. 

1.7.5. EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 

Ex Parte Communication is strictly prohibited.  Ex Parte Communication is defined as any inappropriate 

communication concerning an ITN between a firm submitting a Response and a JEA representative during the time 

in which the ITN is being advertised through the time of Award. Examples of inappropriate communications 

include: private communications concerning the details of an ITN in which a Respondent becomes privy to 

information not available to the other Respondents. Social contact between Respondents and JEA representatives 

should be kept to an absolute minimum during the ITN process.  

 

Failure to adhere to this policy will disqualify the noncompliant company's Response.  Any questions or 

clarifications concerning an ITN must be sent in writing via email to the JEA Buyer at least five (5) business days 

prior to the opening date. If determined by JEA, that a question should be answered or an issue clarified, JEA will 

issue an addendum to all Respondents.  

 

For more information on Ex Parte communications, see JEA Procurement Code, Article 1-110, which is available at 

jea.com. 

1.7.6. SUNSHINE LAW 

General 



 Page 13 of 35  

Article I, Section 24, Florida Constitution, guarantees every person access to all public records and Chapter 119, 

Florida Statutes, provide a broad definition of public records. JEA is a body politic and corporate and subject to 

these laws and related statutes ("Florida's Public Records Laws"). All responses to this Solicitation are public 

records and available for public inspection unless specifically exempt by law. 

IF A RESPONDENT HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, 

FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE CONTRACTORS DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS 

RELATING TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT: 

JEA 

Attn: Public Records 

21 West Church Street 

Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

Ph: 904-665-8606 

publicrecords@jea.com 

Redacted Submissions 
If a Respondent believes that any portion of the documents, data or records submitted in response to this Solicitation 

are exempt from Florida's Public Records Law, Respondent must (1) clearly segregate and mark the specific 

sections of the document, data or records as "Confidential," (2) cite the specific Florida Statute or other legal 

authority for the asserted exemption, and (3) provide JEA with a separate redacted copy of its response (the 

"Redacted Copy"). The cover of the Redacted Copy shall contain JEA's title and number for this Solicitation and 

Bidder's name, and shall be clearly titled "Redacted Copy." Respondent should only redact those portions of records 

that Respondent claims are specifically exempt from disclosure under Florida's Public Records Laws. If Respondent 

fails to submit a redacted copy of information it claims is confidential, JEA is authorized to produce all documents, 

data and other records submitted to JEA in answer to a public records request for such information. 

In the event of a request for public records to which documents that are marked as confidential are responsive, JEA 

will provide the Redacted Copy to the requestor. If a requestor asserts a right to any redacted information, JEA will 

notify Respondent that such an assertion has been made. It is Respondent’s responsibility to respond to the requestor 

to assert that the information in question is exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If JEA becomes subject to 

a demand for discovery or disclosure of Respondent’s redacted information under legal process, JEA shall give 

Respondent prompt notice of the demand prior to releasing the information (unless otherwise prohibited by 

applicable law.) Respondent shall be responsible for defending its determination that the redacted portions of its 

response are not subject to disclosure. 

By submitting a response to this Solicitation, Respondent agrees to protect, defend and indemnify JEA from and 

against all claims, demands, actions, suits, damages, liabilities, losses, settlements, costs and expenses (including but 

not limited to reasonable attorney fees and costs) arising from or relating to Respondent’s determination that the 

redacted portions of its response to this Solicitation are not subject to disclosure. 

1.7.7. JEA PUBLICATIONS 

Applicable JEA publications are available at jea.com. 

1.7.8. PROHIBITION AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES 

The Respondent warrants that it has not employed or retained any company or person, other than a bona fide 

employee working for the Respondent, or an independent sales representative under contract with the Respondent, to 

solicit or secure a contract with JEA, and that it has not paid or agreed to pay any person, company, corporation, 

individual or Respondent, other than a bona fide employee working solely for the Respondent, or an independent 



 Page 14 of 35  

sale representative under contract with the Respondent, any fee, commission, percentage, gift, or any other 

consideration, contingent upon or resulting from the Award or making of the Contract.  For a breach or violation of 

these provisions occurs, JEA shall have the right to terminate the Contract without liability, and at its discretion, 

to deduct from the Contract Price, or otherwise recover, the full amount of such fee, commission, percentage, gift or 

consideration. 

1.7.9. RESERVATIONS OF RIGHTS TO JEA 

This ITN provides companies with information to enable them to submit a written offer to perform the Services 

described herein. The ITN is not a contractual offer or commitment by JEA to purchase products or services.  

Responses shall be good for a period of ninety (90) days following the opening of the Responses. 

JEA reserves the right to reject any or all Responses, or any part thereof, and/or to waive informalities if such action 

is in its best interest. JEA may reject any Responses that it deems incomplete, obscure or irregular including, but not 

limited to, Responses that omit a price on any one or more items for which prices are required, Responses that omit 

Unit Prices if Unit Prices are required, Responses for which JEA determines that the Response is unbalanced, 

Responses that offer equal items when the option to do so has not been stated, Responses that fail to include a Bid 

Bond, where one is required, and Responses from companies who have previously failed to satisfactorily complete 

JEA contracts of any nature or who have been scored by JEA as "Unacceptable" and as a result, are temporarily 

barred from bidding additional work.  

JEA reserves the right to cancel, postpone, modify, reissue and amend this ITN at its discretion. 

JEA reserves the right to cancel or change the date and time announced for opening of Responses at any time prior 

to the time announced for the opening of Responses. JEA may Award the Contract in whole or in part. In such cases 

whenever JEA exercises any of these reservations, JEA will make a commercially reasonable effort to notify, in 

writing, all parties to whom ITNs were issued. JEA may award multiple or split Contracts if it is deemed to be in 

JEA's best interest. 

1.7.10. MODIFICATION OR WITHDRAWAL OF RESPONSES 

The Respondent may modify or withdraw its Response at any time prior to the Response Due Date and Time by 

giving written notice to JEA's Chief Procurement Officer. JEA will not accept modifications submitted by 

telephone, telegraph, email, or facsimile, or those submitted after the Response Due Date and Time. The Respondent 

shall not modify or withdraw its Response from time of Response opening and for a period of ninety (90) days 

following the opening of Responses. 

1.7.11. AVAILABILITY OF RESPONSES AFTER RESPONSE OPENING 

In accordance with the Florida Public Records Law, Florida Statutes, Chapter 119, copies of all Responses are 

available for public inspection thirty (30) days after the opening of Responses or on the date of Award 

announcement, whichever is earlier.  Respondents may review opened Responses once they are available for public 

inspection by contacting the designated Buyer or JEA's Public Records custodian whose contact information can be 

found at jea.com.  JEA will post a summary of the Response results immediately after the Response opening. 

1.7.12. PROTEST OF AWARD PROCESS 

Respondents shall file any protests regarding this ITN in writing, in accordance with the JEA Procurement Code, as 

amended from time to time. The JEA Procurement Code is available online at jea.com. 



 
      

 
    Page 15 of 35   

1.7.13. CERTIFICATION AND REPRESENTATIONS OF THE RESPONDENT 

By signing and submitting a Response, the Respondent certifies and represents as follows: 

 

A. That it has carefully examined all available records and conditions, including sites if applicable, 

and the requirements and specifications of this ITN prior to submitting its Response. The 

Respondent shall comply with all safety requirements described in the ITN and shall be 

prepared to show proof of insurance 

 

B. That every aspect of its submitted Response, including the Quotation of Rates and the detailed 

schedule for the execution of the Work, are based on its own knowledge and judgment of the 

conditions and hazards involved, and not upon any representation of JEA.  JEA assumes no 

responsibility for any understanding or representation made by any of its representatives during 

or prior to execution of the Contract unless such understandings or representations are 

expressly stated in the Contract and the Contract expressly provides that JEA assumes the 

responsibility. 

 

C. That the individual signing the Response Form is a duly authorized agent or officer of the 

firm.  Responses submitted by a corporation must be executed in the corporate name by the 

President or Vice President.  If an individual other than the President or Vice President signs 

the Response, satisfactory evidence of authority to sign may be requested by JEA.  If the 

Response is submitted by a partnership, the Response must be signed by a partner whose title 

must appear under the signature.  If an individual other than a partner signs the Response, 

satisfactory evidence of authority to sign may be requested by JEA. The corporation or 

partnership must be in active status at the Florida Division of Corporations at the time of 

contract execution. 

 

D. That the firm maintains an active status any and all licenses, permits, certifications, insurance, 

bonds and other credentials including not limited to contractor's license and occupational 

licenses necessary to perform the Work. The Respondent also certifies that, upon the prospect 

of any change in the status of applicable licenses, permits, certifications, insurances, bonds or 

other credentials, the Respondent shall immediately notify JEA of status change. 

 

E. That Respondent has read, understands these instructions and will comply with the Section 

titled Ethics.  

1.7.14. ETHICS (ITN) 

By signing the Response, the Respondent certifies its Response is made without any previous understanding, 

agreement or connection with any other person, firm, or corporation submitting a Response for the same Services 

other than as a Subcontractor or supplier, and that this Response is made without outside control, collusion, fraud, or 

other illegal or unethical actions. The Respondent shall comply with all JEA and City of Jacksonville ordinances, 

policies and procedures regarding business ethics. 

 

The Respondent shall submit only one (1) Response in response to this ITN. If JEA has reasonable cause to believe 

the Respondent has submitted more than one (1) Response for the same Work, other than as a Subcontractor or 

subsupplier, JEA shall disqualify the Response and may pursue debarment actions. 

 

The Respondent shall disclose the name(s) of any public officials who have any financial position, directly or 

indirectly, with this ITN by completing and submitting the Conflict of Interest Certificate Form available at jea.com. 

Failure to fully complete and submit the Conflict of Interest Certificate will disqualify the Response. If JEA has 



 
      

 
    Page 16 of 35   

reason to believe that collusion exists among the Respondents, JEA shall reject any and all Responses from the 

suspected Respondents and will proceed to debar Respondent from future JEA Awards in accordance with the JEA 

Procurement Code. 

 

JEA is prohibited by its Charter from awarding contracts to JEA officers or employees, or in which a JEA officer or 

employee has a financial interest. JEA shall reject any and all Responses from JEA officers or employees, as well as, 

any and all Responses in which a JEA officer or employee has a financial interest. 

 

In accordance with Florida Statutes Sec. 287.133, JEA shall reject Responses from any persons or affiliates 

convicted of a public entity crime as listed on the Convicted Vendor list maintained by the Florida Department of 

Management Services. JEA shall not make an Award to any officer, director, executive, partner, shareholder, 

employee, member, or agent active in management of the Respondent listed on the Convicted Vendor list for any 

transaction exceeding $35,000 for a period of thirty-six (36) months from the date of being placed on the Convicted 

Vendor list. 

 

If the Respondent violates any requirement of this clause, the Response may be rejected and JEA may debar 

offending companies and persons. 

2. CONTRACT TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

2.1. CONTRACT DOCUMENT AND TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

Provided below are the Contract terms and conditions that will be incorporated by reference in the Contract 

Document executed by the Company and JEA. The Contract Document will incorporate by reference the terms 

contained in the Solicitation portion of this document provided in Section 1, the Contract Terms provided in Section 

2; and the Technical Specifications provided in Section 3.  An example of the Contract that the Company will be 

required to execute is available for review at jea.com. 

2.2. DEFINITIONS 

2.2.1. DEFINITIONS 

Words and terms defined in this section shall have the same meaning throughout all parts of this Solicitation and 

Contract Documents. Where intended to convey the meaning consistent with that set forth in its definition, a defined 

word or term is marked by initial capitalization. The "Technical Specifications" portion of this Solicitation may 

define additional words and terms where necessary to clarify the Work. Unless otherwise stated in this Solicitation 

and/or Contract Documents, definitions set forth in the "Technical Specifications" shall apply only within the 

"Technical Specifications." 

2.2.2. ACCEPTANCE 

JEA's written notice by the Contract Administrator to the Company that all Work as specified in the Contract, or a 

portion of the Work as specified in a Task or Work Order, has been completed to JEA's satisfaction. Approval or 

recognition of the Company meeting a Milestone or interim step does not constitute Acceptance of that portion of 

Work. Acceptance does not in any way limit JEA's rights under the Contract or applicable laws, rules and 

regulations.  

2.2.3. ADDENDUM/ADDENDA 

A written change or changes to the Solicitation which is issued by JEA Procurement Services and is incorporated 

into the Solicitation as a modification, revision and/or further clarification of the intent of the Solicitation.    



 
      

 
    Page 17 of 35   

2.2.4. AWARD 

The written approval of the JEA Awards Committee that the procurement process for the purchase of the Services 

was in accordance with the JEA Procurement Code and Florida Statutes. Once an Award is approved, JEA will 

either issue a Purchase Order or execute a Contract with the successful bidder or Respondent. 

2.2.5. COMPANY 

The legal person, firm, corporation or any other entity or business relationship with whom JEA has executed the 

Contract. Where the word "Company" is used it shall also include permitted assigns.  Prime Contractor, Contractor, 

Vendor, Supplier and Company shall be considered synonymous for the purpose of the Contract. 

2.2.6. COMPANY REPRESENTATIVE 

The individual responsible for representing the Company in all activities concerning the fulfillment and 

administration of the Contract. 

2.2.7. CONTRACT 

An agreement between JEA and the Company, signed by both parties, which incorporates all the Contract 

Documents. The Contract shall not be altered without an Amendment to the Contract and executed by JEA and the 

Company, or a JEA issued Change Order.  

2.2.8. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATOR 

The individual assigned by JEA to have authority to administer the Contract, including the authority to negotiate all 

elements of the Contract with the Company, authorize Contract Amendments, terminate the Contract, seek remedies 

for nonperformance including termination, and otherwise act on behalf of JEA in all matters regarding the Contract. 

The Contract Administrator may authorize JEA Representative in writing to make minor changes to the Services 

with the intent of preventing disruption of the Services. 

 

2.2.9. CONTRACT AMENDMENT 

A written order issued after execution of the Contract to the Company signed by the Contract Administrator, or his 

designated representative, authorizing an addition, deletion, or revision of the Work, or an adjustment in the 

Contract Price or the Contract Time. 

 

2.2.10. CONTRACT AMENDMENT 

A written order issued after execution of the Contract to the Company signed by the Contract Administrator, or his 

designated representative, authorizing an addition, deletion, or revision of the Work, or an adjustment in the 

Contract Price or the Contract Time. 

2.2.11. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

Contract Documents, also referred to as the "Contract"  means the executed Contract, all Solicitation documents and 

Bid Documents as further described in the Section of the Solicitation titled "Contract Documents", and any written 

Change Orders, amendments or Purchase Orders executed by JEA, and insurance and/or bonds as required by the 

Contract. 

2.2.12. CONTRACT PRICE 

The total amount payable to the Company during the initial Term of the Contract. However, this amount is not a 

guaranteed amount.  Also referred to as the "Maximum Indebtedness" of JEA.  



 
      

 
    Page 18 of 35   

2.2.13. HOLIDAYS 

The following days: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, Presidents' Day, Memorial Day, Independence 

Day, Labor Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day, Day after Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve Day, and Christmas 

Day. 

2.2.14. INVITATION TO NEGOTIATE 

An Invitation to Negotiate is a written or electronically posted solicitation for competitive sealed replies to select 

one or more vendors with which to commence negotiations for the procurement of commodities or contractual 

services.  The term “Solicitation” shall be synonymous with the term Intent to Negotiate.  

2.2.15. INVOICE 

A document seeking payment to Company from JEA for all or a portion of the Work, in accordance with the 

Contract Documents, and including at a minimum the following items: the Company's name and address, a 

description of the product(s) or service(s) rendered, a valid JEA PO number, the amount payable, the Unit Price, the 

payee name and address, any associated JSEB forms and any other supporting documentation required by the 

Contract Documents. 

2.2.16. JEA 

JEA on its own behalf, and when the Services involves St. Johns River Power Park (SJRPP), as agent for Florida 

Power and Light Company (FPL). JEA and FPL are co-owners of SJRPP. 

2.2.17. JEA REPRESENTATIVES 

The Contract Administrator, Contract Inspector, Contract Administrator's Representative, JEA Engineer, Field 

Engineer, Project Manager, and other persons designated by the Contract Administrator as JEA Representatives 

acting in a capacity related to the Services or Contract under the authority of the Contract Administrator. 

2.2.18. PERFORMANCE - ACCEPTABLE PERFORMANCE/PERFORMER 

The Company averages more than 2.80 and less than 4.0 across all performance scorecard evaluation metrics, and 

does not receive a score of less than 2.0 on any metric. 

2.2.19. PERFORMANCE - TOP PERFORMANCE/PERFORMER 

The Company averages 4.0 or more across all scorecard evaluation metrics and does not receive a score of less than 

4.0 on any one metric.    

2.2.20. PERFORMANCE - UNACCEPTABLE PERFORMANCE/PERFORMER 

The Company averages less than 2.80 across all scorecard evaluation metrics, or scores a 1.0 on any one metric 

regardless of average, or receives a score of 2.0 on the same metric on two sequential performance evaluations. 

2.2.21. RESPONSE 

The document describing a Respondent’s qualifications to verify it complies with the requirements of this ITN.  

2.2.22. RESPONDENT  

A company that submits a Response to this ITN.  



 
      

 
    Page 19 of 35   

2.2.23. PURCHASE ORDER (PO) 

A commercial document issued by JEA, authorizing work, indicating types, quantities, and agreed prices for 

products or services the Company will provide to JEA.  Sending a PO to a Company constitutes a legal offer to buy 

products or services.  The words "Purchase Order" are clearly marked across the top, a PO number is used for 

reference and invoicing purposes, includes an authorized JEA signature, and states the dollar amount of the 

lawfully appropriated funds.   

2.2.24. SOLICITATION 

The documents (which may be electronic) issued by JEA's Procurement Department to solicit Bids from Bidders 

that includes, but is not limited to, the Bid Documents, Bid Workbook, samples of documents, contractual terms and 

conditions, the Technical Specifications, and associated Addenda. 

2.2.25. SUBCONTRACTOR 

A provider of services performing Services under contract for the Company. 

2.2.26. TASK/WORK ORDER 

A document that describes the Work or describes a series of tasks that the Company will perform in accordance with 

the Contract Documents. A Task Order may be issued as an attachment to a Purchase Order, but the Task Order is 

neither a Purchase Order, nor a Notice to Proceed. 

2.2.27. TERM 

The period of time during which the Contract is in force or until the Contract's Maximum Indebtedness  is reached, 

whichever occurs first.  

2.2.28. UNIT PRICES 

The charges to JEA for the performance of each respective unit of Services as defined in the Response. 

2.2.29. WORK OR SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Services includes as defined in the Contract Documents all actions, products, documentation, electronic programs, 

reports, testing, transport, administration, management, services, materials, tools, equipment, and responsibilities to 

be furnished or performed by the Company under the Contract, together with all other additional necessities that are 

not specifically recited in the Contract, but can be reasonably inferred as necessary to complete all obligations and 

fully satisfy the intent of the Contract. 

2.3. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

2.3.1. ORDER OF PRECEDENCE 

The Contract shall consist of JEA's Contract and/or Purchase Order together with the Solicitation including, but not 

limited to, the executed Bid Documents, which shall be collectively referred to as the Contract Documents.  This 

Contract is the complete agreement between the parties.  Parol or extrinsic evidence will not be used to vary or 

contradict the express terms of this Contract. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is called for by one 

is binding as if called for by all.  The Company shall inform JEA in writing of any conflict, error or discrepancy in 

the Contract Documents upon discovery.  Should the Company proceed with the Services prior to written resolution 

of the error or conflict by JEA, all Services performed is at the sole risk of the Company.  JEA will generally 

consider this precedence of the Contract Documents in resolving any conflict, error, or discrepancy: 

 

o Executed Contract Amendments 



 
      

 
    Page 20 of 35   

o Exhibits to Contract Documents 

o Executed Contract Documents 

o Purchase Order(s) 

o Addenda to JEA Solicitation 

o Drawings associated with this Solicitation 

o Exhibits and Attachments to this Solicitation 

o Technical Specifications associated with this Solicitation 

o This Solicitation 

o Response Documents 

o References 

 

The Company shall perform any Services that may reasonably be inferred from the Contract as being required 

whether or not it is specifically called for. Work, materials or equipment described in words that, so applied, have a 

well-known technical or trade meaning shall be taken as referring to such recognized standards. 

2.4. PRICE AND PAYMENTS 

2.4.1. PAYMENTS 

2.4.1.1. PAYMENT METHOD - TIME AND MATERIALS 

Company will invoice JEA for the service provided under the Contract on a monthly basis.  Invoices will be 

supported by pertinent timesheets or other agreed system for documenting time worked by Company’s supplemental 

staff.  JEA reserves the right to reject part of an Invoice if it disputes a portion of that Invoice.    

2.4.2. DISCOUNT PRICING 

JEA offers any or all of the following option payment terms, one of which may be executed at the request of the 

Company by sending an email to the JEA Buyer listed in this Solicitation: 

 

o 1% 20, net 30 

o 2% 10, net 30 

o 3%   5, net 30 

 

Company may request alternate payment terms for JEA's consideration, however, alternate payment terms are not 

effective until acceptance by JEA in writing.  Please note, all payment dates are calculated from the date of the 

Invoice receipt by JEA's Accounts Payable.  

2.4.3. INVOICING AND PAYMENT TERMS 

The Company shall submit all Invoices in accordance with the payment method agreed upon in these Contract 

Documents.  Invoices shall be submitted to the following address: 

 

JEA Accounts Payable 

P.O. Box 4910 

Jacksonville, FL 32201-4910 

 

JEA will pay the Company the amount requested within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of an Invoice from the 

Company subject to the provisions stated below. 

 



 
      

 
    Page 21 of 35   

JEA may reject any Invoice within twenty (20) calendar days after receipt. JEA will return the Invoice to the 

Company stating the reasons for rejection. Upon receipt of an acceptable revised Invoice, JEA will pay the 

Company the revised amount within ten (10) days.  

 

JEA may withhold payment if the Company is in violation of any conditions or terms of the Contract Documents. 

 

In the case of early termination of the Contract, all payments made by JEA against the Contract Price prior to notice 

of termination shall be credited to the amount, if any, due the Company. If the parties determine that the sum of all 

previous payments and credits exceeds the sum due the Company, the Company shall refund the excess amount to 

JEA within ten (10) days of determination or written notice. 

2.4.4. PRICE ADJUSTMENT 

Contract prices for the Work will remain firm through the first three years of the Contract. Upon completion of the 

third year, the Company may request a Consumer Price Index (CPI) adjustment each year to the rates submitted in 

Appendix B – Quotation of Rates. Each annual request for a CPI increase must be made within thirty (30) days prior 

to the Anniversary Date of the Contract. If Company fails to submit a timely CPI adjustment request, the Company 

may be denied the adjustment for the upcoming Contract year.  

When a timely CPI request is received, JEA will recognize the CPI price adjustment within thirty (30) days after the 

Anniversary Date. No retroactive price adjustments will be allowed.  

Unless the Company and JEA make other agreements, the annual price adjustment for the Contract shall be in 

accordance with the Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers published monthly by the U.S. Department of 

Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. The index used will be the unadjusted percent change for the previous twelve (12) 

months of the Company's written CPI adjustment request is received by JEA.  

In the event the applicable price index publication ceases, the Company and JEA shall mutually agree on a 

replacement index. If the Company and JEA fail to agree on a replacement index, the Contract shall terminate 

effective on the next Anniversary Date.  

2.4.5. OFFSETS 

In case the Company is in violation of any requirement of the Contract, JEA may withhold payments that may be 

due the Company, and may offset existing balances with any JEA incurred costs against funds due the Company 

under this and any other Company Contract with JEA, as a result of the violation, or other damages as allowed by 

the Contract Documents and applicable law. 

2.4.6. JSEB - INVOICING AND PAYMENT 

If the Company utilizes JSEB certified firms, regardless of whether these Contract Documents require or encourage 

the use of such firms, the Company shall Invoice for and report the use of JSEB certified firms according to the 

format and guidelines established by the City of Jacksonville. 

2.4.7. COST SAVINGS PLAN 

During the Term of this Contract, JEA and Company are encouraged to identify ways to reduce the total cost to JEA 

related to the Services provided by the Company ("Cost Savings Plan"). JEA and Company may negotiate 

Amendments to this Contract that support and allow such reductions in total costs including, but not limited to, the 

sharing of savings resulting from implementation of cost-reducing initiatives between JEA and Company. The 

decision to accept any cost savings plan shall be in the sole discretion of JEA, and JEA shall not be liable to 

Company for any cost that may be alleged to be related to a refusal to accept a Cost Savings Plan proposed by 

Company. 



 Page 22 of 35  

2.4.8. TAXES 

JEA is authorized to self-accrue the Florida Sales and Use Tax and is exempt from Manufacturer's Federal Excise 

Tax when purchasing tangible personal property for its direct consumption. 

2.5. WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS 

2.5.1. WARRANTY (PROFESSIONAL SERVICES) 

The Company represents and warrants that it has the full corporate right, power and authority to enter into the 

Contract and to perform the Services, and that the performance of its obligations and duties hereunder does not and 

will not violate any Contract to which the Company is a party or by which it is otherwise bound.  

The Company represents and warrants that it will conduct its Services in a manner and with sufficient labor, 

materials and equipment necessary to affect a diligent pursuance of the Services.  

The Company represents and warrants that it has the responsibility and capacity to train and supervise its employees 

and Subcontractors to ensure the Services complies with all requirements of the Contract Documents. 

The Company represents and warrants that its employees and Subcontractors shall exercise the degree of skill and 

care required by customarily accepted good practices and procedures, and the Services will meet the functional and 

performance requirements defined in the Contract.     

The Company warrants that all items provided under the Contract shall be in accordance with the requirements of 

this Contract and services shall be performed in a professional manner and with professional diligence and skill, 

consistent with the prevailing standards of the industry.  

2.6. INSURANCE, INDEMNITY AND RISK OF LOSS 

2.6.1. INSURANCE 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
Before starting the Work by JEA, and without further limiting its liability under the Contract, Company shall 

procure and maintain at its sole expense, insurance of the types and in the minimum amounts stated below:  

Workers' Compensation 

Florida Statutory coverage and Employer's Liability (including appropriate Federal Acts); Insurance Limits: 

Statutory Limits (Workers' Compensation) $500,000 each accident (Employer's Liability). 

Commercial General Liability 

Premises-Operations, Products-Completed Operations, Contractual Liability, Independent Contractors, Insurance 

Limits: $1,000,000 each occurrence, $2,000,000 annual aggregate for bodily injury and property damage, combined 

single limit. 

Automobile Liability 

All autos-owned, hired, or non-owned; Insurance Limits: $1,000,000 each occurrence, combined single limit. 

Excess or Umbrella Liability 



 
      

 
    Page 23 of 35   

 

(This is additional coverage and limits above the following primary insurance: Employer's Liability, 

Commercial General Liability, and Automobile Liability); Insurance Limits: $2,000,000 each occurrence and 

annual aggregate.  

 

Professional Liability 

Errors & Omissions; Insurance Limits: $1,000,000 each claim and $2,000,000 annual aggregate 

 

Company's Commercial General Liability, Excess or Umbrella Liability, and Professional Liability policies shall be 

effective for two (2) years after Work is complete. The Indemnification provision provided herein is separate and is 

not limited by the type of insurance or insurance amounts stated above. 

 

Company shall specify JEA and Florida Power and Light Company (FPL) as additional insureds for all coverage 

except Workers' Compensation, Employer's Liability, and Professional Liability. Such insurance shall be primary to 

any and all other insurance or self-insurance maintained by JEA. Company shall include a Waiver of Subrogation on 

all required insurance in favor of JEA, FPL, their board members, officers, employees, agents, successors and 

assigns.  

 

Such insurance shall be written by a company or companies licensed to do business in the State of Florida and 

satisfactory to JEA. Prior to commencing any Work under this Contract, certificates evidencing the maintenance of 

the insurance shall be furnished to JEA for approval. Company's and its subcontractors' Certificates of Insurance 

shall be mailed to JEA (Attn. Procurement Services), Customer Care Center, 6
th

 Floor, 21 West Church Street, 

Jacksonville, FL 32202-3139. 

 

The insurance certificates shall provide that no material alteration or cancellation, including expiration and non-

renewal, shall be effective until thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice by JEA. 

 

Any subcontractors of Company shall procure and maintain the insurance required of Company hereunder during 

the life of the subcontracts. Subcontractors' insurance may be either by separate coverage or by endorsement under 

insurance provided by Company. Note: Any JSEB firms identified by Bidders for this Solicitation are considered 

"Subcontractors" under the direct supervision of the Prime or General Contractor (herein referred to as "Company"). 

Companies should show good faith efforts in providing assistance to JSEB firms in the securing of the 

Subcontractors' insurance requirements stated herein. Company shall submit subcontractors' certificates of insurance 

to JEA prior to allowing Subcontractors to perform Work on JEA's job sites. 

2.6.2. INDEMNIFICATION FOR RELEASE OF JEA EMPLOYEE/CUSTOMER INFORMATION 

Company indemnifies, defends and holds JEA harmless from any and all claims associated with the unwarranted 

disclosure of any JEA employee or JEA customer information that is in its possession either in paper or electronic 

format, including disclosure caused by theft, electronic system malfunction, negligence, or any other cause for the 

information to become public or otherwise used for malicious intents. 

2.6.3. INDEMNIFICATION 

For ten dollars ($10.00) acknowledged to be included and paid for in the contract price and other good and valuable 

considerations, the Company shall hold harmless and indemnify JEA and Florida Power and Light Company 

(hereinafter referred to as FPL), against any claim, action, loss, damage, injury, liability, cost and expense of 

whatsoever kind or nature (including, but not by way of limitation, reasonable attorney's fees and court costs) arising 

out of injury (whether mental or corporeal) to persons, including death, or damage to property, arising out of or 

incidental to the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of Company and any person or entity 

used by the Company in the performance of this Contract or Work performed thereunder. For purposes of this 



 
      

 
    Page 24 of 35   

Indemnification, the term "JEA" shall mean JEA as a body politic and corporate and shall include its governing 

board, officers, employees, agents, successors and assigns. For purposes of this Indemnification, FPL has been 

included with JEA, as co-owner for their St. Johns River Power Park facility (hereinafter referred to SJRPP). The 

term "FPL" shall include its governing board, officers, employees, agents, successors and assigns. This 

indemnification shall survive the term of a Contract entered into pursuant to this solicitation, for events that occurred 

during the Contract term. This indemnification shall be separate and apart from, and in addition to, any other 

indemnification provisions set forth elsewhere in this Contract. 

2.6.4. RISKS AND PROPERTY 

Ownership, risks of damage to or loss of the items shall pass to JEA upon Acceptance. The Company shall retain the 

sole risk of loss to the Work up to and including the time of Acceptance. In the event of loss or damage to the Work, 

the Company shall bear all costs associated with any loss or damage. 

2.7. TERM AND TERMINATION 

2.7.1. TERM 

2.7.1.1. TERM OF CONTRACT-DEFINED DATES 

The Contract shall commence on the effective date, and continue and remain in full force and effect as to all its 

terms, conditions and provisions as set forth herein for five (5) years, (the "Initial Term"), or until the Contract's 

Maximum Indebtedness is reached, whichever occurs first.  It is at JEA's sole option to renew the Contract for five 

(5) additional years.  

 

This Contract, after the initial year, shall be contingent upon the existence of lawfully appropriated funds for each 

subsequent year of the Contract. 

2.7.2. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 

JEA shall have the absolute right to terminate the Contract in whole or part, with or without cause, at any time after 

the Award effective date upon written notification of such termination. 

 

In the event of termination for convenience, JEA will pay the Company for all disbursements and expenses that the 

Company has incurred, or has become obligated prior to receiving JEA's notice of termination. 

Upon receipt of such notice of termination, the Company shall stop the performance of the Services hereunder 

except as may be necessary to carry out such termination and take any other action toward termination of the 

Services that JEA may reasonably request, including all reasonable efforts to provide for a prompt and efficient 

transition as directed by JEA. 

 

JEA will have no liability to the Company for any cause whatsoever arising out of, or in connection with, 

termination including, but not limited to, lost profits, lost opportunities, resulting change in business condition, 

except as expressly stated within these Contract Documents. 

2.7.3. TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT 

JEA may give the Company written notice to discontinue all Services under the Contract in the event that: 

 

o The Company assigns or subcontracts the Services without prior written permission; 

o Any petition is filed or any proceeding is commenced by or against the Company for 

relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency laws; 



 
      

 
    Page 25 of 35   

o A receiver is appointed for the Company's properties or the Company commits any act of 

insolvency (however evidenced); 

o The Company makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; 

o The Company suspends the operation of a substantial portion of its business; 

o The Company suspends the whole or any part of the Services to the extent that it impacts 

the Company's ability to meet the requirements of the Contract, or the Company 

abandons the whole or any part of the Services; 

o The Company, at any time, violates any of the conditions or provisions of the Contract 

Documents, or the Company fails to perform as specified in the Contract Documents, or 

the Company is not complying with the Contract Documents; 

o The Company breaches any of the representations or warranties; 

o The Company is determined, in JEA's sole opinion, to have misrepresented the utilization 

of funds or misappropriate property belonging to JEA; or 

o Any material change in the financial or business condition of the Company. 

 

If within thirty (30) days after service of such notice upon the Company an arrangement satisfactory to JEA has not 

been made by the Company for continuance of the Services, then JEA may declare Company to be in default of the 

Contract. 

 

The Contract Documents shall in no way limit JEA's right to all remedies for nonperformance provided under law or 

in equity, except as specifically set forth herein. In the event of termination for nonperformance, the Company shall 

immediately surrender all records related to this Contract to JEA. In such a case, JEA may offset any money owed to 

the Company against any liabilities resulting from the Company's nonperformance. 

 

JEA has no responsibility whatsoever to issue notices of any kind, including but not limited to deficient performance 

letters and scorecards, to the Company regarding its performance prior to default by Company for performance 

related issues.  

 

JEA shall have no liability to the Company for termination costs arising out of the Contract, or any of the 

Company's subcontracts, as a result of termination for default.  

2.8. CONFIDENTIALITY AND OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTATION 

2.8.1. PUBLIC RECORDS LAWS 

 

Access to Public Records 
All Documents, data and other records received by JEA in connection with the Contract are public records and 

available for public inspection unless specifically exempt by law. The Respondent shall allow public access to all 

documents, data and other records made or received by the Respondent in connection with the Contract unless the 

records are exempt from Section 249(a) of Article I of the Florida Constitution or subsection 119.07(1), Florida 

Statutes. JEA may unilaterally terminate the Contract of the Respondent refuses to allow public access as required 

under the Contract. 

 

Redacted copies of Confidential Information 
If the Respondent believes that any portion of any documents, data or other records submitted to JEA are exempt 

from disclosure under Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, the Florida Constitution and related laws ("Florida's Public 

Records Laws"), Respondent must (1) clearly segregate and mark the specific sections of the document, data and 

records as "Confidential", (2) cite the specific Florida Statute or other legal authority for the asserted exemption, and 

(3) provide JEA with a separate redacted copy of the documents, data, or records (the "Redacted Copy"). The 



 
      

 
    Page 26 of 35   

Redacted Copy shall contain JEA's contract name and number, and shall be clearly titled "Redacted Copy". 

Respondent shall only redact those portions of records that Respondent claims are specifically exempt from 

disclosure under Florida's Public Records Laws. If the Respondent fails to submit a redacted copy of documents, 

data, or other records it claims is confidential, JEA is authorized to produce all documents, data, and other records 

submitted to JEA in answer to a public records request for these records. 

 

Request for Redacted Information 
In the event of a public records or other disclosure request under Florida's Public Records Laws or other authority to 

which the Respondent’s documents, data or records are responsive, JEA will provide the Redacted Copy to the 

requestor. If a Requestor asserts a right to any redacted information, JEA will notify the Respondent that such an 

assertion has been made. It is the Respondent’s responsibility to respond to the requestor to assert that the 

information in questions is exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If JEA becomes subject to a demand for 

discovery or disclosure of the redacted information under legal process, JEA shall give the Respondent prompt 

notice of the demand prior to releasing the redacted information (unless otherwise prohibited by applicable law). 

The Respondent shall be responsible for defending it determination that the redacted portions of the information are 

not subject to disclosure. 

 

Indemnification for Redacted Information 
The Respondent shall protect, defend, and indemnify JEA from and against all claims, demands, actions, suits, 

damages, liabilities, losses, settlements, judgments, costs, and expenses (including but not limited to reasonable 

attorney's fees and costs) arising from or relating to the Respondent’s assertion that all or any portion of its 

information is not subject to disclosure. 

 

Public Records Clause for Service Contracts 
If, under the Contract, the Respondent is providing services and is acting on behalf of JEA as contemplated by 

subsection 119.011(2), Florida Statutes, the Respondent shall: 

 

 Keep and maintain public records that ordinarily and necessarily would be required by JEA in 

order to perform service; 

 Provide the public with access to public records on the same terms and conditions that JEA would 

provide the records and at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 119, Florida 

Statues, or otherwise prohibited by law; 

 Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 

disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law; and 

 Meet all requirements for retaining public records and transfer, at no cost, to JEA all public 

records in possession of the Respondent upon termination of the contract and destroy any 

duplicate public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure 

requirements. All records stored electronically shall be provided to JEA in a format that is 

compatible with the information technology systems of JEA. 

2.8.2. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION 

The Respondent shall not copy, reproduce, or disclose to third parties, except in connection with the Work, any 

information that JEA furnishes to the Respondent. The Respondent shall insert in any subcontract a restriction on the 

use of all information furnished by JEA. The Respondent shall not use this information on another project. All 

information furnished by JEA will be returned to JEA upon completion of the Work. 



 
      

 
    Page 27 of 35   

2.8.3. PUBLICITY AND ADVERTISING 

The Respondent shall not take any photographs, make any announcements or release any information concerning the 

Contract or the Services to any member of the public, press or official body unless prior written consent is obtained 

from JEA.  

2.8.4. OBLIGATIONS OF OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS AND EQUIPMENT 

The Respondent agrees that upon completion of the Services, all drawings, designs, specifications, renderings, 

notebooks, tracings, photographs, reference books, equipment, expendable equipment and materials, negatives, 

reports, findings, recommendations, data and memoranda of every description (hereinafter referred to as "Works"), 

arising out of or relating to the Services rendered by the Respondent under this Agreement, are to become the 

property of JEA. Respondent and JEA agree that said Works shall be considered as works made for hire under the 

United States Copyright laws. JEA shall have the absolute and exclusive right to own and use all said Works 

together with any and all copyrights, patents, trademark and service marks associated with said Works. The use of 

these Works in any manner by JEA shall not support any claim by the Respondent for additional compensation. 

 

In the event of a termination of the Contract, the Company shall implement an orderly return of JEA’s data in a 

mutually agreeable format at a time agreed to by JEA and the Company and the subsequent secure disposal of all 

JEA data. During any period of service suspension, the Company shall not take any action to intentionally erase any 

data of JEA or its customers. In the event of termination of any services or the Contract in its entirety, the Company 

shall not take any action to intentionally erase any data of JEA or its customers except as mutually agreed upon in 

writing by the Company and JEA. The Company shall securely dispose of all requested data in all its forms. 

2.9. LABOR 

2.9.1. NONDISCRIMINATION 

The Respondent represents that it has adopted and will maintain a policy of nondiscrimination against employees or 

applicants for employment on account of race, religion, sex, color, national origin, age or handicap, in all areas of 

employee relations, throughout the Term of this Contract. The Respondent agrees that on written request, it will 

allow JEA reasonable access to the Respondent’s records of employment, employment advertisement, application 

forms and other pertinent data and records for the purpose of investigation to ascertain compliance with the 

nondiscrimination provisions of this Contract; provided however, the Respondent shall not be required to produce, 

for inspection, records covering periods of time more than one year from the effective date of this Contract. 

 

The Respondent shall comply with the following executive orders, acts, and all rules and regulations implementing 

said orders or acts, which are by this reference incorporated herein as if set out in their entirety: 

 

o The provisions of Presidential Order 11246, as amended, and the portions of Executive 

Orders 11701 and 11758 as applicable to Equal Employment Opportunity; 

o The provisions of section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, and the 

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA); and 

o The provisions of the Employment and Training of Veterans Act, 38 U.S.C. 4212 

(formerly 2012). 

 

The Respondent agrees that if any of the Services of this Contract will be performed by a Subcontractor, then the 

provisions of this subsection shall be incorporated into and become a part of the subcontract. 



 
      

 
    Page 28 of 35   

2.9.2. JEA ACCESS BADGES 

If the scope of work described in this Contract requires a Respondent to access JEA facilities, each Company 

employee shall apply for a JEA access badge through JEA’s Security Department. An appointment to obtain a JEA 

access badge can be made by contacting JEA Security at securitybadge@jea.com.  Finally, JEA does not allow 

Company employees to share JEA access badges.  A Respondent, whose employees are found to be sharing JEA 

access badges, will result in the Contract being terminated immediately for default.   Additionally, JEA shall be 

notified within six (6) hours of a lost or stolen JEA security badge or when an employee leaves the Company.  

Report badge termination notifications to JEA Security at (904) 665-8200. 

2.9.3. LEGAL WORKFORCE 

JEA shall consider the Respondent’s employment of unauthorized aliens a violation of section 274A(e) of the 

Immigration and Nationalization Act.  Such violation shall be cause for termination of the Contract for default upon 

thirty (30) days' prior written notice of such termination, notwithstanding any other provisions to the contrary in the 

Contract Documents. 

2.9.4. PROHIBITED FUTURE EMPLOYMENT 

It shall be unlawful and a class C offense for any person, who was an officer or employee of JEA, after his or her 

employment has ceased, to be employed by or enter into any contract for personal services, with a person or 

company who contracted with, or had a contractual relationship with JEA, while the contract is active or being 

completed, or within two years of the cessation, completion, or termination of the person's or company's contractual 

relationship with JEA, where (1) the contract with JEA had a value that exceeded $250,000, and (2) the officer or 

employee had a substantial and decision-making role in securing or negotiating the contract or contractual 

relationship, or in the approval of financial submissions or draws in accordance with the terms of the contract; 

except that this prohibition shall not apply to an employee whose role is merely as a review signatory, or to contracts 

entered into prior to January 1, 2008, or to contracts that have been competitively procured. With respect to this 

subsection a contract is competitively procured if it has been obtained through a sealed low bid award. A 

"substantial and decision-making role" shall include duties and/or responsibilities that are collectively associated 

with: (i) approving solicitation or payment documents; (ii) evaluating formal bids and proposals; and (iii) approving 

and/or issuing award recommendations for JEA Awards Committee approval. The contract of any person or 

business entity who hires or contracts for services with any officer or employee prohibited from entering into said 

relationship shall be voidable at the pleasure of JEA. This prohibition shall not apply to any former officer or 

employee after two years from cessation from JEA employment. 

2.9.5. PERSONNEL AND CHANGES IN COMPANY'S PROFESSIONAL PERSONNEL 

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the parties, all Services shall be rendered by employees: (a.) who are full time 

employees of Company or approved subcontractors; and (b.) qualified to perform the Services.  . Subsequent to the 

execution of this Contract, Company shall notify the JEA Contract Administrator in writing prior to making changes 

in professional personnel assigned to manage this Contract.  . The JEA Contract Administrator shall have the right to 

reject any professional personnel assigned by Company to manage this Contract or supplemental staff assigned to 

JEA under this Contract. If the right of rejection is exercised by the JEA Contract Administrator, Company shall 

submit for approval of the JEA Contract Administrator, the name or names of substitute personnel to fill the 

positions resulting from said rejection. The JEA Contract Administrator shall have the right to require the removal 

of Company's previously assigned personnel and Company shall promptly replace the same, subject to the 

JEA Contract Administrator's approval at no cost to JEA. 



 
      

 
    Page 29 of 35   

2.9.6. COMPANY'S LABOR RELATIONS 

The Respondent shall negotiate and resolve any disputes between the Company and its employees, or anyone 

representing its employees. The Company shall immediately notify JEA of any actual or potential labor dispute that 

may affect the Services and shall inform JEA of all actions it is taking to resolve the dispute. 

2.10. COMPANY'S RESPONSIBILITIES AND PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTRACT 

2.10.1. COMPANY REPRESENTATIVES 

The Respondent shall provide JEA with the name and responsibilities of the Company Representative, in writing 

after Award of the Contract and before starting the Services under the Contract. Should the Company need to change 

the Company Representative, the Company shall promptly notify JEA in writing of the change. 

2.10.2. LICENSES 

The Respondent shall comply with all licensing, registration and/or certification requirements pursuant to applicable 

laws, rules and regulations. The Company shall secure all licenses, registrations and certifications as required for the 

performance of the Services and shall pay all fees associated with securing them. The Company shall produce 

written evidence of licenses and other certifications immediately upon request from JEA. 

2.11. AUDIT & VENDOR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 

2.11.1. RIGHT TO AUDIT AND FINANCIAL REPORTING 

Upon JEA's requests, the Company agrees to allow JEA to audit its financial and operating records for the purpose 

of determining Invoice accuracy, or otherwise assessing compliance with the Contract Documents. The Company 

agrees to let JEA personnel, or their qualified representative, access the records at Company's office, with three (3) 

days written notice, for a reasonable period, not less than five days, in a workspace suitable for the audit provided by 

Company. All audit work will be done on Company premises, and no Company documentation will be removed 

from Company offices. The Company agrees to have knowledgeable personnel available to answer questions for the 

auditors during the time they are at the Company's offices and for a period of two weeks thereafter. The Company 

shall provide to JEA audited financial statements for the most recent fiscal year upon JEA's request, not later than 

five (5) days after receipt of written request. 

2.11.2. VENDOR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 

 

Use of Vendor Performance Evaluation Scorecards 
JEA may evaluate the Company's performance using the evaluation criteria shown on the vendor scorecard available 

online at JEA.com.  

 

Scores for all metrics shown on the evaluation range from a low of 1, meaning significantly deficient performance, 

to a high of 5, meaning exceptionally good performance. The Company's performance shall be classified as Top 

Performance, Acceptable Performance, or Unacceptable Performance, as defined herein. The evaluator will be a 

designated JEA employee. The evaluator's supervisor and the Chief Purchasing Officer will review deficient 

performance letters and Unacceptable Performance scorecards, as described below, prior to issuance. When 

evaluating the Company's performance, JEA will consider the performance of the Company's Subcontractors and 

suppliers, as part of the Company's performance. 

 

Frequency of Evaluations 



 
      

 
    Page 30 of 35   

JEA may conduct performance evaluations and prepare scorecards in accordance with the procedures described 

herein at any time during performance of the Services or soon after the completion of the Work. JEA may conduct 

one or more evaluations determined solely at the discretion of JEA. 

 

Unacceptable Performance 
o If at any time, JEA determines, using the criteria described on the scorecard, that the 

performance of the Company is Unacceptable, the Contract Administrator and 

Chief Procurement Officer or his designated alternate will notify the Company of such in 

a letter. The Company shall have ten (10) days to respond to the Contract Administrator. 

Such response shall include, and preferably be delivered in-person by an officer of the 

Company, the specific actions that the Company will take to bring the Company's 

performance up to at least Acceptable Performance. 

o Within thirty (30) days from date of the first Unacceptable Performance letter, the 

Contract Administrator and Chief Purchasing Officer or his designated alternate will 

notify the Company by letter as to whether its performance, as determined solely by JEA, 

is meeting expectations, or is continuing to be Unacceptable. If the Company's 

performance is described in the letter as meeting expectations, no further remedial action 

is required by the Company, as long as Company's performance continues to be 

Acceptable. 

o If the Company's performance as described in the letter continues to be Unacceptable, or 

is inconsistently Acceptable, then the Company shall have fifteen (15) days from date of 

second letter to demonstrate solely through its performance of the Work, that it has 

achieved Acceptable Performance. At the end of the fifteen (15) day period, JEA will 

prepare a scorecard documenting the Company's performance from the start of Work, or 

date of most recent scorecard, whichever is latest, and giving due consideration to 

improvements the Company has made in its performance, or has failed to make. If the 

scorecard shows Company's performance is Acceptable, then no further remedial action 

is required by Company as long as Company's performance remains Acceptable. If the 

scorecard shows the Company's performance is Unacceptable, JEA will take such actions 

as it deems appropriate including, but not limited to, terminating the Contract for breach, 

suspending the Company from bidding on any JEA related solicitations, and other 

remedies available in the JEA Purchasing Code and in law. Such action does not relieve 

the Company of its obligations under the Contract, nor does it preclude an earlier 

termination. 

o In the event that the Contract Term or the remaining Term of the Contract does not allow 

for the completion of the deficient performance notification cycles described above for 

those in danger of receiving an Unacceptable Performance scorecard, JEA may choose to 

accelerate these cycles at its sole discretion. 

o If the Company receives five (5) or more letters of deficiency within any twelve (12) 

month period, then JEA will prepare a scorecard describing the deficiencies and 

the Company's performance will be scored as Unacceptable. 

 

Acceptable Performance 
JEA expects the Company's performance to be at a minimum Acceptable. 

 

Disputes 
In the event that the Respondent wants to dispute the results of its scorecard performance evaluation, the Company 

must submit a letter to the Chief Procurement Officer supplying supplemental information that it believes JEA failed 

to take into account when preparing the scorecard. Such letter, along with supplemental information, must be 

submitted no later than ten (10) days following the Company's receipt of the scorecard. If the Chief Procurement 



 
      

 
    Page 31 of 35   

Officer decides to change the scorecard, the Company will be notified and a revised scorecard will be prepared, with 

a copy issued to the Company. If the Chief Procurement Officer decides that no change is warranted, the decision of 

the Chief Procurement Officer is final. If the Company is to be suspended from consideration for future Award of 

any contracts, the Company may appeal to the Procurement Appeals Board as per JEA Procurement Code. 

 

Public Records 
There can be no expectation of confidentiality of performance-related data in that all performance-related data is 

subject to disclosure pursuant to Florida Public Records Laws. All scorecards are the property of JEA. 

2.12. JEA RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.12.1. COORDINATION OF SERVICES PROVIDED BY JEA 

The JEA Representative for the Services will, on behalf of JEA, coordinate with the Company and administer this 

Contract. It shall be the responsibility of the Company to coordinate all assignment related activities with the 

designated JEA Representative. The JEA Representative will be assigned to perform day-to-day administration and 

liaison functions, and to make available to the Company appropriate personnel, to the extent practical, and to furnish 

records and available data necessary to conduct the Work. The JEA Representative will also authorize the Company 

to perform work under this Contract. 

2.13. CHANGES IN THE WORK, CONTRACT TIME OR PRICE 

2.13.1. SUSPENSION OF SERVICES 

JEA may suspend the performance of the Services by providing Company with five (5) days' written notice of such 

suspension. In the event of suspension of the Work, the Company shall resume the full performance of the Services 

when directed in writing to do so by JEA. Suspension of the Services for reasons other than the Company's 

negligence or failure to perform, shall not affect the Company's compensation as outlined in the Contract 

Documents. 

2.13.1. FORCE MAJEURE 

No party shall be liable for any default or delay in the performance of its obligations under this Contract due to an 

act of God or other event to the extent that: (a) the non-performing party is without fault in causing such default or 

delay; (b) such default or delay could not have been prevented by reasonable precautions; and (c) such default or 

delay could not have been reasonably circumvented by the non-performing party through the use of alternate 

sources, work-around plans or other means. Such causes include, but are not limited to: act of civil or military 

authority (including but not limited to courts or administrative agencies); acts of God; war; terrorist attacks; riot; 

insurrection; inability of JEA to secure approval, validation or sale of bonds; inability of JEA or the Company to 

obtain any required permits, licenses or zoning; blockades; embargoes; sabotage; epidemics; fires; hurricanes, 

tornados, floods; or strikes.  

 

In the event of any delay resulting from such causes, the time for performance of each of the parties hereunder 

(including the payment of monies if such event actually prevents payment) shall be extended for a period of time 

reasonably necessary to overcome the effect of such delay, except as provided for elsewhere in the Contract 

Documents. 

 

In the event of any delay or nonperformance resulting from such causes, the party affected shall promptly notify the 

other in writing of the nature, cause, date of commencement and the anticipated impact of such delay or 

nonperformance. Such written notice, including Change Orders, shall indicate the extent, if any, to which it is 

anticipated that any delivery or completion dates will be thereby affected within seven (7) calendar days. 



 
      

 
    Page 32 of 35   

2.13.2. CHANGE IN SCOPE OF SERVICES 

From time to time, JEA may direct changes and modifications in the scope of the services, as contained in the 

Contract Documents, to be performed under this Contract as may be necessary to carry out the purpose of this 

Contract. The Company is willing and agreeable to accommodate such changes, provided it is compensated for 

additional services in accordance with its professional fees and expenses under the terms of this Contract. Such 

changes shall be in the form of a written amendment to this Contract reflecting, as appropriate, an amendment to the 

Services rendered and adjustment to Company's professional fees, including an extension to the duration of this 

Contract, as well as the maximum indebtedness of JEA. Maximum indebtedness is the maximum total cost that may 

be paid to the Company hereunder, including travel related costs, per year during the initial term of the Contract for 

the Services rendered under the terms of this Contract. The JEA Representative directly responsible for each project 

will make the final determination as to whether any compensable change exists. 

 

2.14. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

2.14.1. AMBIGUOUS CONTRACT PROVISIONS 

The parties agree that this Contract has been the subject of meaningful analysis and/or discussions of the 

specifications, terms and conditions contained in this Contract. Therefore, doubtful or ambiguous provisions, if any, 

contained in this Contract will not be construed against the party who physically prepared this Contract.  

2.14.2. AMENDMENTS 

This Contract may not be altered or amended except in writing, signed by JEA Chief Procurement Officer, or 

designee and the Company Representative, or each of their duly authorized representatives. 

2.14.3. APPLICABLE STATE LAW; VENUE; SEVERABILITY 

The rights, obligations and remedies of the parties as specified under the Contract will be interpreted and governed 

in all respects exclusively by the laws of the State of Florida without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of 

laws thereof. Should any provision of the Contract be determined by the courts to be illegal or in conflict with any 

law of the State of Florida, the validity of the remaining provisions will not be impaired. Litigation involving 

this Contract or any provision thereof shall take place in the State or Federal Courts located exclusively in 

Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida. 

2.14.4. CUMULATIVE REMEDIES 

Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Contract, all remedies provided for in this Contract shall be 

cumulative and in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies available to either party at law, in equity or 

otherwise. 

2.14.5. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Contract constitutes the entire agreement between the parties. No statement, representation, writing, 

understanding, or agreement made by either party, or any representative of either party, which are not expressed 

herein shall be binding. All changes to, additions to, modifications of, or amendment to this Contract, or any of the 

terms, provisions and conditions hereof, shall be binding only when in writing and signed by the authorized officer, 

agent or representative of each of the parties hereto. 

2.14.6. EXPANDED DEFINITIONS 

Unless otherwise specified, words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa and words importing 

gender include all genders. The term "including" means "including without limitation", and the terms "include", 



 Page 33 of 35  

"includes" and "included" have similar meanings. Any reference in this Contract to any other agreement is deemed 

to include a reference to that other agreement, as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time. Any 

reference in the Contract to "all applicable laws, rules and regulations" means all federal, state and local laws, rules, 

regulations, ordinances, statutes, codes and practices. 

2.14.7. HEADINGS 

Headings appearing herein are inserted for convenience or reference only and shall in no way be construed to be 

interpretations of text. 

2.14.8. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

Company is performing this Contract as an independent contractor and nothing in this Contract will be deemed to 

constitute a partnership, joint venture, agency, or fiduciary relationship between JEA and Company. Neither 

Company nor JEA will be or become liable or bound by any representation, act, or omission of the other. 

2.14.9. LANGUAGE AND MEASUREMENTS 

All communication between the Company and JEA, including all documents, notes on drawings, and submissions 

required under the Contract, will be in the English language. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract, the US 

System of Measurements shall be used for quantity measurement. All instrumentation and equipment will be 

calibrated in US System of Measures. 

2.14.10. MEETINGS AND PUBLIC HEARINGS 

The Company will, upon request by JEA, attend all meetings and public hearings as required, in any capacity, as 

directed by JEA. 

2.14.11. NEGOTIATED CONTRACT 

Except as otherwise expressly provided, all provisions of this Contract shall be binding upon and shall inure to the 

benefit of the parties, their legal representatives, successors and assigns. The parties agree that they have had 

meaningful discussion and negotiation of the provisions, terms and conditions contained in this Contract. Therefore, 

doubtful or ambiguous provisions, if any, contained in the Contract shall not be construed against the party who 

physically prepared this Contract. 

2.14.12. NONEXCLUSIVE 

Notwithstanding anything contained herein that may appear to be the contrary, this Contract is "non-exclusive" and 

JEA reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to retain other companies to perform the Work, and/or JEA may self-

perform the Services itself. 

2.14.13. REFERENCES 

Unless otherwise specified, each reference to a statute, ordinance, law, policy, procedure, process, document, 

drawing, or other informational material is deemed to be a reference to that item, as amended or supplemented from 

time to time. All referenced items shall have the enforcement ability as if they are fully incorporated herein. 

2.14.14. SEVERABILITY 

In the event that any provision of this Contract is found to be unenforceable under applicable law, the parties agree 

to replace such provision with a substitute provision that most nearly reflects the original intentions of the parties 

and is enforceable under applicable law, and the remainder of this Contract shall continue in full force and effect. 



 Page 34 of 35  

With regard to any provision in this agreement pertaining to damages, equitable or otherwise, it is the intent of the 

Parties that under no circumstances shall there be recovery for home office overhead. Any damages claimed shall be 

proven by discreet accounting of direct project costs and no theoretical formula or industry estimating reference 

manuals shall be permissible. 

2.14.15. SUBCONTRACTING OR ASSIGNING OF CONTRACT 

Each party agrees that it shall not subcontract, assign, delegate, or otherwise dispose of the Contract, the duties to be 

performed under the Contract, or the monies to become due under the Contract without the other party's prior 

written consent. 

The assignment of the Contract will not relieve either of the parties of any of its obligations until such obligations 

have been assumed in writing by the assignee. If the Contract is assigned by either of the parties, it will be binding 

upon and will inure to the benefit of the permitted assignee. The Company shall be liable for all acts and omissions 

of its assignee or its Subcontractor. 

In the event the Company obtains JEA approval to use Subcontractors, the Company is obligated to provide 

Subcontractors possessing the skills, certifications, registrations, licenses, training, tools, demeanor, motivation and 

attitude to successfully perform the work for which they are subcontracted. The Company is obligated to remove 

Subcontractors from performing Services under this Contract when the Company recognizes that a Subcontractor is 

failing to work in a manner consistent with the requirements of this Contract, or when JEA notifies the Company 

that JEA has determined a Subcontractor is failing to work in a manner consistent with the requirements of this 

Contract. 

2.14.16. SURVIVAL 

The obligations of JEA and the Company under this Contract that are not, by the express terms of this Contract, to 

be performed fully during the Term, shall survive the termination of this Contract. 

2.14.17. TIME AND DATE 

Unless otherwise specified, references to time of day or date mean the local time or date in Jacksonville, FL. If 

under this Contract any payment or calculation is to be made, or any other action is to be taken, on or as of a day that 

is not a regular business day for JEA, that payment or calculation is to be made, and that other action is to be taken, 

as applicable, on or as of the next day that is a regular business day. Where reference is made to day or days, it 

means calendar days. Where reference is made to workday, workdays, business day, or business days, it means 

regular working days for JEA Procurement. 

2.14.18. TIME OF ESSENCE 

For every material requirement of this Contract, time is of the essence. 

2.14.19. USE OF JEA CONTRACTS BY THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE 

Where the City of Jacksonville's or its other independent agencies' or political subdivisions' procurement codes all 

use of JEA contracts, the Company agrees to extend any pricing and other contractual terms to such entities.  

2.14.20. WAIVER OF CLAIMS 

A delay or omission by JEA to exercise any right or power under this Contract shall not be construed to be a waiver 

thereof. A waiver by JEA under this Contract shall not be effective unless it is in writing and signed by the party 

granting the waiver. A waiver by a party of a right under or breach of, this Contract shall not be construed to operate 

as a waiver of any other or successive rights under, or breaches of, this Contract. 



 Page 35 of 35  

The Company's obligations to perform and complete the Services in accordance with the Contract shall be absolute. 

None of the following will constitute a waiver of any of JEA's rights under the Contract: approval of payments, 

including final payment; Certificate of Contract Completion; any use of the Services by JEA; nor any correction of 

faulty or defective work by JEA. 

3. TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS/DETAILED SCOPE OF WORK

3.1. TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS/DETAILED SCOPE OF SERVICES (APPENDIX A) 

Technical Specifications and a Detailed Scope of Services are located in Appendix A of this document. 

4. FORMS

4.1. FORMS (APPENDIX B) 

Forms required to be submitted with this solicitation are provided in Appendix B or can be obtained on the JEA 

website at www.jea.com. 



1 

Solicitation #110-16 – Independent Audit Services 

Appendix A – Technical Specifications 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1 JEA 

JEA is currently organized into three enterprise funds- The Electric Enterprise Fund, The Water 

and Sewer System and District Energy System.  The Electric Enterprise Fund is comprised of the 

JEA Electric System, the Bulk Power System, which consists of Scherer Unit 4, a coal fired, 846 

megawatt generating Unit operated by Georgia Power Company and owned by JEA (23.64% 

ownership interest) and Florida Power & Light (FPL) (76.36% ownership interest) St. Johns River 

Power Park System (SJRPP), which has two coal-fired generating units (638 megawatts each) 

and jointly owned by JEA (80% ownership Interest) and FPL (20% ownership interest).  JEA is 

Florida's largest municipally owned electric utility and the eighth largest in the United States.  JEA 

is also the 113
th
 largest municipal water and sewer provider in the country.  JEA currently serves

over 450,000 electric customers; 334,000 water customers and 259,000 sewer customers in 

Jacksonville and parts of three adjacent counties.  As of September 30, 2015, total operating 

revenues were approximately $1.7 billion, total assets were $8.3 billion and total long-term debt 

outstanding was $5.0 billion. 

The governing body of JEA consists of seven members appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by 

the City Council.  JEA is not subject to regulation by the Florida Public Service Commission 

except for certain environmental, energy conservation, power plant and transmission line siting, 

territorial, and rate structure matters. 

1.2. St. Johns River Power Park (SJRPP) Pension Plan  

SJRPP Pension Plan (The “Plan”) is a single employer contributory defined benefit plan covering 

employees of the St. Johns River Power Park System. The Plan provides for pension, death and 

disability benefits. Employees who are working for SJRPP, except temporary and contract 

employees, are eligible to participate. The Plan is subject to provisions of Chapter 112, Florida 

Statutes and the oversight of the Florida Division of Retirement. 

The Plan is governed by a five-member pension board. As of September 30, 2015 the Plan 

reported net position of $138,901,756 and had approximately 550 active and inactive members 

covered by the Plan. The Plan issue stand-alone audited financial statements.   

2. SCOPE OF SERVICES

2.1 JEA

JEA is seeking to procure independent audit services beginning for the fiscal year ending



2 

September 30, 2017.  The funds and systems to be audited are those included in the JEA’s 

Annual Report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015.  The finished audit shall include 

comparative financial statements from prior year. 

2.1.1 The Company shall prepare the following independent accountants’ reports in connection 

with the audit of JEA: 

a. Independent accountants’ reports on JEA’s basic financial statements and

supplementary combining financial statements. 

b. Independent accountants’ report on the JEA’s Electric System, Water & Sewer

System, JEA’s St. Johns River Power Park System, Scherer Bulk Power Supply

System and DES debt service coverage schedules.

c. Report to Management (Management letter)

2.1.2 Independent accountants’ reports on the Schedule of Federal and State Grant Assistance 

and other applicable opinions on compliance and internal control referred to as the OMB 

Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement and Chapter 10.600, Rules of the Auditor 

General. 

2.1.3 Independent accountants’ report on agreed upon procedures in connection with issuance 

of debt and review of official debt statement. 

2.1.4 Letters of consent for inclusion of audited financial statements in connection with bond 

offerings. 

2.1.5 Independent accountants’ report on compliance with debt covenants and resolutions, and 

independent accountants’ report required under JEA credit agreements. 

2.1.6 Independent accountants’ report on agreed upon procedures to demonstrate financial 

responsibility in connection with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection 

“Storage Tank to Demonstrate Financial Responsibility” and “Florida Solid Waste 

Management Facility Letter to Demonstrate Financial Assurance” as required by 

62.730.180 F.A.C. 

2.2  St. Johns River Power Park (SJRPP) Pension Plan 

2.2.1 The Company shall prepare the following independent accountants' reports in connection 

with the audit of SJRPP Pension Plan: 

a. Independent accountants’ reports on SJRPP Pension Plan  basic financial

statements

b. Report to Management (Management letter)

3. AD HOC SERVICES



3 

3.1 Special Accounting, Technical Advice, and Research 

JEA and/or SJRPP may require special accounting or other technical advice or research to be 

performed.  Any such reviews will be defined in a separate engagement when necessary and will be 

governed by the billing rates for each individual employee class indicated in the cost proposal. 

3.2 Additional Company Services  

Additional Company services, if any, shall be identified and determined by JEA and/or SJRPP during 

the term of the contract.  The additional Company services, if any, shall be priced at the 

predetermined billing rates of the Company as mutually agreed upon by the JEA and Company in 

the Contract, subject to a maximum no to exceed amount. 

4. WORKING PAPERS

Working papers are the property of the Company (also referred to as the “auditor”) and must be

retained, at the auditor’s expense, for a minimum of five (5) years unless the firm is notified in

writing by JEA of the need to extend the retention period. The Company shall, without charge,

make available their working papers to representatives of JEA and the Office of the Council

Auditor and other authorized federal or state agencies upon request and in accordance with

applicable laws and regulations.  In addition, the Company will respond to the reasonable

inquiries of successor auditors and allow successor auditors to review working papers relating to

matters of continuing accounting significance.

5. STAFF ASSISTANCE

The Council Auditor staff of City of Jacksonville will be available to assist the auditor in performing

the audit.  The auditors will coordinate their efforts with the Council Auditor.  The Council Auditor

Office shall provide 160 hours of annual assistance

6. TIMELINESS

Timeliness and the ability to complete the annual in the agreed upon timeline are critical factors in

the performance of the audit.  The final Audit Report must be delivered no later than 1st Monday

in December following the conclusion of each fiscal year (October to September 30
th
). The

Company will coordinate the audit with the JEA Controller.

Each of the following shall be completed by the Company no later than the dates indicated unless

special arrangements have been made.

Activity Date 

Completion of Field Work at JEA Third Friday in November 

Auditor to submit opinion of financial 

statement and compliance reports to JEA 

1
st
 Monday in December



4 

  Review financial statements and 

management letter with Finance & Audit 

Committee of the Board 

 Audit Committee Meeting in December 

7. WORK AREA AND OFFICE TECHNOLOGY

JEA will provide the auditor will reasonable workspace, phones and internet access.

8. PUBLIC MEETINGS

The Partner-in-Charge of the audit and the audit manager assigned to the engagement shall

attend quarterly Finance & Audit (F&A) Committee Meetings, at no additional charge, for

discussion of the Audit Plan, Audit Results and other required communications in connection with

the audits and hold private sessions with the F&A Committee at the quarterly Committee

Meetings.  In addition, at the request of JEA, the auditors shall attend Board Meetings and other

public meetings.  Any additional request to meet with the Audit Committee or Board shall be billed

at the hourly rates included in the fee proposal.

9. COMPLIANCE WITH STANDARDS

JEA is implementing an internal partner rotation policy that shall require either the Lead Partner

or Concurring Review Partner to rotate at least every five years.   For the provision of the

independent audit reports described in this document, Company shall anticipate the

implementation of said policy.

These audits are to be performed in accordance with the following documents: 

 Statements on Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Standards Board of the

American Institute of Certified Public Accounts (GAAS).

 Government Auditing Standards; 1994 Revision (Yellow Book) issued by the

Comptroller General of the United States.

 The Single Audit Act of 1984, Public Law 98-502, as amended (31 U.S.C.A. ss 7501

to 7507) and related OMB Compliance Supplement for Single Audits of State and

Local Governments.

 Office of Management and Budget Circular A-128, Audits of State and Local

Governments and other OMB Circulars as applicable.

 Florida Statutes, especially Sections, 11.45 and 218.32 of the Florida Statutes.

 Rules of the State of Florida Auditor General, Chapters 10.550, Local Governmental

Entity Audits, and Chapter 10.600, Audits of State Grants and Aids Appropriations

Under Section 216.349, Florida Statutes.



5 

 1994 Audits of State and Local Governmental Units issued by the American Institute

of Certified Public Accountants.

 The City of Jacksonville Municipal Ordinance Code.

 Rules of the State of Florida Department of Banking and Finance.

 Rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, as applicable.



Appendix B - Minimum Qualification Form 

110-16 Independent Audit Services 

GENERAL 

THE MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS SHALL BE SUBMITTED ON THIS FORM.  IN ORDER TO BE 

CONSIDERED A QUALIFIED RESPONDENT BY JEA YOU MUST MEET THE MINIMUM 

QUALIFICATIONS LISTED BELOW, AND BE ABLE TO PROVIDE ALL THE SERVICES LISTED IN 

THIS SOLICITATION/TECHNICAL SPECIFICATION.   

THE PROPOSER MUST COMPLETE THE RESPONDENT INFORMATION SECTION BELOW AND 

PROVIDE ANY OTHER INFORMATION OR REFERENCE REQUESTED.  THE PROPOSER MUST 

ALSO PROVIDE ANY ATTACHMENTS REQUESTED WITH THIS MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 

FORM.   

PLEASE SUBMIT THE ORIGINAL AND THREE (3) COPIES AND ONE (1) CD OF THIS FORM AND 

ANY REQUESTED ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION WITH THE BID SUBMISSION. 

BIDDER  INFORMATION 

COMPANY NAME: 

BUSINESS ADDRESS: 

CITY, STATE, ZIP CODE: 

TELEPHONE: 

FAX: 

E-MAIL: 

PRINT NAME OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE: 

SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE: 

NAME AND TITLE OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE: 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 

1. Respondent must be a nationally recognized CPA Firm as required by Bond Resolutions and Standby

Bond Purchasing Agreements.

Respondent should attach an affirmative statement  for this requirement to this form in its own format.

2. Respondent must be a CPA Firm currently licensed to practice Public Accounting in the State of

Florida and in good standing to practice before the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Respondent should attach documentation for this requirement to this form in its own format.

Documentation must include applicable license number.

3. The firms should provide an affirmative statement that it is independent of the JEA as defined by

generally accepted auditing standards.

Repondent should attach an affirmative statement  for this requirement to this form in its own

format.

II. J.
F&A 8/8/2016



1.1  Scheduled Reports -JEA

Item 

No

Technical Specifications 

Reference

Description of Services Estimated Five (5) Year 

Volume

Unit of 

Measure
Price Per Unit Total Price

1.1.1 2.1.1 Preparation of Reports in connection with the audit of JEA 5 per audit <insert price per audit here>  $    -  

1.1.2 2.1.2
Reports on the Schedule of Federal and State Grant Assistance and other applicable opinions on compliance and internal control required by OMB A-

133
5 per report <insert price per report here>  $    -  

1.1.3 2.1.3 Independent accountants’ report on agreed upon procedures in connection with issuance of debt and review of official debt statement 27 per report <insert price per report here>  $    -  

1.1.4 2.1.4 Letters of consent for inclusion of audited financial statements in connection with bond offerings 27 per letter <insert price per letter here>  $    -  

1.1.5 2.1.5
Independent accountant’s report on compliance with debt covenants and resolutions, and independent accountant’s report required under JEA credit 

agreements
75 per report <insert price per report here>  $    -  

1.1.6 2.1.6
Independent accountant’s report on applying agreed upon procedures to demonstrate financial responsibility  applicable to owners of hazardous waste 

treatement, storage and disposal facilities as required by 62.730.180 F.A.C.
15 per report <insert price per report here>  $    -  

1.2  Scheduled Reports -SJRPP Pension Plan

Item 

No

Technical Specifications 

Reference

Description of Services Estimated Five (5) Year 

Volume

Unit of 

Measure
Price Per Unit Total Price

1.2.1 2.2.1 Preparation of Reports in connection with the audit of SJRPP Pension Plan 5 per audit <insert price per audit here>  $    -  

Item 

No

Technical Specifications 

Reference
Description of Services

2.1 3.1 and 3.2 Hourly Rate - Partner

2.2 3.1 and 3.2 Hourly Rate - Audit Manager

2.3 3.1 and 3.2 Hourly Rate - Staff

3) This Amount Will Be Transferred To Page 1 of Proposal Form

Item 

No

<Insert Company Name Here>

Provider shall submit pricing to provide the reports as described in "Appendix A - Technical Specifications".   All bid prices shall include all travel, tools, and materials to complete the service.  

-$  Total Price Section 1.1 Sheduled Reports - JEA

Provider shall submit pricing to provide the reports as described in "Appendix A - Technical Specifications".   All bid prices shall include all travel, tools, and materials to complete the service.  

1) Scheduled Reports

<insert price  here>

<insert price  here>

Total Price Section 1.2 Sheduled Reports - SJRPP Pension Plan -$  

Total Price for Independent Audit Services  (This amount will be transferred to Page 1 of Proposal Form)
 $ -   

Description

2) Ad hoc Services

Pricing for this Section is for informational purposes only and will not be included in the calculation of the bid total.

3.1

Unit of Measure

per hour

per hour

per hour

Price Per Unit

<insert price  here>

II. J.
F&A 8/8/2016



ATTACHMENT II 

Independent Audit Services 

Invitation to Negotiate (ITN) Process 

Provide Update on Procurement of External Auditor to Finance & Audit Committee May 9, 2016 

Finance & Audit Committee provide direction regarding issuing Request for Proposal May 9, 2016 

Provide draft of Invitation to Negotiate (ITN) to Finance & Audit Committee August 8, 2016 

Finance and Audit Committee review and approve ITN August 8, 2016 

Board approve Finance & Audit Committee’s  recommendations August 16, 2016 

Issue ITN August 17, 2016 

Proposal due date from respondents October 4, 2016 

Evaluate all responses-Develop a Short-list October 28, 2016 

Announce Short List November 1, 2016 

Negotiation phase November 1, 2016 

Short List respondents prepare and submit Best and Final Offer November 22, 2016 

Evaluate and determine final rankings of respondents November 29, 2016 

Finance & Audit Committee review and approve Staff’s recommendation of final 
rankings of respondents 

December 13, 2016 

Board to approve Finance & Audit Committee’s recommendation January 17, 2017 

Finance and Audit Committee  review and approve contract for independent audit 
services 

March 6, 2017 

Board to approve Finance & Audit Committee’s recommendation March 21, 2017 

Contract start for independent audit services applicable to FY 17 July 1, 2017 

II. J.
F&A 8/8/2016



Attachment III 

Partners Rotation Policy 

Audit Firm Policy 

Baker Tilly Baker Tilly does not have a policy or requirement 
around partner rotation for non-public audit 
clients. However, if a non-public client has 
established its own rotation policy, Baker Tilly will 
follow the client’s policy. 

Deloitte Deloitte’s policy is that the Audit Lead Engagement 
Partner can serve 10 consecutive years on non-
public clients.  Following the 10-year term, the 
Lead Audit Partner would be required to complete 
a two-year period off the audit.  Concurring 
Review Partners are not subject to rotation. 

Ernst & Young EY does not have a policy or requirement around 
partner rotation for non-public audit clients. 
However, if a non-public audit client has 
established its own rotation policy, E&Y will follow 
the client’s policy. 

KPMG KPMG’s rotation policy is 10 years for non-public 
companies for both lead and concurring partner. 

McGladrey (RSM) McGladrey does not have a policy around the Lead 
Partner rotation for non-public clients.  The 
concurring partner is required to be rotated every 
five years for non-public audit clients.  The 
concurring partner cannot return to the 
engagement for two years once they rotate off.  
However, they will  follow the client’s policy, 
where applicable.   

PwC PwC’s policy is 7 years for non-public companies 
for both lead and concurring partner.  

II. J.
F&A 8/8/2016



Attachment IV 

LPPC Utilities External Auditors 

Utility Name Total Revenues 
(in thousands) 

Total Debt 
(in thousands) 

Auditors Annual Audit 
Fees 

Auditor 
Rotation 
Policy? 
(Y/N) 

Partner 
Rotation 
Policy? 
(Y/N) 

Austin Electric & Water Utility 
Dept. 

$1,839,748 $3,912,713 Deloitte- Austin, Texas 

Chelan County Public Utility 
District  

  400,388 672,798 PwC- Portland, Oregon $221,000 N Y (7 years) 

Clark Public Utilities 496,537 478,105 Moss Adams- Portland, Oregon 

Colorado Springs Utilities 868,846 2,409,876 Baker Tilly- Madison, Wisconsin 

CPS 2,629,677 5,591,381 Baker Tilly; Garza, Preis & Co; 
Robert Williams, CPA- San 
Antonio, Texas & Madison, 
Wisconsin 

ElectriCities of NC, Inc., 
NCEMPA, NCEMPA1 

563,828 1,269,124 McGladrey- Morehead City, N.C. 

Grand River Dam Authority 475,159 1,166,811 Deloitte - Tulsa,  Oklahoma $195,000 N N 

Grant County PUD 308,665 1,222,305 PwC- Portland, Oregon $200,000 N Y (7 years) 

Imperial Irrigation District 601,389 547,742 Moss Adams- Portland, Oregon 

JEA 1,749,380 4,968,099 E&Y-Jacksonville, Florida $355,000 N N 

Long Island Power Authority 3,613,982 5,532,551 KPMG- New York, NY 

Los Angeles Department of 
Power 

3,336,963 8,568,281 KPMG- Los Angeles, California 

Los Angeles Department of 
Water 

1,082,581 4,496,962 KPMG- Irvine, California 

Lower Colorado River Authority 1,021,300 3,323,300 Baker Tilly- Madison, Wisconsin 

MEAG 748,571 3,512,442 PwC- Atlanta, Georgia $283,000 N N 

Nebraska Public Power District 
(NPPD) 

1,122,454 1,802,850 PwC- St. Louis, Missouri $235,000 N Y (7 years) 

New York Power Authority 3,175,000 1,055,000 KPMG- New York, NY Not available N (but re-
evaluate every 5 

years) 

Y(5 years) 

Omaha Public Power District 1,126,458 2,135,390 Deloitte- Omaha, Nebraska $167,000 N Y ( 5 years) 

Orlando Utilities Commission 859,452 1,527,787 E&Y- Orlando, Florida $262,000 N Y (7 years) 

II. J.
F&A 8/8/2016



Attachment IV 

LPPC Utilities External Auditors 

Platte River Power Authority 199,867 201,572 BKD CPAs- Denver, Colorado $98,000 N Y (5 years) 

Puerto Rico Electric Power 
Authority 

4,468,922 8,247,006 E&Y- San Juan, Puerto Rico 

Sacramento Municipal Utility 
District (SMUD) 

1,529,344 2,881,701 Baker Tilly-Madison, Wisconsin $279,000 N Y (6 years) 

Salt River Project 3,033,109 4,274,885 PwC- Phoenix, Arizona 

Santee Cooper 1,879,553 6,961,336 Cherry Bekaert- Raleigh, N.C. 

Seattle City Light 886,400 1,925,200 Baker Tilly- Madison, Wisconsin $218,668 Y (5 years) N 

Snohomish County PUD 645,198 504,247 Baker Tilly- Madison, Wisconsin 

Tacoma Public Utilities - Light 
Division 

441,246 530,581 Moss Adams- Tacoma, 
Washington 


	August 8 2016 Agenda - Finance and Audit Committee
	I. C. FAC May 9 2016 Minutes
	ADP4AA5.tmp
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3

	ADP196E.tmp
	Creating an Ethical Culture�JEA will conduct its business fairly, impartially, in an ethical and proper manner, and in full compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
	FY15/16 Comparison
	FY16 Gift Registry
	�Ethics Representatives 
	�Business Ethics Update and What’s Next  �

	Blank Page
	II. G. 1. c. JEA Sched of Expend Fed A-133.pdg.pdf
	JEA
	Year Ended September 30, 2015

	JEA
	Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
	Year Ended September 30, 2015


	JEA
	Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
	For the Year Ended September 30, 2015






